## UCLA UCLA Electronic Theses and Dissertations

## Title

Classical and Quantum Effective Theories for Gravitating Spinning Bodies

**Permalink** <u>https://escholarship.org/uc/item/7t04w8tn</u>

**Author** Scheopner, Trevor Austin

**Publication Date** 2024

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

## UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Los Angeles

Classical and Quantum Effective Field Theories for Gravitating Spinning Bodies

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy in Physics

by

Trevor Scheopner

2024

© Copyright by Trevor Scheopner 2024

#### ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

#### Classical and Quantum Effective Field Theories for Gravitating Spinning Bodies

by

Trevor Scheopner Doctor of Philosophy in Physics University of California, Los Angeles, 2024 Professor Zvi Bern, Chair

Amplitudes methods have found increasingly varied applications across physics, in particular in the field of gravitational waves. In this manuscript we will present how amplitudes techniques apply to interactions of gravitating spinning bodies. We will analyze the amplitudes of generic spinning bodies and pay special attention to how the structure of these amplitudes simplifies when specializing to spinning black holes. In Chapter 1, we develop how several amplitudes tools such as the Kosower-Maybee-O'Connell formalism, eikonal methods, and effective field theory in the classical limit apply to the dynamics of classically colored particles. Classically colored particles share many of the theoretical features of classical spinning bodies, with the color directly analogous to the spin in many ways, and so serve as an effective proof of concept of how these same tools may be applied to spinning bodies. In Chapter 2, we directly apply these techniques to classical spinning electromagnetically interacting bodies, which share all of the spin related complications of the gravitational problem while being simpler due to the relative simplicity of electromagnetism compared to gravity. In doing so, we find that the effective field theory is capable of carrying an extra vector degree of freedom compared with the previously established worldline formalism, and that that vector degree of freedom allows for spin magnitude change in the theory. We also present a modification of the traditional worldline formalism which perfectly matches the effective field theory. In Chapter 3, we use the worldline formalism to compute generic spinning body Compton amplitudes through the fifth order in spin, at which several interesting complications occur. This Compton amplitude is essential for computing one-loop observables for the spinning binary system. We then use Dixon's multipole moment formalism to identify an effective source energy-momentum tensor for a spinning black hole, which if treated as appropriate in the effective theory determines several previously unconstrained Wilson coefficients which affect black hole observables. In Chapter 4, we extend the electromagnetic methods of Chapter 2 to gravity. We find that the nonminimal degrees of freedom persist in having matching physical effects between the worldline and field theory approaches. As well, we find that those degrees of freedom have observable effects on the gravitational waveform.

The dissertation of Trevor Scheopner is approved.

Eric D'Hoker Michael Gutperle Mikhail Pil Solon Zvi Bern, Committee Chair

University of California, Los Angeles

2024

## Contents

List of Figures vii									
A	Acknowledgments vii								
v	ita			viii					
1	Yan	ng-Mill	s observables: from KMOC to eikonal through EFT	1					
	1.1	Introd	luction	1					
	1.2 KMOC approach to color observables		C approach to color observables	3					
		1.2.1	Leading order	5					
		1.2.2	Next-to-Leading-Order	5					
1.3 Hamiltonian approach to color dynamics		Hamil	tonian approach to color dynamics	8					
		1.3.1	Classical perturbation theory	9					
		1.3.2	Hamiltonian from effective field theory	10					
		1.3.3	Observables from the eikonal phase	15					
	1.4	Concl	usions	16					
<b>2</b>	Qua	antum	Field Theory, Worldline Theory, and Spin Magnitude Change in Orbita	ıl					
	Evo	olution		18					
2.1 Introduction		Introd	luction	19					
		2.1.1	General Overview	19					
		2.1.2	Summary of Results	23					
2.2 Field Theory		Field	Theory	25					
		2.2.1	Minimal Lagrangian in Electrodynamics	26					
		2.2.2	Classical Asymptotic States and Coherent States	29					
		2.2.3	The Transverse (s,s) Representation	32					

		2.2.4	The Nontransverse (s,s) Representation $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	34
		2.2.5	Nonminimal Lagrangian	36
	2.3	Scatte	ring Amplitudes	38
		2.3.1	Three-Point Amplitudes	39
		2.3.2	Four-Point Compton Amplitudes	40
		2.3.3	Two-Body Amplitudes	45
	2.4	World	line Theories	49
		2.4.1	Worldline Action with Dynamical Mass Function	50
		2.4.2	Worldline Theory with SSC	51
		2.4.3	Worldline Theory with no SSC	54
2.5 Effective Hamiltonian Including Lower-Spin States		ive Hamiltonian Including Lower-Spin States	60	
		2.5.1	Hamiltonian 1: Solely Spinning Degrees of Freedom	61
		2.5.2	Hamiltonian 2: Inclusion of Boost Operator	62
		2.5.3	Amplitudes from the Effective Hamiltonian	63
		2.5.4	Hamiltonian Coefficients from Matching to Field Theory	65
		2.5.5	Observables from the Equations of Motion	67
		2.5.6	Observables from an Eikonal Formula	69
		2.5.7	Comparison to Observables from the Worldline Theory	71
		2.5.8	On the Reality of ${\bf K}$	72
2.6		Wilson	n coefficients and propagating degrees of freedom	72
		2.6.1	Resolution of the Identity and Amplitudes with Lower-Spin States $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	73
		2.6.2	Lower-Spin States and their Scaling in the Classical Limit	75
		2.6.3	Lower-Spin States in the Compton Amplitude	78
2.7 Discussion and Conclusion		ssion and Conclusion	79	
3	Dyr	namica	l Implications of the Kerr Multipole Moments for Spinning Black Holes	82
	3.1	Introd	luction	82
		3.1.1	General Overview	82
		3.1.2	Summary of Method and Results	84
		3.1.3	Notation	85
	3.2	Electr	omagnetic MPD Equations	87
	3.3 Dixon's Multipole Moments			89
		3.3.1	Moments of a scalar field	90

		3.3.2 Moments of a general tensor field
		3.3.3 Moments of a conserved vector field
		3.3.4 Moments of the current density in Minkowski space
	3.4	Root-Kerr Multipole Moments
		3.4.1 From Kerr-Newman to Root-Kerr
		3.4.2 Mechanical Properties of the Stationary Root-Kerr Solution
		3.4.3 Charge and Current density
		3.4.4 Stationary Multipole Moments
		3.4.5 Dynamical Multipole Moments
	3.5	Electromagnetic Compton Amplitude
		3.5.1 Formal Classical Compton
		3.5.2 Compton Amplitude through Spin Cubed
	3.6	Gravitational MPD Equations
	3.7	Kerr Multipole Moments
		3.7.1 Moments of the Energy Momentum Tensor
		3.7.2 Source of the Kerr Metric
		3.7.3 Stationary Multipole Moments of Kerr
		3.7.4 Dynamical Multipole Moments of Kerr
	3.8	Gravitational Compton Amplitude
		3.8.1 Formal Classical Compton
		3.8.2 Compton Amplitude through Spin to the Fifth
	3.9	Conclusion
4	Spi	n Magnitude Change in Orbital Evolution in General Relativity 13
	4.1	Introduction
	4.2	Field Theory
	4.3	Worldline
	4.4	Scattering waveform at leading order
	4.5	Effective Hamiltonian
	4.6	Eikonal Phase
	4.7	Conclusions and Outlook
в	iblio	graphy 15

## List of Figures

- 1.1 One-loop scalar box and triangle integrals which form a basis of generalized unitarity master integrals with classical/super-classical contributions.
- 1.2 The Feynman diagrams which appear in the tree level colored Compton amplitude.
- 1.3 Residue and cut diagrams for two, three, and four particle cuts for one-loop generalized unitarity.
- 2.1 The Feynman diagrams which appear in the tree level electromagnetic Compton-amplitude.
- 2.2 Three point amplitude involving a particle of spin s and s', representing spin magnitude change.
- 2.3 The diagrams representing the contribution of spin-magnitude-changing effects in the Compton amplitude.
- 4.1 Three-point and four-point Compton amplitudes for gravitational spin magnitude change.
- 4.2 Waveform plots including and excluding the nonminimal spin-magnitude-changing degrees of freedom.

## List of Tables

- 2.1 Lagrangian descriptions of the different SSC treatments in Field theory, corresponding amplitude, and external state description.
- 4.1 Operators up to quadratic order in  ${f S}$  and  ${f K}$  which appear in the single body effective Hamiltonian.

## Acknowledgments

I thank my advisor Zvi Bern, for providing resources to develop my technical skills, connections to integrate myself into the community, and advice to guide my growth into a high-level research scientist.

I thank Andres Luna for helpful collaboration throughout my graduate studies. I also thank my collaborators Leonardo de la Cruz, Mark Alaverdian, Dimitrios Kosmopoulos, Radu Roiban, and Fei Teng for the work we have done together during my graduate research and insightful discussions we have had along the way. I especially thank Justin Vines for guidance, on both physics itself and the process of applying for a postdoctoral position, for dedicated work as a collaborator, and for great discussions on many exciting ideas.

I am also grateful to many UCLA faculty including Robert Finkelstein, for providing me support and words of wisdom early in my graduate studies; Robert Cousins, for his career advice and excellence as a teacher of particle physics; Michael Gutperle, for his dedication to a well-designed comprehensive exam; and Eric d'Hoker, for his dedication to pedagogical lecture notes. As well, I wish to thank my committee members Zvi Bern, Eric d'Hoker, Michael Gutperle, and Mikhail Solon for their guidance during my graduate career.

I wish to thank Rafael Aoude, Yilber Fabian Bautista, Maor Ben-Shahar, Lucile Cangemi, Thomas Dellaert, Juan Pablo Gatica, Alfredo Guevara, Kays Haddad, Andreas Helset, Enrico Herrmann, Giulia Isabella, Callum Jones, Joon-Hwi Kim, Lukas Lindwasser, Richard Myers, Alexander Ochirov, Julio Parra Martinez, Michael Ruf, and Jordan Wilson-Gerow for many exciting, educational, and insightful discussions.

I thank Mani Bhaumik for his great advice, wisdom, and support. I particularly thank my undergraduate advisor John P. Ralston, for his intense kindness and clarity of thought, showing me what physics really is. I thank the many students I have taught during my time as a graduate teaching assistant, for the inspiration they provided and for furthering my development both as a physicist and as an expositor of physics with with their many excellent questions. In this regard, I especially thank the students of the 2019-2020 Physics Honors 1AH, 1BH, 1CH Series.

Finally, I wish to thank my parents, Travis Scheopner and Tameka George, and my partner Gabrielle Guttormsen, for their love and support in helping me take on the various challenges I encountered during my graduate career.

## Vita

2018	Bachelor of Science in Physics, University of Kansas
2018	Bachelor of Science in Mathematics, University of Kansas
2020	Master of Science in Physics, University of California, Los Angeles
2018-2022	Graduate Teaching Assistant, Physics and Astronomy Department,
	University of California, Los Angeles
2021-2024	Graduate Researcher, Physics and Astronomy Department,
	University of California, Los Angeles

## **Contributions of Authors**

Chapter 1 is based on work done with Leonardo de la Cruz and Andres Luna in Ref. [1]. Chapter 2 is based on work done with Zvi Bern, Dimitrios Kosmopoulos, Andres Luna, Radu Roiban, Fei Teng, and Justin Vines in Ref. [2]. Chapter 3 is based on work done with Justin Vines in Ref. [3]. Chapter 4 is based on work done with Mark Alaverdian, Zvi Bern, Dimitrios Kosmopoulos, Andres Luna, Radu Roiban, Fei Teng in Ref. [4].

## Publications

L. de la Cruz, A. Luna, and **T. Scheopner**, "Yang-Mills observables: from KMOC to eikonal through EFT," JHEP **01** (2022) 045, arXiv:2108.02178 [hep-th]

Z. Bern, D. Kosmopoulos, A. Luna, R. Roiban, **T. Scheopner**, F. Teng, and J. Vines, "Quantum Field Theory, Worldline Theory, and Spin Magnitude Change in Orbital Evolution," arXiv:2308.14176 [hep-th]

**T. Scheopner** and J. Vines, "Dynamical Implications of the Kerr Multipole Moments for Spinning Black Holes," arXiv:2311.18421 [gr-qc]

M. Alaverdian, Z. Bern, D. Kosmopoulos, A. Luna, R. Roiban, **T. Scheopner**, F. Teng, "Conservative Spin Magnitude Change in Orbital Evolution in General Relativity," arXiv:2407.10928 [hep-th]

## Chapter 1

## Yang-Mills observables: from KMOC to eikonal through EFT

Leonardo de la Cruz<sup>a</sup>, Andres Luna<sup>b</sup>, Trevor Scheopner<sup>b</sup>

 <sup>a</sup>Dipartamento di Fisica e Astronomia, Università di Bologna and INFN Sezione di Bologna, via Irnerio 46, I-40126 Bologna, Italy
 <sup>b</sup>Mani L. Bhaumik Institute for Theoretical Physics,
 Department of Physics and Astronomy, UCLA, Los Angeles, CA 90095

We obtain a conservative Hamiltonian describing the interactions of two charged bodies in Yang-Mills through  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha^2)$  and to all orders in velocity. Our calculation extends a recently-introduced framework based on scattering amplitudes and effective field theory (EFT) to consider color-charged objects. These results are checked against the direct integration of the observables in the Kosower-Maybee-O'Connell (KMOC) formalism. At the order we consider we find that the linear and color impulses in a scattering event can be concisely described in terms of the eikonal phase, thus extending the domain of applicability of a formula originally proposed in the context of spinning particles.

### **1.1** Introduction

The Kosower-Maybee-O'Connell (KMOC) formalism [5, 6, 7] is a first principle approach to extract the classical limit, understood as the limit  $\hbar \to 0$ , from on-shell scattering amplitudes. It is based on the construction of certain observables which are well-defined at the quantum and classical levels. They can be defined by considering the expectation value of certain operators  $\mathbb{O}$  evaluated at the beginning and at the end of the scattering event. Considering the two-to-two classical scattering the observable associated with the operator  $\mathbb{O}$  is given by

$$\langle \Delta O \rangle = \langle \Psi | S^{\dagger} \mathbb{O} S | \Psi \rangle - \langle \Psi | \mathbb{O} | \Psi \rangle, \tag{1.1.1}$$

where S = 1 + iT. The "in" states  $|\Psi\rangle$  are two-particle coherent states for momenta and color, whose function is to give the notion of point particles with a sharply-defined position, momenta, and color. To make this notion precise, the restoration of  $\hbar$ 's on couplings and color factors as well as the distinction between momenta p and wavenumber  $\bar{p}$  for certain particles play an important role.

Employing unitarity the observables can be written as

$$\langle \Delta O \rangle = i \langle \Psi | [\mathbb{O}, T] | \Psi \rangle + \langle \Psi | T^{\dagger} [\mathbb{O}, T] | \Psi \rangle, \qquad (1.1.2)$$

which can be used to derive general expressions for these observables in terms of amplitudes. In this chapter we will consider the color charge operator  $\mathbb{C}_1^a$  and the momentum operator  $\mathbb{P}_1^{\mu}$  of one of the particles, but of course the other particle can be chosen as well. The observables associated to these operators are called the color impulse  $\Delta c_1^a$  and the momentum impulse  $\Delta p_1^{\mu}$ . The KMOC formalism has been applied to the study of waveforms [8], soft theorems [9], radiative gravitational observables at two-loops [10, 11] and adapted to study the classical limit of thermal currents [12].

On the other hand, the classical limit can also be described in the language of effective field theory (EFT). This idea was pioneered in Ref. [13], which proposed the application of the well-established scatteringamplitudes toolkit to the derivation of gravitational potentials. Later, an EFT of non-relativistic scalar fields was developed [14], and used to translate a one-loop scattering amplitude into the  $\mathcal{O}(G^2)$  canonical Hamiltonian, which is equivalent to the results of Westpfahl [15]. This approach was later implemented to obtain novel results at  $\mathcal{O}(G^3)$  order [16, 17, 18].

Besides making use of the KMOC formalism or non-relativistic EFTs, various approaches have been developed to extract the dynamics of compact objects from scattering data. These include making use of the Lippman-Schwinger equation [19, 20], a heavy black hole effective theory and its generalizations [21, 22, 23], developing a boundary-to-bound (B2B) dictionary [24, 25], implementing a post-Minkowskian EFT [26, 27, 28] and a worldline QFT [29]. More recently the conservative binary potential at  $\mathcal{O}(G^4)$  was obtained by means of an amplitude-action relation that allows the calculation of physical observables directly from the scattering amplitude [30].

The techniques mentioned above have been extended in multiple directions in recent years, including the computation of observables in supergravity [31, 32, 33] and other generalizations of GR [34, 35], the study of three-body dynamics [36], incorporating the radiation emitted by the binary into their analysis [37, 38, 39, 40, 41, 42], and considering tidal deformations [43, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 49] and spin effects [50, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56, 57, 58, 59, 60, 61, 62, 63, 64, 65, 66] of the astrophysical objects.

A further relation between amplitudes and classical observables is given through the eikonal phase, which is obtained as the Fourier transform to impact parameter space of the scattering amplitude [67]. In turn, one can derive the scattering angle through differentiation of the eikonal phase. This subject has seen renewed interest [68, 69, 70, 71, 72, 73, 74, 32, 33, 75, 76, 77] and a recent calculation in Ref. [59] showed a surprising structure for the expression of the observables in terms of the eikonal phase. This formula was the first example of such a relation for arbitrary orientations of the spins<sup>1</sup>. This striking observation potentially implies that all physical observables are obtainable via simple manipulations of the scattering amplitude.

While most of the attention has been given to gravitational theories, Yang-Mills theory shares many important physical features with gravity, like non-linearity and a gauge structure. Furthermore, the double copy relates scattering amplitudes in both theories<sup>2</sup>. The connection has showed to be deeper than this, holding in a classical worldline setting [81, 82, 83, 84, 85, 86, 87, 88, 89, 90, 91], and extending to exact maps [92, 93]<sup>3</sup>. Then, since perturbation theory in Yang-Mills is far simpler than in standard approaches of gravity, one may study Yang-Mills as a toy model for gravitational dynamics or as a building block that could be double copied to gravity. One may also note that, as already pointed out in Ref. [7], the dynamics of the color degrees of freedom in Yang-Mills, is in many respects analogous to spin (though actually simpler). This analogy with spin will be evidenced in a generalization of the formula of Ref. [59], now describing the dynamics of color charges.

The proliferation of approaches to extract classical information from quantum scattering amplitudes motivates us to strive for an understanding of the relations between them. The goal of this chapter is to use Yang-Mills theory as a toy model to study the connection between three such approaches. Namely, the KMOC formalism, the Hamiltonian approach to classical dynamics, and a formula directly relating the eikonal phase with classical observables.

The remainder of this chapter is structured as follows: In Section 1.2 we compute color and momentum impulse at NLO using the integrands obtained in Ref. [7]. Then, In Section 1.3, we develop the Hamiltonian approach to classical dynamics. First, we show the necessary full-theory amplitudes and use a matching procedure to an EFT to obtain the desired two-body Hamiltonian. Then we use the derived Hamiltonian to compute scattering observables, and check their match both to the KMOC approach of Section 1.2, as well as to the conjecture of Ref. [59], which directly relates these observables to the eikonal phase, and holds (almost unalteredly) when we include color effects. We present our concluding remarks in Section 1.4.

## **1.2** KMOC approach to color observables

In this Section we introduce the KMOC approach for color and introduce our notation and conventions. The classical scattering of two color-charged scalar particles of masses  $m_1$  and  $m_2$  can be modeled by the

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$ Before this, there was evidence for such a relation in the special kinematic configuration where the spins of the particles are parallel to the angular momentum of the system [53, 78, 79].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The double copy has been reviewed thoroughly in Ref. [80].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The classical double copy has also made contact with fluid dynamics, as shown in Refs. [94, 95].

action

$$S = \int \hat{d}^4 x \Big[ \sum_{i=1,2} \left( (D_\mu \varphi_i)^\dagger (D^\mu \varphi_i) - \frac{m_i^2}{\hbar^2} \varphi_i^\dagger \varphi_i \right) - \frac{1}{4} F^a_{\mu\nu} F^{a\mu\nu} \Big], \qquad (1.2.1)$$

where  $D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} + igA^a_{\mu}T^a_R$  and  $\hat{d}^n x = (d)^n x)/(2\pi)^n$ . The generators  $T^R_a$  of the Lie algebra of SU(N) are in some representation R. The color charge operators, obtained from the Noether procedure, satisfy the usual Lie algebra modified by a factor of  $\hbar$ 

$$[\mathbb{C}^a, \mathbb{C}^b] = i\hbar f^{abc} \mathbb{C}^c, \tag{1.2.2}$$

emphasizing that  $\mathbb{C}^a$  corresponds to an operator and

$$\langle p_i | \mathbb{C}^a | p^j \rangle \equiv (C^a)_i^{\ j} = \hbar (T^a_R)_i^{\ j}.$$

$$(1.2.3)$$

So the color factors  $(C^a)_i^{j}$  are simply rescalings of the usual generators  $(T^a_R)_i^{j}$ . The classical color charges are then defined by

$$c^a \equiv \langle \psi | \mathbb{C}^a | \psi \rangle, \tag{1.2.4}$$

where the states  $|\psi\rangle$  are coherent states for SU(N), whose explicit form will not be relevant for our purposes<sup>4</sup>. These states ensure the correct behavior of color charges in the classical limit, namely

$$\langle \psi | \mathbb{C}^a | \psi \rangle = \text{finite},$$
 (1.2.5)

$$\langle \psi | \mathbb{C}^a \mathbb{C}^b | \psi \rangle = c^a c^b + \text{negligible},$$
 (1.2.6)

which is guaranteed by choosing the dimension of the representation R to be large. The factors of  $\hbar$  in Eq.(1.2.2) produce a nontrivial interplay between color factors and kinematics in the classical limit. However ultimately classical quantities do not have any factors of  $\hbar$  as it should be. Thus, for the purposes of this chapter we will quote the integrands derived in Ref. [7] dropping the bar notation for wavenumbers. We will also employ the notation  $\Delta O^{(L)}$  to indicate the *L*-loop contribution to the observable such that the full result is given by

$$\Delta O = \Delta O^{(0)} + \Delta O^{(1)} + \dots \qquad (1.2.7)$$

We also introduce the following notation for the Dirac-delta

$$\hat{\delta}(x) = 2\pi\delta(x), \qquad \hat{\delta}'(x) = \frac{i}{(x-i\epsilon)^2} - \frac{i}{(x+i\epsilon)^2}.$$
(1.2.8)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>When considering the classical limit of multi-particle states, the full state is a tensor product of coherent states for the kinematics and coherent states for color. SU(N) coherent states can be constructed using Schwinger bosons [7].

#### 1.2.1 Leading order

Let us briefly review the LO calculation of Ref. [7] in order to introduce some notation. We define the integral

$$\mathcal{I}_{\searrow} \equiv \int \hat{d}^4 q \frac{\hat{\delta}(q \cdot u_1)\hat{\delta}(q \cdot u_2)}{q^2} e^{-iq \cdot b}, \qquad (1.2.9)$$

where  $p_i^{\mu} = m_i u_i^{\mu}$  and  $b^{\mu}$  is the impact parameter. Recalling that  $b^{\mu}$  is spacelike we also define  $|b| \equiv \sqrt{-b^2}$ . The classical four velocities  $u_i$  are normalized to  $u_i^2 = 1$ . The divergent integral  $I_{\searrow}$  can be regulated using a cut-off regulator L

$$\mathcal{I}_{\searrow} = \frac{1}{4\pi\sqrt{\sigma^2 - 1}} \log\left(\frac{|b|^2}{L^2}\right),\tag{1.2.10}$$

where  $\sigma$  is the standard Lorentz factor  $\sigma = u_1 \cdot u_2$ . The LO momentum impulse can then be written as

$$\Delta p_1^{(0),\mu} = -g^2 \sigma c_1 \cdot c_2 \frac{\partial \mathcal{I}_{\searrow \swarrow}}{\partial b_{\mu}}, \qquad (1.2.11)$$

where  $c_1 \cdot c_2 \equiv c_1^a c_2^a$ . So the momentum impulse is given by

$$\Delta p_1^{(0),\mu} = -2\alpha \, c_1 \cdot c_2 \frac{\sigma}{\sqrt{\sigma^2 - 1}} \frac{b^{\mu}}{b^2},\tag{1.2.12}$$

where  $\alpha \equiv g^2/(4\pi)$ . Similarly the color impulse at leading order reads

$$\Delta c_1^{(0),a} = g^2 \sigma f^{abc} c_1^b c_2^c \mathcal{I}_{\nearrow} = \alpha f^{abc} c_1^b c_2^c \frac{\sigma}{\sqrt{\sigma^2 - 1}} \log\left(\frac{|b|^2}{L^2}\right). \tag{1.2.13}$$

The divergence of the color impulse is the familiar divergence due to the long-range nature of  $1/r^2$  forces in four-dimensions.

### 1.2.2 Next-to-Leading-Order

The NLO momentum impulse can be obtained from the QED one computed in Ref. [5] using the charge to color replacements  $Q_1Q_2 \rightarrow c_1 \cdot c_2$  and  $e \rightarrow g$ . That this replacement works follows from the color-decomposition of the QCD amplitude and  $\hbar$ -counting as detailed in [7]. The result reads

$$\Delta p_{1}^{\mu,(1)} = i \frac{g^{4}(c_{1} \cdot c_{2})^{2}}{2} \int \hat{d}^{4} \ell \, \hat{d}^{4} q \, \frac{\hat{\delta}(u_{1} \cdot q)\hat{\delta}(u_{2} \cdot q)}{\ell^{2}(\ell - q)^{2}} e^{-iq \cdot b} \left[ q^{\mu} \left\{ \frac{\hat{\delta}(u_{2} \cdot \ell)}{m_{1}} + \frac{\hat{\delta}(u_{1} \cdot \ell)}{m_{2}} + (u_{1} \cdot u_{2})^{2} \ell \cdot (\ell - q) \left( \frac{\hat{\delta}(u_{1} \cdot \ell)}{m_{2}(u_{2} \cdot \ell - i\epsilon)^{2}} + \frac{\hat{\delta}(u_{2} \cdot \ell)}{m_{1}(u_{1} \cdot \ell + i\epsilon)^{2}} \right) \right\}$$

$$- i(u_{1} \cdot u_{2})^{2} \ell^{\mu} \ell \cdot (\ell - q) \left( \frac{\hat{\delta}'(u_{1} \cdot \ell)\hat{\delta}(u_{2} \cdot \ell)}{m_{1}} - \frac{\hat{\delta}(u_{1} \cdot \ell)\hat{\delta}'(u_{2} \cdot \ell)}{m_{2}} \right) \right].$$

$$(1.2.14)$$

On the other hand the NLO color impulse is given by

$$\begin{split} \Delta c_1^{a,(1)} &= g^4 \int \hat{d}^4 q \, \hat{d}^4 \ell \, \hat{\delta}(u_1 \cdot q) \hat{\delta}(u_2 \cdot q) e^{-iq \cdot b} \frac{1}{\ell^2 (\ell - q)^2} \\ &\times \left\{ \hat{\delta}(u_1 \cdot \ell) \left[ \frac{f^{acd} c_1^c c_2^d (c_1 \cdot c_2)}{m_2} \left[ 1 + (u_1 \cdot u_2)^2 \ell \cdot (\ell - q) \left( \frac{1}{(u_2 \cdot \ell - i\epsilon)^2} \right. \right. \right. \\ &+ i \hat{\delta}'(u_2 \cdot \ell) \right] - f^{acd} f^{dbe} c_1^b c_1^c c_2^e \frac{(u_1 \cdot u_2)^2}{2} \hat{\delta}(u_2 \cdot \ell) \right] \\ &+ \hat{\delta}(u_2 \cdot \ell) \left[ \frac{f^{acd} c_1^c c_2^d (c_1 \cdot c_2)}{m_1} \left[ 1 + (u_1 \cdot u_2)^2 \ell \cdot (\ell - q) \left( \frac{1}{(u_1 \cdot \ell + i\epsilon)^2} \right. \right. \\ &\left. - i \hat{\delta}'(u_1 \cdot \ell) \right] + f^{acd} f^{dbe} c_1^e c_2^b c_2^c \frac{(u_1 \cdot u_2)^2}{2} \hat{\delta}(u_1 \cdot \ell) \right] \right\}. \end{split}$$

Inspecting Eqs.(1.2.14) and (1.2.15) it is easy to see that the color and momentum impulses can be expressed in terms of the following "master integrals"

$$\mathcal{I}^{i}_{\Delta}[\alpha,\beta,\gamma] = \int \hat{\mathrm{d}}^{4}q \,\hat{\delta}(u_{1}\cdot q)\hat{\delta}(u_{2}\cdot q)e^{-iq\cdot b} \int \hat{\mathrm{d}}^{4}\ell \,\frac{\hat{\delta}(u_{i}\cdot\ell)}{[\ell^{2}]^{\alpha}[(\ell-q)^{2}]^{\beta}[(\ell\cdot u_{j}+(-1)^{i}i\epsilon)]^{\gamma}}, j\neq i$$
(1.2.16)

$$\mathcal{I}_{\not\square}[\alpha,\beta] = \int \hat{\mathrm{d}}^4 q \,\hat{\delta}(u_1 \cdot q) \hat{\delta}(u_2 \cdot q) e^{-iq \cdot b} \int \hat{\mathrm{d}}^4 \ell \, \frac{\hat{\delta}(u_1 \cdot \ell) \hat{\delta}(u_2 \cdot \ell)}{[\ell^2]^\alpha [(\ell-q)^2]^\beta},\tag{1.2.17}$$

where the vector dependence on the momentum transfer  $q^{\mu}$  can be recovered by taking derivatives w.r.t. the impact parameter  $b^{\mu}$ . Notice that we have excluded from the master integrals those involving  $\hat{\delta}'(x)$  since they can be reduced to the above cases using the identity

$$\int \hat{d}x \ x \ \hat{\delta}'(x) f(x^2) = -\int \hat{d}x \ \hat{\delta}(x) f(x^2).$$
(1.2.18)

Following arguments by Kälin-Porto [26], the integrals below vanish due to the presence of a double pole on a convergent integral<sup>5</sup>

$$\mathcal{I}^{i}_{\Delta}[1,1,2] = \mathcal{I}^{i}_{\Delta}[0,1,2] = \mathcal{I}^{i}_{\Delta}[1,0,2] = 0, \qquad i = 1,2,$$
(1.2.19)

and therefore only  $I^i_{\Delta}[1,1,0]$  contributes to the observables. In the following we then simply write  $\mathcal{I}^i_{\Delta}[1,1,0] \equiv \mathcal{I}^i_{\Delta}$  and for later purpose we write  $\mathcal{I}_{\not\square}[1,1] \equiv \mathcal{I}_{\not\square}$ . We also have that

since their loop integrals reduce to massless tadpole integrals. Now let us move on with the reductions of integrals of the form

$$I^{\mu} = \int \hat{d}^{4}\ell \,\ell^{\mu}\ell \cdot (\ell - q) \frac{\hat{\delta}'(u_{1} \cdot \ell)\hat{\delta}(u_{2} \cdot \ell)}{\ell^{2}(\ell - q)^{2}},\tag{1.2.21}$$

which appear in Eq. (1.2.14) and its mirror obtained by  $1 \leftrightarrow 2$ . In contrast to the above vanishing integrals,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>This result can also be shown by first using the Dirac-delta constraint and then IBP identities. As emphasized by Kälin-Porto these integrals do contribute in d > 4 [72].

the presence of the numerator makes this integral nonzero. Let us also recall that they are still integrated over the momentum transfer q and therefore in the integral reduction we can set to zero any term proportional to Eq.(1.2.19) or (1.2.20). Performing a simple Passarino-Veltman reduction we can write

$$I^{\mu} = K_1 u_1^{\mu} + K_2 u_2^{\mu} + K_3 q^{\mu}, \qquad (1.2.22)$$

where setting up a system of equations the resulting coefficients are

$$K_1 = \frac{1}{1 - \sigma^2} u_1 \cdot I, \qquad K_2 = -\frac{\sigma}{1 - \sigma^2} u_1 \cdot I, \qquad K_3 = \frac{1}{q^2} q \cdot I, \qquad (1.2.23)$$

where we have used the delta constraints  $\hat{\delta}(q \cdot u_1)$  and  $\hat{\delta}(q \cdot u_2)$  on which the integral is supported. The result thus depends only on two integrals, namely  $u_1 \cdot I$  and  $q \cdot I$ . After cancellations, the product  $q \cdot I$  leads to

$$q \cdot I = \frac{1}{4} \int \hat{d}^4 \ell \left[ \frac{2q^2}{\ell^2} - \frac{(q^2)^2}{\ell^2 (\ell - q)^2} \right] \hat{\delta}'(u_1 \cdot \ell) \hat{\delta}(u_2 \cdot \ell), \qquad (1.2.24)$$

which can be set to zero after integration over q using Eq.(1.2.19). Therefore we can express Eq.(1.2.21) only in terms of the integral  $u_1 \cdot I = \int \hat{d}^4 \ell \, u_1 \cdot \ell \ \ell \cdot (\ell - q) \frac{\hat{\delta}'(u_1 \cdot \ell)\hat{\delta}(u_2 \cdot \ell)}{\ell^2 (\ell - q)^2}$ 

$$\int d^{4}\ell \,\ell \cdot (\ell - q) \frac{\hat{\delta}(u_{1} \cdot \ell)\hat{\delta}(u_{2} \cdot \ell)}{\ell^{2}(\ell - q)^{2}}.$$
(1.2.25)

Without loss of generality, the second equality can be checked by choosing a frame where  $u_1 = (1, 0, 0, 0)$  and  $u_2 = (\sigma, 0, 0, \sigma\beta)$  and  $\beta$  is defined from the condition  $\sigma^2 - \sigma^2\beta^2 = 1$ . We can further reduce this integral ignoring vanishing terms (i.e., terms which have the form (1.2.20)) thus obtaining

$$u_1 \cdot I = \frac{1}{2} q^2 \int \hat{d}^4 \ell \, \frac{\hat{\delta}(u_1 \cdot \ell) \hat{\delta}(u_2 \cdot \ell)}{\ell^2 (\ell - q)^2}.$$
 (1.2.26)

The result for  $I^{\mu}$  then reads

$$I^{\mu} = \frac{1}{2}q^{2} \left( \frac{1}{1 - \sigma^{2}} u_{1}^{\mu} - \frac{\sigma}{1 - \sigma^{2}} u_{2}^{\mu} \right) \int \hat{d}^{4}\ell \, \frac{\hat{\delta}(u_{1} \cdot \ell)\hat{\delta}(u_{2} \cdot \ell)}{\ell^{2}(\ell - q)^{2}}, \tag{1.2.27}$$

which implies that we can express our results only in terms of the integrals (1.2.16)-(1.2.17) as claimed. Therefore, excluding all vanishing contributions, the impulses in terms of the master integrals can be written as

$$\Delta p_1^{\mu,(1)} = \frac{g^4 (c_1 \cdot c_2)^2}{2} \left\{ -\frac{\partial}{\partial b_\mu} \left[ \frac{\mathcal{I}_{\triangle}^1}{m_2} + \frac{\mathcal{I}_{\triangle}^2}{m_1} \right] - \left[ \frac{\sigma^2}{2(1-\sigma^2)} \left( \frac{u_1^{\mu}}{m_1} - \frac{\sigma u_2^{\mu}}{m_1} \right) - (1\leftrightarrow 2) \right] \frac{\partial}{\partial b_\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial b^\nu} \mathcal{I}_{\overrightarrow{\mu}} \right\}$$

and

$$\Delta c_1^{a,(1)} = g^4 \left\{ f^{acd} c_1^c c_2^d (c_1 \cdot c_2) \left( \frac{\mathcal{I}_{\triangle}^1}{m_2} + \frac{\mathcal{I}_{\triangle}^2}{m_1} \right) + \frac{\sigma^2}{2} \left( f^{acd} f^{dbe} c_1^e c_2^b c_2^c - f^{acd} f^{dbe} c_1^b c_1^c c_2^e \right) \mathcal{I}_{\not\square} \right\}.$$
(1.2.28)

Let us now consider the integration of the master integrals. The triangle one is well-known (see e.g., Ref.

[96]) and we simply quote the result

$$\mathcal{I}_{\Delta}^{1} = \int \hat{d}^{4}q \, \int \hat{d}^{4}\ell \, \hat{\delta}(u_{1} \cdot q)\hat{\delta}(u_{2} \cdot q)e^{-iq \cdot b} \frac{\hat{\delta}(u_{1} \cdot \ell)}{\ell^{2}(\ell - q)^{2}} = \frac{1}{16\pi} \frac{1}{\sigma\beta|b|} \,.$$
(1.2.29)

The loop integral inside  $\mathcal{I}_{\square}[1,1]$  can be computed using dimensional regularization [97], leading to

$$\int \hat{\mathrm{d}}^D \ell \, \frac{\hat{\delta}(u_1 \cdot \ell)\hat{\delta}(u_2 \cdot \ell)}{\ell^2 (\ell - q)^2} = \frac{1}{2\pi\sigma\beta q^2} \left[ \frac{1}{\varepsilon} - \log(-q^2) \right],\tag{1.2.30}$$

where  $D = 4 - 2\varepsilon$  and the usual factors  $\mu^{2\varepsilon} e^{\varepsilon \gamma_E}$  have been used to avoid the proliferation of the Euler-Mascheroni constant  $\gamma_E$  and factors of  $\pi$ . The divergent term leads to a contact term that can be discarded in the classical limit<sup>6</sup>. Therefore, keeping only the finite part we have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial b_{\nu}}\frac{\partial}{\partial b^{\nu}}\mathcal{I}_{\not\square} = \frac{1}{2\pi\sigma\beta} \int \hat{\mathrm{d}}^4 q \,\hat{\delta}(u_1 \cdot q) \hat{\delta}(u_2 \cdot q) e^{-iq \cdot b} \log(-q^2) = \frac{1}{2\pi^2 \sigma^2 \beta^2} \frac{1}{b^2}.$$
(1.2.31)

It will also be convenient to use a cut-off regularization to evaluate the divergent integral  $\mathcal{I}_{\not\square}$ . Exchanging the integration orders and introducing the change of variables  $Q = -\ell + q$  we have

$$\mathcal{I}_{\not\square} = \int \hat{\mathrm{d}}^4 \ell \, \frac{\hat{\delta}(u_1 \cdot \ell)\hat{\delta}(u_2 \cdot \ell)}{\ell^2} e^{-i\ell \cdot b} \int \hat{\mathrm{d}}^4 Q \, \hat{\delta}(u_1 \cdot Q)\hat{\delta}(u_2 \cdot Q) e^{-iQ \cdot b} \frac{1}{Q^2},\tag{1.2.32}$$

which leads to the product of two integrals of the form (1.2.9). Hence the result is simply

For later purposes we will express the color impulse in terms of the cut-off regulated integral. Our full integrated result for the NLO momentum impulse then reads

$$\Delta p_1^{\mu,(1)} = (c_1 \cdot c_2)^2 \frac{2\pi\alpha^2}{m_1 m_2} \bigg\{ -\frac{1}{4\sqrt{\sigma^2 - 1}} (m_1 + m_2) \frac{b^{\mu}}{|b|^3} \\ -\frac{1}{\pi} \frac{1}{b^2} \frac{\sigma^2}{(\sigma^2 - 1)^2} \left[ (m_2 + \sigma m_1) u_1^{\mu} - (m_1 + \sigma m_2) u_2^{\mu} \right] \bigg\},$$
(1.2.34)

and for the NLO color impulse

$$\Delta c_1^{a,(1)} = \alpha^2 \bigg\{ \pi \frac{f^{acd} c_1^c c_2^d (c_1 \cdot c_2)}{\sqrt{\sigma^2 - 1} |b|} \Big( \frac{1}{m_1} + \frac{1}{m_2} \Big) + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\sigma^2}{(\sigma^2 - 1)} \log^2 \left( \frac{|b|^2}{L^2} \right) \Big[ f^{acd} f^{dbe} c_1^e c_2^b c_2^c - f^{acd} f^{dbe} c_1^b c_1^c c_2^e \Big] \bigg\}.$$

$$(1.2.35)$$

## 1.3 Hamiltonian approach to color dynamics

In this Section we will compute the position-space Hamiltonian H that describes the classical dynamics of the two-to-two scattering of SU(N) colored objects with masses  $m_1$  and  $m_2$  and color charges  $c_1$  and  $c_2$ . The classical dynamics described by such a Hamiltonian must be consistent with Wong's equations [98] and its perturbative solutions and by extension to observables in the KMOC formalism. Let  $\mathbf{r}$  and  $\mathbf{p}$  be the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Notice that the factor of  $q^2$  in the denominator cancels after taking derivatives with respect to the impact parameter, so the singular term leads to  $\delta^2(\mathbf{b})$  which we can set to zero because we assume  $\mathbf{b} \neq 0$ .

relative distance between the particles and the momentum vector in the center of mass frame, respectively. We are interested in a perturbative expansion of the Hamiltonian

$$H \equiv H(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{p}, \mathcal{C}_i) = \sqrt{\mathbf{p}^2 + m_1^2} + \sqrt{\mathbf{p}^2 + m_2^2} + V(\mathbf{r}^2, \mathbf{p}^2, \mathcal{C}_i) + \dots, \qquad (1.3.1)$$

where the potential is an expansion up to the second power in the coupling constant  $\alpha$  and the color structures  $\mathcal{C}_i$  are all possible functions of the color charges that can appear in the amplitude. These charges are understood in the sense of Wong, i.e., as the classical limit of a quantum operator in a large representation of the gauge group so they can be treated as *c*-numbers.

#### 1.3.1Classical perturbation theory

Consider the general problem of an arbitrary Hamiltonian H describing the interaction of two particles with color charges  $c_1$  and  $c_2$  in their center of mass frame. While, as usual, r and p are canonically-conjugate to each other, color charges do not have a natural canonical conjugate. To derive the equations of motion we use the fact that they satisfy the relation [99, 100]

$$\{c_i^a, c_j^b\} = \delta_{ij} f^{abc} c_i^c, \qquad i, j = 1, 2, \qquad (1.3.2)$$

where  $\{A, B\}$  is the Poisson bracket of A and B. The equations of motion are then

$$\dot{\boldsymbol{r}} = \frac{\partial H}{\partial \boldsymbol{p}}, \qquad \dot{\boldsymbol{p}} = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial \boldsymbol{r}}, \qquad \dot{c}_i^a = f^{abc} c_i^b \frac{\partial H}{\partial c_i^c}, \quad i = 1, 2.$$
(1.3.3)

In the color equation of motion, no summation over i is implied on the right-hand side. For the purpose of finding the impulse  $\Delta p$  we find it convenient to use Cartesian coordinates. One can solve the equations of motion for coordinates, momenta, and colors as a function of time.

There are conservation laws that aid the construction of classical solutions. These fix the energy and the total angular momentum in terms of their asymptotic values. For example for the energy we have

$$E \equiv H(\mathbf{r}_{\infty}, \mathbf{p}_{\infty}, c_1, c_2) = \sqrt{\mathbf{p}_{\infty}^2 + m_1^2} + \sqrt{\mathbf{p}_{\infty}^2 + m_2^2}, \qquad (1.3.4)$$

where  $p_{\infty} = p_{\infty} e_z$  is the incoming momentum at infinity. We take the orbital angular momentum at infinity to be L

$$L \equiv \boldsymbol{b} \times \boldsymbol{p}_{\infty} = \boldsymbol{b} \cdot \boldsymbol{p}_{\infty} \boldsymbol{e}_{y} \,, \tag{1.3.5}$$

where  $b = -be_x$  and b is the impact parameter. We solve the equations of motion perturbatively in the coupling constant, i.e. we search for a solution for coordinates, momenta, and colors of the form

$$\boldsymbol{r}(t) = \boldsymbol{r}_{0}(t) + \alpha \boldsymbol{r}_{1}(t) + \alpha^{2} \boldsymbol{r}_{2}(t) + \dots ,$$
  

$$\boldsymbol{p}(t) = \boldsymbol{p}_{0}(t) + \alpha \boldsymbol{p}_{1}(t) + \alpha^{2} \boldsymbol{p}_{2}(t) + \dots ,$$
  

$$\boldsymbol{c}_{i}^{a}(t) = \boldsymbol{c}_{i,0}^{a}(t) + \alpha \boldsymbol{c}_{i,1}^{a}(t) + \alpha^{2} \boldsymbol{c}_{i,2}^{a}(t) + \dots .$$
(1.3.6)



Figure 1.1: The one-loop scalar box integrals  $I_{\Box}$  (a) and  $I_{\bowtie}$  (b) and the corresponding triangle integrals  $I_{\triangle}$  (c) and  $I_{\bigtriangledown}$  (d). The bottom (top) solid line corresponds to a massive propagator of mass  $m_1$  ( $m_2$ ). The dashed lines denote massless propagators.

Replacing them in the equations of motion (1.3.3) leads to iterative relations between the time derivative of the *n*-th term in the expansions above and all the lower-order terms. The  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha^0)$  terms describe the motion of a free color-charged particle in flat space, i.e. a straight line fixed by the initial momentum, the impact parameter, and initial color charge. The first-order differential equations for the higher-order terms can be integrated; the relevant boundary conditions are that  $\mathbf{r}_{n\geq 1}$ ,  $\mathbf{p}_{n\geq 1}$  and  $c_{i,n\geq 1}^a$  vanish at t = -T, where T is a cutoff time. It is necessary to introduce such a cutoff due to the same divergence identified in Eqs.(1.2.13) and (1.2.35); the cutoff T is proportional to the cutoff L in those equations. The contribution of each order in  $\alpha$  to an observable O, such as the linear or color impulse, is then

$$\Delta O^{(n)} = \int_{-T}^{T} \mathrm{d}t \, \frac{\mathrm{d}O^{(n)}}{\mathrm{d}t} = O^{(n)}(t=T) - O^{(n)}(t=-T) \,, \tag{1.3.7}$$

with the complete result being their sum weighted with the appropriate powers of  $\alpha$ .

#### 1.3.2 Hamiltonian from effective field theory

The perturbative classical problem can be solved straightforwardly once the Hamiltonian is obtained. We then proceed to compute it following the EFT approach adapted to this case. In order to apply this approach we will decompose the amplitudes in some color basis and neglect contributions of higher orders in  $\hbar$  using Eq. (1.2.2). Our amplitude expressions will be directly written in terms of classical color factors, i.e., we consider that the expectation value with respect to coherent states has already been taken<sup>7</sup>.

#### Full theory amplitudes from unitarity

Let us first show the two-to-two scattering amplitudes between color-charged particles needed to construct the Hamiltonian. The information to determine the  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha)$  Hamiltonian is contained in the tree-level amplitude. We take the incoming momenta of the color-charged particles to be  $-p_1$  and  $-p_2$  and their outgoing momenta

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>This essentially amounts to the replacement  $C_i \rightarrow c_i$  which is implemented in Ref.[7] by the double bracket notation.

to be  $p_3$  and  $p_4$ . The amplitude is given by

$$\mathcal{A}^{\text{tree}} = -\frac{4\pi\alpha}{q^2} \lambda_1 \mathcal{C} (\text{tree}) + \dots , \qquad (1.3.8)$$

where we omit terms that do not contribute to the classical limit in the ellipsis, along with pieces proportional to  $q^2$ , since they cancel the propagator and do not yield long-range contributions. The color structure is given by  $\mathcal{C}$  (tree) =  $c_1 \cdot c_2$ , (1.3.9)

and the coefficient  $\lambda_1$  takes the explicit form

$$\lambda_1 = -4m_1m_2\sigma, \qquad (1.3.10)$$

where we use the kinematic variable

$$\sigma = \frac{p_1 \cdot p_2}{m_1 m_2} \,. \tag{1.3.11}$$

In order to construct the  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha^2)$  Hamiltonian we further need the corresponding one-loop amplitude. It was shown in Ref. [7] that classically, the 1-loop scalar YM amplitude has a basis of only one color factor, and moreover depends on the same topologies as in electrodynamics, so it's given by

$$\mathcal{A}^{1\text{-loop}} = \mathcal{C}\left(\mathcal{H}\right) \mathcal{A}^{1\text{-loop, QED}} + \dots , \qquad (1.3.12)$$

in terms of the one-loop QED amplitude. The color structure is given by

$$\mathcal{C}\left(\mathbf{\Sigma}\right) = \left(c_1 \cdot c_2\right)^2 \,. \tag{1.3.13}$$

We could express the latter one-loop amplitude as a linear combination of scalar box, triangle, bubble and tadpole integrals, but Refs. [14, 17] showed that the bubble and tadpole integrals do not contribute to the classical limit. Dropping these pieces we write

$$i\mathcal{A}^{1\text{-loop, QED}} = d_{\Box} I_{\Box} + d_{\bowtie} I_{\bowtie} + c_{\bigtriangleup} I_{\bigtriangleup} + c_{\nabla} I_{\nabla} , \qquad (1.3.14)$$

where the coefficients  $d_{\Box}$ ,  $d_{\bowtie}$ ,  $c_{\triangle}$  and  $c_{\bigtriangledown}$  are rational functions of external momenta. The integrals  $I_{\Box}$ ,  $I_{\bowtie}$ ,  $I_{\triangle}$  and  $I_{\bigtriangledown}$  are shown in Fig. 1.1. The triangle integrals take the form [14]

$$I_{\triangle,\nabla} = -\frac{i}{32m_{1,2}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{-q^2}} + \cdots .$$
(1.3.15)

The box contributions do not contain any novel  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha^2)$  information. They correspond to infrared-divergent pieces that cancel out when we equate the full-theory and EFT amplitudes [14, 17]. In this sense, the explicit values for the box coefficients serve only as a consistency check of our calculation and we do not show them. Instead, we give the result for

$$i\mathcal{A}^{\triangle+\bigtriangledown} \equiv (c_{\triangle} I_{\triangle} + c_{\bigtriangledown} I_{\bigtriangledown}) \mathcal{C} \left( \biguplus \right) .$$
(1.3.16)

As detailed in Ref.[59], we use the generalized-unitarity method to obtain the integral coefficients of



Figure 1.2: The Compton-amplitude Feynman diagrams. The straight line corresponds to the massive color-charged particle. The wiggly lines correspond to gluons.



Figure 1.3: Appropriate residues of the two-particle cut (a) give the triple cuts (b) and (c), and the quadruple cut (d). The straight lines corresponds to the color-charged particles and the wiggly lines to the exchanged gluons. All exposed lines are taken on-shell.

Eq. (1.3.14). We start by calculating the Compton amplitude for the color-charged particle, using Feynman rules. Subsequently, we construct the two-particle cut. The residues of the two-particle cut on the matter poles give the triple cuts, and localizing both matter poles gives the quadruple cut. We obtain the triangle and box coefficients from the triple and quadruple cuts respectively. Our result reads

$$\mathcal{A}^{\triangle + \bigtriangledown} = \frac{2\pi^2 \alpha^2}{\sqrt{-q^2}} \lambda_2 \mathcal{C} \left( \widecheck{} \right) + \dots, \qquad (1.3.17)$$

where the coefficient is given by

$$\lambda_2 = 2m, \qquad (1.3.18)$$

and  $m = m_1 + m_2$ . In preparation for the matching procedure in the following Section, we specialize our expressions to the center-of-mass frame. In this frame, the independent four-momenta read

$$p_1 = -(E_1, \mathbf{p}),$$
  $p_2 = -(E_2, -\mathbf{p}),$   $q = (0, \mathbf{q}),$   $\mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{q} = \mathbf{q}^2/2.$  (1.3.19)

Using the above expressions, our amplitudes take the form

$$\frac{\mathcal{A}^{\text{tree}}}{4E_1E_2} = \frac{4\pi\alpha}{q^2}\Lambda_1 \mathcal{C} \text{ (tree)} , \qquad \frac{\mathcal{A}^{\triangle+\bigtriangledown}}{4E_1E_2} = \frac{2\pi^2\alpha^2}{|q|}\Lambda_2 \mathcal{C} \left( \bigcup \right) . \tag{1.3.20}$$

The coefficients  $\Lambda_i$  are given in terms of the  $\lambda_i$  of Eqs. (1.3.10) and (1.3.18) by

$$\Lambda_1 = -\frac{\nu\sigma}{\gamma^2\xi}, \qquad \Lambda_2 = \frac{1}{2m\gamma^2\xi}, \qquad (1.3.21)$$

where in addition to the definition in Eq. (1.3.11) we use

$$\nu = \frac{m_1 m_2}{m^2} \qquad \gamma = \frac{E}{m}, \qquad E = E_1 + E_2, \qquad \xi = \frac{E_1 E_2}{E^2}.$$
(1.3.22)

#### Construction of the EFT amplitudes

With the full theory amplitudes in hand, we now turn our attention to the task of translating the scattering amplitudes of color-charged fields to a two-body conservative Hamiltonian. We do this by matching the scattering amplitude computed above to the two-to-two amplitude of an EFT of the positive-energy modes of fields. Ref. [14] developed this matching procedure for higher orders in the coupling constants and all orders in velocity, and we adapt it here to describe the color-charged fields  $\xi_1$  and  $\xi_2$ . We follow closely the construction for classical spin in Ref. [59]. The action of the effective field theory (supressing representation indices) for  $\xi_1$  and  $\xi_2$  is given by

$$S = \int \hat{d}^{D-1} \boldsymbol{k} \sum_{a=1,2} \xi_a^{\dagger}(-\boldsymbol{k}) \left( i\partial_t - \sqrt{\boldsymbol{k}^2 + m_a^2} \right) \xi_a(\boldsymbol{k})$$

$$- \int \hat{d}^{D-1} \boldsymbol{k} \int \hat{d}^{D-1} \boldsymbol{k}' \xi_1^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{k}') \xi_2^{\dagger}(-\boldsymbol{k}') V(\boldsymbol{k}', \boldsymbol{k}, \hat{\mathcal{C}}_i) \xi_1(\boldsymbol{k}) \xi_2(-\boldsymbol{k}) ,$$
(1.3.23)

where the interaction potential  $V(\mathbf{k}', \mathbf{k}, \hat{C}_i)$  is a function of the incoming and outgoing momenta  $\mathbf{k}$  and  $\mathbf{k}'$  and the color-structure operators  $\hat{C}_i$ . We consider kinematics in the center-of-mass frame. As on the full theory side, one could construct the color asymptotic states of  $\xi_i$  using SU(N) coherent states (analogous to the spin coherents states of [59]) so color operators satisy the defining properties eqs. (1.2.5)-(1.2.6). We obtain the classical color charge vector as the expectation value of the color operator with respect to these on-shell states.

We build the most general potential containing only long-range classical contributions. This will be in terms of color operators, whose expectation values with respect to SU(N) coherent states are in correspondence with the classical color structures in the full theory amplitude, Eq. (1.3.20). We use the following ansatz for the potential operator

$$\hat{V}(\boldsymbol{k}',\boldsymbol{k},\hat{\mathcal{C}}_{i}) = \frac{4\pi\alpha}{\hat{\boldsymbol{q}}^{2}}d_{1}\left(\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}^{2}\right)\hat{\mathcal{C}}\left(\text{tree}\right) + \frac{2\pi^{2}\alpha^{2}}{|\hat{\boldsymbol{q}}|}d_{2}\left(\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}^{2}\right)\hat{\mathcal{C}}\left(\boldsymbol{j}\boldsymbol{k}\right) + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^{3}), \qquad (1.3.24)$$

where  $\hat{p}^2 \equiv (k^2 + k'^2)/2$ .

We now evaluate the EFT two-to-two scattering amplitude. To this end we use the Feynman rules

derived from the EFT action (Eq. (1.3.23)),

$$(E, \mathbf{k}) = \frac{i\mathbb{I}}{E - \sqrt{\mathbf{k}^2 + m^2} + i\epsilon}, \qquad \mathbf{k}' = -iV(\mathbf{k}', \mathbf{k}, \hat{\mathcal{C}}_i). \qquad (1.3.25)$$

Using these rules we compute the amplitude up to  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha^2)$  directly evaluating the relevant Feynman diagrams, omitting terms that do not contribute to long range interactions. The color factors must be treated as operators, and thus their ordering is important. After carrying out the energy integration, we obtain an expression for the amplitude

$$\hat{\mathcal{A}}^{\text{EFT}} = -\hat{V}(\boldsymbol{p}', \boldsymbol{p}, \hat{\mathcal{C}}_i) - \int \hat{d}^{D-1} \boldsymbol{k} \frac{\hat{V}(\boldsymbol{p}', \boldsymbol{k}, \hat{\mathcal{C}}_i) \hat{V}(\boldsymbol{k}, \boldsymbol{p}, \hat{\mathcal{C}}_i)}{E_1 + E_2 - \sqrt{\boldsymbol{k}^2 + m_1^2} - \sqrt{\boldsymbol{k}^2 + m_2^2}} .$$
(1.3.26)

We can now take the expectation value with respect to coherent states. At  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha)$  the EFT amplitude receives a contribution only from the first term of Eq. (1.3.26), and after taking the expectation value with respect to coherent states the result is

$$\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{O}(\alpha)}^{\text{EFT}} = -\frac{4\pi\alpha}{q^2} d_1 \mathcal{C} \text{ (tree)} , \qquad (1.3.27)$$

which is a *c*-number. On the other hand, the EFT amplitude at  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha^2)$  receives contributions from both terms in Eq. (1.3.26) and can be written as

$$\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{O}(\alpha^2)}^{\text{EFT}} = \frac{2\pi^2 \alpha^2}{|\boldsymbol{q}|} \Lambda_2 \mathcal{C}\left(\boldsymbol{\boldsymbol{\boldsymbol{\boldsymbol{\boldsymbol{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{C}}}}}}}\right) + (4\pi\alpha)^2 \Lambda_{\text{iter}} \mathcal{C} \left(\text{tree}\right)^2 \int \hat{d}^{D-1} \boldsymbol{\ell} \frac{2\xi E}{\boldsymbol{\ell}^2 (\boldsymbol{\ell} + \boldsymbol{q})^2 (\boldsymbol{\ell}^2 + 2\boldsymbol{p} \cdot \boldsymbol{\ell})}, \qquad (1.3.28)$$

where  $\ell = k - p$  and we only keep terms that are relevant in the classical limit. Anticipating the matching, we write the amplitude in terms of  $\Lambda_2$ , which is given directly in terms of the momentum-space potential coefficient by

$$\Lambda_2 = -d_2 + \frac{1 - 3\xi}{2\xi E} d_1^2 + \xi E \partial_{\mathbf{p}^2} d_1^2, \qquad (1.3.29)$$

The second term in Eq. (1.3.28) is infrared divergent and we have explicitly verified that it cancels out when we equate the full-theory and EFT amplitudes. The potential takes the form

$$V(\boldsymbol{r}^2, \boldsymbol{p}^2, \mathcal{C}_i) = \frac{\alpha}{|\boldsymbol{r}|} d_1(\boldsymbol{p}^2) \mathcal{C} (\text{tree}) + \left(\frac{\alpha}{|\boldsymbol{r}|}\right)^2 d_2(\boldsymbol{p}^2) \mathcal{C} \left(\boldsymbol{\boldsymbol{\boldsymbol{\sum}}}\right) + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^3) .$$
(1.3.30)

We obtain the position-space Hamiltonian by taking the Fourier transform of the momentum-space<sup>8</sup> Hamiltonian with respect to the momentum transfer q, which is the conjugate of the separation between the particles r. We determine the momentum-space coefficient  $d_i$  in terms of the amplitudes coefficients  $\Lambda_i$  by a matching

 $<sup>^{8}</sup>$ The position-space coefficients are trivially related to the momentum-space coefficients. This is unlike the case for spinning particles, where a set of linear relations was established between them.

procedure, i.e. by demanding that the EFT amplitude matches the full-theory one,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{O}(\alpha)}^{\text{EFT}} = \frac{\mathcal{A}^{\text{tree}}}{4E_1 E_2} , \qquad \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{O}(\alpha^2)}^{\text{EFT}} = \frac{\mathcal{A}^{1\text{-loop}}}{4E_1 E_2} , \qquad (1.3.31)$$

where the factors of the energy account for the non-relativistic normalization of the EFT amplitude. Using Eq. (1.3.21) we relate  $\Lambda_i$  to  $\lambda_i$ , which are explicitly shown in Eqs. (1.3.10) and (1.3.18). Putting everything together, we obtain expressions for the position-space coefficients

$$d_1 = -\frac{\nu\sigma}{\gamma^2\xi},\tag{1.3.32}$$

$$d_2 = \frac{1}{m\xi} \left( \frac{1}{2\gamma^2} - \frac{\nu\sigma}{\xi\gamma^3} + \frac{(1-\xi)\nu^2\sigma^2}{2\xi^2\gamma^5} \right).$$
(1.3.33)

This finishes the computation of the effective Hamiltonian. The classical equations of motion can now be solved iteratively using the Eqs.(1.3.3), (1.3.6) and the definition of the observables (1.3.7). Following this procedure we have found agreement with the results of Section 1.2.

#### 1.3.3 Observables from the eikonal phase

The conservative Hamiltonian we obtained in previous Sections enables the calculation of physical observables for a scattering of compact objects interacting through gluon exchange. Ref. [59] conjectured a formula that expresses physical observables in terms of derivatives of the eikonal phase for the spinning case. In this Section we extend that analysis.

Let us start by obtaining the eikonal phase via a Fourier transform of our amplitudes. Then, following Ref. [59] we can solve Hamilton's equations for the impulse and color impulse and relate them to derivatives of the eikonal phase. The eikonal phase  $\chi = \chi_1 + \chi_2 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^3)$  is given by

$$\chi_1 = \frac{1}{4m_1m_2\sqrt{\sigma^2 - 1}} \int \hat{d}^2 \boldsymbol{q} \ e^{-i\boldsymbol{q}\cdot\boldsymbol{b}} \mathcal{A}^{\text{tree}}(\boldsymbol{q}) ,$$
  
$$\chi_2 = \frac{1}{4m_1m_2\sqrt{\sigma^2 - 1}} \int \hat{d}^2 \boldsymbol{q} \ e^{-i\boldsymbol{q}\cdot\boldsymbol{b}} \mathcal{A}^{\triangle + \nabla}(\boldsymbol{q}) .$$
(1.3.34)

Using our amplitudes expressed in the center-of-mass frame (see Eq. (1.3.20)) we find

$$\chi_1 = -\frac{\xi E \alpha}{|\boldsymbol{p}|} \Lambda_1 \left( \ln \frac{\boldsymbol{b}^2}{L^2} \right) \mathcal{C} \text{ (tree)} , \qquad (1.3.35)$$

$$\chi_2 = \frac{\pi \xi E \alpha^2}{|\mathbf{p}|} \frac{\Lambda_2}{|\mathbf{b}|} \mathcal{C} \left( \widecheck{} \right) , \qquad (1.3.36)$$

where in the first order eikonal phase we include a cutoff regulator L as we did in Section 1.2. In the case without color, the integration is regulated via dimensional regularization, and the divergence is ignored, because the derivative of the eikonal phase is always taken and they don't contribute. This is no longer the case here.

We may now use the eikonal phase to obtain classical observables. Generalizing the conjecture of Ref. [59]

to the color-charged case, the observables in question are the impulse  $\Delta p$  and color impulse  $\Delta c_i^a$ , where

$$\boldsymbol{p}(t=\infty) = \boldsymbol{p} + \Delta \boldsymbol{p}, \qquad \boldsymbol{p}(t=-\infty) = \boldsymbol{p},$$
$$c_i^a(t=\infty) = c_i^a + \Delta c_i^a, \qquad c_i^a(t=-\infty) = c_i^a. \qquad (1.3.37)$$

Inspired by the gravitational spinning case let us decompose the impulse as

$$\Delta \boldsymbol{p} = \Delta p_{\parallel} \frac{\boldsymbol{p}}{|\boldsymbol{p}|} + \Delta \boldsymbol{p}_{\perp} , \qquad (1.3.38)$$

where  $\Delta p_{\parallel}$  can be obtained from the on-shell condition  $(\boldsymbol{p} + \Delta \boldsymbol{p})^2 = \boldsymbol{p}^2$ . Therefore, ignoring the mixing of spin and orbital angular momentum—which is absent in our case since the particle is spinless—the impulse and color impulse through  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha^2)$  satisfy

$$\Delta \boldsymbol{p}_{\perp} = -\{\boldsymbol{p}_{\perp}, \chi\} - \frac{1}{2} \{\chi, \{\boldsymbol{p}_{\perp}, \chi\}\},\$$
  
$$\Delta c_{1}^{a} = -\{c_{1}^{a}, \chi\} - \frac{1}{2} \{\chi, \{c_{1}^{a}, \chi\}\},\$$
(1.3.39)

where in Eq. (1.3.39) we use the definitions

$$\{\boldsymbol{p}_{\perp},g\} \equiv -\frac{\partial g}{\partial \boldsymbol{b}}, \qquad \{c_1^a,g\} \equiv f^{abc}\frac{\partial g}{\partial c_1^b}c_1^c. \qquad (1.3.40)$$

The second term in the linear impulse doesn't contribute because the tree color structure commutes with itself but we leave it there to keep the suggestive structure. It is then straightforward to show that the linear impulse will be reproduced here, the same way it was for the spinless QED case, simply by taking a replacement of electric for color charges. We have compared both the impulse and the color impulse, to the solution of the EOM, and the integrated result of the NLO color impulse finding full agreement.

Our calculation extends the conjecture of Ref. [59] to the domain of color. We may note that in this setting the momentum and the color are separately conserved. This is unlike the case for spinning particles, where only the sum J = L + S is conserved. Due to the mixing of spin and orbital angular momentum, it was possible to define the object  $\mathcal{D}_{SL}(f,g) \equiv -S_1 \cdot \left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial S_1} \times \frac{\partial g}{\partial L_b}\right)$  (where  $S_1$  is the spin vector and  $L_b \equiv b \times p$ ). Such an object was necessary to add terms of the form  $\mathcal{D}_{SL}(\chi, \{o, \chi\})$  and  $\{o, \mathcal{D}_{SL}(\chi, \chi)\}$ . In consequence, the form of Eq. (1.3.39) is indeed simpler than its spin counterpart.

## **1.4 Conclusions**

In this chapter we have used the KMOC formalism and a matching procedure with a non-relativistic EFT to evaluate classical Yang-Mills observables. Using these approaches we have found that the eikonal phase conjecture of Ref. [59] to the case of color is realized at NLO. On the KMOC side we have used the integrands already computed in Ref. [7] and performed a direct integration, while on the EFT side we have used unitarity adapting the formalism by Cheung-Rothstein-Solon [14] to the case of color charges.

The integration of the color and momentum impulses follows from a simple integral reduction and techniques successfully applied in gravity, e.g., in Ref. [26]. We have found that, as in the case of gravity, the integrals related only with the box and crossed box vanish. However those related with the cut box contribute as expected. In order to expose the exponentiation of the NLO color impulse we have used a cut-off regulator as in Ref. [7] to evaluate cut-box integrals.

Once the color decomposition has been performed and the classical relevant parts identified the matching procedure follows essentially the QED case. The Hamiltonian thus constructed was used to solve the equations of motion and obtain the classical linear impulse and color impulse by direct integration. The results were in complete agreement to the evaluation using KMOC integrands. Finally, the eikonal phase construction matches the result of the KMOC and of EOM in a rather elegant way giving more evidence of the observation Ref. [59] that all physical observables are obtainable via simple manipulations of the scattering amplitude.

For the case of impulses it is also worth mentioning that the intricacies due to the mixing of color and kinematics in the KMOC calculation are absent in the rather straightforward construction based on unitarity and EFT. However, for the construction of the EFT it was crucial to employ coherent states to obtain the classical limit, so this aspect is common to both approaches as is the use of the Lie algebra of the rescaled color factors. Obtaining higher order corrections in the KMOC formalism for Yang-Mills observables would be perhaps more efficient using unitarity from the beginning as done in Refs. [10, 11] (for the gravitational case), benefiting from advances in relativistic integration.

Our results provide evidence in favor of the eikonal phase conjecture of Ref. [59], and so they call for the calculation of the 2-loop color impulse as a toy example towards the gravitational spin. Besides being a toy model for gravitational dynamics, the classical limit of Yang-Mills theory is useful to describe non-equilibrium plasma through kinetic theory, where color is treated as a continuous classical variable. In Ref. [12] solutions of kinetic equations were interpreted as classical limits of certain off-shell currents so it would be interesting to explore a Hamiltonian perspective to this problem.

## Chapter 2

# Quantum Field Theory, Worldline Theory, and Spin Magnitude Change in Orbital Evolution

Zvi Bern<sup>a</sup>, Dimitrios Kosmopoulos<sup>b</sup>, Andres Luna<sup>c</sup>, Radu Roiban<sup>d</sup>, Trevor Scheopner<sup>a</sup>, Fei Teng<sup>d</sup>, Justin Vines<sup>a</sup>

> <sup>a</sup>Mani L. Bhaumik Institute for Theoretical Physics, University of California at Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA 90095, USA <sup>b</sup>Département de Physique Théorique, Université de Genève, CH-1211 Geneva, Switzerland

> > <sup>c</sup>Niels Bohr International Academy,

Niels Bohr Institute, University of Copenhagen, Blegdamsvej 17, DK-2100, Copenhagen Ø, Denmark <sup>d</sup>Institute for Gravitation and the Cosmos,

Pennsylvania State University, University Park, PA 16802, USA

A previous paper [101] identified a puzzle stemming from the amplitudes-based approach to spinning bodies in general relativity: additional Wilson coefficients appear compared to current worldline approaches to conservative dynamics of generic astrophysical objects, including neutron stars. In this chapter we clarify the nature of analogous Wilson coefficients in the simpler theory of electrodynamics. We analyze the original field-theory construction, identifying definite-spin states some of which have negative norms, and relating the additional Wilson coefficients in the classical theory to transitions between different quantum spin states. We produce a new version of the theory which also has additional Wilson coefficients, but no negative-norm states. We match, through  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha^2)$  and  $\mathcal{O}(S^2)$ , the Compton amplitudes of these field theories with those of a modified worldline theory with extra degrees of freedom introduced by releasing the spin supplementary condition. We build an effective two-body Hamiltonian that matches the impulse and spin kick of the modified field theory and of the worldline theory, displaying additional Wilson coefficients compared to standard worldline approaches. The results are then compactly expressed in terms of an eikonal formula. Our key conclusion is that, contrary to standard approaches, while the magnitude of the spin tensor is still conserved, the magnitude of the spin vector can change under conserved Hamiltonian dynamics and this change is governed by the additional Wilson coefficients. For specific values of Wilson coefficients the results are equivalent to those from a definite spin obeying the spin supplementary condition, but for generic values they are physically inequivalent. These results warrant detailed studies of the corresponding issues in general relativity.

## 2.1 Introduction

#### 2.1.1 General Overview

The landmark detection of gravitational waves by the LIGO/Virgo collaboration [102, 103] opened a new era in astronomy, cosmology and perhaps even particle physics. As gravitational-wave detectors become more sensitive [104, 105, 106], the spin of objects such as black holes and neutron stars will play an increasingly important role in identifying and interpreting signals. Spin also leads to much richer three-dimensional dynamics because of the exchange of angular momentum between bodies and their orbital motion. Its precise definition leads to interesting and subtle theoretical questions, some of which we address here.

The study of the dynamics of spinning objects in general relativity [107, 108, 109, 110] has a long history, in both the post-Newtonian (PN) framework [111, 112, 113, 114, 115, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 122, 123, 124, 125, 126, 127, 128, 129, 130, 131, 132, 133, 134, 135, 136, 51, 137, 138, 139, 140, 141, 142, 143, 144, 145, 146, 147, 148, 149, 150, 151, 152, 153, 154, 155, 156, 157, 158, 159, 160, 161, 162, 163], where observables are simultaneously expanded in Newton's constant G and in the velocity v, and the post-Minkowskian (PM) framework [164, 165, 6, 57, 56, 52, 78, 21, 22, 58, 53, 54, 55, 59, 61, 60, 65, 62, 166, 167, 168, 169, 66, 170, 171, 172, 173, 174, 101, 168, 175, 176, 177, 178, 179, 180, 181, 182, 183, 184], where observables are expanded only in Newton's constant with exact velocity dependence. In both approaches the interaction of spinning objects with the gravitational field is described in terms of a set of higher-dimension operators whose Wilson coefficients encode the detailed properties of the objects. For the interesting case of black holes, the values of these coefficients at  $\mathcal{O}(G)$  are known [58], with proposals for the additional coefficients at  $\mathcal{O}(G^2)$  recently given based on a shift symmetry [173, 101, 179, 180] already present at  $\mathcal{O}(G)$ .<sup>1</sup> The electromagnetic case is similar in structure [187, 188, 189, 5, 190, 191, 192] (see also Refs. [7, 1] for non-abelian generalisations), with the post-Coulombian (PC) and post-Lorentzian (PL) expansions being the respective analogs of the gravitational PN and PM expansions.

A primary purpose of this chapter is to explore puzzles identified in Ref. [101] regarding the description of spinning bodies in general relativity. In that paper, results for the conservative two-body scattering angle

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Through  $O(S^4)$  Refs. [185, 186] find that the Compton amplitude derived by solving the Teukolsky equation agrees with with these previous results. However, the predictions based on shift symmetry at  $\mathcal{O}(S^5)$  are in tension with results from the Teukolsky equation, though the latter involve a subtle analytic continuation between the black-hole and naked-singularity regimes.

were obtained through fifth power in the spin using a scattering-amplitudes-based method. A rather striking outcome, which follows from the fact that the field-theory Lagrangian is not directly expressed in terms of particles' spin tensor, is that the field-theory approach of Ref. [59] has a larger number of independent Wilson coefficients for a given power of spin than standard (worldline) methods. While at 1PM (tree) level the number of independent Wilson coefficients is identical in the two approaches, matching of physical observables starting at 2PM (one loop) and third power of the spin can only be attained by setting some of the field-theory Wilson coefficients to definite numerical values, so that they are no longer independent. This implies that the field theory contains a larger number of physically-relevant independent Wilson coefficients. For the special case of Kerr black holes it appears that the additional Wilson coefficients present in the field theory are not needed [58, 167, 168, 173, 101]. In electrodynamics we find a similar situation for the root-Kerr solution [193], related to the Kerr solution via the double copy [194, 195, 196, 92, 87, 80].

The connection between scattering amplitudes and effective two-body interactions has been known for some time [197, 198, 199, 200, 201, 50, 13, 202, 203, 204, 96]. Recent years have seen the construction of new systematic methods for extracting potentials and physical observables at high orders from scattering amplitudes [14, 5, 16, 17, 19, 20, 205], which leverage modern methods for calculating scattering amplitudes, including generalized unitarity [206, 207, 208, 209, 210, 211], the double copy [194, 195, 196, 80] and advanced integration techniques [212, 213, 214, 215, 215, 216, 33]. The extraction of classical physics from quantum scattering is greatly simplified by concepts from effective field theories (EFTs), systematized for the gravitational-wave problem in Ref. [217] and applied to the PM framework in Ref. [14]. By manifestly maintaining Lorentz invariance, the amplitudes approach fits naturally in the PM or PL frameworks, and produced the first conservative spinless two-body Hamiltonian at  $\mathcal{O}(G^3)$  and  $\mathcal{O}(G^4)$  [16, 17, 30, 218] (see also Refs. [18, 27, 28, 219, 220, 221, 222, 181]). Such methods also led to new perspectives on the gravitational interactions of spinning particles [223, 54, 53, 57, 55, 78, 21, 59, 22, 167, 101] and on tidal effects [224, 26, 47, 43, 46, 49, 48, 44].

Here we use both the amplitudes-based method and the more standard worldline approach [217, 140, 225, 145, 226, 227] to study the interactions of spinning particles. Since they describe the same physics, one may expect that there is a (usually nontrivial) correspondence between the operators (as well as between their Wilson coefficients) describing these interactions in the two approaches. Each type of object, whether a Kerr black hole or neutron star, is described by particular values for the Wilson coefficients, which are determined by an appropriate matching calculation. In the worldline approach one imposes a spin supplementary condition (SSC) [228] that identifies the three physical spin degrees of freedom. This condition has been interpreted in terms of a spin-gauge symmetry which formalizes the freedom to shift the worldline in the ambient space [229, 145, 230] without changing the physics. An important aspect of an SSC is that it reduces

the number of possible independent operators—and consequently the number of Wilson coefficients—by equating operators whose difference is proportional to the SSC. Here we use the dynamical mass function formalism of Ref. [226] to explore the consequences of relaxing the SSC and to help interpret the additional degrees of freedom.

An interesting subtlety in the amplitudes approach is whether the complete description of a spinning compact body is provided by a single quantum spin  $s \gg 1$  or by a suitable combination of multiple quantum spins, with possible transitions between them. For the sake of simplicity, the field theory of Ref. [59]—meant to be valid only in the classical limit—is based on the matter states forming an irreducible representation of the Lorentz group but a reducible representation of the rotation group; some of its components have negative norm. One might worry these negative-norm states might lead to some difficulties in the classical limit [231]. In addition, projecting onto the physical states of a quantum spin s [231, 179] appears to effectively remove the additional Wilson coefficients, leaving only those included in the worldline framework, which we affirm here. Field-theory approaches [167, 168, 173, 180] based on the massive-spinor-helicity amplitudes [193] are a convenient means for restricting the propagation to a single irreducible quantum spin. Here we use physical state projectors [232, 233] for the same purpose.

The results of Ref. [101] raises several questions:

- 1. What is a complete description of a spinning body in general relativity?
- 2. Can one construct a worldline theory that matches field-theory descriptions containing extra independent Wilson coefficients? If so, what extra degrees of freedom are needed?
- 3. The field-theory construction of Ref. [101] uses propagating reducible representations of the rotation group (spin representations), some with negative norm. In the context of this construction, what happens if only a single quantum spin propagates?
- 4. Can one build a field theory based on positive-norm irreducible representations of the rotation group that also contain extra independent Wilson coefficients?
- 5. Should a classical spin be modeled as a definite-spin field or as a superposition of fields with different spins? A related question on the latter case is whether transitions between different spins are allowed that change the magnitude of the spin vector even in the conservative sector.<sup>2</sup>
- 6. Can one build an effective two-body Hamiltonian with extra degrees of freedom whose physical observables match field-theory results containing extra Wilson coefficients?

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ With dissipation and absorption included the spin magnitude is, of course, not preserved (see e.g. Refs. [234, 235, 236] for recent discussions).

7. What is the physical interpretation of the operators associated with additional Wilson coefficients?

To address these questions we turn to electrodynamics, which has been useful as a toy model for gravity [187, 188, 189, 5, 190, 191, 192]. While electrodynamics cannot answer all questions about gravity, the overlap is more than sufficient to make this a useful test case. In addition to the absence of photon self-interactions, electrodynamics is particularly helpful for our questions because the additional independent operators and their Wilson coefficients affect observables already at the first order spin, rather than at third order as for gravity, greatly simplifying the analysis.

We use various field theories, worldline theories and effective two-body Hamiltonians, comparing and contrasting the results from each. In particular, to help identify the origin of the extra Wilson coefficients we evaluate Compton amplitudes and scattering angles for three related but distinct field theories of electrodynamics coupled with higher-spin fields:

- FT1: The setup from Refs. [59, 101], except for electrodynamics instead of general relativity. The matter states of this theory form an irreducible representation of the Lorentz group and a reducible representation of the rotation group, thereby as a quantum theory it carries more degrees of freedom than those of a fixed-spin particle, including negative-norm states. In this theory we consider FT1s with classical asymptotic states having spin tensors obeying the covariant spin supplementary condition (SSC),  $S_{\mu\nu}p^{\nu} = 0$ , and FT1g with classical asymptotic states having unconstrained spin tensors. This is equivalent to relaxing the covariant SSC, so that the resulting amplitudes explicitly contain factors of  $S_{\mu\nu}p^{\nu}$ . When we do not need to distinguish between FT1s and FT1g, we collectively refer to them as FT1. The results of FT1s are obtained from those of FT1g simply by imposing the covariant SSC on the initial and final spin tensors.
- FT2: The higher-spin field is constrained to contain a single irreducible spin-s representation of the rotation group [232]. The external massive states are traceless and transverse due to the equation of motion. In contrast to FT1s and FT1g, only positive-norm states propagate, and as we shall see, the covariant SSC is automatically imposed on the spin tensors.
- FT3: The same construction as for FT2 except that two positive-norm irreducible representations of the rotation group, one with spin-s and the other with spin-(s 1), are considered. While this field content allows us to reliably capture effects linear in spin, it is sufficient to demonstrate that such field theories support more Wilson coefficients than FT2. We include suitable couplings between matter fields of different spin. Similarly to FT1, we consider FT3s with asymptotic states having spin tensors obeying the covariant SSC and FT3g with asymptotic states being a particular combination of the asymptotic

states of the two fields. When we do not need to distinguish between FT3s and FT3g, we collectively refer to them as FT3.

The above field-theory constructions do not exhaust the ways to adjust the spectrum of propagating states. For example, one can use the chiral construction of Ref. [237], based on the representation (2s, 0) of the Lorentz group leading to the same number (2s + 1) of propagating degrees as a quantum spin-s particle. We note that FT1 are not fully consistent as quantum theories because of the appearance of propagating negative-norm states. Because of this we use them only in the classical limit, as envisioned in Ref. [59]. We moreover see that there is a close relation between them and FT3, which is constructed using only positive-norm states.

To address the question of what kind of worldline theory has the same observables as field theories with extra Wilson coefficients we consider two worldline theories:

WL1: The standard worldline construction with the covariant SSC imposed. We use the formalism of Ref. [226].

WL2: A modified worldline construction with no SSC imposed and consequently with extra degrees of freedom. In the absence of an SSC we can include additional operators and Wilson coefficients equivalent to the additional ones that can be included in FT1g through the constructed orders.

Finally, we construct two two-body effective field-theory Hamiltonians by matching the amplitudes of field theories with different number of internal and asymptotic degrees of freedom. This allows us to directly construct observables for these field theories and compare them with worldline theories:

- EFT1: The two-body Hamiltonian of the type in Ref. [59] containing only the spin vector **S** for each body. The parameters of this Hamiltonian can be adjusted to match either FT2 or WL1. We may also match this Hamiltonian to FT1, FT3, and WL2 when the additional Wilson coefficients are set to specific values.
- EFT2: A two-body Hamiltonian containing both a spin vector  $\mathbf{S}$  and a Lorentz boost vector  $\mathbf{K}$ , interpreted as a mass dipole and inducing an electric dipole. With suitable parameters this Hamiltonian matches FT1g, FT3g and WL2.

#### 2.1.2 Summary of Results

We compute and compare electrodynamics Compton amplitudes, impulses, spin kicks and scattering angles in the theories outlined above. With  $\alpha$  denoting the fine structure constant, the results of these computations through  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha^2 S)$  for two-body observables and through  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha S^2)$  for Compton amplitudes yield the following findings:

- In electrodynamics with the massive propagating degrees of freedom of a single spin-s particle realized as a symmetric traceless transverse s-index tensor, as in FT2 and following Ref. [232], the number of Wilson coefficients agrees with the standard worldline construction [145], in accord with Refs. [231, 179].
- 2. By including additional degrees of freedom either by relaxing the transversality constraint of fields or/and by replacing the s-index symmetric tensor by a more general (l, r) representation of the Lorentz group, as in FT1, additional Wilson coefficients can appear in the classical limit. Thus, the additional Wilson coefficients reflect the additional degrees of freedom present in nontransverse fields.
- 3. We demonstrate that additional propagating positive-norm degrees of freedom in the form of symmetric traceless transverse lower-rank tensor, as in FT3, also lead to additional Wilson coefficients in the classical limit. Thus, the additional Wilson coefficients are not tied specifically to nontransverse fields, but are a manifestation of additional propagating degrees of freedom.
- 4. By relaxing the SSC constraint on the worldline, the Compton amplitudes as well as two-body physical observables such as the impulse and spin kick, match the corresponding results of field theories FT1 and FT3.
- 5. To match the worldline and field-theory amplitudes with additional asymptotic degrees of freedom and Wilson coefficients, a two-body EFT Hamiltonian with both spin and boost degrees of freedom are required.
- 6. In the systems with additional degrees of freedom and additional Wilson coefficients, the magnitudes of spin vectors are not preserved<sup>3</sup> in the scattering process while the magnitudes of spin tensors are preserved.
- 7. For specific choices of Wilson coefficients, such as the root-Kerr solution [193], the extra degrees of freedom decouple and the system can be described by removing the boost degrees of freedom.

These results are rather striking. Dropping the SSC would seem to contradict the standard interpretation of the worldline spin gauge symmetry, where local shifts in the worldline are interpreted as a symmetry [229, 145, 230]. Here we are reinterpreting this in terms of certain degrees of freedom of extended nonrigid objects, in much the same way as the spin is interpreted as an internal degree of freedom. As we discuss in section 2.4, in the electromagnetic case there is a natural explanation in terms of an induced electric dipole moment correlated to the mass dipole.

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$ We note that the non-conservation of the magnitude of the intrinsic angular momentum of subsystems of gravitationallyinteracting conservative many-body systems has been known for some time, see e.g. [238, 239, 240].

This chapter is organized as follows: In section 2.2 we present the field-theory constructions FT1. FT2 and FT3 for electrodynamics, giving a nonminimal Lagrangian that contains additional Wilson coefficients compared to the standard worldline approaches. We also describe the classical asymptotic states in terms of coherent states and discuss the effect of using different Lorentz representations. The purpose of the various field theories is to identify the source of the extra Wilson coefficients. section 2.3 then gives the field-theory amplitudes associated with these theories, including the Compton tree amplitudes needed to build the one-loop two-body amplitudes, which are also presented. To interpret these results in the context of the more standard worldline framework, in section 2.4 we construct the two worldline theories WL1 and WL2 and compare their Compton amplitudes with the field-theory ones. In section 2.5 we construct two-body EFT Hamiltonians so that the scattering amplitudes of the corresponding EFTs match those of the various field theories. One Hamiltonian contains only the usual spin operator and the other also contains a boost operator. The impulse and spin kick derived from the latter are the same as those following from the SSC-less worldline theory. A remarkably compact form of physical observables is given in terms of an eikonal formula. Section 2.6 describes the link between extra Wilson coefficients and the degrees of freedom that propagate in the field theory. In section 2.7 we summarize our conclusions.

## 2.2 Field Theory

In this section we construct the field theories FT1, FT2 and FT3 listed in section 2.1 that we use to track the source of additional degrees of freedom and Wilson coefficients. We begin by discussing the covariantization of the free matter Lagrangians, which we refer to as the "minimal" Lagrangians, first in the framework of Refs. [59, 101] where the propagating states form a reducible representation of the rotation group, and then in the framework of Ref. [232], in which the only propagating states are only the 2s + 1 physical states of a spin-s field. After summarizing the coherent-state description of the classical asymptotic states and the propagators, we then discuss nonminimal interactions which are linear in the photon field strength and the corresponding three-point amplitudes. The scaling of massive momenta p, massless transferred momentum q, impact parameter b and spins S for obtaining the classical limit are [59]

$$p \to p, \qquad q \to \lambda q, \qquad b \to \lambda^{-1} b, \qquad S \to \lambda^{-1} S,$$
 (2.2.1)

and the classical part of the *L*-loop two-body amplitude scales as  $\lambda^{-2+L}$  while Compton amplitudes scale as  $\lambda^{0.4}$ . The connection of field theories FT1, FT2 and FT3 to worldline theories will be discussed in section 2.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>This scaling enforces the correspondence principle and the scaling parameter  $\lambda$  can be related to  $\hbar$ , see e.g. Ref. [241].
# 2.2.1 Minimal Lagrangian in Electrodynamics

The extension of the construction of Refs. [59] to QED and thus the definition of the covariantization of the free Lagrangians for FT1 is straightforward, with the main difference from the gravitational case being that the fields must be complex. The minimal coupling involves only the standard two-derivative kinetic term<sup>5</sup> 1 = 200 (200)

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm EM} = -\frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} , \qquad \qquad \mathcal{L}_{\rm min} = -(-1)^s \phi_s (D^2 + m^2) \bar{\phi}_s , \qquad (2.2.2)$$

where  $F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu}$ , and the covariant derivative is defined as

$$D_{\mu}\phi_{s} = \partial_{\mu}\phi_{s} - iQA_{\mu}\phi_{s}, \qquad D_{\mu}\bar{\phi}_{s} = \partial_{\mu}\bar{\phi}_{s} + iQA_{\mu}\bar{\phi}_{s}. \qquad (2.2.3)$$

Without the loss of generality, we take all the massive bodies as carrying the same charge Q, and define the effective "fine structure constant"<sup>6</sup> as  $\alpha = Q^2/(4\pi)$ . The PL framework expands observables in powers of  $\alpha$  keeping the exact velocity dependence. In  $\mathcal{L}_{\min}$ , the fields  $\phi_s$  and  $\bar{\phi}_s$  can be in generic representations of the Lorentz group as long as their product is a Lorentz-singlet. The most general choice is that both fields are in the (l, r) representation, i.e. they are represented as

$$\phi_s = \phi_{\alpha_1 \alpha_2 \dots \alpha_l}^{\dot{\beta}_1 \dot{\beta}_2 \dots \dot{\beta}_r}, \qquad \qquad \bar{\phi}_s = \bar{\phi}_{\dot{\beta}_1 \dot{\beta}_2 \dots \dot{\beta}_r}^{\alpha_1 \alpha_2 \dots \alpha_l}, \qquad (2.2.4)$$

where l+r = 2s and  $\phi_s$  and  $\bar{\phi}_s$  are symmetric in the  $\alpha_i$  and  $\dot{\beta}_i$  indices, which transform in the two-dimensional representation of  $SU(2)_L$  and  $SU(2)_R$ , respectively. The covariantized free Lagrangian  $\mathcal{L}_{\min}$  in (2.2.2) treats uniformly all the representations of the rotation group that are part of  $\phi_s$ . Thus, the propagator derived from  $\mathcal{L}_{\min}$  is proportional to the identity operator  $\mathbb{1}_{(l,r)}$  in the (l,r) representation. For  $\phi_s$  in the (s,s)representation, it is

$$\frac{\mu(s)}{p^2 - m^2} = \frac{(-1)^s i \,\delta_{\mu(s)}^{\nu(s)}}{p^2 - m^2}, \qquad \qquad \delta_{\mu(s)}^{\nu(s)} \equiv \delta_{\mu_1}^{(\nu_1} \delta_{\mu_2}^{\nu_2} \dots \delta_{\mu_s}^{\nu_s)} \equiv \mathbb{1}_{(s,s)}. \tag{2.2.5}$$

Consequently, there is no explicit dependence on the value of s in the amplitudes that follow from  $\mathcal{L}_{\min}$ , making the large-spin limit appropriate for classical physics convenient in this construction.

When evaluated on an (s, s) representation, the Lagrangian (2.2.2) contains propagating degrees of freedom beyond the 2s + 1 associated with a single massive spin-s particle and some of them have negative norm in Minkowskian signature. While such a theory is not consistent as a quantum theory because of difficulties with unitarity, we use this Langangian and its nonminimal extension described below to find only classical observables, so that the issue is not directly relevant. One may nevertheless worry that the negative norm states might cause some inconsistency even in the classical limit, and very likely they are the origin of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>We are using the mostly minus signature. The  $(-1)^s$  factor makes the spin-s component physical.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Note that this differs from the standard definition of the fine structure constant in terms of the electron charge. To simplify subsequent formulae, we absorb in  $\alpha$  the charge of macroscopic bodies.

the additional Wilson coefficients [231]. As we will see in 2.6, the key to the additional Wilson coefficients is the presence of propagating degrees of freedom beyond those of a single quantum spin-s particle. This is independent of the sign of the norm of the extra states. Moreover, there is a direct simple map which connects amplitudes in this theory with amplitudes in a theory in which all states have positive norm.

FT2 is designed to probe the relation between the extra Wilson coefficients and the presence of states beyond those of a spin-s representation of the rotation group. To define it and to compare straightforwardly with the Singh-Hagen Lagrangian [232] for a single spin-s particle it is convenient to choose  $\phi_s$  in the (s, s)representation, which is realized as a symmetric traceless rank-s tensor,<sup>7</sup>

$$\phi_s \equiv \phi_{\alpha_1 \alpha_2 \dots \alpha_s}^{\dot{\beta}_1 \dot{\beta}_2 \dots \dot{\beta}_s} \propto \phi^{(\mu_1 \mu_2 \dots \mu_s)} (\sigma_{\mu_1})_{(\alpha_1}{}^{(\dot{\beta}_1} \dots (\sigma_{\mu_s})_{\alpha_s})^{\dot{\beta}_s)}, \qquad (2.2.6)$$

where as usual the parenthesis on the indices signify that they are symmetrized. We primarily focus on this representation in subsequent sections, especially when carrying out calculations at fixed values of the spin.

We ensure that only the 2s+1 states of a spin-s field are propagating by imposing the requisite constraints with auxiliary fields, following the strategy of Ref. [232]. The net effect of imposing transversality is that the minimal Lagrangian  $\mathcal{L}_{min}$  in Eq. (2.2.2) is modified to

$$\mathcal{L}_{\min}^{s} = -(-1)^{s} \left[ \phi_{s} (D^{2} + m^{2}) \bar{\phi}_{s} + s(D\phi_{s})(D\bar{\phi}_{s}) + \dots \right], \qquad (2.2.7)$$

where  $(D\phi_s) \equiv D_{\mu}\phi^{\mu\mu_2...\mu_s}$  and the ellipsis stand for terms that remove unwanted states, as explained below.

The coupling  $s(D\phi_s)(D\bar{\phi}_s)$  originates from integrating out an auxiliary  $\phi_{s-1}$  field that impose transversality via the equation of motion. To see this, we add to free part of  $\mathcal{L}_{\min}$  the term  $a\phi_{s-1}\partial\phi_s$  as well as a standard quadratic term for  $\phi_{s-1}$ , where *a* is a normalization. The equations of motion are

$$(\partial^2 + m^2)\phi_s^{\mu_1\mu_2\dots\mu_s} = a\,\partial^{(\mu_1}\phi_{s-1}^{\mu_2\dots\mu_s)}\,,\qquad (b\,\partial^2 + c\,m^2)\phi_{s-1} = (\partial\phi_s)\,,\tag{2.2.8}$$

where we introduced two additional normalization constants b and c. A solution to the equation of motion is  $\phi_{s-1} = \partial \phi_s = 0$ . Requiring that this is the only solution gives b = 0 and  $a = scm^2$  such that

$$(\partial^2 + m^2)\phi_s^{\mu_1\mu_2...\mu_s} = s\,\partial^{(\mu_1}(\partial\phi_s)^{\mu_2...\mu_s)}\,.$$
(2.2.9)

Covariantization with respect to the photon gauge symmetry follows as usual, by replacing the partial derivatives with the appropriate covariant derivatives, leading to the  $s(D\phi_s)(D\bar{\phi}_s)$  term in (2.2.7).

The process continues, as transversality of  $\phi_s$  implies  $\partial \partial \phi_s = 0$ , which must also be imposed through an equation of motion. More auxiliary fields are therefore needed, and this process can be carried out recursively [232]. The resulting couplings involving traces, multiple-divergences like  $D_{\mu}D_{\nu}\phi^{\mu\nu\mu_3...\mu_s}$ , and auxiliary fields with lower spins are collected in the ellipsis in (2.2.7). Up to s = 3, the Lagrangians generated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Throughout the chapter, the symmetrization is defined as  $f_{(\mu_1\mu_2...\mu_s)} \equiv \frac{1}{s!}(f_{\mu_1\mu_2...\mu_s} + \text{ permutations}).$ 

by this procedure are

$$\mathcal{L}_{s=1} = \phi^{\mu_1} (D^2 + m^2) \bar{\phi}_{\mu_1} + (D_\mu \phi^\mu) (D^\nu \bar{\phi}_\nu), \qquad (2.2.10a)$$
$$\mathcal{L}_{s=2} = -\phi^{\mu_1 \mu_2} (D^2 + m^2) \bar{\phi}_{\mu_1 \mu_2} - 2(D_\mu \phi^{\mu\mu_2}) (D^\nu \bar{\phi}_{\nu\mu_2}) + \phi_\mu^\mu (D^2 + m^2) \bar{\phi}^\nu_\nu - \phi_\mu^\mu D^\rho D^\lambda \bar{\phi}_{\rho\lambda} - \bar{\phi}^\mu_\mu D_\rho D_\lambda \phi^{\rho\lambda}, \qquad (2.2.10b)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{s=3} = \phi^{\mu_1 \mu_2 \mu_3} (D^2 + m^2) \bar{\phi}_{\mu_1 \mu_2 \mu_3} + 3(D_\mu \phi^{\mu \mu_2 \mu_3}) (D^\nu \bar{\phi}_{\nu \mu_2 \mu_3}) - 3\phi_\mu^{\mu \mu_3} (D^2 + m^2) \bar{\phi}^\nu_{\ \nu \mu_3} + 3\phi_\mu^{\mu \mu_3} D^\rho D^\lambda \bar{\phi}_{\rho \lambda \mu_3} + 3\bar{\phi}^\mu_{\ \mu \mu_3} D_\rho D_\lambda \phi^{\rho \lambda \mu_3} + \frac{3}{2} (D_\mu \phi^{\mu \rho}{}_{\rho}) (D_\nu \bar{\phi}^{\nu \lambda}{}_{\lambda}) + 2\varphi (D^2 + 4m^2) \bar{\varphi} + m (\varphi D_\mu \bar{\phi}^{\mu \lambda}{}_{\lambda} + \bar{\varphi} D_\mu \phi^{\mu \lambda}{}_{\lambda}), \qquad (2.2.10c)$$

where  $\varphi$  and  $\bar{\varphi}$  in  $\mathcal{L}_{s=3}$  are ghost-like scalar auxiliary fields. The  $\mathcal{L}_{s=1}$  and  $\mathcal{L}_{s=2}$  here are the Proca [242] and Fierz-Pauli Lagrangian [243], respectively, and  $\mathcal{L}_{s=3}$  was first obtained by Chang [244]. We note that the construction in Ref. [232] uses only symmetric and traceless fields, and we have absorbed certain auxiliary fields into the trace of  $\phi_s$ . We use (2.2.7) — which is the arbitrary-spin generalization of Eq. (2.2.10) — as the covariantization of the free Lagrangian of FT2.

FT3 is constructed to probe whether the extra Wilson coefficients in FT1 are due to the unphysical nature of the extra states of this theory. Thus, we define the covariantization of the free part of FT3 as being given, up to nonminimal terms, by the sum of Lagrangians for physical transverse fields with spins  $s, s - 1, \ldots, 0$ . For simplicity, here we consider a Lagrangian that involves only spin s and s - 1,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\min}^{s,s-1} = \mathcal{L}_{\min}^{s} + \mathcal{L}_{\min}^{s-1} = -(-1)^{s} \Big[ \phi_{s} (D^{2} + m^{2}) \bar{\phi}_{s} + s(D\phi_{s}) (D\bar{\phi}_{s}) + \dots \Big]$$

$$- (-1)^{s-1} \Big[ \phi_{s-1} (D^{2} + m^{2}) \bar{\phi}_{s-1} + (s-1) (D\phi_{s-1}) (D\bar{\phi}_{s-1}) + \dots \Big].$$
(2.2.11)

We show below that this Lagrangian is sufficient to describe classical physics at  $\mathcal{O}(S^1)$  up to the one-loop order. We assume that  $\phi_s$  and  $\phi_{s-1}$  have the same minimal coupling to the photon. Somewhat loosely, one may interpret this Lagrangian as being obtained from Eq. (2.2.2) upon separating  $\phi_s$  into fields obeying transversality constraints and dropping the derivative factors that are responsible for the negative norms of the s - (2k + 1) components.

The minimal Lagrangians of FT2 and FT3 make explicit reference to the value of s, as can be seen in the explicit expressions in (2.2.10), and consequently the propagators (and vertices) have the same property. The propagators for massive s = 1 and s = 2 fields can be easily derived from the quadratic part of  $\mathcal{L}_{s=1}$  and  $\mathcal{L}_{s=2}$ . They are

$$\frac{\mu}{p^2 - m^2} = \frac{-i\mathcal{P}_{\mu,\nu}}{p^2 - m^2} = \frac{-i\Theta_{\mu\nu}}{p^2 - m^2} = \frac{-i}{p^2 - m^2} \left(\eta_{\mu\nu} - \frac{p_{\mu}p_{\nu}}{m^2}\right), \qquad (2.2.12)$$

$$\frac{\mu_1\mu_2}{p^2-m^2} = \frac{i\mathcal{P}_{\mu_1\mu_2,\nu_1\nu_2}}{p^2-m^2} = \frac{i}{p^2-m^2} \frac{1}{2} \left[ \Theta_{\mu_1\nu_1}\Theta_{\mu_2\nu_2} + \Theta_{\mu_1\nu_2}\Theta_{\mu_2\nu_1} - \frac{2}{3}\Theta_{\mu_1\mu_2}\Theta_{\nu_1\nu_2} \right], \quad (2.2.13)$$

where  $\Theta_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} - \frac{p_{\mu}p_{\nu}}{m^2}$ . The numerators are instances of the spin-*s* state projector  $\mathcal{P}$ ; its general closed-form expression [232],

$$\mathcal{P}_{\mu(s)}^{\nu(s)} = \sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor s/2 \rfloor} \frac{(-1)^j s! (2s-2j-1)!!}{2^j j! (s-2j)! (2s-1)!!} \Theta_{(\mu_1 \mu_2} \Theta^{(\nu_1 \nu_2} \dots \Theta_{\mu_{2j-1} \mu_{2j}} \Theta^{\nu_{2j-1} \nu_{2j}} \Theta^{\nu_{2j+1}} \dots \Theta^{\nu_s)}_{\mu_{2j+1}}, \qquad (2.2.14)$$

is manifestly symmetric, transverse and traceless on-shell.

ŀ

Beyond s = 2 the off-diagonal nature of the quadratic terms in  $\mathcal{L}_{\min}^s$  makes the construction of propagators more involved. For example, the  $\mathcal{L}_{\min}^{s=3}$  Lagrangian contains quadratic mixing between  $\phi_{\mu_1\mu_2\mu_3}$  and the auxiliary scalar  $\varphi$ ; thus to derive the propagators it is necessary to diagonalize the quadratic terms, effectively summing over all possible insertions of such two-point vertices. We represent the resummed propagators by a cross in the middle,

$$\underbrace{\overset{\nu_1\mu_2\mu_3}{\times} \overset{\nu_1\nu_2\nu_3}{=} \frac{-i\,\mathcal{P}^{\nu_1\nu_2\nu_3}_{\mu_1\mu_2\mu_3}}{p^2 - m^2} + \frac{i\,\mathcal{Q}^{\nu_1\nu_2\nu_3}_{\mu_1\mu_2\mu_3}}{40m^6}\,,\qquad(2.2.15a)$$

$$= \frac{(p^2 - m^2)\eta_{(\mu_1\mu_2}p_{\mu_3)} - 4p_{\mu_1}p_{\mu_2}p_{\mu_3}}{40m^5},$$
 (2.2.15b)

$$= \frac{i(p^2 + 5m^2)}{40m^4}.$$
 (2.2.15c)

Apart from the non-local term encoding the energy-momentum relation, the propagator for the physical s = 3particle also has an additional local contribution, with tensor structure

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\mu_1\mu_2\mu_3}^{\nu_1\nu_2\nu_3} = \eta_{(\mu_1\mu_2}p_{\mu_3)}\eta^{(\nu_1\nu_2}p^{\nu_3)}(p^2 - 7m^2) - 4p_{\mu_1}p_{\mu_2}p_{\mu_3}\eta^{(\nu_1\nu_2}p^{\nu_3)} - 4\eta_{(\mu_1\mu_2}p_{\mu_3)}p^{\nu_1}p^{\nu_2}p^{\nu_3}.$$
(2.2.16)

Meanwhile, the contribution from the auxiliary field is completely local, indicating that they carry no physical (asymptotic) degrees of freedom, as expected.

### 2.2.2 Classical Asymptotic States and Coherent States

The standard description of the asymptotic states of (massive) spinning fields is in terms of Lorentz tensors labeled by the (massive) little group. Extending Ref. [59], we first consider the asymptotic state  $\mathcal{E}$ and its conjugate  $\bar{\mathcal{E}}$  for general (l, r) representations of the Lorentz group with l + r = 2s. Subsequently, we specialize to integer s and consider the (s, s) representation, in which we identify general consequences of transversality. In the classical limit, these states are chosen to minimize the dispersion of the Lorentz generators,  $\mathcal{E} \cdot M^{\mu\nu} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}$ , where  $M^{\mu\nu}$  satisfies the Lorentz algebra

$$[M^{\mu\nu}, M^{\rho\lambda}] = -i(\eta^{\mu\rho}M^{\lambda\nu} + \eta^{\nu\rho}M^{\mu\lambda} - \eta^{\mu\lambda}M^{\rho\nu} - \eta^{\nu\lambda}M^{\mu\rho}).$$
(2.2.17)

In the rest frame, the state  $\mathcal{E}$  generalizes the spin coherent states of SU(2) implicit in the construction of Ref. [59] to those of  $SU(2)_L \times SU(2)_R$ . We start by representing the states in terms of spinors such that<sup>8</sup>

$$\mathcal{E}(p)_{\alpha(l)\dot{\beta}(r)} = \xi(p)_{\alpha_1} \dots \xi(p)_{\alpha_l} \chi(p)_{\dot{\beta}_1} \dots \chi(p)_{\dot{\beta}_r},$$
  
$$\bar{\mathcal{E}}(p)^{\alpha(l)\dot{\beta}(r)} = \tilde{\xi}(p)^{\alpha_1} \dots \tilde{\xi}(p)^{\alpha_l} \tilde{\chi}(p)^{\dot{\beta}_1} \dots \tilde{\chi}(p)^{\dot{\beta}_r}.$$
(2.2.18)

Here, we choose  $\mathcal{E}$  to be null for convenience. We note that the final result does not rely on  $\mathcal{E}$  being null. As with the spin coherent states, the spinors  $\xi(p)$ ,  $\chi(p)$ ,  $\tilde{\xi}(p)$  and  $\tilde{\chi}(p)$  are constructed by boosting their rest frame counterparts  $\xi_0$ ,  $\chi_0$ ,  $\tilde{\xi}_0$  and  $\tilde{\chi}_0$ ,

$$\begin{split} \xi(p)_{\alpha} &= \exp(i\eta \hat{p}^k \hat{K}_L^k)_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \xi_{0\beta} , \\ \chi(p)^{\dot{\alpha}} &= \exp(i\eta \hat{p}^k \hat{K}_R^k)^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}} \chi_0^{\dot{\beta}} , \\ \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \chi(p)^{\dot{\alpha}} &= \exp(i\eta \hat{p}^k \hat{K}_R^k)^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}} \tilde{\chi}_0^{\dot{\beta}} , \\ \tilde{\chi}(p)^{\dot{\alpha}} &= \exp(i\eta \hat{p}^k \hat{K}_R^k)^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}} \tilde{\chi}_0^{\dot{\beta}} , \\ \end{split}$$

$$\end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \chi(p)^{\dot{\alpha}} &= \exp(i\eta \hat{p}^k \hat{K}_R^k)^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}} \tilde{\chi}_0^{\dot{\beta}} , \\ \end{split}$$

$$\end{split}$$

$$\end{split}$$

where  $(\hat{K}_L^k)_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = (i/2)(\sigma^k)_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$  and  $(\hat{K}_R^k)^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}} = (-i/2)(\sigma^k)^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}}$  are the left/right-handed boost operators,  $\eta$  is the rapidity and  $\hat{p}^k$  are the components of the unit vector along the spatial part of the momentum.

The rest frame coherent-state spinors are [245]

$$\xi_{0\alpha} = \exp(z_L \hat{N}_+^L - z_L^* \hat{N}_-^L)_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \xi_{0\beta}^+, \qquad \qquad \tilde{\xi}_{0\alpha} = \exp(z_L \hat{N}_+^L - z_L^* \hat{N}_-^L)_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \xi_{0\beta}^-, \chi_0^{\dot{\alpha}} = \exp(z_R \hat{N}_+^R - z_R^* \hat{N}_-^R)^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}} \chi_0^{+,\dot{\beta}}, \qquad \qquad \tilde{\chi}_0^{\dot{\alpha}} = \exp(z_R \hat{N}_+^R - z_R^* \hat{N}_-^R)^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}} \chi_0^{-,\dot{\beta}}, \qquad (2.2.20)$$

where  $(\hat{N}^{L}_{\pm})_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = (1/2)(\sigma^{1} \pm i\sigma^{2})_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$  and  $(\hat{N}^{R}_{\pm})^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}} = (1/2)(\sigma^{1} \pm i\sigma^{2})^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}}$  are the generators of  $SU(2)_{L}$  and  $SU(2)_{R}, \xi^{\pm}_{0}$  and  $\chi^{\pm}_{0}$  are the eigenvectors of  $\sigma^{3}$  with eigenvalues  $\pm 1$ , and

$$z_{L,R} \equiv -(\theta_{L,R}/2)e^{-i\phi_{L,R}}, \qquad (2.2.21)$$

are coherent-state parameters. The rest frame spinors are normalized as  $\xi_0^{\alpha} \tilde{\xi}_{0\alpha} = \chi_{\dot{\alpha}} \tilde{\chi}^{\dot{\alpha}} = -1$ , such that  $\mathcal{E}(p) \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}(p) = (-1)^r$ . They are related to unit vectors via

$$n_{L}^{i} = \xi_{0}^{\alpha}(\sigma^{i})_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}\tilde{\xi}_{0\beta} \equiv \xi_{0}\sigma^{i}\tilde{\xi}_{0}, \qquad \mathbf{n}_{L} = (\sin\theta_{L}\cos\phi_{L}, \sin\theta_{L}\sin\phi_{L}, \cos\theta_{L}),$$
$$n_{R}^{i} = \chi_{0\dot{\alpha}}(\sigma^{i})^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}}\tilde{\chi}_{0}^{\dot{\beta}} \equiv \chi_{0}\sigma^{i}\tilde{\chi}_{0}, \qquad \mathbf{n}_{R} = (\sin\theta_{R}\cos\phi_{R}, \sin\theta_{R}\sin\phi_{R}, \cos\theta_{R}). \qquad (2.2.22)$$

The rotation and boost generators in the (l, r) representation is given by

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{S}} = \hat{\boldsymbol{S}}_{L} + \hat{\boldsymbol{S}}_{R}, \qquad \hat{\boldsymbol{K}} = \hat{\boldsymbol{K}}_{L} + \hat{\boldsymbol{K}}_{R},$$

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{S}}_{L}^{k} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{m=1}^{l} \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \dots \mathbb{1}}_{m-1} \otimes \sigma^{k} \otimes \mathbb{1} \dots \otimes \mathbb{1}, \qquad \hat{\boldsymbol{S}}_{R}^{k} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{m=1}^{r} \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \dots \mathbb{1}}_{m-1} \otimes \sigma^{k} \otimes \mathbb{1} \dots \otimes \mathbb{1}, \qquad (2.2.23)$$

<sup>8</sup>We note that the SU(2) indices are raised and lowered by

 $\epsilon_{\alpha\beta} = \epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} = \left( \begin{array}{cc} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{array} \right) \qquad \epsilon^{\alpha\beta} = \epsilon^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} = \left( \begin{array}{cc} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{array} \right).$ 

$$\hat{K}_L^k = \frac{i}{2} \sum_{m=1}^l \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \dots \mathbb{1}}_{m-1} \otimes \sigma^k \otimes \mathbb{1} \dots \otimes \mathbb{1}, \qquad \hat{K}_R^k = -\frac{i}{2} \sum_{m=1}^r \underbrace{\mathbb{1} \otimes \dots \mathbb{1}}_{m-1} \otimes \sigma^k \otimes \mathbb{1} \dots \otimes \mathbb{1},$$

where the summation is over the position of  $\sigma^k$ . With these definitions, the expectation values of the rotation and boost generator under the rest frame spin coherent states are

$$\mathcal{E}_0 \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{S}} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_0 = \frac{1}{2} (l \, \boldsymbol{n}_L + r \, \boldsymbol{n}_R) \equiv \boldsymbol{S} \,, \qquad \mathcal{E}_0 \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{K}} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_0 = \frac{i}{2} (l \, \boldsymbol{n}_L - r \, \boldsymbol{n}_R) \equiv i \boldsymbol{K} \,. \tag{2.2.24}$$

We identify the former with the classical rest-frame spin vector  $S_0^{\mu} = (0, \mathbf{S})$  and the latter with the boost vector  $K_0^{\mu} = (0, \mathbf{K})$ . If  $\mathcal{E}$  is not null, we view (2.2.24) as the definition for the classical spin and boost vector. The classical rest-frame spin tensor given by

$$S_0^{\mu\nu} = \mathcal{E}_0 \cdot M^{\mu\nu} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_0 = S_0^{\mu\nu} + iK_0^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (2.2.25)$$

does not obey the SSC, where

$$S_0^{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{m} \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda} p_{0\rho} S_\lambda , \qquad \qquad K_0^{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{m} (p_0^{\mu} K_0^{\nu} - p_0^{\nu} K_0^{\mu}) . \qquad (2.2.26)$$

It contains<sup>9</sup> an SSC-obeying component  $S_0^{\mu\nu}$  and an SSC-violating one  $K_0^{\mu\nu}$ , where  $p_0^{\mu} = (m, 0)$  is the rest-frame momentum. An important feature for generic (l, r) representations is that  $\mathbf{K}$  no longer vanishes identically, so that  $S_0^{\mu\nu}$  no longer satisfies the convariant SSC condition. By suitably choosing l and r, the norm  $|\mathbf{K}|$  can be subleading in the classical limit or commensurate with that of the spin vector. In this way, the appearance of  $\mathbf{K}$  in the classical limit appears natural, simply by adjusting the Lorentz representation in the underlying quantum system. For generic values, the classical limit is independent of the details of the representation. However, for the special case of the irreducible transverse (s, s) representation then  $\mathbf{K}$  vanishes, as noted in Appendix C of Ref. [55].

The next step is to restore the momentum dependence of various quantities by boosting the particle out of the rest frame. It is somewhat tedious but straightforward to use (2.2.19) and the properties of the Pauli matrices to boost products of polarization tensors and Lorentz generators for any (l, r) representation, as well as (2.2.25) and its two components to arbitrary frames. To leading order in the classical limit, we find

$$\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \{M^{\mu_1 \nu_1}, \dots, M^{\mu_n \nu_n}\} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_2 = \mathsf{S}(p_1)^{\mu_1 \nu_1} \dots \mathsf{S}(p_n)^{\mu_n \nu_n} \mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_2 + \mathcal{O}(q^{1-n}), \qquad (2.2.27)$$

where  $\mathcal{E}_i \equiv \mathcal{E}(p_i)$ ,  $q = p_2 - p_1$  is the momentum transfer and  $\mathsf{S}(p_i)^{\mu\nu}$  is the boost of (2.2.25) to the frame moving with momentum  $p_i$ . The spin tensor scales as  $\mathsf{S} \sim q^{-1}$ , and we neglect all the subleading  $\mathcal{O}(q^{1-n})$ terms. The symmetric product of Lorentz generators  $\{M^{\mu_1\nu_1}, \ldots, M^{\mu_n\nu_n}\}$  is defined as

$$\{M_{\mu_1\nu_1}, M_{\mu_2\nu_2}\} = \frac{1}{2} (M_{\mu_1\nu_1}M_{\mu_2\nu_2} + M_{\mu_2\nu_2}M_{\mu_1\nu_1}),$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Our convention for the Levi-Civita tensor is  $\epsilon_{0123} = +1$ .

$$\{M_{\mu_1\nu_1}, M_{\mu_2\nu_2}, \dots, M_{\mu_n\nu_n}\} = \frac{1}{n!} (M_{\mu_1\nu_1} M_{\mu_2\nu_2} \dots M_{\mu_n\nu_n} + \text{permutations}).$$
(2.2.28)

They form a basis for arbitrary product of Lorentz generators under the Lorentz algebra. The factorization (2.2.27) of the expectation value of the product of Lorentz generators into the product of individual expectation values is a reflection of the classical nature of the asymptotic states  $\mathcal{E}$  and  $\bar{\mathcal{E}}$ . In (2.2.27), the product of polarization tensors is given by

$$(-1)^{r} \mathcal{E}_{1} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_{2} = \exp\left[-\frac{1}{m}\boldsymbol{q} \cdot \boldsymbol{K}\right] \exp\left[-i\frac{\epsilon_{rijk}u_{1}^{i}q^{j}S^{k}}{m(1+\sqrt{1+\boldsymbol{u}_{1}^{2}})} + \mathcal{O}(q^{2})\right] + \mathcal{O}(q), \qquad (2.2.29)$$

where  $u_i^k = p_i^k/m$ , generalizing the corresponding expression in Ref. [59] to general **K**. Eq. (2.2.29) captures the leading terms in the classical limit and, apart from the sign on the left-hand side, it is agnostic to the (l, r) representation chosen for the fields.

# 2.2.3 The Transverse (s,s) Representation

We now consider the special case of the (s, s) representation, which corresponds to symmetric-traceless fields. The coherent-state polarization tensors have an equal number of dotted and undotted indices; in the rest frame, they can be written as

$$(\mathcal{E}_{0}^{(s)})_{\alpha(s)\dot{\beta}(s)} = (\mathcal{E}_{0}^{(s)})^{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}\dots\mu_{s}} (\sigma_{\mu_{1}})_{\alpha_{1}\dot{\beta}_{1}}\dots (\sigma_{\mu_{s}})_{\alpha_{s}\dot{\beta}_{s}} = \xi_{0\alpha_{1}}\dots\xi_{0\alpha_{s}}\chi_{0\dot{\beta}_{1}}\dots\chi_{0\dot{\beta}_{s}}.$$
(2.2.30)

With this definition, we can explore the additional restrictions on the coherent states required by the transversality of  $\mathcal{E}_0^{(s)}$ . It suffices to analyze it in the rest frame, where it reads,<sup>10</sup>

$$p_{0\mu}\mathcal{E}_0^{\mu\mu_2\dots\mu_s} = 0 \qquad \Longleftrightarrow \qquad (p_{0\mu}\sigma^{\mu})^{\alpha}{}_{\dot{\beta}}(\mathcal{E}_0)^{\dot{\beta}\dot{\beta}_2\dots\dot{\beta}_s}_{\alpha\alpha_2\dots\alpha_s} = 0.$$
(2.2.31)

Using the explicit form of the rest-frame momentum,  $p_0 = (m, 0, 0, 0)$ , and that  $(\sigma^0)^{\alpha}{}_{\dot{\beta}}$  is numerically equal to the 2 × 2 Levi-Civita, it follows that

$$0 = (p_{0\mu}\sigma^{\mu})^{\alpha}{}_{\dot{\beta}}(\mathcal{E}_0)^{\dot{\beta}\dot{\beta}_2\dots\dot{\beta}_s}_{\alpha\alpha_2\dots\alpha_s} \propto \xi_{0\alpha}\epsilon^{\alpha}{}_{\dot{\alpha}}\chi_0^{\dot{\alpha}} \,. \tag{2.2.32}$$

The solution, accounting for normalization, is

$$\xi_{0\alpha} = \chi_0^{\dot{\alpha}}$$
 as column vectors, (2.2.33)

which in turn implies  $z_L = z_R$  and hence the equality of the left-handed and right-handed unit vectors  $\boldsymbol{n}_L$ and  $\boldsymbol{n}_R$  in (2.2.22). Together with (2.2.24) this implies that

$$\boldsymbol{K} = 0 \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad \mathsf{S}_0^{\mu\nu} = S_0^{\mu\nu} \,, \tag{2.2.34}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>In this form transversality can be imposed on the polarization tensor of a general  $(l \neq 0, r \neq 0)$  state.

for the transverse (s, s) representation, and therefore, cf. (2.2.25),  $\mathcal{E}_0^{(s)} \cdot M^{\mu\nu} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_0^{(s)}$  becomes an SSC-satisfying spin tensor. On the other hand, if we do not impose transversality, then the discussion for a generic (l, r)representation also applies to (s, s), such that K does not vanish and hence that covariant SSC is not obeyed. We thus see that the (s, s) transverse asymptotic states chosen in Ref. [59] can be replaced with more general nontransverse ones. The polarization tensor for the transverse (s, s) representation can be written as a direct product of transverse s = 1 coherent state vectors

$$\mathcal{E}^{(s)}(p)^{\mu_1\mu_2\dots\mu_s} = \varepsilon(p)^{\mu_1}\varepsilon(p)^{\mu_2}\dots\varepsilon(p)^{\mu_s}, \qquad \varepsilon(p)^{\mu}(\sigma_{\mu})_{\alpha\dot{\beta}} = \xi_{\alpha}(p)\chi_{\dot{\beta}}(p), \qquad (2.2.35)$$

where the spinors are boosted from the rest frame ones that satisfy the condition (2.2.33), and we normalize the polarization vectors as  $\varepsilon \cdot \overline{\varepsilon} = -1$ . For such external states, the expectation value of (2.2.27) becomes

$$K^{\mu\nu}(p) = 0 \iff S^{\mu\nu}(p) = S^{\mu\nu}(p),$$
 (2.2.36)

which is simply the counterpart of the rest frame relation (2.2.34). The product (2.2.29) simplifies to

$$(-1)^{s} \mathcal{E}_{1}^{(s)} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_{2}^{(s)} = (-\varepsilon_{1} \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_{2})^{s} = \exp\left[-i\frac{\epsilon_{rsk}u_{1}^{r}q^{s}S^{k}}{m(1+\sqrt{1+\boldsymbol{u}_{1}^{2}})} + \mathcal{O}(q^{2})\right] + \mathcal{O}(q).$$
(2.2.37)

The transverse (s, s) representation is used in FT2 and FT3. Because the Lagrangian depends explicitly on s, we need to use the explicit form of the Lorentz generators,

$$(M^{\mu\nu})_{\alpha(s)}{}^{\beta(s)} = -2i\delta^{[\mu}_{(\alpha_1}\eta^{\nu](\beta_1}\delta^{\beta_2}_{\alpha_2}\dots\delta^{\beta_s)]}_{\alpha_s)}.$$
 (2.2.38)

Consequently, the results are given in terms of various symmetric and antisymmetric combinations of the polarization vector  $\varepsilon$  and momenta. To convert them into spin tensors, we need to compute the left-hand side of (2.2.27) and identify the resulting structures with spin tensors.

We first consider the transverse  $\mathcal{E}^{(s)}$ . Starting with  $\mathcal{O}(S^1)$ , we have

$$\mathcal{E}_{1}^{(s)} \cdot M^{\mu\nu} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_{2}^{(s)} = -2is(\varepsilon_{1} \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_{2})^{s-1} \varepsilon_{1}^{[\mu} \bar{\varepsilon}_{2}^{\nu]}.$$
(2.2.39)

According to (2.2.27), this combination should be identified with  $S(p_1)^{\mu\nu}$ , such that

$$(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_2)^{s-1} \varepsilon_1^{[\mu} \bar{\varepsilon}_2^{\nu]} = \frac{iS(p_1)^{\mu\nu}}{2s} (\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_2)^s + \mathcal{O}(q^0) \,. \tag{2.2.40}$$

In amplitudes, we can use this relation to turn antisymmetric combination of polarization vectors into spin tensors. The classical amplitude is obtained by further taking the  $s \to \infty$  limit. Similarly, at  $\mathcal{O}(S^2)$ , we can use the following identity,

$$\mathcal{E}_{1}^{(s)} \cdot \{M^{\mu\nu}, M^{\rho\lambda}\} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_{4}^{(s)} = -4s(s-1)(\varepsilon_{1} \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_{4})^{s-2} \varepsilon_{1}^{[\mu} \bar{\varepsilon}_{4}^{\nu]} \varepsilon_{1}^{[\rho} \bar{\varepsilon}_{4}^{\lambda]} - s(\varepsilon_{1} \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_{4})^{s-1} \left(\eta^{\mu\lambda} \varepsilon_{1}^{(\nu} \bar{\varepsilon}_{4}^{\rho)} + \eta^{\nu\rho} \varepsilon_{1}^{(\mu} \bar{\varepsilon}_{4}^{\lambda)} - \eta^{\mu\rho} \varepsilon_{1}^{(\nu} \bar{\varepsilon}_{4}^{\lambda)} - \eta^{\nu\lambda} \varepsilon_{1}^{(\mu} \bar{\varepsilon}_{4}^{\rho)}\right).$$

$$(2.2.41)$$

In the large s limit, the second term is subleading, such that we have

$$(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_2)^{s-2} \varepsilon_1^{[\mu} \bar{\varepsilon}_2^{\nu]} \varepsilon_1^{[\rho} \bar{\varepsilon}_2^{\lambda]} \xrightarrow{\text{large } s} - \frac{(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_2)^s}{4s^2} S(p_1)^{\mu\nu} S(p_1)^{\rho\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(q^{-1}), \qquad (2.2.42)$$

which is equivalent to applying (2.2.40) twice. Contracting the Lorentz indices on the spin tensors once leads to

$$(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_2)^{s-1} \varepsilon_1^{(\mu} \bar{\varepsilon}_2^{\nu)} \xrightarrow{\text{large } s} - \frac{(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_2)^s}{2s^2} S(p_1)^{\mu\rho} S(p_1)_{\rho}^{\nu} + \mathcal{O}(q^{-1}).$$
(2.2.43)

Similar identities have been previously used in e.g. Refs. [246, 51]. They are sufficient for amplitudes up to  $\mathcal{O}(S^2)$ .

# 2.2.4 The Nontransverse (s,s) Representation

For a nontransverse field in the (s, s) representation we can use the general results obtained for an (l, r)representation. In particular, it has  $\mathbf{K} \neq 0$ . It is instructive to identify the origin of  $\mathbf{K}$ , and thus the structures governing its covariant version  $K^{\mu\nu}$ , in terms of the lower-spin (longitudinal) components of  $\mathcal{E}_{\mu_1...\mu_s}$ . This will be important when discussing FT3 which has physical lower-spin fields.

The coherent state in FT1 can be decomposed as

$$\mathcal{E}_{\mu_1...\mu_s} = \mathcal{E}^{(s)}_{\mu_1...\mu_s} + \left( u \mathcal{E}^{(s-1)} \right)_{\mu_1...\mu_s} + \left( u^2 \mathcal{E}^{(s-2)} \right)_{\mu_1...\mu_s} + \dots , \qquad (2.2.44)$$

where the spin-(s - k) component is represented by

$$\left(u^{k}\mathcal{E}^{(s-k)}\right)_{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{s}} = \binom{s}{k}^{1/2} u_{(\mu_{1}}\dots u_{\mu_{k}}\varepsilon_{\mu_{k+1}}\dots\varepsilon_{\mu_{s}}).$$
(2.2.45)

The states with even k have positive norm and those with odd k have negative norm. We may now compute products involving these polarization tensors. We have

$$\mathcal{E}_1^{(s)} \cdot \left( u_2 \bar{\mathcal{E}}_2^{(s-1)} \right) = -\frac{\sqrt{s} (\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_2)^{s-1} \varepsilon_1 \cdot q}{m} + \mathcal{O}(q^2) \,. \tag{2.2.46}$$

At  $\mathcal{O}(S^1)$ , we plug (2.2.44) into (2.2.27) and find that

$$\mathcal{E}_{1}^{(s)} \cdot M^{\mu\nu} \cdot \left(u_{2}\bar{\mathcal{E}}_{2}^{(s-1)}\right) = i\sqrt{s} \left(\varepsilon_{1} \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_{2}\right)^{s-1} \left(u_{2}^{\mu}\varepsilon_{1}^{\nu} - u_{2}^{\nu}\varepsilon_{1}^{\mu}\right) + \mathcal{O}(q) , \qquad (2.2.47)$$

$$\left(u_{1}\mathcal{E}_{1}^{(s-1)}\right) \cdot M^{\mu\nu} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_{2}^{(s)} = -i\sqrt{s}(\varepsilon_{1} \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_{2})^{s-1} \left(u_{1}^{\mu}\bar{\varepsilon}_{2}^{\nu} - u_{1}^{\nu}\bar{\varepsilon}_{2}^{\mu}\right) + \mathcal{O}(q) ,$$

while all the other  $\mathcal{E}_1^{(s)} \cdot M^{\mu\nu} \cdot \left(u_2^k \bar{\mathcal{E}}_2^{(s-k)}\right)$  vanish at the classical order. We note that contractions like  $\left(u_1^k \mathcal{E}_1^{(s-k)}\right) \cdot M^{\mu\nu} \cdot \left(u_2^k \bar{\mathcal{E}}_2^{(s-k)}\right)$  and  $\left(u_1^k \mathcal{E}_1^{(s-k)}\right) \cdot M^{\mu\nu} \cdot \left(u_2^k \bar{\mathcal{E}}_2^{(s-k-1)}\right)$  give identical result as (2.2.39),(2.2.47) in the limit  $s \ge k$ . They contribute an overall factor that can be absorbed in the normalization of the states.

In this sense, we can identify the above combination with  $K^{\mu\nu}$  or  $K^{\mu}$ . More precisely, we have

$$-(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_2)^{s-1} \left[ u_1^{\mu} \left( \varepsilon_1^{\nu} + \bar{\varepsilon}_2^{\nu} \right) - u_1^{\nu} \left( \varepsilon_1^{\mu} + \bar{\varepsilon}_2^{\mu} \right) \right] \xrightarrow{\text{large } s} \frac{\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_2}{\sqrt{s}} K(p_1)^{\mu\nu}$$

$$-(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_2)^{s-1} (\varepsilon_1^{\mu} + \bar{\varepsilon}_2^{\mu}) \xrightarrow{\text{large } s} \frac{\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_2}{\sqrt{s}} K(p_1)^{\mu}, \qquad (2.2.48)$$

Using these two relations in the product  $\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \overline{\mathcal{E}}_2$ , we find that

$$\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_2 = (\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_2)^s + \sqrt{s}(\varepsilon_1 \cdot u_2 + \bar{\varepsilon}_2 \cdot u_1)(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_2)^{s-1} + \dots$$
$$= (\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_2)^s + \frac{q \cdot K}{m} \mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_2 + \dots$$
(2.2.49)

where the first term comes from  $\mathcal{E}_1^{(s)} \cdot \left(u_2 \bar{\mathcal{E}}_2^{(s-1)}\right) + \left(u_1 \mathcal{E}_1^{(s-1)}\right) \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_2$  and the ... contains the contraction between  $\mathcal{E}^{(s)}$  and the states with spin less than s-1. Again, similar contractions between lower-spin states contribute an overall factor that can be normalized away. We thus get the relation between the transverse  $\mathcal{E}_1^{(s)} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_2^{(s)} = (\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_2)^s$  and the full result  $\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_2$  up to the first order in q and K,

$$(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2)^s = \left(1 - \frac{q \cdot K}{m}\right) (\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_2) + \mathcal{O}(q^2, K^2), \qquad (2.2.50)$$

which is of course consistent with (2.2.29), (2.2.37). The relations (2.2.48) and (2.2.50) are used to extract the  $\mathcal{O}(K^1)$  terms in FT3. More generally, the contractions

$$\mathcal{E}_{1}^{(s)} \cdot \left(u_{2}^{k} \bar{\mathcal{E}}_{2}^{(s-k)}\right) = {\binom{s}{k}}^{1/2} (\varepsilon_{1} \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_{2})^{s-k} \left(-\frac{q \cdot \varepsilon_{1}}{m}\right)^{k}, \qquad (2.2.51)$$

$$\mathcal{E}_{1}^{(s)} \cdot \{M^{\mu_{1}\nu_{1}}, \dots, M^{\mu_{k}\nu_{k}}\} \cdot \left(u_{2}^{k}\bar{\mathcal{E}}_{2}^{(s-k)}\right) = {\binom{s}{k}}^{1/2} (k!)(\varepsilon_{1} \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_{2})^{s-k} \prod_{j=1}^{k} \left(2iu_{2}^{[\mu_{i}}\varepsilon_{1}^{\nu_{j}]}\right) \to s^{k/2}(\varepsilon_{1} \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_{2})^{s-k} \prod_{j=1}^{k} \left(2iu_{2}^{[\mu_{i}}\varepsilon_{1}^{\nu_{j}]}\right), \qquad (2.2.52)$$

can be used to show that for the s to s - k amplitudes,

$$(q \cdot K)^k \to s^{k/2} (\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_2)^{s-k} \left(\frac{q \cdot \varepsilon_1}{m}\right)^k$$
, (2.2.53)

$$\mathcal{E}_1^{(s)} \cdot \{\underbrace{M, \dots M}_{m}\} \cdot \left(u_2^k \bar{\mathcal{E}}_2^{(s-k)}\right) \sim K^k S^{m-k} , \qquad (2.2.54)$$

which are necessary to identify the structures related to  $K^k S^{m-k}$  in the amplitudes. Recall that the notation  $u_2^k \bar{\mathcal{E}}_2^{(s-k)}$  includes a factor  $s^{k/2}$ , cf. Eq. (2.2.45). We leave for future work the detailed study of structures of higher orders in spin.

Apart from states created by the operators<sup>11</sup>  $\mathcal{E}^{(s)} \cdot a^{\dagger}_{(s)}$  and  $\mathcal{E}^{(s-1)} \cdot a^{\dagger}_{(s-1)}$  of the fields with definite spin, in FT3 we may also choose asymptotic states with indefinite spin, which are a normalized linear combinations of these definite-spin states (and, in general, also of lower-spin fields). In a quantum theory such a choice is disfavored as it breaks the little-group symmetry. In the classical theory, effectively with a single asymptotic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>We denote by  $a_{(s)}^{\dagger}$  the creation operators of the field  $\phi_{(s)}$  corresponding to the state labeled by the rest-frame polarization tensors in Eqs. (2.2.18) and (2.2.19).

state, this is not an issue. We therefore also evaluate amplitudes in FT3 with asymptotic states

$$|g\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left( \mathcal{E}^{(s)} \cdot a^{\dagger}_{(s)} + \mathcal{E}^{(s-1)} \cdot a^{\dagger}_{(s-1)} \right) |0\rangle.$$
(2.2.55)

Similar states have also been considered in Refs. [65, 236]. We will refer to these amplitudes as  $\mathcal{A}^{\text{FT3g}}$ ; in terms of definite-spin states they are

$$\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{FT3g}} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \mathcal{A}_{s \to s}^{\mathrm{FT3s}} + \mathcal{A}_{s-1 \to s-1}^{\mathrm{FT3s}} + \mathcal{A}_{s-1 \to s}^{\mathrm{FT3s}} + \mathcal{A}_{s \to s-1}^{\mathrm{FT3s}} \right) \,. \tag{2.2.56}$$

There is no simple polarization tensor that can be assigned to the state  $|g\rangle$ ; the closest analog of the sandwich of Lorentz generators and polarization tensors is the expectation value of the (field) generator of Lorentz transformations in the state  $|g\rangle$ . While does not have a simple interpretation in terms of the S and K vectors, the interaction (2.2.61) will supply the requisite factors of momenta for such an interpretation to be possible, cf. (2.2.48).

# 2.2.5 Nonminimal Lagrangian

We are primarily interested in amplitudes in the classical limit, where the spin s is taken to be large. We expect that the relevant interaction terms do not depend on a particular representation of the spin, and thus are Lorentz singlets constructed from covariant derivatives, photon field strengths,  $\phi_s$  and Lorentz generators (2.2.17) in the same representation as  $\phi_s$ . Moreover, we consider for the time being only those interactions that survive in the classical limit. The close relation in Eq. (2.2.27) between Lorentz generators and the spin tensor and the scaling of momenta in the classical limit imply that the number of derivatives on the photons must be equal to the number of Lorentz generators. Under these guidelines, we can write down the following nonminimal linear-in- $F_{\mu\nu}$  interactions up to two powers of spins,

$$(-1)^{s} \mathcal{L}_{\text{non-min}} = Q C_{1} F_{\mu\nu} \phi_{s} M^{\mu\nu} \bar{\phi}_{s} + \frac{Q D_{1}}{m^{2}} F_{\mu\nu} (D_{\rho} \phi_{s} M^{\rho\mu} D^{\nu} \bar{\phi}_{s} + \text{c.c})$$

$$- \frac{i Q C_{2}}{2m^{2}} \partial_{(\mu} F_{\nu)\rho} (D^{\rho} \phi_{s} \mathbb{S}^{\mu} \mathbb{S}^{\nu} \bar{\phi}_{s} - \text{c.c}) - \frac{i Q D_{2}}{2m^{2}} \partial_{\mu} F_{\nu\rho} (D_{\alpha} \phi_{s} M^{\alpha\mu} M^{\nu\rho} \bar{\phi}_{s} - \text{c.c}) ,$$

$$(2.2.57)$$

where for later convenience we choose<sup>12</sup> to scale the Wilson coefficients by Q so that at each order amplitudes display overall powers of  $\alpha$ , and the Pauli-Lubanski spin operator  $\mathbb{S}^{\mu}$  is defined as

$$\mathbb{S}^{\mu} \equiv \frac{-i}{2m} \,\varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} M_{\rho\sigma} D_{\nu} \,. \tag{2.2.58}$$

We note that the  $C_i$  operators are the electrodynamics analogs of operators [140, 141, 145] of general relativity, and the  $D_i$ 's are the electrodynamics analogs of the typical examples of "extra Wilson coefficients" of Ref. [101]. From the effective-field-theory point of view, we can write down another operator that contributes classically

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Neutral particles can also have nonminimal couplings analogous to those in Eq. (2.2.57). The corresponding Lagrangian is obtained by the double-scaling limit  $Q \to 0$ ,  $C_i, D_i \to \infty$  with fixed products  $QC_i$  and  $QD_i$ .

Field theory	Lagrangian	Amplitude	External state
FT1	$\mathcal{L}_{\rm EM} + \mathcal{L}_{\rm min} + \mathcal{L}_{\rm non-min}$	$\mathcal{A}^{ m FT1s}_{ m FT1}$	spin-s
		$\mathcal{A}^{ ext{F}^{ ext{T}} ext{1g}}$	generic
FT2	$\mathcal{L}_{ ext{EM}} + \mathcal{L}_{ ext{min}}^s + \mathcal{L}_{ ext{non-min}}$	$\mathcal{A}^{ ext{FT2}}$	spin-s
FT3	$\mathcal{L}_{ ext{EM}} + \mathcal{L}_{ ext{min}}^{s,s-1} + \mathcal{L}_{ ext{non-min}}^{s,s-1}$	$\mathcal{A}^{ m FT3s}$	spin-s
		$\mathcal{A}^{ ext{FT3g}}$	indefinite spin

Table 2.1: Field-theory amplitudes, corresponding Lagrangians and external states. The Lagrangians are given in Eqs. (2.2.2), (2.2.7), (2.2.11), (2.2.57) and (2.2.61).

at the second order in spin,

$$\mathcal{L}_{D_{2b}} = \frac{iQD_{2b}}{2m^4} \partial_{(\mu}F_{\nu)\rho} (D_\lambda \phi_s M^{\lambda\mu} M^{\nu}{}_{\sigma} D^{(\sigma} D^{\rho)} \bar{\phi}_s - \text{c.c}) \,. \tag{2.2.59}$$

While  $C_2$  and  $D_2$  give independent contribution to three-point amplitudes at  $\mathcal{O}(S^2)$  and  $\mathcal{O}(S^1K^1)$ , see 2.3.1, the above  $D_{2b}$  operator gives independent contribution at  $\mathcal{O}(K^2)$ . Since the purpose of our current work is to understand the existence of extra Wilson coefficients, for simplicity we will not consider this operator further.

2.1 collects the Lagrangians of the four effective field theories that are our focus noting also the notation we use for their corresponding amplitudes. FT1 are described by the same Lagrangian,  $\mathcal{L}_{\rm EM} + \mathcal{L}_{\rm min} + \mathcal{L}_{\rm non-min}$ . To compute amplitudes in these two theories, we do not need to specify a particular value for s. As discussed in 2.2.3, the representations of the rotation group with spin s - 2k that are part of the field  $\phi_s$  have positive norm and are therefore physical, while those with spin s - (2k + 1) have negative norm. In contrast, FT2 is described by the Lagrangian  $\mathcal{L}_{\rm EM} + \mathcal{L}_{\rm min}^s + \mathcal{L}_{\rm non-min}$ , and contains only the physical spin-s degrees of freedom. When computing the amplitude  $\mathcal{A}^{\rm FT1s}$ , we restrict the external states to be the physical spin-s states, which are transverse such that the resultant spin tensors satisfy the covariant SSC according to 2.2.3. Meanwhile, we keep the external states generic in  $\mathcal{A}^{\rm FT1g}$ . As a result, the amplitude  $\mathcal{A}^{\rm FT1g}$  contains explicit SSC-violating terms compared to  $\mathcal{A}^{\rm FT1s}$ .

We show in 2.3 that despite having the same physical spin-s external states,  $\mathcal{A}^{\text{FT}1\text{s}}$  and  $\mathcal{A}^{\text{FT}2}$  are different for four-point Compton scattering in the classical limit. In particular, the Compton amplitudes from FT2 depend only on  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  while  $\mathcal{A}^{\text{FT}1\text{s}}$  also depend on  $D_1$  and  $D_2$ , similar to the appearance of additional nontrivial Wilson coefficients in general relativity [59]. The differences between these amplitudes vanish for

$$C_1 = C_2 = 1$$
  $D_1 = D_2 = 0$ , (2.2.60)

and reproduce the root-Kerr amplitudes of Ref. [193], so that the additional  $D_i$  operators do not contribute, in much the same way that additional operators do not contribute to the Kerr black hole. The similarity of the root-Kerr solution in electromagnetism and the Kerr solution in general relativity follows from the double copy.

These results indicate that additional lower-spin degrees of freedom are the origin of the extra Wilson

coefficients. We consider an interpolation between FT1 and FT2 in 2.6 to understand the effect of the state projector. In FT1 these degrees of freedom have negative norm; a natural question is whether lower-spin states with positive norm have similar consequences. FT3 explores this question. With some foresight which is justified in 2.6, we choose the nonminimal interactions of  $\phi_s$  and  $\phi_{s-1}$  in (2.2.11), valid through the quadratic order in spin, to be

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{non-min}}^{s,s-1} = QC_1 F_{\mu\nu} \phi_s M^{\mu\nu} \bar{\phi}_s - \frac{2iQ\tilde{C}_1 \sqrt{s}}{m} F_{\mu\nu} \Big[ (\phi_s)^{\mu}{}_{\alpha_2...\alpha_s} D^{\nu} \bar{\phi}_{s-1}^{\alpha_2...\alpha_s} - \text{c.c} \Big]$$
(2.2.61)  
$$- \frac{iQC_2}{2m^2} \partial_{(\mu} F_{\nu)\rho} (D^{\rho} \phi_s \mathbb{S}^{\mu} \mathbb{S}^{\nu} \bar{\phi}_s - \text{c.c}) - \frac{2iQ\tilde{C}_2 \sqrt{s}}{m} F_{\mu\nu} \Big[ (\phi_s)^{\mu}{}_{\alpha_2...\alpha_s} D^{\alpha_2} \bar{\phi}_{s-1}^{\nu\alpha_3...\alpha_s} - \text{c.c} \Big] ,$$

and the Lagrangian of FT3 is given by the third line of Table 2.1. We shall see in 2.3 that the Wilson coefficients  $\tilde{C}_1$  and  $\tilde{C}_2$  appear at  $\mathcal{O}(K^1)$  and  $\mathcal{O}(S^1K^1)$  order of the Compton amplitudes respectively, and that there exists an effective map between the  $D_i$  and  $\tilde{C}_i$  coefficients. As discussed in 2.2.3, we need to include couplings between  $\phi_s$  and  $\phi_{s-2}$  to access the  $\mathcal{O}(K^2)$  interactions, which we omit for simplicity.

Similar to gravity, operators describing tidal deformations under the influence of external fields are necessary to describe the electromagnetic interactions of generic spinning bodies. Simple counting of classical scaling indicates that in QED they first appear  $\mathcal{O}(S^2)$ . At this order in spin three independent operators are

$$(-1)^{s} \mathcal{L}_{F^{2}} = \frac{Q^{2} E_{1}}{m^{2}} F_{\mu\nu} F_{\rho\sigma} \phi_{s} M^{\mu\nu} M^{\rho\sigma} \bar{\phi}_{s} + \frac{Q^{2} E_{2}}{m^{2}} F_{\mu\nu} F_{\rho}{}^{\mu} \phi_{s} M^{\nu\lambda} M_{\lambda}{}^{\rho} \bar{\phi}_{s} + \frac{Q^{2} E_{3}}{m^{4}} F_{\mu\nu} F_{\rho\sigma} D^{\mu} \phi_{s} M^{\nu\lambda} M_{\lambda}{}^{\rho} D^{\sigma} \bar{\phi}_{s} + \mathcal{O}(M^{3}) .$$
(2.2.62)

Including them we find that all  $E_i$  Wilson coefficients vanish for the root-Kerr states in much the same way as the  $D_i$  coefficients vanish for these states in FT1.

# 2.3 Scattering Amplitudes

In this section we first compute the 1PL (tree) Compton amplitudes of the higher-spin effective Lagrangians introduced in the previous section and summarized in 2.1. We then use them as the basic building blocks of the  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha^2)$  two-body amplitudes through generalized unitarity.<sup>13</sup> In addition, classical Compton amplitudes are also observables that can be directly compared with worldline computations along the lines of Ref. [247]. The comparison will be given in 2.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>For simplicity, we suppress a factor of Q in the three-point Compton amplitudes, and a factor of  $Q^2$  in the four-point Compton amplitudes, where Q is the electric charge of the massive body.

# 2.3.1 Three-Point Amplitudes

We start with computing and comparing the three-point Compton amplitudes from the theories in 2.1. Assuming that all the momenta are outgoing, the Feynman rules for FT1 are given by

$$\mathcal{A}_{3}\begin{bmatrix}q_{3},\epsilon_{3}\\p_{1} \\p_{2} \\p_{2} \\p_{2} \end{bmatrix} = (-1)^{s} \mathcal{E}_{1} \cdot \mathbb{M}_{3}(p_{1},p_{2},q_{3},\epsilon_{3}) \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_{2}, \qquad (2.3.1)$$

$$\mathbb{M}_{3}(p_{1},p_{2},q_{3},\epsilon_{3}) = 2\epsilon_{3} \cdot p_{1}\mathbb{1} - 2iC_{1}M_{\mu\nu}q_{3}^{\mu}\epsilon_{3}^{\nu} - \frac{2iD_{1}}{m^{2}}\epsilon_{3} \cdot p_{1}M_{\mu\nu}p_{1}^{\mu}q_{3}^{\nu} + \frac{C_{2}}{m^{2}}\epsilon_{3} \cdot p_{1}\{M^{\mu\nu},M_{\mu}{}^{\rho}\}q_{3}^{\nu}q_{3}^{\rho} - \frac{C_{2}}{m^{4}}\epsilon_{3} \cdot p_{1}\{M_{\mu\nu},M_{\rho\lambda}\}p_{1}^{\mu}q_{3}^{\nu}p_{1}^{\rho}q_{3}^{\lambda} + \frac{2D_{2}}{m^{2}}\{M_{\mu\nu},M_{\rho\lambda}\}p_{1}^{\mu}q_{3}^{\nu}q_{3}^{\rho}\epsilon_{3}^{\lambda}.$$

The symmetric product between Lorentz generators is defined in (2.2.28).

In the classical limit, the massive spinning particles are described by the spin coherent states (2.2.30). We first consider FT1g with generic coherent states that do not satisfy the transversality. The expectation values of Lorentz generators are given by (2.2.27), which lead to the classical spin tensor  $S_{\mu\nu}$  that do not satisfy the covariant SSC. The three-point amplitude is

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}_{3}^{\mathrm{FT1g}} &= (-1)^{s} \mathcal{E}_{1} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_{2} \left[ 2\epsilon_{3} \cdot p_{1} - 2iC_{1}\mathsf{S}_{\mu\nu}q_{3}^{\mu}\epsilon_{3}^{\nu} + \frac{C_{2}}{m^{2}}\epsilon_{3} \cdot p_{1}\mathsf{S}_{\mu\nu}q_{3}^{\nu}\mathsf{S}^{\mu}{}_{\lambda}q_{3}^{\lambda} \right. \\ &\left. - \mathsf{S}_{\mu\nu}p_{1}^{\mu}q_{3}^{\nu} \left( \frac{2iD_{1}}{m^{2}}\epsilon_{3} \cdot p_{1} + \frac{C_{2}}{m^{4}}\epsilon_{3} \cdot p_{1}\mathsf{S}_{\lambda\sigma}p_{1}^{\lambda}q_{3}^{\sigma} - \frac{2D_{2}}{m^{2}}\mathsf{S}_{\lambda\sigma}q_{3}^{\lambda}\epsilon_{3}^{\sigma} \right) \right] \\ &= 2(-1)^{s} \mathcal{E}_{1} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_{2} \left[ \epsilon_{3} \cdot p_{1} - iC_{1}S_{\mu\nu}q_{3}^{\mu}\epsilon_{3}^{\nu} - (C_{1} - D_{1})\epsilon_{3} \cdot p_{1}\frac{q \cdot K}{m} \right. \\ &\left. + \frac{C_{2}}{2m^{2}}\epsilon_{3} \cdot p_{1}S_{\mu\nu}q_{3}^{\nu}S^{\mu}{}_{\lambda}q_{3}^{\lambda} + iD_{2}S_{\mu\nu}q_{3}^{\mu}\epsilon_{3}^{\nu}\frac{q \cdot K}{m} + D_{2}\epsilon_{3} \cdot p_{1}\left(\frac{q \cdot K}{m}\right)^{2} \right], \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.3.2)$$

where in the second equal sign we have used (2.2.25) to expose the SSC preserving S-part and the SSC violating K-part in  $S^{\mu\nu}$ . As expected, the extra Wilson coefficients  $D_i$  appear with the SSC-violating terms. If we further restrict the external states to be transverse, the K-part becomes subleading in the classical limit and thus drops out. This leads to the three-point amplitudes  $\mathcal{A}_3^{\text{FT1s}}$  and  $\mathcal{A}_3^{\text{FT2}}$ 

$$\mathcal{A}_{3}^{\text{FT1s}} = \mathcal{A}_{3}^{\text{FT2}} = 2(-\varepsilon_{1} \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_{2})^{s} \left[ \epsilon_{3} \cdot p_{1} - iC_{1}S_{\mu\nu}q_{3}^{\mu}\epsilon_{3}^{\nu} + \frac{C_{2}}{2m^{2}}\epsilon_{3} \cdot p_{1}S_{\mu\nu}q_{3}^{\nu}S^{\mu}{}_{\lambda}q_{3}^{\lambda} \right].$$
(2.3.3)

This amplitude only depends on the  $C_i$  Wilson coefficients. The fact that  $\mathcal{A}_3^{\text{FT1s}}$  does not contain any additional Wilson coefficients is analogous to the three-point gravity amplitude of Ref. [59], which did not contain any additional Wilson coefficients either, connected to restricting the external states to traceless and transverse spin-*s* ones.

For FT3, we can similarly restrict the external states to be spin-s. The resulting amplitude  $\mathcal{A}_3^{\text{FT3s}}$  is the



Figure 2.1: The three Feynman diagrams describing lowest-order Compton scattering.

same as (2.3.3), i.e.

$$\mathcal{A}_3^{\text{FT1s}} = \mathcal{A}_3^{\text{FT2}} = \mathcal{A}_3^{\text{FT3s}} \,. \tag{2.3.4}$$

We may also choose the indefinite-spin states (2.2.55); the corresponding amplitude  $\mathcal{A}_3^{\text{FT3g}}$  receives contributions from both the spin-s and spin-(s - 1) external states,

$$\mathcal{A}_{3}^{\mathrm{FT3g}} = \mathcal{A}_{3}^{\mathrm{FT3g}} + \frac{2i\sqrt{s}}{m} (-\varepsilon_{1} \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_{2})^{s-1} (\varepsilon_{1} \cdot q_{3} + \bar{\varepsilon}_{2} \cdot q_{3}) \left[ \widetilde{C}_{1}(\epsilon_{3} \cdot p_{1}) + \widetilde{C}_{2}(\mathcal{E}_{1} \cdot f_{3} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_{4}) \right] \\ = 2(-1)^{s} \mathcal{E}_{1} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_{2} \left[ \epsilon_{3} \cdot p_{1} - iC_{1}S_{\mu\nu}q_{3}^{\mu}\epsilon_{3}^{\nu} + \frac{C_{2}}{2m^{2}}\epsilon_{3} \cdot p_{1}S_{\mu\nu}q_{3}^{\nu}S^{\mu}{}_{\lambda}q_{3}^{\lambda} + (i\widetilde{C}_{1} - 1)\epsilon_{3} \cdot p_{1}\frac{q \cdot K}{m} + (iC_{1} - \widetilde{C}_{2})S_{\mu\nu}q_{3}^{\mu}\epsilon_{3}^{\nu}\frac{q \cdot K}{m} \right],$$
(2.3.5)

where we have used (2.2.48),(2.2.50) to obtain the final expression in terms of the boost vector K. The appearance of the Wilson coefficients  $\tilde{C}_1$  and  $\tilde{C}_2$  associated with SSC violation. We find that, up to  $\mathcal{O}(K^2)$  terms, the additional Wilson coefficients in FT1g and FT3g are related as

$$\mathcal{A}_{3}^{\text{FT3g}} = \mathcal{A}_{3}^{\text{FT1g}} \quad \text{for} \quad i\widetilde{C}_{1} = 1 - C_{1} + D_{1} \text{ and } i\widetilde{C}_{2} = D_{2} - C_{1}.$$
 (2.3.6)

The extra factor of *i* in this map reflects the unphysical nature of the spin-(s - 1) states in FT1 vs. their physical nature in FT3. While this map is not an equivalence of Lagrangians, it provides a simple relation between the amplitudes of FT1 and FT3. A similar map also exists at  $\mathcal{O}(K^2)$  if we include such interactions in both FT1 and FT3.

## 2.3.2 Four-Point Compton Amplitudes

At four points, the Compton amplitudes are given by the three Feynman diagrams in 2.1, with the relevant propagators and three- and four-point vertices derived from our field theories. While the Lagrangian of FT1 is independent of s and therefore general properties of Lorentz generators and coherent states are sufficient for amplitude calculations, the explicit dependence on s of FT2 and FT3 Lagrangians requires that for them we choose a particular representation. As noted in 2.2.3, we choose the (s, s) representation, for which the coherent states are given by (2.2.35) and the Lorentz generators are listed in (2.2.38). Specifically for four-point Compton amplitudes, the Feynman rules for FT2 and FT3 simplify considerably because every vertex has at least one on-shell massive particle represented by the symmetric, traceless and transverse polarization tensor. Thus, when deriving the three- and four-point vertex rules we can ignore all the interactions covered

by the ellipsis in (2.2.7) because they only include traces or/and longitudinal modes of the external on-shell particle. For the same reason, we can also ignore all the (resummed) propagators that involve lower-spin auxiliary fields.

The spin-independent part of the Compton amplitude is common to FT1 though FT3,

$$\mathcal{A}_{4, \text{ cl.}}^{\text{FT1}, 2, 3} \Big|_{S^0} = (-1)^s \mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_4 \frac{2(p_1 \cdot f_2 \cdot f_3 \cdot p_1)}{(p_1 \cdot q_2)^2} , \qquad (2.3.7)$$

where  $f_i^{\mu\nu} \equiv \varepsilon_i^{\mu} q_i^{\nu} - \varepsilon_i^{\nu} q_i^{\mu}$ . For the (s, s) representation, we do not need to distinguish  $\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_4$  and  $(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_4)^s$  as their difference is higher order in S and K. Up to the overall factor  $\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_4$ , Eq. (2.3.7) reproduces the classical limit of the scalar QED Compton amplitude given in, for example, Eq. (2.8) of Ref. [191].<sup>14</sup>

#### The Linear-in-Spin Compton Amplitudes

Consider now spin-dependent parts of amplitudes of the four field theories. For FT1, here and after we choose  $\phi_s$  to be in the (s, s) representation to streamline the comparison with FT2 and FT3. We first consider  $\mathcal{A}^{\text{FT1s}}$  in which the external states are transverse. Evaluating the linear-in-spin part of the three Feynman diagrams in Fig. 2.1 with the propagators and vertices following from the Lagrangian of FT1 leads to

$$\mathcal{A}_{4, \text{ cl.}}^{\text{FT1s}}\Big|_{S^{1}} = (-\varepsilon_{1} \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_{4})^{s} S(p_{1})_{\mu\nu} \left[ \frac{iC_{1}}{(p_{1} \cdot q_{2})^{2}} (f_{2}^{\mu\nu} q_{2\rho} f_{3}^{\rho\lambda} + f_{3}^{\mu\nu} q_{3\rho} f_{2}^{\rho\lambda}) p_{1\lambda} + \frac{2iC_{1}^{2}}{p_{1} \cdot q_{2}} f_{2}^{\nu\rho} f_{3\rho}^{\mu} + \frac{2iD_{1}(2C_{1} - D_{1} - 2)}{(p_{1} \cdot q_{2})m^{2}} p_{1\rho} f_{2}^{\rho\mu} f_{3}^{\nu\lambda} p_{1\lambda} \right].$$

$$(2.3.8)$$

The amplitude  $\mathcal{A}_{4, \text{ cl}}^{\text{FT1}}\Big|_{S^1}$  depends on both the  $C_1$  and  $D_1$  Wilson coefficients.<sup>15</sup> We note that  $D_1$  appears only together with the combination  $p_{1\rho}f_2^{\rho\mu}f_3^{\nu\lambda}p_{1\lambda}$ . Repeating the calculation while relaxing the transversality on external states leads to the Compton amplitude,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}_{4, \text{cl.}}^{\text{FT1g}}\Big|_{S^{1}} &= (-1)^{s} \mathcal{E}_{1} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_{4} \left\{ \mathsf{S}(p_{1})_{\mu\nu} \left[ \frac{iC_{1}}{(p_{1} \cdot q_{2})^{2}} (f_{2}^{\mu\nu} q_{2\rho} f_{3}^{\rho\lambda} + f_{3}^{\mu\nu} q_{3\rho} f_{2}^{\rho\lambda}) p_{1\lambda} + \frac{2iC_{1}^{2}}{p_{1} \cdot q_{2}} f_{2}^{\nu\rho} f_{3\rho}^{\mu} \right. \\ &+ \frac{2iD_{1}(2C_{1} - D_{1} - 2)}{(p_{1} \cdot q_{2})m^{2}} p_{1\rho} f_{2}^{\rho\mu} f_{3}^{\nu\lambda} p_{1\lambda} \right] + \mathsf{S}(p_{1})_{\mu\nu} p_{1}^{\nu} \left[ \frac{2iD_{1}(C_{1} + 1)}{(p_{1} \cdot q_{2})m^{2}} p_{1\rho} (f_{3}^{\rho\lambda} f_{2\lambda}^{\mu} - f_{2}^{\rho\lambda} f_{3\lambda}^{\mu}) \right. \\ &+ \left. \frac{2iD_{1}}{(p_{1} \cdot q_{2})^{2}m^{2}} p_{1\rho} p_{1\lambda} (f_{3}^{\rho\mu} q_{3\sigma} f_{2}^{\sigma\lambda} + f_{2}^{\rho\mu} q_{2\sigma} f_{3}^{\sigma\lambda}) \right] \right\}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.3.9)$$

We note that the first term is formally identical to (2.3.8) for FT1 except for the replacement  $S \to S$ , while the second term is proportional to the SSC condition  $S_{\mu\nu}p_1^{\nu}$ .

Proceeding to FT2 of a single transverse spin-s field, we extract the classical  $\mathcal{O}(S^1)$  Compton amplitude from explicit calculations for s = 1, 2, 3 using the Lagrangian given in the third row of 2.1. Unlike FT1, the amplitudes are now given in terms of explicit polarization vectors instead of spin tensors such that we need to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>In Ref. [191] higher order in  $q_i$  terms are also included since they are needed when feeding the Compton amplitudes into unitarity cuts for building higher PL two-body amplitudes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>The gravitational analog of this amplitude is of  $\mathcal{O}(S^2)$ .

convert the former into the latter. Since the classical amplitudes in terms of spin tensors scale as  $\mathcal{O}(q^0)$  and the spin tensors scale as  $\mathcal{O}(q^{-1})$ , in a fixed-spin calculation, the classical part of the  $\mathcal{O}(S^1)$  amplitude is among the  $\mathcal{O}(q)$  terms of the full quantum amplitude [59]. At this order, the massive polarization vectors appear in two structures,  $(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \overline{\varepsilon}_4)^s$  and  $(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \overline{\varepsilon}_4)^{s-1} \varepsilon_1^{[\mu} \overline{\varepsilon}_4^{\nu]}$ . The terms proportional to  $(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \overline{\varepsilon}_4)^s$  belong to the quantum spinless amplitude, which can be ignored here. We then use the relation (2.2.40) to convert the second structure to spin tensors. The final classical amplitude is obtained by extrapolating the finite-spin results to generic s and taking the  $s \to \infty$  of that expression. At  $\mathcal{O}(S^1)$ , the amplitude after the replacement (2.2.40) is in fact independent of s, as we have explicitly checked for  $s \leq 3$ . After identifying the classical part, the final answer for the classical Compton amplitude is

$$\mathcal{A}_{4,\,\mathrm{cl}}^{\mathrm{FT2}}\Big|_{S^{1}} = (-\varepsilon_{1} \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_{4})^{s} S(p_{1})_{\mu\nu} \left[ \frac{iC_{1}}{(p_{1} \cdot q_{2})^{2}} (f_{2}^{\mu\nu} q_{2\rho} f_{3}^{\rho\lambda} + f_{3}^{\mu\nu} q_{3\rho} f_{2}^{\rho\lambda}) p_{1\lambda} + \frac{2iC_{1}^{2}}{p_{1} \cdot q_{2}} f_{2}^{\nu\rho} f_{3\rho}^{\mu} + \frac{2i(C_{1}-1)^{2}}{(p_{1} \cdot q_{2})m^{2}} p_{1\rho} f_{2}^{\rho\mu} f_{3}^{\nu\lambda} p_{1\lambda} \right].$$

$$(2.3.10)$$

Notably, this amplitude is independent of  $D_1$ , and it can be obtained from (2.3.8) by setting  $D_1$  to a special value,  $A^{\text{FT1s}} = A^{\text{FT2}} = \text{for} \quad D_2 = C_1 = 1$ (2.3.11)

$$\mathcal{A}_{4, \text{ cl}}^{\text{FT1s}}\Big|_{S^1} = \mathcal{A}_{4, \text{ cl}}^{\text{FT2}}\Big|_{S^1} \quad \text{for} \quad D_1 = C_1 - 1.$$
(2.3.11)

In other words, for this special value of  $D_1$ , FT1 effectively propagates only the spin-s states. Moreover, the special value  $C_1 = 1$  and  $D_1 = 0$  reproduces the root-Kerr Compton amplitudes [193]. The appearance of additional Wilson coefficients in  $\mathcal{A}^{\text{FT1s}}$  compared with  $\mathcal{A}^{\text{FT2}}$  can be attributed to the additional propagating degrees of freedom.<sup>16</sup>

Finally, FT3 amplitudes also receive contributions from lower-spin states. We first restrict the lower spins to only appear in the intermediate states. Repeating the same steps as for FT2 we find that spin-(s-1)intermediate states contribute as

$$\mathcal{A}_{4,\,\mathrm{cl}}^{\mathrm{FT3s}}\Big|_{S^{1}} = \mathcal{A}_{4,\,\mathrm{cl}}^{\mathrm{FT3}}\Big|_{S^{1}} + (-\varepsilon_{1} \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_{4})^{s} S(p_{1})_{\mu\nu} \left[\frac{2i\widetilde{C}_{1}^{2}}{(p_{1} \cdot q_{2})m^{2}} p_{1\rho} f_{2}^{\rho\mu} f_{3}^{\nu\lambda} p_{1\lambda}\right].$$
(2.3.12)

We note that the  $\mathcal{O}(S^1)$  amplitude does not change if we include intermediate states with spin less than s-1. Comparing with (2.3.8), we find that the two amplitudes are formally related by the same map as (2.3.6),

$$\mathcal{A}_{4, \text{ cl.}}^{\text{FT3s}}\Big|_{S^1} = \mathcal{A}_{4, \text{ cl.}}^{\text{FT1s}}\Big|_{S^1} \quad \text{for} \quad i\tilde{C}_1 = 1 - C_1 + D_1.$$
(2.3.13)

Furthermore, this map persists even for amplitudes with external lower-spin states. To see this, we first rewrite (2.3.9) using (2.2.25),

$$\mathcal{A}_{4, \text{ cl.}}^{\text{FT1g}}\Big|_{S^1} = (-1)^s \mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_4 \left\{ S(p_1)_{\mu\nu} \left[ \frac{iC_1}{(p_1 \cdot q_2)^2} (f_2^{\mu\nu} q_{2\rho} f_3^{\rho\lambda} + f_3^{\mu\nu} q_{3\rho} f_2^{\rho\lambda}) p_{1\lambda} + \frac{2iC_1^2}{p_1 \cdot q_2} f_2^{\nu\rho} f_{3\rho}^{\mu\nu} \right] \right\}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>In Ref. [231], a similar computation was carried out for s = 1 and observed a similar effect. Their amplitudes are equivalent to our  $D_1 = 0$  case.

$$+ \frac{2iD_{1}(2C_{1}-D_{1}-2)}{(p_{1}\cdot q_{2})m^{2}}p_{1\rho}f_{2}^{\rho\mu}f_{3}^{\nu\lambda}p_{1\lambda}\right] + \frac{2K(p_{1})_{\mu}p_{1\nu}}{m}\left[\frac{D_{1}-C_{1}}{(p_{1}\cdot q_{2})^{2}}(q_{2}^{\mu}+q_{3}^{\mu})f_{2}^{\nu\rho}f_{3\rho\lambda}p_{1}^{\lambda}\right] - \frac{C_{1}(1-C_{1}+D_{1})}{p_{1}\cdot q_{2}}(f_{2}^{\nu\rho}f_{3\rho}^{\mu}-f_{3}^{\nu\rho}f_{2\rho}^{\mu})\right]\right\}.$$

$$(2.3.14)$$

We then find  $\mathcal{A}_4^{\text{FT3g}}$ , with external states in Eq. (2.2.55), from the Lagrangian of FT3. The momentum dependence of vertices is essential to express the contributions with spin-(s-1) external states in terms of  $K^{\mu}$ , using (2.2.48),(2.2.50). The result is

$$\mathcal{A}_{4}^{\mathrm{FT3g}}\Big|_{S^{1}} = (-1)^{s} \mathcal{E}_{1} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_{4} \left\{ S(p_{1})_{\mu\nu} \left[ \frac{iC_{1}}{(p_{1} \cdot q_{2})^{2}} (f_{2}^{\mu\nu} q_{2\rho} f_{3}^{\rho\lambda} + f_{3}^{\mu\nu} q_{3\rho} f_{2}^{\rho\lambda}) p_{1\lambda} + \frac{2iC_{1}^{2}}{p_{1} \cdot q_{2}} f_{2}^{\nu\rho} f_{3\rho}^{\mu} + \frac{2i[(C_{1} - 1)^{2} + \tilde{C}_{1}^{2}]}{(p_{1} \cdot q_{2})m^{2}} p_{1\rho} f_{2}^{\rho\mu} f_{3}^{\nu\lambda} p_{1\lambda} \right] + \frac{2K(p_{1})_{\mu} p_{1\nu}}{m} \left[ \frac{i\tilde{C}_{1} - 1}{(p_{1} \cdot q_{2})^{2}} (q_{2}^{\mu} + q_{3}^{\mu}) f_{2}^{\nu\rho} f_{3\rho\lambda} p_{1}^{\lambda} - \frac{iC_{1}\tilde{C}_{1}}{p_{1} \cdot q_{2}} (f_{2}^{\nu\rho} f_{3\rho}^{\mu} - f_{3}^{\nu\rho} f_{2\rho}^{\mu}) \right] \right\}.$$
(2.3.15)

Now comparing (2.3.14), (2.3.15), we find that

$$\mathcal{A}_{4, \text{ cl.}}^{\text{FT3g}}\Big|_{S^1} = \mathcal{A}_{4, \text{ cl.}}^{\text{FT1g}}\Big|_{S^1} \quad \text{for} \quad i\tilde{C}_1 = 1 - C_1 + D_1.$$
(2.3.16)

The robustness of this map demonstrates that the terms tagged by the extra Wilson coefficients present in the amplitudes (and observables) of FT1 and FT3 carry new physical information compared to FT2.

# The Quadratic-in-Spin Compton Amplitudes

Feynman-diagram calculations using the propagators and vertices of FT1 as well as properties of transverse coherent states show that, at  $\mathcal{O}(S^2)$  the Compton amplitude depends on two distinct contractions of spin tensors:

$$\mathcal{A}_{4, \text{ cl.}}^{\text{FT1s}}\Big|_{S^2} = \left(-\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_4\right)^s \left(S(p_1)_{\mu\nu} S(p_1)_{\lambda\sigma} \mathcal{X}^{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma} + S(p_1)_{\mu\lambda} S(p_1)^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} \mathcal{X}^{\mu\nu}\right).$$
(2.3.17)

Their kinematic coefficients are given by

$$\mathcal{X}^{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma} = \frac{C_1^2(q_2 \cdot q_3)}{2(p_1 \cdot q_2)^2} f_2^{\mu\nu} f_3^{\lambda\sigma} + \frac{C_1 D_1 + D_2 (C_1 - D_1 - 1)}{(p_1 \cdot q_2)m^2} p_{1\rho} (f_3^{\rho\mu} q_2^{\nu} f_2^{\lambda\sigma} - f_2^{\rho\mu} q_3^{\nu} f_3^{\lambda\sigma}), \qquad (2.3.18)$$

$$\mathcal{X}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{C_2}{m^2} \left[ \frac{p_{1\rho} p_{1\alpha} (f_2^{\rho\mu} q_2^{\nu} f_3^{\alpha\beta} q_{2\beta} + f_3^{\rho\mu} q_3^{\nu} f_2^{\alpha\beta} q_{3\beta})}{(p_1 \cdot q_2)^2} + \frac{p_{1\rho} (f_2^{\rho\sigma} f_{3\sigma}^{\mu} q_3^{\nu} - f_3^{\rho\sigma} f_{2\sigma}^{\mu} q_2^{\nu})}{(p_1 \cdot q_2)} + \frac{2C_1 p_{1\rho} (f_3^{\rho\mu} f_2^{\nu\sigma} q_{3\sigma} - f_2^{\rho\mu} f_3^{\nu\sigma} q_{2\sigma})}{(p_1 \cdot q_2)} + \frac{2(C_1 - 1)p_{1\rho} f_2^{\rho\mu} f_3^{\nu\sigma} p_{1\sigma}}{m^2} + 2C_1 f_{2\rho}^{\mu} f_3^{\nu\rho} \right].$$
(2.3.19)

The dependence on Wilson coefficients indicates that both terms originate from both  $\mathcal{L}_{\min}$  and  $\mathcal{L}_{\text{non-min}}$ , and the Lorentz algebra was used to reduce a product of three Lorentz generators to a sum of irreducible (symmetric) products. We also note that the  $D_1$  and  $D_2$  dependence only appear in  $\mathcal{X}^{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma}$ .

Choosing general asymptotic states instead of transverse ones leads to the amplitude  $\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{FT1g}}$ . Apart from the replacement  $S \to \mathsf{S}$  in  $\mathcal{A}_{4, \mathrm{cl}}^{\mathrm{FT1g}}\Big|_{S^2}$ , the amplitude contains terms proportional to the covariant SSC conditions:

$$\mathcal{A}_{4, \text{ cl.}}^{\text{FT1g}}\Big|_{S^2} = (-1)^s \mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_4 \Big[ \mathsf{S}(p_1)_{\mu\nu} \mathsf{S}(p_1)_{\lambda\sigma} \mathcal{X}^{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma} + \mathsf{S}(p_1)_{\mu\lambda} \mathsf{S}(p_1)^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} \mathcal{X}^{\mu\nu} + \mathsf{S}(p_1)_{\mu\nu} p_1^{\nu} \mathsf{S}(p_1)_{\lambda\sigma} \mathcal{Y}^{\mu\lambda\sigma} + \mathsf{S}(p_1)_{\mu\nu} p_1^{\nu} \mathsf{S}(p_1)_{\lambda\sigma} p_1^{\sigma} \mathcal{Y}^{\mu\lambda} + \mathsf{S}(p_1)_{\mu\lambda} \mathsf{S}(p_1)^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} p_1^{\nu} \mathcal{Y}^{\mu} \Big],$$

$$(2.3.20)$$

where the additional kinematic coefficients are given by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{Y}^{\mu\lambda\sigma} &= \frac{C_1(D_1 - D_2)}{(p_1 \cdot q_2)m^2} (q_{2\rho} f_3^{\rho\mu} f_2^{\lambda\sigma} - q_{3\rho} f_2^{\rho\mu} f_3^{\lambda\sigma}) + \frac{C_1 D_1 (q_2 \cdot q_3)}{(p_1 \cdot q_2)^2 m^2} p_{1\rho} (f_3^{\rho\mu} f_2^{\lambda\sigma} - f_2^{\rho\mu} f_3^{\lambda\sigma}) \\ &+ \frac{2C_1 D_2}{(p_1 \cdot q_2)m^2} (q_2 + q_3)^{\mu} f_2^{\sigma\alpha} f_{3\alpha}^{\ \lambda} + \frac{2D_1^2}{(p_1 \cdot q_2)m^4} p_{1\rho} p_{1\alpha} (f_2^{\rho\mu} f_3^{\alpha\lambda} q_2^{\sigma} - f_3^{\rho\mu} f_2^{\alpha\lambda} q_3^{\sigma}) \\ &+ \frac{2D_2}{(p_1 \cdot q_2)^2 m^2} p_{1\alpha} (q_2^{\lambda} f_2^{\sigma\mu} f_3^{\alpha\beta} q_{2\beta} + q_3^{\lambda} f_3^{\sigma\mu} f_2^{\alpha\beta} q_{3\beta}) \\ &+ \frac{2(C_2 (C_1 - D_1 - 1) - D_1 D_2)}{(p_1 \cdot q_2)m^4} (q_2 + q_3)^{\mu} p_{1\rho} f_3^{\rho\lambda} f_2^{\sigma\alpha} p_{1\alpha} \\ &+ \frac{C_2 (C_1 - D_1 - 1)}{m^4} (f_2^{\mu\lambda} f_3^{\sigma\rho} + f_3^{\mu\lambda} f_2^{\sigma\rho}) p_{1\rho} + \frac{D_1 D_2}{m^4} p_{1\rho} (f_3^{\rho\mu} f_2^{\lambda\sigma} + f_2^{\rho\mu} f_3^{\lambda\sigma}), \end{aligned}$$
(2.3.21)

$$\mathcal{Y}^{\mu\lambda} = \frac{2D_1^2}{(p_1 \cdot q_2)m^4} p_{1\rho} (f_2^{\rho\mu} q_{2\alpha} f_3^{\alpha\lambda} - f_3^{\rho\mu} q_{3\alpha} f_2^{\alpha\lambda}) + \frac{2D_1^2 (q_2 \cdot q_3)}{(p_1 \cdot q_2)^2 m^4} p_{1\rho} f_2^{\rho\mu} p_{1\alpha} f_3^{\alpha\lambda} \\
+ \frac{C_2}{(p_1 \cdot q_2)^2 m^4} p_{1\rho} (q_2^{\mu} f_2^{\rho\lambda} p_{1\alpha} f_3^{\alpha\beta} q_{2\beta} + q_3^{\mu} f_3^{\rho\lambda} p_{1\alpha} f_2^{\alpha\beta} q_{3\beta}) \\
+ \frac{C_2 - 2D_1 D_2}{(p_1 \cdot q_2)m^4} p_{1\alpha} (q_3^{\mu} f_2^{\alpha\beta} f_{3\beta}^{\lambda} - q_2^{\mu} f_3^{\alpha\beta} f_{2\beta}^{\lambda}) + \frac{2C_1 C_2}{(p_1 \cdot q_2)m^4} p_{1\alpha} (q_2^{\mu} f_2^{\alpha\beta} f_{3\beta}^{\lambda} - q_3^{\mu} f_3^{\alpha\beta} f_{2\beta}^{\lambda}) \\
- \frac{2C_1 C_2}{m^4} f_2^{\mu\alpha} f_{3\alpha}^{\lambda} - \frac{2C_2 D_1}{m^6} p_{1\rho} p_{1\alpha} (f_2^{\rho\mu} f_3^{\alpha\lambda} + \eta^{\mu\lambda} f_2^{\rho\beta} f_{3\beta}^{\alpha}),$$
(2.3.22)

$$\mathcal{Y}^{\mu} = \frac{2C_2 D_1}{(p_1 \cdot q_2)m^4} p_{1\rho} p_{1\alpha} (f_2^{\rho\mu} f_3^{\alpha\beta} q_{2\beta} - f_3^{\rho\mu} f_2^{\alpha\beta} q_{3\beta}) - \frac{C_2 (C_1 + D_1 - 1)}{m^4} p_{1\rho} (f_3^{\rho\alpha} f_{2\alpha}{}^{\mu} + f_2^{\rho\alpha} f_{3\alpha}{}^{\mu}).$$
(2.3.23)

We proceed next to the  $\mathcal{O}(S^2)$  tree-level Compton amplitude of FT2. Repeating at this order the classical scaling argument we described at  $\mathcal{O}(S^1)$  shows that, in a fixed-spin calculation, the classical tree-level Compton amplitude is contained in the  $\mathcal{O}(q^2)$  terms of the quantum tree-level Compton amplitude. Thus, we extract these terms from explicit s = 1, 2, 3 calculations, extrapolate them to large spin and keep only the leading term. The massive polarization vectors now appear in four structures,

$$(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_4)^s, \qquad (\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_4)^{s-1} \varepsilon_1^{[\mu} \bar{\varepsilon}_4^{\nu]}, \qquad (\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_4)^{s-1} \varepsilon_1^{(\mu} \bar{\varepsilon}_4^{\nu)}, \qquad (\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_4)^{s-2} \varepsilon_1^{[\mu} \bar{\varepsilon}_4^{\nu]} \varepsilon_1^{[\rho} \bar{\varepsilon}_4^{\lambda]}, \qquad (2.3.24)$$

where the first two correspond to the quantum spinless and  $\mathcal{O}(S^1)$  amplitudes that can be ignored here. We use the replacement (2.2.42) and (2.2.43) for the last two structures. It turns that the dependence on s is simple so that we can extrapolate it to obtain the general s dependence and take  $s \to \infty$  limit. The kinematic coefficient of  $S^{\mu\rho}S_{\rho}{}^{\nu}$  can be accessed by any  $s \ge 1$ ; in the large s limit, it exactly reproduces the  $\mathcal{X}^{\mu\nu}$  shown in (2.3.18). The structure  $S^{\mu\nu}S^{\rho\lambda}$  appears for  $s \ge 2$ . A careful analysis with s = 2 and 3 gives identical results, so that we postulate that the coefficient of  $S^{\mu\nu}S^{\rho\lambda}$  is independent of s. Thus we find that the tree-level Compton amplitude of FT2 is

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}_{4,\,\mathrm{cl.}}^{\mathrm{FT2}}\Big|_{S^2} &= \left(-\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_4\right)^s \left(S_{\mu\nu} S_{\lambda\sigma} \widetilde{\mathcal{X}}^{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma} + S_{\mu\lambda} S^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} \mathcal{X}^{\mu\nu}\right) \,, \\ \widetilde{\mathcal{X}}^{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma} &= \frac{C_1^2 (q_2 \cdot q_3)}{2(p_1 \cdot q_2)^2} f_2^{\mu\nu} f_3^{\lambda\sigma} + \frac{C_1 (C_1 - 1)}{(p_1 \cdot q_2)m^2} p_{1\rho} (f_3^{\rho\mu} q_2^{\nu} f_2^{\lambda\sigma} - f_2^{\rho\mu} q_3^{\nu} f_3^{\lambda\sigma}) \,, \end{aligned} \tag{2.3.25}$$

where  $\mathcal{X}^{\mu\nu}$  is defined in equation (2.3.19). These coefficients depend only on  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  and are independent of  $D_1$  and  $D_2$ . We again observe the same pattern as in the linear-in-spin case,

$$\mathcal{A}_{4, \text{ cl.}}^{\text{FT1s}}\Big|_{S^2} = \mathcal{A}_{4, \text{ cl.}}^{\text{FT2}}\Big|_{S^2} \quad \text{for} \quad D_1 = C_1 - 1.$$
(2.3.26)

We note that the special value of  $D_1$  also removes the dependence on  $D_2$ .

Similar to  $\mathcal{O}(S^1)$ , the  $\mathcal{O}(S^2)$  Compton amplitudes of FT3 receive contributions from lower-spin intermediate states. Keeping the external states transverse, we get

$$\mathcal{A}_{4,\,\mathrm{cl}}^{\mathrm{FT3s}}\Big|_{S^2} = \mathcal{A}_{4,\,\mathrm{cl}}^{\mathrm{FT2}}\Big|_{S^2} + (-\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_4)^s S(p_1)_{\mu\nu} S(p_1)_{\lambda\sigma} \left[\frac{\widetilde{C}_1 \widetilde{C}_2}{(p_1 \cdot q_2)m^2} p_{1\rho} (f_3^{\rho\mu} q_2^{\nu} f_2^{\lambda\sigma} - f_2^{\rho\mu} q_3^{\nu} f_3^{\lambda\sigma})\right].$$
(2.3.27)

Just like the previous cases, the same formal relations hold between the additional Wilson coefficients in FT1 and FT3. Indeed, comparing (2.3.27) and (2.3.17), it is easy to see that

$$\mathcal{A}_{4, \text{ cl}}^{\text{FT1s}}\Big|_{S^2} = \mathcal{A}_{4, \text{ cl}}^{\text{FT3s}}\Big|_{S^2} \quad \text{for} \quad i\tilde{C}_1 = 1 - C_1 + D_1 \text{ and } i\tilde{C}_2 = D_2 - C_1 \,, \tag{2.3.28}$$

which is identical to (2.3.6). This demonstrates that the relation between extra Wilson coefficients and extra propagating degrees of freedom holds also at  $\mathcal{O}(S^2)$ . A comparison between  $\mathcal{A}_{4, \text{ cl.}}^{\text{FT1g}}$  and  $\mathcal{A}_{4, \text{ cl.}}^{\text{FT3g}}$  at  $\mathcal{O}(S^1K^1)$ and  $\mathcal{O}(K^2)$  requires that we include in the Lagrangian of FT3 a spin-(s-2) field  $\phi_{s-2}$ , and additional operators that contribute independently at  $\mathcal{O}(K^2)$ , for example (2.2.59) for FT1. This is because the effect of  $\mathcal{O}(K^2)$  operators show up at  $\mathcal{O}(S^1K^1)$  in the four-point Compton amplitudes due to the commutator  $[K^2, K] \sim SK$ . Finally, we note that the spin-transition Compton amplitude  $\mathcal{A}_4^{s \to s-1}$  under a fixed-spin calculation may superficially contain a super-classical contribution that does not cancel between the two matter channels. Consistency of the theory requires however that in the large-spin limit this term is subleading. We will assume that this cancellation holds as  $s \to \infty$ . It is nontrivial to carry out explicit calculations to demonstrate this, but would be worth investigating.

# 2.3.3 Two-Body Amplitudes

In previous subsections, we have explored and understood the effect of various types of interactions between higher-spin fields and photons on Compton amplitudes, and the number of Wilson coefficients necessary to describe such interactions. We found that, under suitable conditions like allowing spin magnitude change, this number is indeed larger than that required to describe the interactions of SSC preserving spins. The rationale of this exercise is to eventually understand their effects on two-body observables, such as the momentum impulse and the spin kick. It was originally suggested in the context of gravity that a larger number of Wilson coefficients may be required to describle more general interactions [101]. We therefore proceed to expose the photon-mediated two-body amplitudes and, in later sections, the observables that follow from them as well as their comparison with a wordline perspective. We use the generalized unitarity method [206, 207, 209] to construct the relevant integrands, while taking advantage of the simplifications introduced in Ref. [248]. To reduce the encountered loop integrals to known ones we make use of integration by parts [212, 216] as implemented in FIRE [249, 250].

We use the momentum and mass variables

$$\bar{m}_1 = m_1^2 - q^2/4, \qquad \bar{m}_2^2 = m_2^2 - q^2/4, \qquad y = \frac{\bar{p}_1 \cdot \bar{p}_2}{\bar{m}_1 \bar{m}_2},$$
  
 $\bar{p}_1 = p_1 + q/2 = -p_4 - q/2, \qquad \bar{p}_2 = p_2 - q/2 = -p_3 + q/2,$ 
(2.3.29)

which are originally used for the expansion in the soft region of gravitational amplitudes in [33]. We primarily focus on FT1 because this is what we compare with a worldline theory. Unitarity guarantees that the two-body amplitudes of FT2 can be obtained from those of FT1 by setting  $D_1 = C_1 - 1$  and imposing the covariant SSC, while the two-body amplitudes of FT3 can be obtained using the map between the extra Wilson coefficients proposed in the previous subsection.

#### Tree Level

The structure of the two-body amplitude at tree-level and in the classical limit is

$$i\mathcal{M}_{4,\mathrm{cl.}}^{\mathrm{tree}} = (4\pi\alpha)(\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_4)(\mathcal{E}_2 \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_3)\left(\frac{d_{\perp}}{q^2}\right), \qquad (2.3.30)$$

where q is the photon momentum, and the numerator  $d_{\perp}$  is a function of momenta and spin tensors which scales as  $d_{\perp} \sim q^0$  in the classical limit. Our results for FT1g through the quadratic order in spin are as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} d_{\mathbb{I}}\Big|_{\text{spinless}} &= 4iy\bar{m}_{1}\bar{m}_{2}, \\ d_{\mathbb{I}}\Big|_{S_{1}^{1}S_{2}^{0}}^{\text{FT1g}} &= -4\bar{m}_{2}\mathsf{S}_{1\mu\nu}\left(C_{1(1)}\bar{u}_{2}^{\mu}q^{\nu} - D_{1(1)}y\bar{u}_{1}^{\mu}q^{\nu}\right), \\ d_{\mathbb{I}}\Big|_{S_{1}^{1}S_{2}^{1}}^{\text{FT1g}} &= 4iC_{1(1)}C_{1(2)}\mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu}q_{\nu}\mathsf{S}_{2\mu\rho}q^{\rho} \\ &\quad -4i\mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu}q_{\nu}\mathsf{S}_{2}^{\rho\lambda}q_{\lambda}\left(C_{1(1)}D_{1(2)}\bar{u}_{2\mu}\bar{u}_{2\rho} + C_{1(2)}D_{1(1)}\bar{u}_{1\mu}\bar{u}_{1\rho} - D_{1(1)}D_{1(2)}y\bar{u}_{1\mu}\bar{u}_{2\rho}\right), \\ d_{\mathbb{I}}\Big|_{S_{1}^{2}S_{2}^{0}}^{\text{FT1g}} &= \frac{2i\bar{m}_{2}}{\bar{m}_{1}}\left[yC_{2(1)}\mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu}q_{\nu}\mathsf{S}_{1\mu\rho}q^{\rho} - yC_{2(1)}(\mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu}\bar{u}_{1\mu}q_{\nu})^{2} - 2D_{2(1)}\mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu}\bar{u}_{1\mu}q_{\nu}\mathsf{S}_{1}^{\rho\lambda}\bar{u}_{2\rho}q_{\lambda}\right], \end{aligned}$$

where the spinless case agrees with Ref. [246, 5, 191]. The notation  $C_{i(j)}$  and  $D_{i(j)}$  refers to the  $C_i$  and  $D_i$ coefficients associated with body j. If the external states are transverse,  $(\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_4)(\mathcal{E}_2 \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_3) = (\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_4)^s (\varepsilon_2 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_3)^s$ , then the spin tensor obeys the covariant SSC, such that,

$$\begin{aligned} d_{\mathrm{T}} \Big|_{S_{1}^{1}S_{2}^{0}}^{\mathrm{FT1s}} &= d_{\mathrm{T}} \Big|_{S_{1}^{1}S_{2}^{0}}^{\mathrm{FT2}} = d_{\mathrm{T}} \Big|_{S_{1}^{1}S_{2}^{0}}^{\mathrm{FT3s}} = -4C_{1(1)}\bar{m}_{2}S_{1}^{\mu\nu}\bar{u}_{2\mu}q^{\nu} ,\\ d_{\mathrm{T}} \Big|_{S_{1}^{1}S_{2}^{1}}^{\mathrm{FT1s}} &= d_{\mathrm{T}} \Big|_{S_{1}^{1}S_{2}^{1}}^{\mathrm{FT2}} = d_{\mathrm{T}} \Big|_{S_{1}^{1}S_{2}^{1}}^{\mathrm{FT3s}} = 4iC_{1(1)}C_{1(2)}S_{1}^{\mu\nu}q_{\nu}S_{2\mu\rho}q^{\rho} , \end{aligned}$$
(2.3.32)
$$d_{\mathrm{T}} \Big|_{S_{1}^{2}S_{2}^{0}}^{\mathrm{FT1s}} = d_{\mathrm{T}} \Big|_{S_{1}^{2}S_{2}^{0}}^{\mathrm{FT2}} = d_{\mathrm{T}} \Big|_{S_{1}^{2}S_{2}^{0}}^{\mathrm{FT3s}} = \frac{2iC_{2(1)}y\bar{m}_{2}}{\bar{m}_{1}}S_{1}^{\mu\nu}q_{\nu}S_{1\mu\rho}q^{\rho} . \end{aligned}$$

The small velocity expansion of the first two expressions agrees with the results of Ref. [246]. They are related to (2.3.31) through the replacement  $S_i \to S_i$  and  $S_{i\mu\nu}\bar{u}_i^{\nu} = 0$ , which holds to all orders in spin at tree level. We note that, to first order on  $K^i$ , the amplitudes of FT3g can also be obtained from (2.3.31) through the Wilson coefficient map (2.3.6).

In 2.5 we compare observables from the amplitudes  $\mathcal{A}^{\text{FT1g}}$  of FT1 and those from worldline calculations in the absence of an SSC. We find a perfect match both at  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha)$ , which follow from the amplitudes above, and at  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha^2)$  which follow from the one-loop amplitudes we now summarize.

### One Loop

While four-point Compton amplitudes are not relevant for the tree-level two-body scattering, they are an integral part of two-body scattering at one loop. The generalized unitarity method [206, 207, 209] provides a means to construct the classically-relevant parts of the latter in terms of the former. We should therefore expect that the precise intermediate states contributing to Compton amplitudes have observable consequences for the scattering of two matter particles. In particular, we note that intermediate states of spin different from the external spin can be projected out either by using only transverse spin-s fields or by choosing particular values for the extra Wilson coefficients, see (2.3.11). Since before loop integration, the part of the one-loop two-body amplitude that is relevant in the classical limit is literally the product of two Compton amplitudes summed over states, the latter observation must have hold at one loop as well. Thus, we may follow this strategy to compute the one-loop two-body amplitude of FT1g.

The complete one-loop amplitude exhibits classically-singular, classical and quantum terms. The former two are

$$i\mathcal{M}_{4,\text{cl.}}^{(1)} = (4\pi\alpha)^2 \Big[ C_{\text{box}}(I_{\Box} + I_{\overline{\Sigma}}) + i\mathcal{M}_{\Delta + \overline{\nabla}} \Big], \qquad (2.3.33)$$

where the first one, given by the box and crossed-boxed integrals

$$I_{\Box} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d \ell}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{1}{\ell^2 (\ell - q)^2 (2\bar{p}_1 \cdot \ell + i0)(-2\bar{p}_2 \cdot \ell + i0)}$$

$$I_{\Xi} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d \ell}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{1}{\ell^2 (\ell - q)^2 (2\bar{p}_1 \cdot \ell + i0) (2\bar{p}_2 \cdot \ell + i0)}, \qquad (2.3.34)$$

is the classically-singular part, while the second term, containing the triangle integral

$$I_{\Delta} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d \ell}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{1}{\ell^2 (\ell - q)^2 (2\bar{p}_1 \cdot \ell + i0)}, \qquad (2.3.35)$$

is the classical part [96, 14].

The spin-independent part of the amplitude is

$$C_{\text{box}}\Big|_{\text{spinless}} = -(\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_4)(\mathcal{E}_2 \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_3) \left( d_{\mathbb{I}} \Big|_{\text{spinless}} \right)^2,$$
  
$$i\mathcal{M}_{\Delta+\nabla}\Big|_{\text{spinless}} = (\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_4)(\mathcal{E}_2 \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_3) \frac{i(\bar{m}_1 + \bar{m}_2)}{4\sqrt{-q^2}}.$$
 (2.3.36)

As its tree-level counterpart, it agrees with Ref. [191, 251] and it is the same in all three field theories.

The linear in spin part of the classically singular term is

$$C_{\text{box}}\Big|_{S_1^1 S_2^0}^{\text{FT1g}} = -(\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_4)(\mathcal{E}_2 \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_3) \left( d_{\mathbb{T}} \Big|_{\text{spinless}} \times d_{\mathbb{T}} \Big|_{S_1^1 S_2^0}^{\text{FT1g}} \right) , \qquad (2.3.37)$$

As the spin-independent part (2.3.36), it is given by the product of tree-level amplitudes, in agreement with the expected exponential structure of the amplitude in the classical limit [14, 16, 30]. The corresponding expression at higher powers of the spins should be given by the IBP reduction of such products of trees summed over all the possible ways of distributing the spins in the two factors.

The classical part of the one-loop two-body amplitude can be organized in terms of the various possible contractions of spin tensors. As at tree level, we write explicitly the amplitude  $\mathcal{A}^{\text{FT1g}}$  for FT1 and obtain the amplitudes in other theories via  $S \to S$  and other limits on Wilson coefficients. The structure of  $i\mathcal{M}_{\Delta+\nabla}\Big|_{S_1^{n_1}S_2^{n_2}}$  is

$$i\mathcal{M}_{\triangle+\nabla}\Big|_{S_1^{n_1}S_2^{n_2}} = \frac{(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_4)^s (\varepsilon_2 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_3)^s}{4\sqrt{-q^2}} \sum_i \alpha^{(n_1, n_2, i)} \mathcal{O}^{(n_1, n_2, i)};$$
(2.3.38)

through second order in spin, the spin-tensor contractions are  $\mathcal{O}^{(n_1, n_2, i)}$  are:

• Linear in spin:

$$\mathcal{O}^{(1,0,1)} = \mathsf{S}_1^{\mu\nu} \bar{u}_{2\mu} q_\nu, \qquad \mathcal{O}^{(1,0,2)} = \mathsf{S}_1^{\mu\nu} \bar{u}_{1\mu} q_\nu \tag{2.3.39}$$

• Bilinear in spin:

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{O}^{(1,1,1)} &= \mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu} q_{\nu} \mathsf{S}_{2\mu\rho} q^{\rho} \,, \qquad \mathcal{O}^{(1,1,2)} &= \mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu} \bar{u}_{2\nu} \mathsf{S}_{2\mu\rho} \bar{u}_{1}^{\rho} \,, \qquad \mathcal{O}^{(1,1,3)} &= \mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu} \bar{u}_{2\mu} q_{\nu} \mathsf{S}_{2}^{\lambda\sigma} \bar{u}_{1\lambda} q_{\sigma} \,, \\ \mathcal{O}^{(1,1,4)} &= \mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu} \mathsf{S}_{2\mu\nu} \,, \qquad \mathcal{O}^{(1,1,5)} &= \mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu} \bar{u}_{1\nu} \mathsf{S}_{2\mu\rho} \bar{u}_{1}^{\rho} \,, \qquad \mathcal{O}^{(1,1,6)} &= \mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu} \bar{u}_{1\nu} \mathsf{S}_{2\mu\rho} \bar{u}_{2}^{\rho} \,, \\ \mathcal{O}^{(1,1,7)} &= \mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu} \bar{u}_{2\nu} \mathsf{S}_{2\mu\rho} \bar{u}_{2}^{\rho} \,, \qquad \mathcal{O}^{(1,1,8)} &= \mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu} \bar{u}_{1\mu} q_{\nu} \mathsf{S}_{2}^{\lambda\sigma} \bar{u}_{1\lambda} q_{\sigma} \,, \qquad \mathcal{O}^{(1,1,9)} &= \mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu} \bar{u}_{1\mu} q_{\nu} \mathsf{S}_{2}^{\lambda\sigma} \bar{u}_{2\lambda} q_{\sigma} \,, \\ \mathcal{O}^{(1,1,10)} &= \mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu} \bar{u}_{2\mu} q_{\nu} \mathsf{S}_{2}^{\lambda\sigma} \bar{u}_{2\lambda} q_{\sigma} \,, \qquad \mathcal{O}^{(1,1,11)} &= \mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu} \bar{u}_{1\mu} \bar{u}_{2\nu} \mathsf{S}_{2}^{\lambda\sigma} \bar{u}_{1\lambda} \bar{u}_{2\sigma} \,, \end{split}$$

• Quadratic in spin:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{O}^{(2,0,1)} &= \mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu} q_{\nu} \mathsf{S}_{1\mu\rho} q^{\rho} \,, \qquad \mathcal{O}^{(2,0,2)} &= (\mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu} \bar{u}_{2\mu} q_{\nu})^{2} \,, \qquad \mathcal{O}^{(2,0,3)} &= \mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu} \mathsf{S}_{1\mu\nu} \,, \\ \mathcal{O}^{(2,0,4)} &= \mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu} \bar{u}_{1\nu} \mathsf{S}_{1\mu\rho} \bar{u}_{1}^{\rho} \,, \qquad \mathcal{O}^{(2,0,5)} &= \mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu} \bar{u}_{1\nu} \mathsf{S}_{1\mu\rho} \bar{u}_{2}^{\rho} \,, \qquad \mathcal{O}^{(2,0,6)} &= \mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu} \bar{u}_{2\nu} \mathsf{S}_{1\mu\rho} \bar{u}_{2}^{\rho} \,, \quad (2.3.41) \\ \mathcal{O}^{(2,0,7)} &= (\mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu} \bar{u}_{1\mu} q_{\nu})^{2} \,, \qquad \mathcal{O}^{(2,0,8)} &= \mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu} \bar{u}_{1\mu} q_{\nu} \mathsf{S}_{1}^{\lambda\sigma} \bar{u}_{2\lambda} q_{\sigma} \,, \qquad \mathcal{O}^{(2,0,9)} &= (\mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu} \bar{u}_{1\mu} \bar{u}_{2\nu})^{2} \,, \end{aligned}$$

All contractions that contain the covariant SSC constraints,  $S_i^{\mu\nu}\bar{u}_{i\mu}$ , vanish for  $\mathcal{A}^{\text{FT1s}}$ ,  $\mathcal{A}^{\text{FT2}}$  and  $\mathcal{A}^{\text{FT3s}}$ . The coefficients of  $\mathcal{O}^{(n_1,n_2,i)}$  at linear order in spin are:

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha^{(1,0,1)} &= -\frac{y}{(y^2 - 1)\bar{m}_1} \Big[ 2C_{1(1)}\bar{m}_1 + (C_{1(1)}^2 - 2C_{1(1)}D_{1(1)} + D_{1(1)}^2 + 2D_{1(1)})\bar{m}_2 \Big] \,, \\ \alpha^{(1,0,2)} &= \frac{1}{(y^2 - 1)\bar{m}_1} \Big\{ \Big[ (y^2 + 1)C_{1(1)} + (y^2 - 1)D_{1(1)} \Big] \bar{m}_1 \\ &\quad + \Big[ C_{1(1)}^2 - (y^2 + 1)C_{1(1)}D_{1(1)} + y^2 D_{1(1)}^2 + (3y^2 - 1)D_{1(1)} \Big] \bar{m}_2 \Big\} \,. \end{aligned}$$
(2.3.42)

As we reduce  $\mathcal{A}^{\text{FT1g}}$  to  $\mathcal{A}^{\text{FT1s}}$ , the coefficients of the surviving spin structures under the covariant SSC are unchanged. To obtain the amplitude for FT2 we further impose  $D_1 = C_1 - 1$ , which also makes the  $D_2$ dependence vanish up to the quadratic order in spin as in the Compton amplitudes. Similarly, to obtain the amplitudes  $\mathcal{A}^{\text{FT3s}}$  we use the relations (2.3.6) to replace the coefficients  $D_1$  and  $D_2$  by  $\tilde{C}_1$  and  $\tilde{C}_2$  after imposing the covariant SSC. Last but not least, we can also obtain  $\mathcal{A}^{\text{FT3g}}$  up to linear order in K from  $\mathcal{A}^{\text{FT1g}}$ by simply using the relations (2.3.6).

# 2.4 Worldline Theories

What worldline theory can reproduce the field-theory results of the previous sections? In the field theories where multiple spin states propagate, the spin vectors magnitude is no longer conserved so to match this one needs to introduce additional degrees of freedom on the worldline. Because these additional degrees of freedom are constrained by the Lorentz generator algebra, the natural choice is to find these degrees of freedom in the spin tensor itself. In section 2.5, we construct a two-body Hamiltonian that explicitly exhibits these additional dynamical variables. In this section our task is to find a modified worldline that produces the same results as the field theory. We start from a standard worldline construction [226] with the SSC corresponding to WL1, listed in section 2.1. We see that the results we obtain for this theory then match the field theory containing only a single massive quantum spin state [231, 179], which is related to the fact that both necessarily preserve the spin-vector magnitude. To match field-theory results when multiple quantum spin states are present, we introduce additional degrees of freedom on the worldline by releasing the SSC, corresponding to WL2. As in general relativity this has *no physical effect* at first order in the coupling [101], but starting at second order in the coupling, physical differences can appear; in general relativity physical effects start at cubic order in the spin tensor, but in electrodynamics this occurs at linear order.

Specifically, we compute the tree-level Compton amplitude to quadratic order in spin and probe-limit  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha^2)$  two-body impulse and spin kicks to linear order in spin with a scalar source. We do so initially using WL1 with the covariant SSC imposed via a Lagrange multiplier. Then, we switch to WL2 by removing the Lagrange multiplier terms enforcing the SSC constraint. This Compton amplitude of the modified worldline formalism has the same spin tensor dependence as found in the classical limit of the amplitude  $\mathcal{A}^{\rm FT1g}$  of field theory FT1 without a physical state projector limiting it to the states of a single quantum spin. We find that not only do the equations of motion consistently evolve all the degrees of freedom, but that it is possible to match the observables of the modified worldline with the field theory, with a direct correspondence between the Wilson coefficients than the conventional worldline approach in which the SSC is imposed. We emphasize that the match is rather nontrivial.

### 2.4.1 Worldline Action with Dynamical Mass Function

We begin with a brief review of the worldline formalism, following Ref. [226]. The worldline formalism seeks to describe the evolution of a body of matter in terms of its spacetime location and internal degrees of freedom. We refer to the spacetime location of the body "center" in coordinates as  $z^{\mu}(\lambda)$  where  $\lambda$  is a real parameter which parameterizes the worldline, called the worldline time. For now we denote the internal degrees of freedom of the body as  $\phi^a(\lambda)$  where a is an index running over all of those internal degrees of freedom. Below we take these degrees of freedom to track the orientation of the body but for now the particular structure of these degrees of freedom is not important. The body's evolution is described by an action which is reparameterization invariant under monotonic redefinitions of the worldline time  $\lambda' = \lambda'(\lambda)$ . The reparametrization invariance can be imposed directly through the introduction of an einbein field  $\mathbf{e}(\lambda)$ .

$$\mathbf{e}'(\lambda') = \frac{d\lambda}{d\lambda'} \,\mathbf{e}(\lambda)\,,\tag{2.4.1}$$

A generic reparameterization invariant action is then of the form:

$$S[\mathbf{e}, z, \phi] = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathcal{L}\left(z, \frac{\dot{z}}{\mathbf{e}}, \phi, \frac{\dot{\phi}}{\mathbf{e}}\right) \mathbf{e} \, d\lambda \,, \tag{2.4.2}$$

where dots indicate differentiation with respect to  $\lambda$ . Defining the conjugate momenta as usual:

$$p_{\mu} = -\frac{\partial(\mathcal{L}\mathbf{e})}{\partial \dot{z}^{\mu}}, \qquad \pi_a = -\frac{\partial(\mathcal{L}\mathbf{e})}{\partial \dot{\phi}^a}, \qquad (2.4.3)$$

the Hamiltonian form of the action can be written as:

$$S[\mathbf{e}, z, p, \phi, \pi] = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left( -\pi_a \dot{\phi}^a - p_\mu \dot{z}^\mu - \mathbf{e} H(z, p, \phi, \pi) \right) d\lambda \,, \tag{2.4.4}$$

and  $p, \pi$ , and H are reparameterization invariant. It is useful to introduce the notation:

$$|p| = \sqrt{p^{\mu}p_{\mu}}, \qquad \hat{p}^{\mu} = \frac{p^{\mu}}{|p|}.$$
 (2.4.5)

For a free particle, the Hamiltonian H = -|p| + m produces the geodesic equation of motion. In general,  $H = -|p| + m + \delta H(z, p, \phi, \pi)$  for some function  $\delta H$  containing all additional couplings. The on-shell constraint imposed by the einbein's equation of motion is always H = 0, which then determines  $|p| = m + \delta H$ . So, it is useful to introduce the dynamical mass function  $\mathcal{M}(z, \hat{p}, \phi, \pi)$  as the solution for |p| imposed by the einbein equation of motion:  $|p| = \mathcal{M}(z, \hat{p}, \phi, \pi)$ . Then, we can take the Hamiltonian:

$$H(z, p, \phi, \pi) = -|p| + \mathcal{M}(z, \hat{p}, \phi, \pi).$$
(2.4.6)

Note that this is equivalent to taking  $H = p^2 - \mathcal{M}^2$  as in [226], up to a redefinition of the Lagrange multiplier e.

In the context of electrodynamics it is possible to add the minimal coupling through the dynamical mass function but then the conjugate momentum of the body is not gauge invariant. Instead, by taking  $p_{\mu}$  to be the kinetic momentum (the conjugate momentum plus  $QA_{\mu}$ ), we can have  $p_{\mu}$  and consequently  $\mathcal{M}$  be gauge invariant at the cost of shifting  $p_{\mu}\dot{z}^{\mu}$  to  $(p_{\mu} - QA_{\mu})\dot{z}^{\mu}$ . Thus, to couple the worldline particle to electromagnetism it is simplest to use the action:

$$S[\mathbf{e}, z, p, \phi, \pi] = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left( -p_{\mu} \dot{z}^{\mu} + Q A_{\mu} \dot{z}^{\mu} - \pi_{a} \dot{\phi}^{a} + \mathbf{e} \left( \sqrt{p^{\mu} p_{\mu}} - \mathcal{M}(z, \hat{p}, \phi, \pi) \right) \right) d\lambda \,, \tag{2.4.7}$$

with a gauge and reparameterization invariant Lorentz-scalar dynamical mass  $\mathcal{M}$ .

## 2.4.2 Worldline Theory with SSC

### Worldline Spin Degrees of Freedom

The standard worldline formulation incorporates spin in a way reminiscent of rigid bodies in classical mechanics. For a moving body, there is some point defined as the "center" of that body, tracked by the worldline, which moves in spacetime and we assume that other points of the body move along with that center in "quasirigid" motion, as defined in Ref. [252], requiring that the internal structure is essentially unchanged.<sup>17</sup> The orientation of the body is tracked by a tetrad  $e^{\mu}{}_{A}(\lambda)$  that represents the change of internal body displacements undergone during the motion with respect to some arbitrary default frame. Capital Latin indices are used for the body's internal Lorentz indices while lowercase Greek indices are used as spacetime indices. As usual, the tetrad satisfies:

$$e^{\mu}{}_{A}e^{\nu}{}_{B}\eta^{AB} = g^{\mu\nu}, \qquad g_{\mu\nu}e^{\mu}{}_{A}e^{\nu}{}_{B} = \eta_{AB}.$$
 (2.4.8)

Internal body displacements are defined in the body's center of momentum frame, so that  $\hat{p}^{\mu}$  is instantaneously taken as the time direction. Thus by definition we take:

$$e^{\mu}{}_{0} = \hat{p}^{\mu} \,. \tag{2.4.9}$$

Beyond this condition  $e^{\mu}{}_{A}$  may be any tetrad satisfying Eq. (2.4.8). Any such tetrad can be decomposed into (1) a tetrad which is parallel transported along the worldine, then boosted by a standard boost so that its timelike element is boosted to  $\hat{p}^{\mu}$ , and (2) an arbitrary little-group element of  $\hat{p}^{\mu}$ . The three little-group parameters of  $\hat{p}^{\mu}$  can then be taken to be the  $\phi^{a}$  coordinates. The spin angular momentum of the body is the generator of Lorentz transformations of the body orientation about the body center, and so is given by:

$$\mathsf{S}_{\mu\nu} = -\pi_a \left. \frac{d\phi^a}{d\theta^{\mu\nu}} \right|_{\theta=0} \,, \tag{2.4.10}$$

with Lorentz transformation parameters  $\theta^{\mu\nu}$ . A short computation with the above definitions reveals that they enforce the covariant SSC:  $S_{\mu\nu} = 0$  (2.4.11)

$$\mathsf{S}_{\mu\nu}p^{\nu} = 0. \tag{2.4.11}$$

In addition:

$$\frac{1}{2}\mathsf{S}_{\mu\nu}\Omega^{\mu\nu} = \pi_a \dot{\phi}^a \,, \tag{2.4.12}$$

where the angular velocity tensor  $\Omega^{\mu\nu}$  is defined by:

$$\Omega^{\mu\nu} = \eta^{AB} e^{\mu}{}_A \frac{D e^{\nu}{}_B}{D\lambda} \,. \tag{2.4.13}$$

Using the spin tensor and the arbitrariness of the default frame of the body, the action for a spinning body takes the form:

$$S[\mathbf{e},\xi,\chi,z,p,e,\mathsf{S}] = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left( -(p_{\mu} - QA_{\mu})\dot{z}^{\mu} + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{S}_{\mu\nu}\Omega^{\mu\nu} + \mathbf{e}(|p| - \mathcal{M}(z,\hat{p},\mathsf{S})) + \xi_{\mu}\mathsf{S}^{\mu\nu}p_{\nu} + \chi_{\mu}(e^{\mu}_{\ 0} - \hat{p}^{\mu}) \right) d\lambda \,.$$
(2.4.14)

Lagrange multipliers  $\xi_{\mu}$  and  $\chi_{\mu}$  enforce  $\mathsf{S}^{\mu\nu}\hat{p}_{\nu} = 0$  and  $e^{\mu}{}_{0} = \hat{p}^{\mu}$ . This formulation of the action imposes the covariant SSC  $\mathsf{S}_{\mu\nu}p^{\nu} = 0$ , corresponding to the WL1 theory.

 $<sup>^{17}</sup>$ More precisely, quasirigidity is the requirement that the multipole moments of the body's current density and stress tensor evolve only by translating along the worldline and Lorentz transforming according to the orientation tracking tetrad.

One can shift the definition of the worldline  $z^{\mu}$  and in doing so one finds that the definition of the spin changes as does the constraint satisfied by the spin. Thus, one can change to a new SSC through a shift of the worldline. In this formalism, the ability to locally shift the definition of the worldline in this way may be thought of as a gauge transformation [229, 145, 230] and the Lagrange multipliers supplied to enforce the covariant SSC and  $e^{\mu}{}_{0} = \hat{p}^{\mu}$  correspond to a gauge fixing. Because the SSC removes the  $S_{0a}$  components of the spin tensor in the body's center of momentum frame, these timelike components are not physical degrees of freedom. (Even when an SSC other than the covariant SSC is considered, these timelike components are determined by the other degrees of freedom using the appropriate SSC.)

### Equations of Motion with SSC

The variation of Eq. (2.4.14) in Minkowski space gives an electromagnetic version of the Mathisson–Papapetrou–Dixon (MPD) [253, 107, 108] equations:

$$\dot{z}^{\mu} = \hat{p}^{\mu} - \frac{1}{\mathcal{M}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial \hat{p}_{\mu}} + \frac{\hat{p}_{\sigma}}{\mathcal{M}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial \hat{p}_{\sigma}} \hat{p}^{\mu} + \mathsf{S}^{\mu\nu} \frac{\frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial z^{\nu}} - 2\frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial \mathsf{S}^{\nu\rho}} p^{\rho} - QF_{\nu\rho} \left( \hat{p}^{\rho} - \frac{1}{\mathcal{M}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial \hat{p}_{\rho}} + \frac{\hat{p}_{\sigma}}{\mathcal{M}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial \hat{p}_{\sigma}} \hat{p}^{\rho} \right)}{\mathcal{M}^{2} - \frac{Q}{2} \mathsf{S}^{\alpha\beta} F_{\alpha\beta}},$$
  
$$\dot{p}_{\mu} = -QF_{\mu\nu} \dot{z}^{\nu} + \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial z^{\mu}},$$
  
$$\dot{\mathsf{S}}_{\mu\nu} = p_{\mu} \dot{z}_{\nu} - p_{\nu} \dot{z}_{\mu} - 2\mathsf{S}_{\mu}^{\rho} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial \mathsf{S}^{\rho\nu}} + 2\mathsf{S}_{\nu}^{\rho} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial \mathsf{S}^{\rho\mu}} - \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial \hat{p}^{\mu}} \hat{p}_{\nu} + \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial \hat{p}^{\nu}} \hat{p}_{\mu}.$$

$$(2.4.15)$$

In varying to find these equations of motion we find that the equations of motion are consistent with simply taking  $\chi_{\mu} = 0$  and so if  $\hat{p}^{\mu} = e^{\mu}{}_{0}$  is imposed as an initial condition then never adding the  $\chi_{\mu}$  term to the action still preserves this condition for later times.

At linear order in spin the generic symmetry consistent dynamical mass function is:

$$\mathcal{M} = m - \frac{QC_1}{2m} \mathsf{S}^{\mu\nu} F_{\mu\nu} \,, \qquad (2.4.16)$$

for constant free mass m and Wilson coefficient  $C_1$ . With this form of the dynamical mass function, the equations of motion to linear in spin order are:

$$\dot{z}^{\mu} = \left(1 + \frac{QC_1}{2m^2} \mathsf{S}^{\alpha\beta} F_{\alpha\beta}\right) \frac{p^{\mu}}{m} + \frac{Q(C_1 - 1)}{m^3} \mathsf{S}^{\mu\nu} F_{\nu\rho} p^{\rho} + \mathcal{O}(\mathsf{S}^2) ,$$
  
$$\dot{p}_{\mu} = -QF_{\mu\nu} \dot{z}^{\nu} - \frac{QC_1}{2m} \mathsf{S}^{\rho\sigma} \partial_{\mu} F_{\rho\sigma} + \mathcal{O}(\mathsf{S}^2) ,$$
  
$$\dot{\mathsf{S}}_{\mu\nu} = p_{\mu} \dot{z}_{\nu} - p_{\nu} \dot{z}_{\mu} + \frac{QC_1}{m} \left(\mathsf{S}_{\mu\rho} F^{\rho}{}_{\nu} - \mathsf{S}_{\nu\rho} F^{\rho}{}_{\mu}\right) + \mathcal{O}(\mathsf{S}^2) .$$
(2.4.17)

These linear in spin equations of motion depend only on a single Wilson coefficient following from the fact that with the SSC imposed, the only independent linear in spin operator is the one in equation (2.4.16). This is similar to the situation in general relativity where the SSC allows only a single independent Wilson coefficient at the linear in spin level [145]. The appearance of two Wilson coefficients in the field theory (cf. Eqs. (2.2.57), (2.3.8) and (2.3.9)) and one coefficient in the worldline with the SSC imposed is the analog of the similar appearance of a different number of Wilson coefficients in general relativity between the field-theory and worldline descriptions starting at the spin-squared level in the action [101].

# 2.4.3 Worldline Theory with no SSC

In Sect. 2.4.2 we reviewed that an SSC (and particularly the covariant SSC) is natural for the worldline formalism for quasirigid bodies. Here we consider a modified version of the worldline formalism in which we "remove" the SSC. This corresponds to our worldline theory WL2. It explicitly introduces additional physical degrees of freedom into the theory. Remarkably we find that this modified worldline theory cleanly matches the field-theory results of FT1g at 2PL  $\mathcal{O}(S^1)$ , including its extra independent Wilson coefficients. This then allows us to interpret the appearance of extra Wilson coefficients purely on the worldline, tying them to additional dynamical degrees of freedom. A similar construction was described in Ref. [231]. We find that these extra degrees of freedom allow for the magnitude of the spin vector to change.

### Removing the SSC

Consider the worldline action,

$$S[\mathbf{e},\xi,\chi,z,p,e,\mathsf{S}] = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left( -(p_{\mu} - QA_{\mu})\dot{z}^{\mu} + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{S}_{\mu\nu}\Omega^{\mu\nu} + \mathbf{e}(|p| - \mathcal{M}(z,\hat{p},\mathsf{S})) \right) d\lambda , \qquad (2.4.18)$$

which is identical to equation (2.4.14), except that the Lagrange multiplier terms that enforce the SSC are dropped. By not including these, the interdependence between the definition of the body center degrees of freedom (z, p) and the body orientation degrees of freedom (e, S) is removed. As already noted, in equation (2.4.14) the SSC implies that the  $S_{0a}$  components of the spin tensor are not independent physical degrees of freedom. In contrast, in equation (2.4.18) with no SSC imposed we are explicitly promoting these timelike components to be treated as physical. As we shall see, this does not lead to inconsistencies in the equations of motion, but instead adds dynamical degrees of freedom.

The variation of Eq. (2.4.18) with no SSC imposed results in equations of motion,

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{z}^{\mu} &= \hat{p}^{\mu} - \frac{1}{\mathcal{M}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial \hat{p}_{\mu}} + \frac{\hat{p}_{\sigma}}{\mathcal{M}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial \hat{p}_{\sigma}} \hat{p}^{\mu} ,\\ \dot{p}_{\mu} &= -qF_{\mu\nu} \dot{z}^{\nu} + \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial z^{\mu}} ,\\ \dot{S}_{\mu\nu} &= p_{\mu} \dot{z}_{\nu} - p_{\nu} \dot{z}_{\mu} - 2S_{\mu}^{\rho} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial S^{\rho\nu}} + 2S_{\nu}^{\rho} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial S^{\rho\mu}} - \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial \hat{p}^{\mu}} \hat{p}_{\nu} + \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial \hat{p}^{\nu}} \hat{p}_{\mu} . \end{aligned}$$
(2.4.19)

Comparing to Eq. (2.4.15) we see that only the equation of motion for the worldline trajectory  $z^{\mu}$  differs from the case with the SSC imposed. Moreover, the absence of the SSC Lagrange multiplier term results in this equation being simpler. At linear order in spin the generic symmetry consistent dynamical mass function is:

$$\mathcal{M} = m - \frac{QC_1}{2m} \mathsf{S}^{\mu\nu} F_{\mu\nu} - \frac{QD_1}{m} \hat{p}_{\mu} \mathsf{S}^{\mu\nu} F_{\nu\rho} \hat{p}^{\rho} , \qquad (2.4.20)$$

for constants  $m, C_1, D_1$ . In this case, instead of the single Wilson coefficient  $C_1$  we have the additional coefficient  $D_1$  analogous to the appearance of a second coefficient in the field theory FT2. To give a physical meaning to  $D_1$  it is useful to define the spin vector  $S^{\mu}$  and mass moment vector  $K^{\mu}$ :

$$S^{\mu} = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \hat{p}_{\nu} \mathsf{S}_{\rho\sigma} , \qquad \qquad K^{\mu} = -\mathsf{S}^{\mu\nu} \hat{p}_{\nu} , \qquad (2.4.21)$$

where  $\epsilon_{0123} = +1$ . The boost vector  $K^{\mu}$  is precisely what is eliminated when the covariant SSC is imposed, or equivalently what is algebraically constrained when a different SSC is used. The complete information in the spin tensor is recovered from these two vectors by:

$$S^{\mu\nu} = \hat{p}^{\mu}K^{\nu} - K^{\mu}\hat{p}^{\nu} + \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}\hat{p}_{\rho}S_{\sigma}. \qquad (2.4.22)$$

Directly,  $K^{\mu}$  is the generator of "intrinsic" Lorentz boosts (where by "intrinsic" we mean acting only on the internal degrees of freedom). As well,  $-\frac{K^{\mu}}{|p|}$  can be interpreted as the displacement between the actual worldline  $z^{\mu}(\lambda)$  being used and the worldline  $z^{\mu}_{COM}(\lambda)$  that would trace out the center of mass of the body. To see this, look at the total angular momentum  $J^{\mu\nu}$ :

$$J^{\mu\nu} = z^{\mu}p^{\nu} - p^{\mu}z^{\nu} + \mathsf{S}^{\mu\nu} = \left(z^{\mu} - \frac{K^{\mu}}{|p|}\right)p^{\nu} - p^{\mu}\left(z^{\nu} - \frac{K^{\nu}}{|p|}\right) + \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}\hat{p}_{\rho}S_{\sigma}.$$
 (2.4.23)

We can see that if the definition of the worldline is shifted by  $-\frac{K^{\mu}}{|p|}$  to a new worldline  $z'^{\mu} = z^{\mu} - \frac{K^{\mu}}{|p|}$  then the resulting new spin tensor  $S^{\mu\nu}$  would satisfy the covariant SSC. In the conventional worldline formalism this is considered as an allowed redefinition which should lead to a physically equivalent theory (in that whether the spin and coupling expansions are performed about one or the other should not affect observables). Here we do not require it to be so.

In the previous discussion, the bodies were treated as point-like. It is useful to remind ourselves of the meaning  $\mathbf{K}$  in the context of classical extended bodies. A familiar analysis of the spin vector can allow further insight into the meaning of  $K^{\mu}$ . Let **J** be the generator of rotations about the origin (not body centered) acting on a matter distribution with energy density  $\mathcal{E}(\mathbf{x})$  and linear momentum density  $\boldsymbol{\wp}(\mathbf{x})$  in a region V of space, J

$$\mathbf{J} = \int_{V} \mathbf{x} \times \boldsymbol{\wp}(\mathbf{x}) d^{3} \mathbf{x}.$$
 (2.4.24)

When the center of the body is identified with the point  $\mathbf{z}$ , the orbital generator of Lorentz boosts is of course,

$$\mathbf{L} = \mathbf{z} \times \mathbf{p}.\tag{2.4.25}$$

Thus, the "intrinsic" generator of rotations (the spin) of the body is given by a familiar formula,

$$\mathbf{S} = \mathbf{J} - \mathbf{L} = \int_{V} (\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{z}) \times \boldsymbol{\wp}(\mathbf{x}) d^{3} \mathbf{x}.$$
 (2.4.26)

Now performing the same analysis for the generator of Lorentz boosts, let  $\mathbf{K}_{\text{total}}$  be the generator of Lorentz boosts about the origin acting on the matter distribution,

$$\mathbf{K}_{\text{total}} = \int_{V} (t\boldsymbol{\wp}(\mathbf{x}) - \mathbf{x}\mathcal{E}(\mathbf{x})) d^{3}\mathbf{x}.$$
(2.4.27)

The "orbital" generator of Lorentz boosts is then,

$$\mathbf{K}_{\text{orbital}} = \mathbf{p}t - \mathbf{E}\mathbf{z} \tag{2.4.28}$$

where E and **p** are the total energy and momentum of the body. Thus, the "intrinsic" generator of Lorentz boosts of the body is:  $\mathbf{K} = \mathbf{K}_{\text{cons}} = \mathbf{K}_{\text{cons}} = \mathbf{F}\mathbf{g} = \int \mathbf{x} \mathcal{E}(\mathbf{x}) d^3 \mathbf{x} \qquad (2.4.20)$ 

$$\mathbf{K} = \mathbf{K}_{\text{total}} - \mathbf{K}_{\text{orbital}} = \mathbf{E}\mathbf{z} - \int_{V} \mathbf{x}\mathcal{E}(\mathbf{x})d^{3}\mathbf{x}$$
(2.4.29)

Let  $\mathbf{z}_{\text{COM}}$  be the center of momentum position of the body in the center of momentum frame (E = |p|). Then, automatically:  $\mathbf{z}_{\text{COM}} = \frac{1}{2} \int \mathbf{w} \mathbf{c}(\mathbf{w}) d^3 \mathbf{w} \implies \mathbf{z}_{\text{COM}} = \mathbf{z}_{\text{COM}} \mathbf{K}$  (2.4.20)

$$\mathbf{z}_{\text{COM}} = \frac{1}{E} \int_{V} \mathbf{x} \mathcal{E}(\mathbf{x}) d^{3} \mathbf{x} \implies \mathbf{z}_{\text{COM}} = \mathbf{z} - \frac{\mathbf{K}}{|p|}.$$
 (2.4.30)

This precisely establishes the interpretation of  $-\frac{K^{\mu}}{|p|}$  as a displacement between the worldline around which the spin and coupling expansions are performed and the worldline which tracks the center of mass of the body.

Note that we use a different convention in this section compared to section 2.2. In particular, the worldline **K** and the field-theory **K** are related by an analytic continuation,  $i\mathbf{K} \mapsto \mathbf{K}$  with both **K** and **K** being real, while the rest-frame spin vectors are simply equal,  $\mathbf{S} \leftrightarrow \mathbf{S}$ . We comment further in section 2.5.8 on the rationale behind this analytic continuation.

Writing  $K^{\mu}$  as a spatial integral moment of the energy-momentum tensor as above identifies it as a mass dipole moment of the body about the worldine position  $z^{\mu}$ . This identification can be made directly from Dixon's formalism [253]. For a body with a charge density proportional to its mass density then  $-\frac{Q}{|p|}K^{\mu}$ would be the electric dipole moment of the body. However, for a generic object it is not necessarily the case that these densities are proportional and so we need not assume that the electric dipole moment is  $-\frac{Q}{|p|}K^{\mu}$ . In particular, in the body's center of momentum frame its energy is simply its dynamical mass function minus  $QA_0$  and in that frame (2.4.20) becomes:

$$\mathcal{M} = m + \frac{Q(C_1 - D_1)}{m} \mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{K} - \frac{QC_1}{m} \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{S} + \mathcal{O}(F^2).$$
(2.4.31)

Thus the induced electric dipole moment **d** and magnetic dipole moment  $\boldsymbol{\mu}$  relative to the worldline center **z**:  $\mathbf{d} = -\frac{Q(C_1 - D_1)}{m} \mathbf{K}, \qquad \boldsymbol{\mu} = \frac{QC_1}{m} \mathbf{S}. \qquad (2.4.32)$  Immediately,  $2C_1$  is the gyromagnetic ratio of the body (which should take the value 1 for a classical distribution of mass and charge which are proportional). For a distribution in which mass and charge are proportional,  $C_1 - D_1 = 1$ . Here we consider the possibility that it takes a generic value different from 1. The value of  $C_1 - D_1 = 1$  is explicitly required by a worldline formalism which is assumed to have worldline shift symmetry [229, 145, 230] because the definition of the electric dipole moment immediately implies a shift of the dipole moment by  $-\frac{Q}{|p|}K^{\mu}$  whenever the worldline is shifted by  $-\frac{K^{\mu}}{|p|}$ . Thus,  $C_1 - D_1 \neq 1$  breaks the worldline shift symmetry.

Of course, to have a proper description of extended bodies that fits into the WL2 framework one should understand the constraints on the energy and momentum distributions arising from the Lorentz algebra. It would also be very interesting to directly connect extended objects with appropriate distributions of energy and momentum to the extra Wilson coefficient of WL2.

### Equations of Motion with no SSC

With the dynamical mass function (2.4.20) we find equations of motion in WL2 to linear order in spin:

$$\dot{z}^{\mu} = \frac{p^{\mu}}{m} \left( 1 + \frac{QC_{1}}{2m^{2}} \mathsf{S}^{\rho\sigma} F_{\rho\sigma} - \frac{QD_{1}}{m^{4}} p_{\nu} \mathsf{S}^{\nu\rho} F_{\rho\sigma} p^{\sigma} \right) + \frac{QD_{1}}{m^{3}} p^{\rho} \mathsf{S}_{\rho\sigma} F^{\sigma\mu} + \frac{QD_{1}}{m^{3}} \mathsf{S}^{\mu\nu} F_{\nu\rho} p^{\rho} + \mathcal{O}(\mathsf{S}^{2}) ,$$
  
$$\dot{p}_{\mu} = -QF_{\mu\nu} \dot{z}^{\nu} - \frac{QC_{1}}{2m} \mathsf{S}^{\rho\sigma} \partial_{\mu} F_{\rho\sigma} - \frac{QD_{1}}{m^{3}} p_{\rho} \mathsf{S}^{\rho\sigma} \partial_{\mu} F_{\sigma\alpha} p^{\alpha} + \mathcal{O}(\mathsf{S}^{2})$$
  
$$\dot{\mathsf{S}}^{\mu\nu} = -\frac{QC_{1}}{m} \left( F^{\mu}{}_{\rho} \mathsf{S}^{\rho\nu} - F^{\nu}{}_{\rho} \mathsf{S}^{\rho\mu} \right) - \frac{QD_{1}}{m^{3}} \left( F^{\mu\rho} p_{\rho} \mathsf{S}^{\nu\sigma} p_{\sigma} - F^{\nu\rho} p_{\rho} \mathsf{S}^{\mu\sigma} p_{\sigma} \right)$$
  
$$+ \frac{QD_{1}}{m^{3}} \left( p^{\mu} \mathsf{S}^{\nu\rho} F_{\rho\sigma} p^{\sigma} - p^{\nu} \mathsf{S}^{\mu\rho} F_{\rho\sigma} p^{\sigma} \right) + \mathcal{O}(\mathsf{S}^{2}).$$
(2.4.33)

If one begins the time evolution with initial conditions satisfying the covariant SSC and  $C_1 - D_1 = 1$ , the covariant SSC is preserved dynamically.  $C_1 - D_1 \neq 1$  produces violations of the covariant SSC. In light of this, notice that if  $C_1 - D_1$  is set to 1 in (2.4.33) and covariant SSC satisfying initial conditions are chosen, then the equations of motion (2.4.33) reduce to the equations of motion (2.4.17). Consequently, this modified worldline formalism is strictly more general than the conventional WL1 as it contains the WL1 as a special case when appropriate initial conditions and Wilson coefficient values are selected. In order to "turn on" the SSC and reduce to the conventional worldline formalism we can set  $D_1$  to the special value  $D_1 = C_1 - 1$  at any stage of calculation and use initial conditions satisfying the covariant SSC.

#### Worldline Compton Amplitude

Using the WL2 equations of motion we compute the classical Compton amplitude to order  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha S^2)$  for general values of  $C_1, D_1$  The classical Compton is computed by computing the coefficient of the outgoing spherical electromagnetic wave produced by the response of the spinning body to in an incoming electromagnetic plane wave as in Appendix D of [5] or as is done for gravity in [247]. In particular, we consider an incoming plane wave vector potential in Lorenz gauge,

$$A^{\rm in}_{\mu}(X) = e^{ik \cdot x} \xi_{\mu} \tag{2.4.34}$$

and the response of a spinning particle to this potential using the equations of motion of WL2. The  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha)$  perturbative solutions can be returned to the current,

$$J^{\mu}(X) = \frac{\delta S}{\delta A_{\mu}}$$

$$= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left( Q \dot{z}^{\mu} \delta(X - Z) + \frac{\mathsf{e}Q}{m} \left( C_1 \mathsf{S}^{\mu\nu} + D_1 \left( \hat{p}^{\mu} \mathsf{S}^{\mu\rho} \hat{p}_{\rho} - \mathsf{S}^{\mu\rho} \hat{p}_{\rho} \hat{p}^{\nu} \right) \right) \partial_{\nu} \delta(X - Z) \right) d\lambda.$$
(2.4.35)

Then, treating that current as a source we compute the perturbation of the vector potential. The large distance behavior of the perturbed vector potential allows one to read off the Compton amplitude  $\mathcal{A}^{\mu\nu}$  by:

$$A^{\mu}(X) = e^{ik \cdot x} \xi^{\mu} + \frac{e^{ikr - i\omega t}}{4\pi r} \mathcal{A}^{\nu\mu} \xi_{\nu} + O(\frac{1}{r^2}).$$
(2.4.36)

The Compton amplitude can then be extracted directly from the current by using the Lorenz gauge solution to the wave equation at large distances. Doing so one finds:

$$\widetilde{J}^{\mu} = 2\pi \mathcal{A}^{\nu\mu} \xi_{\nu} \tag{2.4.37}$$

where  $\tilde{J}^{\mu}$  is the Fourier transform of the current evaluated at the outgoing photon momentum.

Using the current computed from the worldline equations of motion, the resulting classical Compton amplitude is found to fully agree with the  $\mathcal{A}^{\rm FT1g}$  Compton amplitude in (2.3.7), (2.3.9), (2.3.20) (with the S<sup>2</sup> terms matching up to contact terms, which we did not explicitly include either on the field theory or in the worldline theory).

### Worldline Impulses

For computing observables with these equations of motion we consider the probe limit of a spinning particle of mass m scattering off of a stationary scalar source. For simplicity, we consider only the probe limit; even so, the result is sufficiently complex to demonstrate a rather nontrivial comparison with the field-theory calculations. The source – a point charge moving with four-velocity  $u_2$  – has vector potential,

$$A_{\mu}(x) = \frac{Qu_{2\mu}}{4\pi\sqrt{(x\cdot u_2)^2 - x\cdot x}}.$$
(2.4.38)

The solutions to the equations of motion of the probe in powers of  $\alpha = Q^2/(4\pi)$  are of the form:

$$z^{\mu}(\lambda) = b^{\mu} + u_{1}^{\mu}\lambda + \alpha\delta z_{(1)}^{\mu}(\lambda) + \alpha^{2}\delta z_{(2)}^{\mu}(\lambda) + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^{3})$$
(2.4.39)

$$p^{\mu}(\lambda) = m u_1^{\mu} + \alpha \delta p_{(1)}^{\mu}(\lambda) + \alpha^2 \delta p_{(2)}^{\mu}(\lambda) + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^3)$$
(2.4.40)

$$\mathsf{S}^{\mu\nu}(\lambda) = \mathsf{S}^{\mu\nu}_{1} + \alpha \delta \mathsf{S}^{\mu\nu}_{(1)}(\lambda) + \alpha^{2} \delta \mathsf{S}^{\mu\nu}_{(2)} + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^{3}).$$
(2.4.41)

The impact parameter  $b^{\mu}$  is defined to be transverse on the initial momentum,  $b \cdot p_1 = 0$ . The initial momentum  $mu_1^{\mu}$  defines the initial four-velocity  $u_1^{\mu}$ . All perturbations of  $p^{\mu}$  and  $S^{\mu\nu}$  asymptotically vanish for  $\lambda \to \pm \infty$  while the trajectory perturbations are logarithmically divergent with the worldline time due to the long range nature of the Coulomb potential. Due to this logarithmic divergence, in order to treat the  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha^2)$  and higher solutions correctly, all the perturbations may be set to 0 at an initial cutoff time  $\lambda = -T$ . Impulse observables are then computed by taking the difference in observables at time T and -T and at the end taking the limit  $T \to \infty$ . Equivalently, the perturbations may be given representations in terms of standard Feynman integrals and computed using dimensional regularization, such as in Ref. [26].

Computing the momentum impulse and spin kick to  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha^2)$  and  $\mathcal{O}(S^1)$  in this way gives a perfect match to the corresponding observables obtained from  $\mathcal{A}^{\text{FT1g}}$  when the worldline Wilson coefficients  $C_1$  and  $D_1$  are identified with their field-theory counterparts, as detailed in Sec. 2.5.7 below. The results of WL1 can be recovered from the more general results of WL2 by setting the special value  $D_1 = C_1 - 1$ . To express the impulses, it is useful to define:

$$\gamma = u_1 \cdot u_2, \qquad v = \frac{\sqrt{\gamma^2 - 1}}{\gamma}, \qquad (2.4.42)$$

$$\check{u}_{1}^{\mu} = u_{1}^{\mu} - \gamma u_{2}^{\mu}, \qquad \check{u}_{2}^{\mu} = u_{2}^{\mu} - \gamma u_{1}^{\mu}, \qquad (2.4.43)$$

and to decompose the impulses according to:

$$\Delta p_{1}^{\mu} = \alpha \Delta p_{1(\alpha^{1})}^{\mu} + \alpha^{2} \Delta p_{1(\alpha^{2})}^{\mu} + \mathcal{O}(\mathsf{S}_{1}^{2}) + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^{3}), \qquad (2.4.44)$$
$$\Delta \mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu} = \alpha \Delta \mathsf{S}_{1(\alpha^{1})}^{\mu\nu} + \alpha^{2} \Delta \mathsf{S}_{1(\alpha^{2})}^{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{O}(\mathsf{S}_{1}^{2}) + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^{3}).$$

Then at order  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha)$  and with the notation  $|b| = \sqrt{-b^{\mu}b_{\mu}}$ , we find the impulse

$$\Delta p_{1(\alpha^{1})}^{\mu} = \frac{2b^{\mu}}{v|b|^{2}} + \frac{2}{m_{1}\gamma v|b|^{2}} \left( 2\frac{b^{\mu}b^{\nu}}{|b|^{2}} \mathsf{S}_{1\nu\rho} + \mathsf{S}_{1}{}^{\mu}{}_{\rho} \right) \left( D_{1}\gamma u_{1}^{\rho} - C_{1}u_{2}^{\rho} \right)$$

$$- \frac{2\mathsf{S}_{1\nu\rho}u_{1}^{\nu}u_{2}^{\rho}}{m_{1}\gamma^{3}v^{3}|b|^{2}} \left[ (C_{1} - D_{1}\gamma^{2})u_{1}^{\mu} + (D_{1} - C_{1})\gamma u_{2}^{\mu} \right]$$

$$(2.4.45)$$

and the spin kick

$$\Delta \mathsf{S}_{1(\alpha^{1})}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{4}{m_{1}\gamma v |b|^{2}} \Big( \mathsf{S}_{1}{}^{[\mu}{}_{\sigma}\delta^{\nu]}{}_{\rho}b^{\sigma} - \mathsf{S}_{1}{}^{[\mu}{}_{\rho}b^{\nu]} \Big) \Big( D_{1}\gamma u_{1}^{\rho} - C_{1}u_{2}^{\rho} \Big).$$
(2.4.46)

At order  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha^2)$ , we find the impulse,

$$\begin{split} \Delta p_{1(\alpha^{2})}^{\mu} &= -\frac{\pi b^{\mu}}{2m_{1}\gamma v|b|^{3}} - \frac{2\tilde{u}_{1}^{\mu}}{m_{1}\gamma^{2}v^{4}|b|^{2}} \\ &+ \pi \frac{3b^{\mu}b^{\nu}\mathsf{S}_{1\nu\rho} + |b|^{2}\mathsf{S}_{1}{}^{\mu}{}_{\rho}}{2m_{1}^{2}\gamma^{3}v^{3}|b|^{5}} \left[ (C_{1}^{2} - C_{1}D_{1} - D_{1})\check{u}_{1}^{\rho} + D_{1}(C_{1} - D_{1} - 3)\gamma\check{u}_{2}^{\rho} \right] \\ &+ 2\frac{C_{1}^{2} - D_{1}(2C_{1} - D_{1} - 2)\gamma^{2}}{m_{1}^{2}\gamma^{2}v^{2}|b|^{4}} b^{\nu}\mathsf{S}_{1\nu\rho} \left[ \eta^{\rho\mu} + \frac{\check{u}_{1}^{\rho}u_{1}^{\mu} + \check{u}_{2}^{\rho}u_{2}^{\mu}}{\gamma^{2}v^{2}} \right] \end{split}$$
(2.4.47)

$$-4\frac{b^{\nu}\mathsf{S}_{1\nu\rho}}{m_{1}^{2}\gamma^{6}v^{6}|b|^{4}}\Big[(D_{1}-C_{1})\gamma^{2}\check{u}_{2}^{\rho}\check{u}_{1}^{\mu}+(D_{1}\gamma^{2}-C_{1})\check{u}_{1}^{\rho}\check{u}_{2}^{\mu}\Big]$$
  
+
$$\pi\frac{\mathsf{S}_{1\nu\rho}\check{u}_{1}^{\nu}\check{u}_{2}^{\rho}}{2m_{1}^{2}\gamma^{7}v^{7}|b|^{3}}\Big\{\big[(C_{1}-D_{1})^{2}+2D_{1}\big]\gamma\check{u}_{1}^{\mu}$$
  
+
$$\big[C_{1}^{2}-C_{1}D_{1}-D_{1}-D_{1}(C_{1}-D_{1}-3)\gamma\big]\check{u}_{2}^{\mu}\Big\}$$

and the spin kick,

$$\begin{split} \Delta \mathsf{S}_{1(\alpha^{2})}^{\mu\nu} &= \frac{\pi}{m_{1}^{2}\gamma^{3}v^{3}|b|^{3}} \bigg[ (C_{1}^{2} - C_{1}D_{1} - D_{1}) \Big( b^{[\mu}\mathsf{S}_{1\rho}{}^{\nu]}\check{u}_{1}^{\rho} - \check{u}_{1}^{[\mu}\mathsf{S}_{1\rho}{}^{\nu]}b^{\rho} \Big) \\ &+ D_{1}(C_{1} - D_{1} - 3)\gamma \Big( b^{[\mu}\mathsf{S}_{1\rho}{}^{\nu]}\check{u}_{2}^{\rho} - \check{u}_{2}^{[\mu}\mathsf{S}_{1\rho}{}^{\nu]}b^{\rho} \Big) \bigg] \\ &+ \frac{4}{m_{1}^{2}\gamma^{2}v^{2}|b|^{4}} \bigg\{ 2 \Big( C_{1}b^{[\mu}u_{2}^{\nu]} - D_{1}\gamma b^{[\mu}u_{1}^{\nu]} \Big) b^{\rho}\mathsf{S}_{1\rho\sigma} \Big( C_{1}u_{2}^{\sigma} - D_{1}\gamma u_{1}^{\sigma} \Big) \\ &- \Big[ C_{1}^{2} - D_{1}(2C_{1} - D_{1})\gamma^{2} \Big] b^{[\mu}\mathsf{S}_{1\rho}{}^{\nu]}b^{\rho} \bigg\} \\ &+ \frac{4}{m_{1}^{2}\gamma^{6}v^{6}|b|^{2}} \bigg\{ (C_{1} - D_{1})^{2}\gamma^{2}\check{u}_{1}^{[\mu}\mathsf{S}_{1\rho}{}^{\nu]}\check{u}_{1}^{\rho} + (C_{1} - D_{1}\gamma^{2})^{2}\check{u}_{2}^{[\mu}\mathsf{S}_{1\rho}{}^{\nu]}\check{u}_{2}^{\rho} \\ &+ (C_{1} - D_{1}\gamma^{2})\gamma \Big[ (C_{1} - D_{1} - 1)\check{u}_{2}^{[\mu}\mathsf{S}_{1\rho}{}^{\nu]}\check{u}_{1}^{\rho} + (C_{1} - D_{1} + 1)\check{u}_{1}^{[\mu}\mathsf{S}_{1\rho}{}^{\nu]}\check{u}_{2}^{\rho} \bigg] \bigg\}. \end{split}$$

The nontrivial nature of the above results give us confidence that we have indeed identified a worldline model whose results match those of the field theory. It would of course be useful to carry out further comparisons to field theory, not only beyond the probe limit but also more importantly to higher orders in the spin, especially for the case of general relativity. Given the rather different setups, a direct proof that the field-theory and worldline descriptions will always yield equivalent results appears nontrivial.

# 2.5 Effective Hamiltonian Including Lower-Spin States

Refs. [59, 44, 61, 101] extend the spinless Hamiltonian of Ref. [14] to the case of spinning bodies. This corresponds to the two-body effective description EFT1, which is composed of the collection of all independent operators containing up to a given power of spin, each with arbitrary coefficients determined by matching to either field-theory or worldline results. Here we explicitly consider operators up to linear in spin. We also construct a second EFT Hamiltonian, referred to as EFT2, extending the degrees of freedom of  $S^{\mu\nu}$  to include the intrinsic boost,  $K^{\mu}$ . Interpreting the Hamiltonians as quantum operators allows us to obtain scattering amplitudes, which we then match to the quantum-field-theory amplitudes found in section 2.3.3. This determines the coefficients in the Hamiltonians. A suitable expectation value of the Hamiltonian operators are then reinterpreted as classical Hamiltonians. The corresponding equations of motion can be solved to give the impulse, spin and boost kick along a scattering trajectory, which we then compare to the corresponding observables obtained from the worldlines WL1 and WL2, described in section 2.4. We find that the extra Wilson coefficients that appear in WL2, FT1g and FT3g are naturally accounted for in EFT2. Finally, we find a compact eikonal formula [67, 254, 255, 70], extending the spin results of Ref. [59] to account for the appearance of the intrinsic boost operator, that matches the results obtained from the equations of motion and worldline. Eikonal representations are automatically compact because they encode the physical information in a single scalar function.

# 2.5.1 Hamiltonian 1: Solely Spinning Degrees of Freedom

We consider an effective description of the binary containing only spin degrees of freedom, which leads to equations of motion that preserve the magnitude of the spin vector. We refer to this effective description as EFT1. This is the same treatment as the one of Refs. [59, 61, 101] except that here we consider electrodynamics instead of general relativity. We briefly describe this Hamiltonian and then proceed with a more extensive description of a modified Hamiltonian which contains a boost operator and allows for spin-magnitude change.

EFT1 contains the usual spin-vector degrees of freedom, along with the usual commutation or Poissonbracket relations for spin. In terms of the quantum-mechanical states that describe the bodies, this construction implies that we may take them to belong to a single irreducible representation of the rotation group. In particular, we choose the asymptotic scattering states to be spin coherent states [245], which are labeled by an integer s and a direction given by a unit vector  $\hat{n}$  [59], as in the field-theory discussion in Sec. 2.2. To build the most generic Hamiltonian that accommodates these spin degrees of freedom, we need only consider the spin operator  $\hat{\mathbf{S}}$ . This is in accordance with the classical description of these particles, where one describes such a spinning object in terms of the spin three-vector  $\mathbf{S}$ .<sup>18</sup>

For simplicity, here we limit the discussion to a Hamiltonian for one scalar and one spinning particle valid to linear order in spin. This center-of-mass (CoM) Hamiltonian is given by (see Ref. [59] for the corresponding one in general relativity),

$$\mathcal{H}_{1} = \sqrt{\boldsymbol{p}^{2} + m_{1}^{2}} + \sqrt{\boldsymbol{p}^{2} + m_{2}^{2}} + V^{(0)}(\boldsymbol{r}^{2}, \boldsymbol{p}^{2}) + V^{(1)}(\boldsymbol{r}^{2}, \boldsymbol{p}^{2}) \frac{\boldsymbol{L} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{1}}{\boldsymbol{r}^{2}}, \qquad (2.5.1)$$

where the potentials are

$$V^{(a)}(\mathbf{r}^{2}, \mathbf{p}^{2}) = \frac{\alpha}{|\mathbf{r}|} c_{1}^{(a)}(\mathbf{p}^{2}) + \left(\frac{\alpha}{|\mathbf{r}|}\right)^{2} c_{2}^{(a)}(\mathbf{p}^{2}) + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^{3}), \qquad (2.5.2)$$

and we have taken the particle 1 to carry spin  $\mathbf{S}_1$ , with the binary system carrying angular momentum  $\mathbf{L} = \mathbf{r} \times \mathbf{p}$ . For these operators we have the commutation relations,

$$[\hat{S}_{1,i}, \hat{S}_{1,j}] = i\epsilon_{ijk}\hat{S}_{1,k}, \qquad [r_i, \hat{S}_{1,j}] = [p_i, \hat{S}_{1,j}] = 0, \qquad [r_i, p_j] = i\delta_{ij}.$$
(2.5.3)

For any operator that is a function solely of  $r, p, \hat{\mathbf{S}}_1$  the spin magnitude is preserved, since all such operators

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>For compactness, for r and p we do not distinguish a quantum operator from the corresponding classical value by using a different symbol, as in Refs. [59, 61].
commute with the spin Casimir, i.e.,

$$[\hat{\mathbf{S}}_{1}^{2}, \mathcal{O}] = 0, \qquad \qquad \mathcal{O} = \{ \boldsymbol{r}, \, \boldsymbol{p}, \, \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{1} \}.$$
 (2.5.4)

Similarly, at the level of the classical equations of motion the above implies that the spin magnitude is a conserved quantity. Further details may be found in Ref. [59].

#### 2.5.2 Hamiltonian 2: Inclusion of Boost Operator

In this subsection we expand the degrees of freedom so that we are able to properly describe the field theories and worldline theories that also contain additional degrees of freedom, allowing the spin magnitudes to vary by their interaction with the electromagnetic field. To this end, inspired by the worldline construction in section 2.4.3, we extend the above Hamiltonian to include the generator of intrinsic boosts  $\hat{\mathbf{K}}$ . We start by motivating this choice. We proceed to describe how does one build the most general two-body Hamiltonian out of the available operators for the problem at hand. Finally, as an explicitly illustration, we build the Hamiltonian linear in the spin and boost of one of the particles.

In order to have a Hamiltonian whose amplitudes match those of FT1g and FT3 we are prompted to consider additional operators. The natural choice is operators built out of the vector  $\mathbf{K}_1$ , already encountered in Eq. (2.4.23). The operator  $\hat{\mathbf{K}}_1$  should act on the intrinsic degrees of freedom of the body, hence it commutes with both  $\boldsymbol{r}$  and  $\boldsymbol{p}$ . Accordingly, the commutation relations are,

$$[\hat{S}_{1,i}, \hat{K}_{1,j}] = i\epsilon_{ijk}\hat{K}_{1,k}, \qquad [r_i, \hat{K}_{1,j}] = [p_i, \hat{K}_{1,j}] = 0.$$
(2.5.5)

where the first relation simply implies that  $\hat{\mathbf{K}}_1$  is a vector operator. To fully characterize the operator  $\hat{\mathbf{K}}_1$  we need to specify the commutation relations with itself. Motivated by the connection to the worldline we take:

$$[\hat{K}_{1,i}, \hat{K}_{1,j}] = -i\epsilon_{ijk}\hat{S}_{1,k}, \qquad (2.5.6)$$

which identifies  $\hat{\mathbf{K}}_1$  with the generator of intrinsic boosts. The operator algebra is completed by the commutators familiar from the case without the  $\hat{\mathbf{K}}_1$  operator given in Eq. (2.5.3).

Alternatively, the introduction of  $\hat{\mathbf{K}}_1$  may be motivated by the requirement that the spin magnitude should change under time evolution via the constructed Hamiltonian. In the quantum-mechanical language, this requires an operator that does not commute with  $\hat{\mathbf{S}}_1^2$ . It follows that it must also not commute with  $\hat{\mathbf{S}}_1$ , i.e. it must have tensor structure under intrinsic rotations. The simplest object that satisfies this criterion is a vector under intrinsic rotations that commutes with both  $\boldsymbol{r}$  and  $\boldsymbol{p}$ . This reasoning leads to the introduction of an operator obeying the commutation relations (2.5.5), while (2.5.6) still needs to be motivated by the interpretation of  $\hat{\mathbf{K}}_1$  as the boost generator. We indeed find that inclusion of  $\hat{\mathbf{K}}_1$  leads to scattering amplitudes between states of different spin magnitude, similar to our field-theory constructions above. Furthermore, while in these scattering amplitudes the change in spin is minute,  $s \rightarrow s - 1$ , the effect is resummed to a finite change via Hamilton's equations, as we see in section 2.5.5.

We proceed to construct the effective Hamiltonian. The first question is to find the complete set of terms that can appear. We constrain these based on symmetry considerations: the Hamiltonian is invariant under parity and time reversal (see, however, the discussion in section 2.5.8). To take advantage of these constraints we list how our operators transform under the action of these symmetries:

Parity: 
$$P^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{r} P = -\boldsymbol{r}, \quad P^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{p} P = -\boldsymbol{p}, \quad P^{\dagger} \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{1} P = \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{1}, \qquad P^{\dagger} \hat{\mathbf{K}}_{1} P = -\hat{\mathbf{K}}_{1},$$
  
Time Reversal:  $T^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{r} T = \boldsymbol{r}, \qquad T^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{p} T = -\boldsymbol{p}, \quad T^{\dagger} \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{1} T = -\hat{\mathbf{S}}_{1}, \quad T^{\dagger} \hat{\mathbf{K}}_{1} T = \hat{\mathbf{K}}_{1},$  (2.5.7)

see e.g. Sect. 2.6 of Ref. [256]. Furthermore, we construct terms that have classical scaling. The scaling of our operators in the classical limit is

$$\boldsymbol{r} \sim \frac{1}{\lambda} \boldsymbol{r}, \quad \boldsymbol{p} \sim \lambda^0 \, \boldsymbol{p}, \quad \hat{\mathbf{S}}_1 \sim \frac{1}{\lambda} \hat{\mathbf{S}}_1, \quad \hat{\mathbf{K}}_1 \sim \frac{1}{\lambda} \hat{\mathbf{K}}_1, \quad (2.5.8)$$

where  $\lambda$  is a small parameter that characterizes the classical limit (usually associated with  $\hbar$ ).

Two additional properties that reduce the number of operators are on-shell conditions and Schouten identities. The former capture the freedom of field redefinitions in the quantum-mechanical context or the freedom of canonical transformations in the classical context. The latter stem from the fact that we work with more than three three-dimensional vectors, hence there must be linear relations among them. While these considerations are not important for the purposes of this chapter, they can significantly reduce the number of terms one needs to consider when looking at higher orders in spin and boost (see e.g. Ref. [101]).

Using the above one may systematically construct independent terms in the Hamiltonian. At linear order in spin and boost we have:

$$\mathbb{O}_1 = \frac{\boldsymbol{L} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{S}}_1}{\boldsymbol{r}^2}, \qquad \qquad \mathbb{O}_2 = \frac{\boldsymbol{r} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{K}}_1}{\boldsymbol{r}^2}. \qquad (2.5.9)$$

The Hamiltonian valid to linear order in spin and boost is then,

$$\mathcal{H}_{2} = \sqrt{\boldsymbol{p}^{2} + m_{1}^{2}} + \sqrt{\boldsymbol{p}^{2} + m_{2}^{2}} + V^{(0)}(\boldsymbol{r}^{2}, \boldsymbol{p}^{2}) + V^{(1)}(\boldsymbol{r}^{2}, \boldsymbol{p}^{2}) \frac{\boldsymbol{L} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{S}}_{1}}{\boldsymbol{r}^{2}} + V^{(2)}(\boldsymbol{r}^{2}, \boldsymbol{p}^{2}) \frac{\boldsymbol{r} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{K}}_{1}}{\boldsymbol{r}^{2}}, \qquad (2.5.10)$$

where we used the operators in Eq. (2.5.9) and the potential coefficients given in Eq. (2.5.2). The Hamiltonian has an additional operator containing  $\hat{\mathbf{K}}_1$  compared to the one in Eq. (2.5.1).

#### 2.5.3 Amplitudes from the Effective Hamiltonian

Having identified the general form of the Hamiltonian that can capture the classical physics of our field theories with additional degrees of freedom, Eq. (2.5.10), we proceed to determine its coefficient functions  $V^{(i)}$ . We follow closely Refs. [59, 61, 101] where analogous calculations were carried out for Hamiltonians depending only on the spin operator. As in that case, we consider scattering of spin-coherent states [245]. These states may be superpositions of fixed-spin-magnitude states or more general superpositions that involve states of different spin magnitude, similar to the field-theory construction in Eq. (2.2.44). For our purposes it is sufficient to consider incoming and outgoing states whose spin parts are identical. However, we note that it is possible to also consider different incoming and outgoing states. Since the incoming and outgoing states are taken to be the same, the amplitudes are expressed in terms of diagonal matrix elements of  $\hat{\mathbf{S}}$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{K}}$ . A coherent state  $|\mathbf{s}\rangle \equiv |s, \hat{\mathbf{n}}\rangle$  with fixed spin magnitude s and direction  $\hat{\mathbf{n}}$  is the state of highest weight along the direction  $\hat{\mathbf{n}}$ . Similarly with the field-theory discussion in Sec. 2.2.2, for such a state we have,

$$\langle \boldsymbol{s} | \hat{\mathbf{S}} | \boldsymbol{s} \rangle = \mathbf{S} = s \, \hat{\boldsymbol{n}} \,, \quad \text{and} \quad \langle \boldsymbol{s} | \hat{\mathbf{K}} | \boldsymbol{s} \rangle = 0 \,.$$
 (2.5.11)

We build a generalized coherent state  $|\Psi\rangle$  by superimposing states  $|s\rangle$  with different values of s, such that,

$$\langle \Psi | \hat{\mathbf{S}} | \Psi \rangle = \mathbf{S}, \text{ and } \langle \Psi | \hat{\mathbf{K}} | \Psi \rangle = \mathbf{K},$$
 (2.5.12)

where on the right-hand side of the above equation we have the classical values of  $\hat{\mathbf{S}}$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{K}}$ . These classical values depend on the details of the construction of  $|\Psi\rangle$ , but the exact dependence is not important for our purposes. Finally, these states are built such that they obey the property

$$\langle \Psi | \{ \hat{S}_{i_1} \dots \hat{S}_{i_n} \} | \Psi \rangle = S_{i_1} \dots S_{i_n}, \quad \text{and} \quad \langle \Psi | \{ \hat{K}_{i_1} \dots \hat{K}_{i_n} \} | \Psi \rangle = K_{i_1} \dots K_{i_n}, \tag{2.5.13}$$

up to terms that do not contribute in the classical limit, where the {} brackets signify symmetrization and division by the number of terms (see also the discussion in section 2.2.2).

We may now proceed to compute the EFT amplitudes. For the details of such a computation we refer the reader to Refs. [59, 61], where corresponding computations are carried out for the purely-spin case. We give here the result for the amplitude obtained from  $\mathcal{H}_2$ . The corresponding amplitude from  $\mathcal{H}_1$  follows by setting the coefficients of any operators containing  $\hat{\mathbf{K}}$  to zero. The EFT amplitude may be organized as

$$\mathbb{M} = \mathbb{M}^{1\mathrm{PL}} + \mathbb{M}^{2\mathrm{PL}} + \dots, \qquad (2.5.14)$$

where we have explicitly written the first and second PL contributions and the ellipsis denote higher PL orders. We have

$$\mathbb{M}^{1\mathrm{PL}} = \frac{4\pi\alpha}{q^2} \left[ a_1^{(0)} + a_1^{(1)} \boldsymbol{L}_q \cdot \boldsymbol{S}_1 + a_1^{(2)} i \boldsymbol{q} \cdot \boldsymbol{K}_1 \right], \qquad (2.5.15)$$

and

$$\mathbb{M}^{2\text{PL}} = \mathbb{M}^{2\text{PL}}_{\triangle} + (4\pi\alpha)^2 \, a_{\text{iter}} \int \frac{d^{D-1}\boldsymbol{\ell}}{(2\pi)^{D-1}} \frac{2\xi E}{\boldsymbol{\ell}^2 (\boldsymbol{\ell} + \boldsymbol{q})^2 (\boldsymbol{\ell}^2 + 2\boldsymbol{p} \cdot \boldsymbol{\ell})} \,,$$
$$\mathbb{M}^{2\text{PL}}_{\triangle} = \frac{2\pi^2 \alpha^2}{|\boldsymbol{q}|} \Big[ a_2^{(0)} + a_2^{(1)} \boldsymbol{L}_{\boldsymbol{q}} \cdot \mathbf{S}_1 + a_2^{(2)} i \boldsymbol{q} \cdot \mathbf{K}_1 \Big] \,, \tag{2.5.16}$$

where the triangle subscript in  $\mathbb{M}^{2\mathrm{PL}}_{\Delta}$  indicates that the origin of the contribution is an one-loop triangle integral. Here p and p - q are the incoming and outgoing spatial momenta of particle 1 in the CoM frame respectively and  $L_q = ip \times q$ . We also use

$$E = E_1 + E_2$$
, and  $\xi = \frac{E_1 E_2}{E^2}$ , (2.5.17)

where  $E_{1,2}$  are the energies of particles 1 and 2, which are conserved in the CoM frame (see also Eq. (2.5.21)). The vectors  $\mathbf{S}_1$  and  $\mathbf{K}_1$  that appear in the above two equations are the classical values of the corresponding quantum operators. They depend on whether one chooses to scatter the  $|s\rangle$  or  $|\Psi\rangle$  state as shown in Eqs. (2.5.11) and (2.5.12). The 1PL amplitude coefficients take the form

$$a_1^{(0)} = -c_1^{(0)}, \quad a_1^{(1)} = c_1^{(1)}, \quad a_1^{(2)} = -c_1^{(2)},$$
 (2.5.18)

while for the 2PL amplitude we have

$$a_{2}^{(0)} = -c_{2}^{(0)} + 2E\xi c_{1}^{(0)} \mathcal{D}c_{1}^{(0)} + \frac{(1-3\xi)\left(c_{1}^{(0)}\right)^{2}}{2E\xi},$$

$$a_{2}^{(1)} = \frac{c_{2}^{(1)}}{2} - E\xi c_{1}^{(1)} \mathcal{D}c_{1}^{(0)} - E\xi c_{1}^{(0)} \mathcal{D}c_{1}^{(1)} + \frac{(3\xi-1)c_{1}^{(0)}c_{1}^{(1)}}{2E\xi} + \frac{E\xi\left(\left(c_{1}^{(2)}\right)^{2} - 2c_{1}^{(0)}c_{1}^{(1)}\right)}{2p^{2}},$$

$$a_{2}^{(2)} = -\frac{c_{2}^{(2)}}{2} - \frac{1}{2}E\xi c_{1}^{(2)}\left(c_{1}^{(1)} - 2\mathcal{D}c_{1}^{(0)}\right) + E\xi c_{1}^{(0)} \mathcal{D}c_{1}^{(2)} + \frac{(1-3\xi)c_{1}^{(0)}c_{1}^{(2)}}{2E\xi},$$
(2.5.19)

and

$$a_{\text{iter}} = \left(c_1^{(0)}\right)^2 - c_1^{(0)}c_1^{(1)}\boldsymbol{L}_q \cdot \mathbf{S}_1 + c_1^{(0)}c_1^{(2)}\boldsymbol{i}\boldsymbol{q} \cdot \mathbf{K}_1.$$
(2.5.20)

In the above we have used the shorthands  $c_n^{(a)} \equiv c_n^{(a)} \left( \boldsymbol{p}^2 \right)$  and  $\mathcal{D} \equiv \frac{d}{d\boldsymbol{p}^2}$ .

## 2.5.4 Hamiltonian Coefficients from Matching to Field Theory

We are now in position to determine the Hamiltonian coefficients that capture the same classical physics as the field theories discussed in section 2.2; we do so by matching the corresponding scattering amplitudes including their full mass dependence. We start by specializing the field-theory amplitudes to the CoM frame. We then match each field-theory construction to an appropriate Hamiltonian and we discuss our findings.

The CoM frame is defined by the kinematics

$$p_1 = -(E_1, \mathbf{p}), \qquad p_2 = -(E_2, -\mathbf{p}), \qquad q = (0, \mathbf{q}), \qquad \mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{q} = \mathbf{q}^2/2, \qquad (2.5.21)$$

together with  $q = p_2 + p_3$  and  $p_1 + p_2 + p_3 + p_4 = 0$ . To align with the field-theory construction, we express the barred variables defined in Eq. (2.3.29) in this frame,

$$\bar{p}_1 = -(E_1, \bar{p}), \qquad \bar{p}_2 = -(E_2, -\bar{p}), \qquad \bar{p} = p - q/2, \qquad \bar{p} \cdot q = 0.$$
 (2.5.22)

For the asymptotic spin variables we have

$$S_1^{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{m_1} \left( \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda} \bar{p}_{1\rho} S_{1\lambda} + \bar{p}_1^{\mu} K_1^{\nu} - \bar{p}_1^{\nu} K_1^{\mu} \right), \qquad (2.5.23)$$

with

$$S_1^{\mu} = \left(\frac{\bar{\boldsymbol{p}} \cdot \mathbf{S}_1}{m_1}, \mathbf{S}_1 + \frac{\bar{\boldsymbol{p}} \cdot \mathbf{S}_1}{m_1(E_1 + m_1)} \bar{\boldsymbol{p}}\right), \quad K_1^{\mu} = \left(\frac{\bar{\boldsymbol{p}} \cdot \mathbf{K}_1}{m_1}, \mathbf{K}_1 + \frac{\bar{\boldsymbol{p}} \cdot \mathbf{K}_1}{m_1(E_1 + m_1)} \bar{\boldsymbol{p}}\right), \quad (2.5.24)$$

where  $\mathbf{S}_1$  and  $\mathbf{K}_1$  correspond to the values in the rest frame of particle 1. Finally, we may use Eq. (2.2.29) to express the wave-function products  $\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \overline{\mathcal{E}}_4$  and  $\mathcal{E}_2 \cdot \overline{\mathcal{E}}_3$  as

$$\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_4 = \exp\left[-\frac{\boldsymbol{L}_q \cdot \mathbf{S}_1}{m_1(E_1 + m_1)}\right] \exp\left[\frac{i\boldsymbol{q} \cdot \mathbf{K}_1}{m_1}\right], \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{E}_2 \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_3 = 1, \quad (2.5.25)$$

up to terms that do not contribute to the classical limit. The second product in the above equation follows from the fact that we take the corresponding particle to be a scalar. Note that the  $\mathbf{K}_1$  used here agrees with that from the worldline (2.4.21).

Using the above relations we express the field-theory amplitudes in terms of the same variables as the EFT ones. Then, we may match them and extract the Hamiltonian coefficients. In particular, we have

$$\mathbb{M}^{1\mathrm{PL}} = \frac{\mathcal{M}_{4,\mathrm{cl.}}^{\mathrm{tree}}}{4E_1E_2}, \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbb{M}^{2\mathrm{PL}} = \frac{\mathcal{M}_{4,\mathrm{cl.}}^{(1)}}{4E_1E_2}.$$
 (2.5.26)

We use the above equations to match to the field theories as follows:

$$EFT1 \leftrightarrow FT2$$
, and  $EFT2 \leftrightarrow FT1g$ . (2.5.27)

Our first EFT Hamiltonian EFT1 contains only operators that preserve the spin magnitude. Hence, it can describe the field theory that contains a single particle of spin s (FT2). Our second Hamiltonian allows for transitions between particles of different spin magnitude, and hence can describe a field theory that contains particles of different spin magnitude (FT1g). Regarding FT3, the amplitudes we have computed may be mapped to those of FT1g via appropriate relabeling. We expect this to be true for all amplitudes that may be computed in the two theories, in which case the same should be true for the Hamiltonian coefficients. Finally, FT1s may be thought of as a restriction of FT1g where we only allow for spin-s external states. We discuss the possible matching of FT1s to our two Hamiltonians separately.

For the 1PL matching of EFT2 to FT1g we find

$$c_1^{(0)} = \frac{m_1 m_2 \gamma}{4E_1 E_2}, \quad c_1^{(1)} = \frac{m_1 m_2 \gamma - EC_1 \left(m_1 + E_1\right)}{4E_1 E_2 m_1 \left(m_1 + E_1\right)}, \quad c_1^{(2)} = \frac{m_2 \gamma \left(-C_1 + D_1 + 1\right)}{4E_1 E_2}, \quad (2.5.28)$$

where  $\gamma$  is defined in Eq. (2.4.42). Importantly, we find  $c_1^{(2)} = c_2^{(2)} = 0$  if  $D_1 = C_1 - 1$ , such that all  $\mathbf{K}_1$  dependence in the Hamiltonian vanishes for this choice. For this reason, both the 1PL and 2PL coefficients related to the matching of EFT1 and FT2 follows from the above by setting  $D_1 = C_1 - 1$ , hence we do not

report them separately.

We conclude this subsection by commenting on FT1s. Given that FT1s is defined as a collection of amplitudes that are a subset of the ones of FT1g, the most appropriate matching procedure is to extend to FT1g and follow the analysis given above to match to EFT2. Alternatively, one can also match EFT1 to FT1s as was carried out in Ref. [101] following similar steps. In this case, the effects of the lower-spin states propagating in the field-theory amplitude are captured by the vertices of the Hamiltonian. By examining the resulting Hamiltonian, we find that some of the coefficients (in particular  $c_2^{(1)}(p^2)$ ) admit only a Laurent series around  $p^2 = 0$ . This is a familiar phenomenon in QFT where one integrates out a state that may go on-shell in the processes of interest, and, borrowing the terminology of that context, we refer to it as a non locality.<sup>19</sup> A non-local quantum description may be consistent as long as one always considers amplitudes with appropriate external states. However, we find that the observables computed from this Hamiltonian match the corresponding ones from WL1 or those from WL2 only for the choice  $D_1 = C_1 - 1$ , for which the non-locality vanishes.

#### 2.5.5 Observables from the Equations of Motion

Having analyzed the implications of interpreting our Hamiltonians as quantum operators, we proceed to consider them as generating functions of the classical evolution of the system. In particular, given a classical Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}_2(\mathbf{r}(t), \mathbf{p}(t), \mathbf{S}_1(t), \mathbf{K}_1(t))$  of the form (2.5.10), the classical time evolution of any quantity  $f(\mathbf{r}(t), \mathbf{p}(t), \mathbf{S}_1(t), \mathbf{K}_1(t))$  is determined by  $\dot{f} = df/dt = \{f, \mathcal{H}_2\}$ , where the classical Poisson brackets  $\{f, g\}$ are given directly by the quantum-operator algebra of Eqs. (2.5.3), (2.5.5) and (2.5.6) with  $\hat{f} \to f$  and  $[\hat{f}, \hat{g}] \to i\{f, g\}$ . This leads to the explicit equations of motion

$$\dot{\boldsymbol{r}} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_2}{\partial \boldsymbol{p}}, \qquad \dot{\mathbf{S}}_1 = \frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_2}{\partial \mathbf{S}_1} \times \mathbf{S}_1 + \frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_2}{\partial \mathbf{K}_1} \times \mathbf{K}_1, 
\dot{\boldsymbol{p}} = -\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_2}{\partial \boldsymbol{r}}, \qquad \dot{\mathbf{K}}_1 = \frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_2}{\partial \mathbf{S}_1} \times \mathbf{K}_1 - \frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_2}{\partial \mathbf{K}_1} \times \mathbf{S}_1.$$
(2.5.29)

The addition of  $\mathbf{K}_1$  as a dynamical quantity changes basic properties of the equations. Specifically, the magnitude of the spin  $\mathbf{S}_1$  is no longer conserved.

We solve the equations of motion order by order in  $\alpha$ . Given that  $\mathcal{H}_2 = E_1 + E_2 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha)$  at zeroth order in the coupling, with  $E_{1,2} = \sqrt{m_{1,2}^2 + p^2}$ , we see that perturbative solutions to these equations take the form

$$\boldsymbol{r}(t) = \boldsymbol{b}^{(0)} + \frac{E_1 + E_2}{E_1 E_2} \boldsymbol{p}^{(0)} t + \alpha \boldsymbol{r}^{(1)}(t) + \alpha^2 \boldsymbol{r}^{(2)}(t) + \dots ,$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>We stress that not every Hamiltonian which contains some coefficient that does not admit a Taylor expansion around  $p^2 = 0$ is non local in the sense described here. Indeed, it is certainly possible to alter the Hamiltonian coefficients by performing a field redefinition in the quantum-mechanical context or a canonical transformation in the classical context, which may potentially remove such a behavior. In addition, when dealing with more than three three-dimensional vectors there exist Schouten identities that might cause the coefficients of the Hamiltonian to have apparent singularities in the  $p^2 \rightarrow 0$  limit.

$$\boldsymbol{p}(t) = \boldsymbol{p}^{(0)} + \alpha \boldsymbol{p}^{(1)}(t) + \alpha^2 \boldsymbol{p}^{(2)}(t) + \dots ,$$
  

$$\mathbf{S}_1(t) = \mathbf{S}_1^{(0)} + \alpha \mathbf{S}_1^{(1)}(t) + \alpha^2 \mathbf{S}_1^{(2)}(t) + \dots ,$$
  

$$\mathbf{K}_1(t) = \mathbf{K}_1^{(0)} + \alpha \mathbf{K}_1^{(1)}(t) + \alpha^2 \mathbf{K}_1^{(2)}(t) + \dots ,$$
(2.5.30)

where  $\boldsymbol{b}^{(0)}$ ,  $\boldsymbol{p}^{(0)}$ ,  $\mathbf{S}_1^{(0)}$ , and  $\mathbf{K}_1^{(0)}$  are constants determined from the initial conditions. The constant  $\boldsymbol{b}^{(0)}$  is the usual impact parameter for the scattering process. Substituting these expansions into the equations of motion, using the explicit Hamiltonian (2.5.10) and separating orders in  $\alpha$ , we obtain integral expressions for

$$\mathcal{O}^{(n)}(t) = \left\{ \boldsymbol{r}^{(n)}(t), \boldsymbol{p}^{(n)}(t), \mathbf{S}_{1}^{(n)}(t), \mathbf{K}_{1}^{(n)}(t) \right\} .$$
(2.5.31)

These depend on lower-order solutions  $\mathcal{O}^{(\tilde{n})}(t)$ , with  $0 \leq \tilde{n} < n$ , as well as the Hamiltonian coefficients  $c_n^{(a)}(\mathbf{p}^2)$  and their derivatives evaluated at  $\mathbf{p}^2 = (\mathbf{p}^{(0)})^2$ . Working iteratively, we obtain explicit expressions for  $\mathcal{O}^{(n)}(t)$  by performing simple one-dimensional integrals with respect to t. We choose the integration constants by enforcing  $\mathcal{O}^{(n)}(t) \rightarrow \{0, 0, 0, 0\}$  as  $t \rightarrow -\infty$  for all  $n \geq 1$ , ensuring that  $\mathbf{b}^{(0)}, \mathbf{p}^{(0)}, \mathbf{S}_1^{(0)}$ , and  $\mathbf{K}_1^{(0)}$  characterize the initial conditions. Without loss of generality, we can choose  $\mathbf{b}^{(0)} \cdot \mathbf{p}^{(0)} = 0$  and identify  $\mathbf{b}^{(0)}$  as the incoming impact parameter vector. In particular, we choose

$$\boldsymbol{b}^{(0)} = (-b, 0, 0), \quad \boldsymbol{p}^{(0)} = (0, 0, p_{\infty}), \quad \mathbf{S}_{1}^{(0)} = (S_{1x}^{(0)}, S_{1y}^{(0)}, S_{1z}^{(0)}), \quad \mathbf{K}_{1}^{(0)} = (K_{1x}^{(0)}, K_{1y}^{(0)}, K_{1z}^{(0)}). \quad (2.5.32)$$

Following the above procedure, we finally obtain  $(\boldsymbol{p}, \mathbf{S}_1, \mathbf{K}_1)$  in the outgoing state from the limit  $t \to +\infty$ , given as functions of the incoming  $\left\{ \boldsymbol{b}^{(0)}, \boldsymbol{p}^{(0)}, \mathbf{S}_1^{(0)}, \mathbf{K}_1^{(0)} \right\}$ .

As we emphasized, a key consequence of including  $\mathbf{K}_1$  in the Hamiltonian is that the magnitude of  $\mathbf{S}_1$  is not conserved under time evolution. Indeed, it is a straightforward consequence of the equations of motion that

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left( \mathbf{S}_1^2 - \mathbf{K}_1^2 \right) = 0, \qquad (2.5.33)$$

which reduces to the equation for spin-magnitude conservation only if  $\mathbf{K}_1$  is constant throughout the trajectory, as would hold for a rigid object with no internal degrees of freedom other than the spin. Explicitly, solving the equations of motion we find that the spin magnitude does indeed change. We define the change of the spin and boost magnitude as

$$\Delta \mathbf{S}_{1}^{2} \equiv \mathbf{S}_{1}^{2}(t=\infty) - \mathbf{S}_{1}^{2}(t=-\infty), \quad \Delta \mathbf{K}_{1}^{2} \equiv \mathbf{K}_{1}^{2}(t=\infty) - \mathbf{K}_{1}^{2}(t=-\infty).$$
(2.5.34)

We have that through 1PL they are given by

$$\Delta \mathbf{S}_{1}^{2} = \Delta \mathbf{K}_{1}^{2} = \frac{4\alpha E_{1} E_{2} \left( K_{1z}^{(0)} S_{1y}^{(0)} - K_{1y}^{(0)} S_{1z}^{(0)} \right) c_{1}^{(2)} (p_{\infty}^{2})}{b \, p_{\infty} (E_{1} + E_{2})} + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^{2}) \,, \tag{2.5.35}$$

in accordance with Eq. (2.5.33). Thus the spin magnitude is conserved to 1PL order if we choose the initial

condition  $\mathbf{K}_{1}^{(0)} = 0$ . Similarly, the boost magnitude is also conserved if  $\mathbf{S}_{1}^{(0)} = 0$ . However, starting at 2PL order, this is no longer true. In particular,

$$\Delta \mathbf{S}_{1}^{2}\Big|_{\mathbf{K}_{1}^{(0)} \to 0} = \Delta \mathbf{K}_{1}^{2}\Big|_{\mathbf{K}_{1}^{(0)} \to 0} = \frac{4\alpha^{2}E_{1}^{2}E_{2}^{2}\left(\left(S_{1y}^{(0)}\right)^{2} + \left(S_{1z}^{(0)}\right)^{2}\right)\left(c_{1}^{(2)}(p_{\infty}^{2})\right)^{2}}{b^{2}p_{\infty}^{2}(E_{1} + E_{2})^{2}} + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^{3}).$$
(2.5.36)

As expected, the spin magnitude is conserved if we choose  $D_1 = C_1 - 1$ , as can be seen by combining the above equations with Eq. (2.5.28).

The above equations further imply that for an object with  $D_1 \neq C_1 - 1$  the intrinsic boost, and hence the induced electric dipole moment (see Eq. (2.4.32)), is not a constant of motion. In particular, even if a body has  $\mathbf{K}_1 = 0$  at some moment in time, time evolution induces non-zero values for  $\mathbf{K}_1$ . In other words, a body which satisfies the covariant SSC at the initial time violates it at later times.

It is interesting to ask whether we could instead remove  $S_1$  and have a system that is described only by  $K_1$ . Up to 1PL order it is consistent to have  $S_1 = 0$  with  $K_1 \neq 0$ , as can be seen in Eq. (2.5.35). However, at 2PL order we find

$$\Delta \mathbf{S}_{1}^{2} \Big|_{\mathbf{S}_{1}^{(0)} \to 0} = \Delta \mathbf{K}_{1}^{2} \Big|_{\mathbf{S}_{1}^{(0)} \to 0} = \frac{4\alpha^{2} E_{1}^{2} E_{2}^{2} \left( \left( K_{1y}^{(0)} \right)^{2} + \left( K_{1z}^{(0)} \right)^{2} \right) \left( c_{1}^{(2)}(p_{\infty}^{2}) \right)^{2}}{b^{2} p_{\infty}^{2} (E_{1} + E_{2})^{2}} + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^{3}) \,.$$
(2.5.37)

As for Eq. (2.5.36), this only vanishes for the special value  $D_1 = C_1 - 1$ . Hence, without the special choice, a non-rotating body starts spinning via the electromagnetic interaction if it starts with non-zero intrinsic boost  $\mathbf{K}_1$ .

The dynamics that we consider here are an extension of those that satisfy an SSC along their evolution. Indeed, at any step of the calculation one is free to set  $D_1 = C_1 - 1$  and retrieve the evolution of an SSCsatisfying body. Such a restriction would remove all  $\mathbf{K}_1$  dependence from the Hamiltonian as we mentioned below Eq. (2.5.28) and render  $\mathbf{K}_1$  to be a constant of motion that does not affect the dynamics.

The complete results of solving the equations of motion through  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha^2)$  as outlined above are quite lengthy. A much more compact way to represent the amplitude is through an eikonal formula, which we give below.

#### 2.5.6 Observables from an Eikonal Formula

Analyzing the results of the perturbative integration of Hamilton's equations as described in the previous section, we find that the outgoing-state observables can be simply expressed in terms of derivatives of an eikonal phase, which is a scalar function of the incoming-state variables. This is motivated by the analagous eikonal formula found in Ref. [59] for the pure spin case, except now there are additional degrees of freedom from the intrinsic boost. At the order to which we are working here, the eikonal phase coincidences with a two-dimensional Fourier transform of the EFT amplitude. For convenience we rename the incoming-state quantities, called  $\left\{ \boldsymbol{b}^{(0)}, \boldsymbol{p}^{(0)}, \mathbf{S}_{1}^{(0)}, \mathbf{K}_{1}^{(0)} \right\}$  above, now simply as  $\{\boldsymbol{b}, \boldsymbol{p}, \mathbf{S}_{1}, \mathbf{K}_{1}\}$ . Then we denote the outgoing-state observables by  $\{\boldsymbol{p} + \Delta \boldsymbol{p}, \mathbf{S}_{1} + \Delta \mathbf{S}_{1}, \mathbf{K}_{1} + \Delta \mathbf{K}_{1}\}$ .

We find empirically that the changes in the observables p,  $S_1$ , and  $K_1$  are given in terms of an eikonal phase  $\chi(\boldsymbol{b}, \boldsymbol{p}, \mathbf{S}_1, \mathbf{K}_1)$  as follows: The impulse is given by

$$\Delta \boldsymbol{p} = \frac{\partial \chi}{\partial \boldsymbol{b}} + \frac{1}{2} \{ \chi, \frac{\partial \chi}{\partial \boldsymbol{b}} \} + \mathcal{D}_L(\chi, \frac{\partial \chi}{\partial \boldsymbol{b}}) - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{b}} \mathcal{D}_L(\chi, \chi) - \frac{\boldsymbol{p}}{2\boldsymbol{p}^2} \left( \frac{\partial \chi}{\partial \boldsymbol{b}} \right)^2 + \mathcal{O}\left(\chi^3\right) , \qquad (2.5.38)$$

which simultaneously gives contributions orthogonal and along p. In this formula  $p \cdot b = 0$  so all the **b**-derivatives are projected orthogonal to the incoming momentum p. The spin and boost kicks are given by

$$\Delta \mathbf{S}_{1} = \{\chi, \mathbf{S}_{1}\} + \frac{1}{2}\{\chi, \{\chi, \mathbf{S}_{1}\}\} + \mathcal{D}_{L}(\chi, \{\chi, \mathbf{S}_{1}\}) - \frac{1}{2}\{\mathcal{D}_{L}(\chi, \chi), \mathbf{S}_{1}\} + \mathcal{O}(\chi^{3}), \qquad (2.5.39)$$
  
$$\Delta \mathbf{K}_{1} = \{\chi, \mathbf{K}_{1}\} + \frac{1}{2}\{\chi, \{\chi, \mathbf{K}_{1}\}\} + \mathcal{D}_{L}(\chi, \{\chi, \mathbf{K}_{1}\}) - \frac{1}{2}\{\mathcal{D}_{L}(\chi, \chi), \mathbf{K}_{1}\} + \mathcal{O}(\chi^{3}).$$

The brackets here are given by the Lorentz algebra,

$$\{S_{1i}, S_{1j}\} = \epsilon_{ijk}S_{1k}, \quad \{S_{1i}, K_{1j}\} = \epsilon_{ijk}K_{1k}, \quad \{K_{1i}, K_{1j}\} = -\epsilon_{ijk}S_{1k}, \quad (2.5.40)$$

with all others vanishing. We also define

$$\mathcal{D}_L(f,g) \equiv -\epsilon_{ijk} \left( S_{1i} \frac{\partial f}{\partial S_{1j}} + K_{1i} \frac{\partial f}{\partial K_{1j}} \right) \frac{\partial g}{\partial L_k} , \qquad (2.5.41)$$

which is a K-dependent extension of the operator  $\mathcal{D}_{SL}$  of Ref. [59]. The angular momentum  $\boldsymbol{L}$  and the incoming impact parameter  $\boldsymbol{b}$  are related by  $\boldsymbol{L} = \boldsymbol{b} \times \boldsymbol{p}$  and  $\boldsymbol{b} = \boldsymbol{p} \times \boldsymbol{L}/\boldsymbol{p}^2$ , implying  $(\partial/\partial L_i) = \epsilon_{ijk}(p_k/\boldsymbol{p}^2)(\partial/\partial b_j)$  in Eq. (2.5.41). An all-orders generalization may follow along the lines of Eq. (7.21) of Ref. [59] by including  $\mathbf{K}$ , although at higher orders in  $\alpha$  the radial action may be more natural than the eikonal phase [30].

The appropriate eikonal function is proportional to the two-dimensional Fourier transform (from q space to b space) of the EFT amplitude as given in Eqs. (2.5.15) and (2.5.16), while keeping only the triangle contribution in Eq. (2.5.16) [59],

$$\chi = \frac{1}{4E|\boldsymbol{p}|} \int \frac{d^2\boldsymbol{q}}{(2\pi)^2} e^{-i\boldsymbol{q}\cdot\boldsymbol{b}} (\mathbb{M}^{1\mathrm{PL}} + \mathbb{M}^{2\mathrm{PL}}_{\Delta}) + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^3); \qquad (2.5.42)$$

the box contribution to the amplitude is effectively included in the exponentiation of the tree-level amplitude  $\mathbb{M}^{1\text{PL}}$ . Explicitly, we have

$$\chi = \alpha \frac{\xi E}{|\mathbf{p}|} \left[ -a_1^{(0)} \log |\mathbf{b}|^2 - \frac{2a_1^{(1)}}{|\mathbf{b}|^2} \mathbf{b} \times \mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{S}_1 + \frac{2a_1^{(2)}}{|\mathbf{b}|^2} \mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{K}_1 \right]$$

$$+ \pi \alpha^2 \frac{\xi E}{|\mathbf{p}|} \left[ \frac{a_2^{(0)}}{|\mathbf{b}|} - \frac{a_2^{(1)}}{|\mathbf{b}|^3} \mathbf{b} \times \mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{S}_1 + \frac{a_2^{(2)}}{|\mathbf{b}|^3} \mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{K}_1 \right] + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^3) ,$$
(2.5.43)

where the amplitude coefficients  $a_n^{(m)}(\mathbf{p}^2)$  are given in terms of the Hamiltonian coefficients  $c_n^{(m)}(\mathbf{p}^2)$  via the same relations (2.5.18) and (2.5.19) found from the EFT matching, here all evaluated at the incoming momentum  $\mathbf{p}$ . The above relations hold for general values of the Hamiltonian coefficients  $c_n^{(m)}(\mathbf{p}^2)$ .

#### 2.5.7 Comparison to Observables from the Worldline Theory

Having in hand the observables  $\Delta p$ ,  $\Delta S_1$ , and  $\Delta K_1$  obtained from Hamilton's equations resulting from an EFT matching to a QFT amplitude, we are in a position to ask how these compare to equivalent observables obtained from a worldline theory as in Sec. 2.4. We find that the observables of the spinning-probe worldline theory without an SSC match precisely onto those from the probe limit of FT1g via the transformations of variables detailed bellow — these are in one-to-one correspondence with the transformations used to relate the EFT amplitudes to the covariant forms of the field-theory amplitudes in section 2.5.4. As discussed in section 2.4.3, the probe limit provides a nontrivial check.

In the worldline theory, we considered a probe/test particle with mass  $m_1$ , initial momentum  $p_1^{\mu} = m_1 u_1^{\mu}$ , and initial spin tensor  $S_1^{\mu\nu}$ , scattering off the field of a background Coulomb source with velocity  $u_2^{\mu}$ . The changes  $\Delta p_1^{\mu}$  and  $\Delta S_1^{\mu\nu}$  from the initial to the final state were expressed in terms of these quantities and the initial impact parameter  $b^{\mu}$ .

Using three-dimensional vectors in the rest frame of the background source, we identify

$$u_2^{\mu} = (1, 0, 0, 0), \qquad p_1^{\mu} = m_1 u_1^{\mu} = (m_1 \gamma, \boldsymbol{p}), \qquad (2.5.44)$$

so  $\boldsymbol{p}$  here is the spatial momentum of the probe in the background frame, with  $\boldsymbol{p}^2 = m_1^2(\gamma^2 - 1)$ , and  $m_1\gamma$  is its energy, where  $\gamma = u_1 \cdot u_2$  is the relative Lorentz factor. For the spin tensor in the probe limit, just as in (2.5.23) and (2.5.24), we decompose it into components  $S_1^{\mu}$  and  $K_1^{\mu}$  in the probe's rest frame,

$$\mathsf{S}_{1}^{\mu\nu} = \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda} u_{1\rho} S_{1\lambda} + u_{1}^{\mu} K_{1}^{\nu} - u_{1}^{\nu} K_{1}^{\mu} \,, \qquad (2.5.45)$$

and we then relate these, respectively, to three-dimensional vectors **S** and **K** in the background frame by the standard boost taking  $u_2^{\mu}$  into  $u_1^{\mu}$ ,

$$S_1^{\mu} = \left(\frac{\boldsymbol{p} \cdot \mathbf{S}_1}{m_1}, \mathbf{S}_1 + \frac{\boldsymbol{p} \cdot \mathbf{S}_1}{m_1^2(\gamma + 1)}\boldsymbol{p}\right), \quad K_1^{\mu} = \left(\frac{\boldsymbol{p} \cdot \mathbf{K}_1}{m_1}, \mathbf{K}_1 + \frac{\boldsymbol{p} \cdot \mathbf{K}_1}{m_1^2(\gamma + 1)}\boldsymbol{p}\right).$$
(2.5.46)

Note that for the complete translation of the observables, we must consider all of (2.5.44)–(2.5.46) applied to both the initial state quantities and to the final state quantities. Finally, for the impact parameter, we have  $b^{\mu} = (0, \boldsymbol{b}_{cov})$ , where this should be related to the vector  $\boldsymbol{b}$  appearing in the solution of Hamilton's equations by  $\boldsymbol{b} = \boldsymbol{b}_{cov} + \frac{\boldsymbol{p} \times \mathbf{S}_1}{m_1^2(\gamma + 1)} + \frac{1}{m_1} \left( \mathbf{K}_1 - \frac{\boldsymbol{p} \cdot \mathbf{K}_1}{\boldsymbol{p}^2} \boldsymbol{p} \right),$  (2.5.47)

which is the Fourier conjugate, under (2.5.42), of multiplication by the factor  $\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_4$  in Eq. (2.5.25), in the probe limit.

Taking the solutions for  $\Delta p_1^{\mu}$  and  $\Delta S_1^{\mu\nu}$  from solving the worldline equations of motion, given in (2.4.44), and converting them into 3-vector forms using the translations given in the previous paragraph (again, being careful to apply (2.5.45) and (2.5.46) separately to both the initial and final states, using the initial and final momenta), we find expressions for  $\Delta p$ ,  $\Delta S_1$ , and  $\Delta K_1$  which precisely match those coming from solving the equations of motion coming from the Hamiltonian matched to FT1g, given by (2.5.38) and (2.5.39) with (2.5.43), (2.5.28), and [257].

#### 2.5.8 On the Reality of K

We conclude this section by commenting on the reality properties of  $\mathbf{K}_1$ . In the quantum theory  $\hat{\mathbf{K}}_1$  is an antihermitian operator for any finite-dimensional representation<sup>20</sup> of the Lorentz group, which implies that its expectation value  $\mathbf{K}_1$  in any such state is imaginary. On the other hand, if we allow for an infinite-dimensional representation,  $\hat{\mathbf{K}}_1$  may be taken to be hermitian, which would result in  $\mathbf{K}_1$  being real (see e.g. Sect. 10.3 of Ref. [258]).

We first consider the implications of choosing a finite-dimensional representation, given that these are the representations employed by our field-theory constructions. In this case, for the Hamiltonian to be a hermitian operator, we need the coefficients of all Hamiltonian terms that contain an odd number of factors of the boost operator to be imaginary. This is indeed so for FT3g, while for FT1g the coefficients are real. For the 1PL coefficients, this can be seen by combining Eqs. (2.3.13) and (2.5.28). In this way, the unphysical nature of the lower-spin states in FT1g results into a non-hermitian Hamiltonian. Interestingly, the hermitian Hamiltonian corresponding to FT3g breaks time-reversal symmetry, which can be seen by combining Eq. (2.5.7) with the fact that time-reversal is an antiunitary operator (see e.g. Sect. 2.6 of Ref. [256]).

Secondly, we examine the case of infinite-dimensional representations. For these, all Hamiltonian coefficients may be taken to be real. This implies that time-reversal symmetry is satisfied. Furthermore, this case meshes well with the classical interpretation of  $\mathbf{K}_1$  as a mass moment, which implies that  $\mathbf{K}_1$  is real.

While the above seem to suggest the use of a field theory for an infinite-dimensional representation, we do not attempt such a construction in the present chapter. Instead, we find that the analytical continuation below Eq. (2.4.30) is sufficient for our purposes. In particular, such an analytical continuation allows for the matching between our field-theory and worldline constructions, and also results in a hermitian and time-reversal-symmetric Hamiltonian. We defer further analysis of this issue to the future.

# 2.6 Wilson coefficients and propagating degrees of freedom

We have seen in the previous section that the Compton amplitudes computed in FT1s depend on additional Wilson coefficients compared to those of FT2 (see 2.1 for the Lagrangians for these field theories). In 2.4 we showed that the number of Wilson coefficients of FT2 matches the usual worldline formulation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>Here we refer to the size of the spin space available to the particle (e.g. the states  $|1/2, \pm 1/2\rangle$  for a spin-1/2 particle), in other words the size of the little-group representation. In contrast, the complete Hilbert space of a particle is always infinite due to the momentum assuming continuous values.

WL1 with an SSC imposed. We also found a modified worldline theory, WL2, containing the same number of additional Wilson coefficients as found in FT1s, FT1g and FT3. Thus, additional Wilson coefficients (relative to e.g. FT2 or WL1) are a reflection of additional degrees of freedom in the short-distance theory. In FT1 some of these extra states are unphysical, having negative norm, see Sec. 2.2.4. In this section we elaborate on the rationale behind FT3, which may be thought of as a rewriting of FT1 such that all states have positive norm, and demonstrate that the same outcome—physically-relevant extra Wilson coefficients—can also result when all states have positive norm.

As in previous discussions of FT3, we focus on fields in the (s, s) representation. We begin by separating such a field into components with definite spin. While the external states of the amplitudes  $\mathcal{A}^{\text{FT1s}}$  are transverse and thus spin s, the intermediate states may contain lower-spin components, some of which are unphysical. We use factorization and gauge invariance to study the exchanges of lower-spin particles in amplitudes with spin-s external states in FT1. We find that the map given in Eq. (2.3.13) yields the results of FT3s from those of FT1s; the imaginary unit in Eq. (2.3.13) is indicative of the negative-norm nature of the exchanged states of FT1. We also discuss from a general perspective the intermediate-state spins that can contribute in the classical limit and construct their contribution to the Compton amplitude. This analysis sets on firm footing the field content we chose for the Lagrangian of FT3. Because of the structure of the Lorentz generators in the (s, s) representation (2.2.38), the trace part of intermediate states can be projected out by simply choosing traceless external states, such as the coherent states in Eq. (2.2.30). We therefore focus on the consequences of transversality or lack thereof.

#### 2.6.1 Resolution of the Identity and Amplitudes with Lower-Spin States

As reviewed earlier, a field in the representation (s, s) of the Lorentz group contains states of all spins between 0 and s. To develop a general picture of the interplay and couplings of these states it is useful to formally expose them in the Lagrangian of FT1. We use the resolution of the identity operator in this representation,

$$\delta_{\mu(s)}^{\nu(s)} = \sum_{n=0}^{s} \binom{s}{n} u_{(\mu_1} \dots u_{\mu_n} u^{(\nu_1} \dots u^{\nu_n} \mathscr{P}_{\mu_{n+1} \dots \mu_s)}^{\nu_{n+1} \dots \nu_s)}, \qquad (2.6.1)$$

with the on-shell transverse projectors  $\mathscr{P}_{\mu_1\mu_2...\mu_s}^{\nu_1\nu_2...\nu_s} = \Theta_{(\mu_1}^{\nu_1}\Theta_{\mu_2}^{\nu_2}...\Theta_{\mu_s}^{\nu_s})$ , which is the j = 0 term in the summation of (2.2.14) and the symmetrization follows the definition in footnote 7. For example, for the two-index and three-index-symmetric representations this becomes

$$\delta_{\mu_{1}}^{(\nu_{1}}\delta_{\mu_{2}}^{\nu_{2}} = \mathscr{P}_{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}}^{\nu_{1}\nu_{2}} + 2u_{(\mu_{1}}u^{(\nu_{1}}\mathscr{P}_{\mu_{2}}^{\nu_{2})} + u_{\mu_{1}}u_{\mu_{2}}u^{\nu_{1}}u^{\nu_{2}}, \qquad (2.6.2)$$
  
$$\delta_{\mu_{1}}^{(\nu_{1}}\delta_{\mu_{2}}^{\nu_{2}}\delta_{\mu_{3}}^{\nu_{3}} = \mathscr{P}_{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}\mu_{3}}^{\nu_{1}\nu_{2}\nu_{3}} + 3u_{(\mu_{1}}u^{(\nu_{1}}\mathscr{P}_{\mu_{2}\mu_{3}}^{\nu_{2}\nu_{3}}) + 3u_{(\mu_{1}}u_{\mu_{2}}u^{(\nu_{1}}u^{\nu_{2}}\mathscr{P}_{\mu_{3}}^{\nu_{3}}) + u_{\mu_{1}}u_{\mu_{2}}u_{\mu_{3}}u^{\nu_{1}}u^{\nu_{2}}u^{\nu_{3}}.$$

The projectors used here single out the longitudinal components of fields but not traces. We ignore trace states; while they are propagating, in four-point Compton amplitudes they can be projected out from all diagrams that do not include loops of higher-spin states by choosing traceless external states.

By inserting the resolution of the identity (2.6.1) into the nonminimal interaction  $\mathcal{L}_{\text{non-min}}$  of FT1, we can expose and identify the couplings of all the definite-spin components of  $\phi_s$ .<sup>21</sup> For example, in the  $\mathcal{O}(S^1)$ interaction  $F_{\mu\nu}\phi_s M^{\mu\nu}\bar{\phi}_s$ , by using  $u^{\mu} \to i\partial^{\mu}/m$ , we get

$$\phi_s M^{\mu\nu} \bar{\phi}_s = \sum_{n=0}^s \frac{(-1)^n}{m^{2n}} \phi_s^{\rho_1 \dots \rho_s} (M^{\mu\nu})^{\mu_1 \dots \mu_s}_{\rho_1 \dots \rho_s} \partial_{(\mu_1} \dots \partial_{\mu_n} \mathscr{P}^{\nu_{n+1} \dots \nu_s}_{\mu_{n+1} \dots \mu_s)} (\partial^n \bar{\phi}_s)_{\nu_{n+1} \dots \nu_s} + \text{c.c}, \qquad (2.6.3)$$

where  $(\partial^n \bar{\phi}_s)_{\nu_{n+1}...\nu_s} = \partial^{\nu_1} \dots \partial^{\nu_n} \bar{\phi}_{s\nu_1...\nu_s}$  is a field in the (s - n, s - n) representation of the Lorentz group, and the projector  $\mathscr{P}_{\mu_{n+1}...\mu_s}^{\nu_{n+1}...\nu_s}$  singles out its spin-(s - n) component. In (2.6.3) each term in the summation is given by partial derivatives and is thus not invariant under the photon gauge transformation. We only use this equation as a guide to construct an effective field theory in which an *s*-index tensor nonminimally couples to an (s - n)-index tensor.

Schematically, we identify  $\mathscr{P}_{\mu_{n+1}\dots\mu_{s}}^{\nu_{n+1}\dots\nu_{s}}(\partial^{n}\bar{\phi}_{s})_{\nu_{n+1}\dots\nu_{s}} \equiv (\phi_{s-n})_{\mu_{n+1}\dots\mu_{s}}$  as an off-shell spin-(s-n) field and assign to it the kinetic term is given by  $\mathcal{L}_{\min}^{s-n}$  defined in (2.2.7). We further replace all the remaining partial derivatives by their covariant version. For the coupling  $F_{\mu\nu}\phi_{s}M^{\mu\nu}\bar{\phi}_{s}$  at the linear order in spin, this prescription leads to the following interaction between  $\phi_{s}$  and  $\phi_{s-1}$ ,

$$\frac{1}{m}F_{\mu\nu}\left[\phi_s^{\alpha_1\dots\alpha_s}M^{\mu\nu}{}_{\alpha_1\dots\alpha_s,\beta_1\dots\beta_s}D^{(\beta_1}\bar{\phi}_{s-1}^{\beta_2\dots\beta_s)} + \text{c.c}\right].$$
(2.6.4)

This interaction agrees with the one included in FT3 for  $\tilde{C}_1 = \tilde{C}_2$  (see (2.2.61)). If we further relax the requirement that the interaction has to be mediated by the Lorentz generator, we get one more gauge invariant structures and thus arrive exactly at (2.2.61).

Having identified the off-shell component fields that exist within the off-shell field  $\phi_s$ , we may explore how does the amplitude change if we restrict both the on-shell and the off-shell states to (2s + 1) states of a spin-*s* particles. We study this by building the four-point Compton amplitude involving only massive spin-*s* degrees of freedom with on-shell methods. On general grounds, we should find  $\mathcal{A}^{FT2}$ ; to carry out this calculation, we need to find products of spin-*s* polarization tensors and the projector, similarly to the products involving Lorentz generators we computed in 2.2.3. We then subtract it from the corresponding amplitude  $\mathcal{A}^{FT1s}$  to obtain the contribution from the lower-spin degrees of freedom, i.e. the difference between  $\mathcal{A}^{FT1s}$ and  $\mathcal{A}^{FT2}$ . In 2.3, the Compton amplitudes of FT2 are computed from fixed value of *s* and then extrapolated to the generic case. Here, we will keep *s* arbitrary, but only consider the linear order of spin; this will be sufficient to illustrate the main points of our discussion .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>The projectors may be replaced with their off-shell-transverse version, constructed from  $(\eta_{\mu\nu} - p^{\mu}p^{\nu}/p^2)$ . However, this yields a nonlocal Lagrangian. Moreover, transversality needs to be only an on-shell property, so using Eq. (2.6.1) is sufficient.



Figure 2.2: The three-point amplitude involving a massive spin-s particle (thin line), a massive spin-(s - n) particle (thick line) and a photon (wiggly line).

We evaluate the products in question explicitly starting from low and fixed values of the spin, extrapolating to arbitrary s and then taking the classical limit. We find,

$$\mathcal{E}_{1}^{(s)} \cdot \mathcal{P}^{(s)}(p_{1}+q_{2}) \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_{4}^{(s)} = \mathcal{E}_{1}^{(s)} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_{4}^{(s)} \left(1 + \frac{s\varepsilon_{1} \cdot q_{2}\bar{\varepsilon}_{4} \cdot q_{3}}{\varepsilon_{1} \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_{4}m^{2}} + \ldots\right),$$
(2.6.5)  
$$\mathcal{E}_{1}^{(s)} \cdot \mathcal{P}^{(s)}(p_{1}+q_{2}) \cdot M^{\mu\nu} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_{4}^{(s)} = \mathcal{E}_{1}^{(s)} \cdot M^{\mu\nu} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_{4}^{(s)} + \frac{is(p_{1}^{\mu}\bar{\varepsilon}_{4}^{\nu} - p_{1}^{\nu}\bar{\varepsilon}_{4}^{\mu})\varepsilon_{1} \cdot q_{2}}{\varepsilon_{1} \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_{4}m^{2}} \mathcal{E}_{1}^{(s)} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_{4}^{(s)} + \ldots,$$

where we used the on-shell conditions and transversality and  $q_2$  and  $q_3$  are the momenta of the Compton amplitude photons. We have omitted terms that do not contribute in the classical limit of the Compton amplitude at  $\mathcal{O}(S^1)$ .

Using Eqs. (2.6.5) it is straightforward to compute the pole part of the Compton amplitude. To complete the amplitude we construct an ansatz for the missing contact term and fix it by demanding gauge invariance for the two photon external lines. We find that the difference  $\mathcal{A}_{4,cl}^{\delta}$  between the amplitude without the spin-*s* projector,  $\mathcal{A}_{4,cl}^{\text{FT1s}}$ , and the amplitude with the spin-*s* projector, which is indeed  $\mathcal{A}^{\text{FT2}}$ , is given by

$$\mathcal{A}_{4,\text{cl}}^{\delta} = \mathcal{A}_{4,\text{cl}}^{\text{FT1s}} - \mathcal{A}_{4,\text{cl}}^{\text{FT2}} = -(-1)^s \, \frac{\mathcal{E}_1^{(s)} \cdot \bar{\mathcal{E}}_4^{(s)}}{m^2} \frac{2i(1 - C_1 + D_1)^2}{p_1 \cdot q_2} p_1 \cdot f_2 \cdot S(p_1) \cdot f_3 \cdot p_1 \,. \tag{2.6.6}$$

This is exactly the difference between (2.3.8) and (2.3.10). The sign difference compared to Eq. (2.3.12) reflects the negative norm of the spin-(s-1) states that are part of  $\phi_s$  compared to the positive norm of the analogous states in FT3. Eq. (2.6.6) also manifests that choosing  $D_1 = C_1 - 1$  for  $\mathcal{A}^{\text{FT1s}}$  is equivalent to consistently inserting the spin-s physical-state projector.

#### 2.6.2 Lower-Spin States and their Scaling in the Classical Limit

Having identified the relevance of the lower-spin states for Compton amplitudes, we now proceed to examine the processes whose classical limit receives contributions from such states. While, as already noted, in FT1 such states have negative norm, we may either construct field theories such as FT3 in which their norm is positive so they are physical, or we may simply use maps such as (2.3.13) or (2.3.28) to modify the amplitudes of FT1 to agree with amplitudes with physical intermediate states.

We wish to characterize the classical scaling of the transitions from the spin-s to the spin-(s - n) state via the emission of a photon. There are several distinct structures that can appear in such an amplitude, as



Figure 2.3: Representative diagram of the contribution of the spin-(s - n) exchanges in the Compton amplitude. Legs 1 and 4 are massive spin-s particles, legs 2 and 3 are photons, and the intermediate thick line corresponds to the spin-(s - n) particle for some n > 0.

illustrated for example in Eq. (2.3.1). For illustrative purposes we focus on the first term in that equation which arises from the covariant derivative in the quadratic Lagrangian  $\mathcal{L}_{\min}$  of FT1; other interactions may be treated similarly with similar expected conclusions. We moreover interpret the lower-spin field as the longitudinal components of a higher-spin field, as discussed in Sec. 2.2.4. Thus, the three-point amplitude we consider here and illustrated in 2.2 is

$$\mathcal{A}_{3,\min}^{s \to s-n} = i\epsilon_3 \cdot p_1 \,\mathcal{E}_1^{(s)} \cdot \left(u_2^n \,\bar{\mathcal{E}}_2^{(s-n)}\right) \,, \tag{2.6.7}$$

where all momenta are outgoing, the matter momenta are  $p_1$  and  $p_2$ ,  $u_i = p_i/m$  and the photon momentum is q. Using the explicit form of the polarization tensors in Eq. (2.2.45), this three-point amplitude becomes

$$\mathcal{A}_{3,\min}^{s \to s-n} = i\epsilon_3 \cdot p_1 \left(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_2\right)^{s-n} {\binom{s}{n}}^{1/2} \left(\frac{q \cdot \varepsilon_1}{m}\right)^n , \qquad (2.6.8)$$

where we used the on-shell conditions  $p_2 = -p_1 - q$  and  $\varepsilon_1 \cdot p_1 = 0$ . For  $n \ll s$  and  $1 \ll s$  we may approximate  $\binom{s}{n} \approx \frac{s^n}{n!}$ . We may use the scaling of polarization tensors implied by their embedding in a nontransverse (s, s) representation of their Lorentz group to obtain the scaling of the transition amplitude. Together with (2.2.46), (2.2.47), (2.2.54), (2.6.8) implies that the transition three-point amplitude  $\mathcal{A}_{3,\min}^{s \to s-n}$  depends on q and K as  $A^{s \to s-n} = e^n K^n = e^0$ 

$$\mathcal{A}_{3,\min}^{s \to s-n} \sim q^n K^n \sim q^0 \,. \tag{2.6.9}$$

Thus, the transition three-point amplitudes scale as  $q^0$  in the classical limit, so they are classical.

We now discuss the contribution of three-point amplitudes to the residue of four-point amplitudes. Since in Eq. (2.6.9) the polarization tensors have already been used to generate the factors of K, the expression of the amplitudes that is useful for residue computation is Eq. (2.6.8) together with the fact that the sum of a product of spin-(s - k) polarization tensors over all the physical states yields the projector onto the spin-(s - k) states. It is then straightforward to see that the pole part of diagonal amplitudes, whose diagrams are illustrated in 2.3, is

$$\mathcal{A}_{4}^{s \to s} \Big|_{\text{spin-}(s-n)}^{\text{exchange}} = \sum_{(s-n) \text{ states}} \left[ \frac{\mathcal{A}_{3:p_1,q_2,P}^{s \to s-n} \mathcal{A}_{3:-P,q_3,p_4}^{s-n \to s}}{2p_1 \cdot q_2} + \frac{\mathcal{A}_{3:p_1,q_3,P}^{s \to s-n} \mathcal{A}_{3:-P,q_2,p_4}^{s-n \to s}}{2p_1 \cdot q_3} \right] \\
\sim \frac{s^n}{2p_1 \cdot q_2} (\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_4)^{s-n} \left[ \left( \frac{q_2 \cdot \varepsilon_1}{m} \right)^n \left( \frac{q_3 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_4}{m} \right)^n - \left( \frac{q_3 \cdot \varepsilon_1}{m} \right)^n \left( \frac{q_2 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_4}{m} \right)^n \right], \quad (2.6.10)$$

where we assumed that the relevant higher-spin theory has standard factorization properties. The second term in (2.6.10) follows by interchanging  $q_2$  and  $q_3$ . In the large s limit, (2.2.40), (2.2.42), (2.2.43) imply that

$$\left(\frac{q_2 \cdot \varepsilon_1}{m} \frac{q_3 \cdot \overline{\varepsilon}_4}{m}\right)^n \to \frac{(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \overline{\varepsilon}_4)^n}{(2ms)^n} \left[iq_2 \cdot S(p_1) \cdot q_3 - \frac{1}{ms}q_2 \cdot S(p_1) \cdot S(p_1) \cdot q_3\right]^n \\
\to \frac{(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \overline{\varepsilon}_4)^n}{(2ms)^n} \left[iq_2 \cdot S(p_1) \cdot q_3\right]^n.$$
(2.6.11)

We observe that for any n the explicit factors of s cancel in Eq. (2.6.10), i.e. the various factors combine such that the only spin dependence is through  $(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \overline{\varepsilon}_4)^s$  and  $S^{\mu\nu}$ . However, since the square parenthesis in Eq. (2.6.11) scales as  $q^n$  and the propagator in Eq. (2.6.10) scales as 1/q, only for n = 1 the exchange term has a classical contribution. Heuristically, the existence of one matter propagator allows for transitions to spin states that differ from the external by one unit (i.e.  $s \to s - 1 \to s$ ).

A similar argument reveals the contribution of transition three-point amplitudes to off-diagonal  $s \to s-m$ two-photon amplitudes. It is intuitive that intermediate spin-(s - n) states can contribute if  $0 \le n \le m$ . For n > m, we find that the existence of one matter propagator in the four-point amplitude allows for the state n = m + 1 to also contribute. Indeed, factorization together with Eq. (2.6.8) imply that

$$\mathcal{A}_{4}^{s \to s-m} \Big|_{\text{spin-}(s-n)}^{\text{exchange}} = \sum_{(s-n) \text{ states}} \left[ \frac{\mathcal{A}_{3:p_1,q_2,P}^{s \to s-n} \mathcal{A}_{3:-P,q_3,p_4}^{s-n \to s-m}}{2p_1 \cdot q_2} + \frac{\mathcal{A}_{3:p_1,q_3,P}^{s \to s-n} \mathcal{A}_{3:-P,q_2,p_4}^{s-n \to s-m}}{2p_1 \cdot q_3} \right] \\ \sim \frac{s^{n-m/2}}{2p_1 \cdot q_2} (\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_4)^{s-n} \left[ \left( \frac{q_2 \cdot \varepsilon_1}{m} \right)^n \left( \frac{q_3 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_4}{m} \right)^{n-m} - \left( \frac{q_3 \cdot \varepsilon_1}{m} \right)^n \left( \frac{q_2 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_4}{m} \right)^{n-m} \right], \quad (2.6.12)$$

where we assumed that  $n \ge m$  and that, as before, the relevant higher-spin theory has standard factorization properties.<sup>22</sup> Eqs. (2.2.40), (2.2.42) and (2.2.43) imply that, as in the diagonal amplitude, the factors with an equal number of  $\varepsilon_1$  and  $\overline{\varepsilon}_4$  can be effectively written in the large *s* limit as

$$\left(\frac{q_2\cdot\varepsilon_1}{m}\frac{q_3\cdot\bar{\varepsilon}_4}{m}\right)^{n-m} \to \frac{(\varepsilon_1\cdot\bar{\varepsilon}_4)^{n-m}}{(2ms)^{n-m}} \left[iq_2\cdot S(p_1)\cdot q_3 - \frac{1}{ms}q_2\cdot S(p_1)\cdot S(p_1)\cdot q_3\right]^{n-m}, \quad (2.6.13)$$

and similarly for  $q_2 \leftrightarrow q_3$ . Eqs. (2.2.52) and (2.2.53) can be used to write the remaining unbalanced dependence on  $\varepsilon_1$  and  $\overline{\varepsilon}_4$  as a linear combination of K and S vectors of degree larger or equal to m, which contains at least one term with m factors of K and has an overall factor of  $s^{-m/2}$  (see for e.g. Eq. (2.2.53)). The overall factors of s cancel out, as in the case of diagonal amplitudes. The terms with m factors of K and one power of S if n > m and the terms with m factors of K and no power of S if n = m exhibit classical scaling. In other words, suppressing factors of q and S, we have  $\mathcal{A}_4^{s \to s-m} \sim K^m$  as its three-point counterpart in Eq. (2.6.9). This dependence prompted us to restrict our analysis of FT3 to a single power of K or an arbitrary power of

 $<sup>^{22}</sup>$ An expression analogous with Eq. (2.6.12) can be written for m > n. Both in that expression and in Eq. (2.6.12) the sum over intermediate states yields an on-shell transverse projector. Transversality of external states implies, however, that the momentum-dependent terms in that projector are subleading in the classical limit, which justifies why no projector is included in Eq. (2.6.12).

S and no K, i.e.  $m \leq 1$ , since these are the terms we may probe by considering a spin-s and a spin-(s-1) field. It would be interesting to extend FT3 with further lower-spin fields and access nonlinear dependence on S and K. Consistency of the theory should lead to the cancellation of possible superclassical terms.

The arguments above can be repeated to analyze the possible intermediate states that can contribute to higher-point tree-level amplitudes. For example, starting with Eq. (2.6.9), the two-pole part of a diagonal  $s \to s$  three-photon amplitude can receive contributions from suitable combinations of intermediate states of spin different from s. Further contributions from single-pole terms depend on the scaling of four-point contact terms; for example, if it is the same as for the three-point amplitude,  $\mathcal{A}_4^{s\to s-n} \sim (q \cdot K/m)^n$ , then such four-point amplitudes contribute to single-pole terms of the five-point amplitude. Such higher-point amplitudes are some of the ingredients of higher-PL spin-dependent calculations, so it would be interesting to investigate them further.

#### 2.6.3 Lower-Spin States in the Compton Amplitude

With the information we acquired from the analysis of the soft-region scaling of amplitudes with states of different large spin we may construct Compton amplitudes using a standard on-shell approach: We start with three-point amplitudes with the appropriate scaling and use them to construct the O(S) exchange part of the Compton amplitude. We then fix the contact terms by demanding gauge invariance and that their dimension is the same as that of contact terms arising from the Lagrangians of FT1, FT2 and FT3.

The three-point amplitude is shown diagrammatically in Fig. 2.2. With n = 1 and all-outgoing momenta, its expression that follows from a Lagrangian such as that of FT1 is

$$\mathcal{A}_{3}^{s \to s-1} = (-1)^{s} \mathcal{E}_{1}^{(s)} \cdot \mathbb{M}_{3}(p_{1}, p_{2}, q_{3}, \epsilon_{3}) \cdot \left(u_{2} \bar{\mathcal{E}}_{2}^{(s-1)}\right) , \qquad (2.6.14)$$

where  $\mathbb{M}_3$  is given in Eq. (2.3.1). Using Eqs. (2.2.46) and (2.2.47), the linear-in-S or K part of the three-point amplitude to leading order in s can be written as

$$\mathcal{A}_{3}^{s \to s-1} = (-1)^{s} \frac{2\sqrt{s}(C_{1} - D_{1} - 1)(p_{1} \cdot \epsilon_{3})(\varepsilon_{1} \cdot q)(\varepsilon_{1} \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_{2})^{s-1}}{m} + \dots$$
(2.6.15)

where the ellipsis stands for terms of higher order in s and q.

Next, we sew together two of these three-point amplitudes to obtain the residues of the two matterexchange poles of the Compton amplitude corresponding to the two diagrams in Fig. 2.3. Focusing solely on the spin-(s-1) exchange, we have

$$\operatorname{Res}\left(\mathcal{A}_{4,\mathrm{cl}}\Big|_{\mathrm{spin-}(s-1)}\right)\Big|_{2p_{1}\cdot q_{2}=0} = (-1)^{s} \frac{4s(C_{1}-D_{1}-1)^{2}(p_{1}\cdot\epsilon_{2})(\varepsilon_{1}\cdot q_{2})(p_{4}\cdot\epsilon_{3})(\bar{\varepsilon}_{4}\cdot q_{3})}{m^{2}} \times \sum_{\mathrm{phys. } \varepsilon_{\ell} \text{ states}} (\varepsilon_{1}\cdot\bar{\varepsilon}_{\ell})^{s-1}(\varepsilon_{\ell}\cdot\bar{\varepsilon}_{4})^{s-1}, \qquad (2.6.16)$$

where  $\epsilon_2$  and  $\epsilon_3$  are photon polarization vectors. The physical state sum is evaluated using

$$\sum_{\text{hys. }\varepsilon_{\ell} \text{ states}} (\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_{\ell})^{s-1} (\varepsilon_{\ell} \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_4)^{s-1} = \varepsilon_{1\mu_1} \dots \varepsilon_{1\mu_{s-1}} \left( \mathcal{P}^{(s-1)}(\ell) \right)_{\nu(s-1)}^{\mu(s-1)} \bar{\varepsilon}_4^{\nu_1} \dots \bar{\varepsilon}_4^{\nu_{s-1}}, \qquad (2.6.17)$$

and Eq. (2.6.5). Given that the residue scales as q, we may replace the projector with the identity, as all the other terms are subleading in small q. The residue becomes

$$\operatorname{Res}\left(\mathcal{A}_{4,\mathrm{cl}}\Big|_{\mathrm{spin-}(s-1)}\right)\Big|_{2p_{1}\cdot q_{2}=0} = (2.6.18)$$
$$(-1)^{s} \frac{4s(C_{1}-D_{1}-1)^{2}(p_{1}\cdot\epsilon_{2})(\varepsilon_{1}\cdot q_{2})(p_{4}\cdot\epsilon_{3})(\bar{\varepsilon}_{4}\cdot q_{3})}{m^{2}}(\varepsilon_{1}\cdot\bar{\varepsilon}_{4})^{s-1}.$$

To complete the amplitude we need to add the other exchange channel, with a pole at  $p_1 \cdot q_3 = 0$ , and to find the contact term so that the result is invariant under photon gauge transformations,  $\varepsilon_i \rightarrow \varepsilon_i + \lambda q_i$  with i = 2 and separately i = 3. Allowing for at most two powers of momenta in the contact term, its effect is only the replacements

$$(p_1 \cdot \epsilon_2)(\varepsilon_1 \cdot q_2) \to p_1^{\mu} f_{2,\mu\nu} \varepsilon_1^{\nu}, \qquad (p_4 \cdot \epsilon_3)(\bar{\varepsilon}_4 \cdot q_3) \to p_4^{\alpha} f_{3,\alpha\beta} \bar{\varepsilon}_4^{\beta}, \qquad (2.6.19)$$

with  $f_{i,\mu\nu}$  defined below Eq. (2.3.7). Thus, the classical Compton amplitude of two spin-s particles due to an intermediate spin-(s-1) exchange is

$$\mathcal{A}_{4,\mathrm{cl}}^{s \to s} \Big|_{\mathrm{spin-}(s-1)} = (-1)^s \frac{(\varepsilon_1 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_4)^{s-1}}{m^2} \frac{4s(C_1 - D_1 - 1)^2}{2p_1 \cdot q_2} p_1 \cdot f_2 \cdot \varepsilon_1 \, p_4 \cdot f_3 \cdot \bar{\varepsilon}_4 + (2 \leftrightarrow 3) \,. \tag{2.6.20}$$

Finally, replacing the polarization vectors  $\varepsilon_1$  and  $\overline{\varepsilon}_4$  in terms of the spin tensor as in Eq. (2.2.40) and keeping only the classical terms leads to

$$\left. \mathcal{A}_{4,\mathrm{cl}}^{s \to s} \right|_{\mathrm{spin-}(s-1)} = \mathcal{A}_{4,\mathrm{cl}}^{\delta} = \mathcal{A}_{4,\mathrm{cl}}^{\mathrm{FT1s}} - \mathcal{A}_{4,\mathrm{cl}}^{\mathrm{FT2}} , \qquad (2.6.21)$$

where for the second equality we used Eq. (2.6.6). Thus, we explicitly identify the difference between  $\mathcal{A}_{4,cl}^{FT1s}$ and  $\mathcal{A}_{4,cl}^{FT2}$  as due to the propagation of an intermediate (s-1)-spin state.

## 2.7 Discussion and Conclusion

ph

In this chapter we addressed a puzzle regarding the description and dynamical evolution of spinning bodies in Lorentz invariant theories, with an eye towards applications to the two-body problem in general relativity. Their gravitational or electromagnetic interactions are described via an effective field theory of point particles in terms of a set of higher-dimension operators each with a free Wilson coefficient. Ref. [101] found that the amplitudes-based framework of Ref. [59] leads to additional independent Wilson coefficients in observables compared to the usual worldline description. These additional Wilson coefficients appear to vanish identically for black holes, but seem to contribute to scattering observables for more general spinning objects starting at the second order in Newton's constant and at cubic order in the spin. To identify the origin and the physics described by the extra Wilson coefficients we analyzed the simpler case of electromagnetic interactions of charged spinning bodies. This theory is inherently simpler than general relativity because it has no photon self-interactions and more importantly the analogous effects are already present at linear order in spin. We constructed several such electromagnetic field theories: one with two physical propagating higher-spin fields, another with multiple physical and unphysical propagating higher-spin states packaged in a single higher-spin field, and finally one with a single quantum spin. When available, we also considered several possible classical asymptotic states. In the classical limit we found that simple maps connect the amplitudes of the various cases and reached the conclusion that the presence of states beyond those of a spin-*s* particle leads to additional Wilson coefficients. These Wilson coefficients govern transitions between states of different spin which in turn lead to changes in the magnitude of the classical spin vector even for conservative dynamics. While the magnitude of the spin vector can change in theories with additional propagating states, the magnitude of the spin tensor is conserved.

We found that these results have an interpretation in a more conventional worldline framework and exposed it by analyzing two distinct worldline theories. The first one corresponds to the standard construction [140, 226] where a spin supplementary condition is imposed. The second theory relaxes this constraint, introducing additional degrees of freedom. As for field theories with transitions between states with different spin, the dynamics of this theory allows for changes in the magnitude of the spin vector along classical trajectories.

While the results of all of our field theories can be obtained as limits of results of these two worldline theories, we did not find a worldline theory that reproduces observables obtained from  $\mathcal{A}^{\text{FT1s}}$  whose asymptotic states are limited to a single quantum spin. It would be interesting to pursue the construction of such a theory; to this end it may be profitable to interpret  $\mathcal{A}^{\text{FT1s}}$  as a sequence of absorption amplitudes and match them with a worldline theory with additional non-asymptotic states, along the lines of Ref. [234]. Another interesting direction would be to generalize FT3, which was constructed using spin *s* and (s-1) states, to include spin (s-k) state with  $k \geq 2$ , in order to describe interactions beyond the spin-orbit case.

We evaluated tree-level Compton amplitudes to provide a direct comparison between the various field and worldline theories. We carried out this comparison to second order in the spin tensor. Field theories restricted to propagate only the states of a spin-*s* particle preserve the magnitude of the classical spin vector, and the results match those of the worldline with a spin supplementary condition imposed, compatible with Refs. [231, 179]. In contrast, if states of different spin propagate and transitions are allowed between them, the field-theory Compton amplitudes contain additional Wilson coefficients and match those of the worldline with no spin supplementary condition. The results of the theory with propagating states of a single spin-*s* particle are reproduced for special values of the Wilson coefficients; thus, for these values, the SSC condition is effectively imposed (albeit not actively), and the spin gauge symmetry is restored. This holds true both for the field theory where some of the additional spin states were negative norm [59] and for the alternative construction with all positive-norm states.

To establish a closer connection between the extra degrees of freedom present in the various field-theory descriptions of spinning bodies and classical observables, we constructed a pair of two-body Hamiltonians where the obtained amplitudes match the field-theory amplitudes [59]. The first of these Hamiltonians is the standard two-body one including the standard spin-orbit terms. The second incorporates the mass moment as a new (boost) degree of freedom, and is the one that can match both the field theories with transitions between states of different spins and the worldline with no spin supplementary condition imposed. We carried out detailed comparisons of the impulse, and spin and mass-moment kicks through  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha^2 S)$  between the predictions of these two-body Hamiltonians and the corresponding worldline approaches and found agreement to this order. It would be interesting to generalize our field theory with two propagating fields to contain multiple propagating fields and in this way verify the connection to the worldline through  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha^2 S^{k\geq 2})$ .

We also succeeded in finding a compact way to express scattering observables via an eikonal formula. The spin eikonal formula of Ref. [59] provides a direct connection between amplitudes and scattering observables and bypasses explicit use of the Hamiltonian. We found a generalization of this formula, which is valid through  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha^2 S)$ , compactly contains the intricate results of Hamilton's equations for scattering observables and includes extra degrees of freedom (in the form of the rest-frame boost vector) and all Wilson coefficients. It would be interesting to extent this comparison to higher powers of the spin and boost vectors. While this eikonal formula was not derived from first principles, its existence strongly suggests that a first-principles derivation should exist.

Our primary conclusion is that, whether using a four-dimensional field-theory or a worldline description of spinning bodies, the extra Wilson coefficients are directly associated with additional propagating degrees of freedom. These extra coefficients induce a dynamical change in the magnitude of the rest-frame spin vector even for conservative dynamics. This change in spin magnitude is necessarily associated with a change in the mass moment, which in turn induces a change in the electric dipole moment. It would be very interesting to identify physical systems where these additional degrees of freedom lead to observable effects whether in electrodynamics or general relativity.

We expect that carrying out similar field theory, worldline and effective two-body Hamiltonian constructions and comparisons for general relativity should be straightforward. We look forward to studying the phenomena described here in detail for the case of general relativity where they were originally observed.

# Chapter 3 Dynamical Implications of the Kerr Multipole Moments for Spinning Black Holes

Trevor Scheopner, Justin Vines

Mani L. Bhaumik Institute for Theoretical Physics, University of California at Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA 90095, USA

Previously the linearized stress tensor of a stationary Kerr black hole has been used to determine some of the values of gravitational couplings for a spinning black hole to linear order in the Riemann tensor in the action (worldline or quantum field theory). In particular, the couplings on operators containing derivative structures of the form  $(S \cdot \nabla)^n$  acting on the Riemann tensor were fixed, with  $S^{\mu}$  the spin vector of the black hole. In this chapter we find that the Kerr solution determines all of the multipole moments in the sense of Dixon of a stationary spinning black hole and that these multipole moments determine all linear in R couplings. For example, additional couplings beyond the previously mentioned are fixed on operators containing derivative structures of the form  $S^{2n}(p \cdot \nabla)^{2n}$  acting on the Riemann tensor with  $p^{\mu}$  the momentum vector of the black hole. These additional operators do not contribute to the three-point amplitude, and so do not contribute to the linearized stress tensor for a stationary black hole. However, we find that they do contribute to the Compton amplitude. Additionally, we derive formal expressions for the electromagnetic and gravitational Compton amplitudes of generic spinning bodies to all orders in spin in the worldline formalism and evaluated expressions for these amplitudes to  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$  in electromagnetism and  $\mathcal{O}(S^5)$  in gravity.

# 3.1 Introduction

#### 3.1.1 General Overview

The observation of gravitational waves by the LIGO/Virgo collaboration [102, 103] began a new era of gravitational physics, with implications for astronomy, cosmology, and possibly particle physics. Physical black holes and neutron stars generically carry significant spin angular momentum which affects their dynamics during mergers in binary systems and the gravitational wave signals they emit. These spin effects will play an increasingly important role in signal analysis as gravitational wave detectors become more sensitive [104, 105, 106] and also lead to rich theoretical structure for generic bodies, but especially so for black holes.

The study of the dynamics of generic spinning bodies in general relativity has a long history [107, 108, 109, 110, 253, 259, 260]. Multiple successful field theoretic and worldline based approaches exist for the study of spinning bodies in both the post-Newtonian (PN) approximation [111, 112, 113, 114, 115, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 122, 123, 124, 125, 126, 127, 128, 129, 130, 131, 132, 133, 134, 135, 136, 51, 137, 138, 139, 140, 141, 142, 143, 144, 145, 146, 147, 148, 149, 150, 151, 152, 153, 154, 155, 156, 157, 158, 159, 160, 161, 162, 163] and the post-Minkowskian (PM) approximation [164, 165, 6, 57, 56, 52, 78, 21, 22, 58, 53, 54, 55, 59, 61, 60, 65, 62, 166, 167, 168, 169, 66, 170, 171, 172, 173, 174, 101, 168, 175, 176, 177, 178, 179, 180, 181, 182, 183, 184, 2, 261, 262]. The electromagnetic [187, 188, 189, 5, 190, 191, 192] and non-abelian gauge theory [7, 1] cases are very similar in structure to gravity and can be used to develop helpful insights for the harder gravitational problem.

In both the field theoretic and worldline approaches when considering only the minimal Poincaré degrees of freedom, the interaction of the body with gravity is characterized by a tower of effective field theory operators in the action, each carrying a Wilson coefficient, some number of powers of the spin of the body, and some number of powers of the Riemann tensor and its derivatives. For generic bodies these Wilson coefficients take arbitrary values. We will specialize our interest in this chapter exclusively to spinning black holes. This restriction in principle determines the values of all such Wilson coefficients. However, presently the values for these Wilson coefficients on linear and quadratic in Riemann tensor are only partly known.

The coefficients for operators of the form  $(S \cdot \nabla)^n R_{\dots}$  were fixed in Ref. [145]. Such operators are precisely those which contribute to the three point amplitude. There are possible operators which are linear in the Riemann tensor but not of this form, such as those of the form  $S^{2n}(p \cdot \nabla)^{2n} R_{\dots}$ , whose Wilson coefficients cannot be determined from the three point amplitude. Using the equations of motion in the action, one can see that such operators contribute at order  $R^2$  for scattering processes. We find that for a black hole the coefficients for all operators which are linear in the Riemann curvature can be fixed by matching against the multipole moments of the Kerr solution. Several proposals [173, 101, 179, 180] have appeared in the literature to fix the coefficients on quadratic in Riemann operators based on a shift-symmetry principle which is already true of the linear in Riemann results. Refs. [185, 186] find that the Compton amplitude derived by solving the Teukolsky equation agrees with the shift-symmetry principle through  $\mathcal{O}(S^4)$  but that tension with the shift-symmetry begins at  $\mathcal{O}(S^5)$  (though the results from the Teukolsky equation involve a subtle analytic continuation between the black-hole and naked-singularity regimes). The couplings we find based on consideration of multipole moments can be made consistent with spin-exponentiation, shift-symmetry, or the Teukolsky results through  $\mathcal{O}(S^5)$ . As well, they can be made simultaneously consistent with spin-exponentiation and the Teukolsky results through  $\mathcal{O}(S^5)$ . (Beginning at  $\mathcal{O}(S^5)$  one helicity combination develops a spurious pole in the the spin-exponentiated amplitude; when we say that we can match spin-exponentiation at  $\mathcal{O}(S^5)$  or beyond we only mean that we match to the helicity combination without a spurious pole after  $\mathcal{O}(S^4)$ .)

#### 3.1.2 Summary of Method and Results

In Dixon's landmark papers Ref. [259, 260] on the worldline formalism, among other results, he proves that there is a unique way to define the multipole moments of the current density or stress tensor for an extended body in general relativity so that those multipole moments can be made into a generating function for the current density/stress tensor in the usual way and so that those multipole moments are fully reduced (i.e. contain no interdependencies between moments of different orders). The definitions of these moments are highly nontrivial and only coincide with the "naive" moments (from integrating powers of displacement against the current density/stress tensor over a spatial slice) for a body in uniform motion in flat spacetime. From the Kerr solution, following Israel's analysis [263], we compute the stress tensor which acts as its source (in the maximally causally extended spacetime) and from that source we compute the multipole moments of a spinning black hole using Dixon's definitions of the multipole moments. Those multipole moments can then be used to determine a stress tensor, which in turn can be used to determine an action for the spinning black hole, up to couplings to operators which are quadratic in the Riemann tensor. The action we find is put in dynamical mass function form in (3.6.1) and the specific dynamical mass function we find for spinning black holes is given in (3.7.43).

The dynamical mass function we find contains all of the equivalent black hole couplings identified in Ref. [145], which can be found by comparison to the three-point amplitude (the stationary stress tensor), as well as many new terms. Dixon's formalism specifies the unique way to lift those naive moments to proper multipole moments, and that lifting fixes the additional couplings in (3.7.43) relative to Ref. [145]. This lifting is only able to fix linear in Riemann couplings in the action because no information about higher order in Riemann operators is contained in the stationary moments. We find that the dynamical mass function in (3.7.43) can be made consistent with the spin-exponentiation proposed by Ref. [53] and shift-symmetry proposed by Refs. [173, 101, 179, 180] through  $\mathcal{O}(S^4)$  for the appropriate choice of quadratic in Riemann couplings. As well, it can be made consistent with any one of the three principles of spin-exponentiation, shift-symmetry, or the Teukolsky equation results found in Ref [185] through  $\mathcal{O}(S^5)$  and made consistent with any pair of them except the combination of shift-symmetry and the Teukolsky equation, which are incompatible. To facilitate this analysis, we find a formal expression for the gravitational Compton amplitude for a generic spinning body to all orders in spin and explicitly compute that amplitude in terms of all possible Wilson coefficients in the action through  $\mathcal{O}(S^5)$ . We find that there is one linearly independent structure in the amplitude at  $\mathcal{O}(S^2)$ , with one more appearing at  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$ , seven more at  $\mathcal{O}(S^4)$ , and eleven more at  $\mathcal{O}(S^5)$ .

In order to understand these gravitational results, it is instructive to first follow all of the same steps of analysis for a  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  particle in electromagnetism. In section 3.2 we review the worldline formalism with a dynamical mass function for electromagnetism. In section 3.3 we review the basics of Dixon's theory of multipole moments and specialize his results to the current-density in flat spacetime. In section 3.4 we use Dixon's formalism to compute the multipole moments of a  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  particle and from those moments we compute the necessary dynamical mass function for such a particle, up to corrections which are quadratic in the field strength. Our electromagnetic analysis culminates in section 3.5 in which we compute the electromagnetic Compton amplitude for a generic spinning body to all orders in spin in terms of its dynamical mass function. We then specialize that all orders result to cubic order in spin by enumerating all possible operators in the action and study the spin-exponentiation and shift-symmetry properties of the resultant amplitude. We find that for electromagnetism, it is possible to simultaneously demand spin-exponentiation, shift-symmetry, and consistency with the  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  multipole moment based dynamical mass function through  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$ .

In the second half of the chapter, we perform the same analysis for gravity. We begin in 3.6 by reviewing the worldline formalism with a dynamical mass function in general relativity. In section 3.7 we use Dixon's formalism to compute the multipole moments of a Kerr particle and from those moments we compute the necessary dynamical mass function for such a particle, up to corrections which are quadratic in the Riemann tensor. Then in 3.8 we derive a formal expression for the gravitational Compton amplitude for a generic spinning body to all orders in spin, which is unfortunately much more complex than the corresponding electromagnetic formula. We then specialize that all orders result to quintic order in spin by enumerating all possible operators in the action and study the requirements imposed on that amplitude by spin-exponentiation, shift-symmetry, and matches to the Teukolsky equation. We find that for gravity, the multipole moment based dynamical mass function is consistent with the combination of spin-exponentiation and the Teukolsky equation at  $\mathcal{O}(S^5)$  and that requiring these fixes all available coefficients in the dynamical mass function at this order.

#### 3.1.3 Notation

We call the spacetime manifold  $\mathbb{T}$ . Beginning alphabet Greek letter indices  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta, ...$  are used for spacetime indices at a generic event  $X \in \mathbb{T}$ . The tangent space to  $\mathbb{T}$  at X is written  $T_X(\mathbb{T})$ . Late alphabet Greek letter indices  $\mu, \nu, \rho, \kappa, ...$  are used for spacetime indices at a particular event of interest  $Z \in \mathbb{T}$ . Indices are symmetrized using parentheses and antisymmetrized with brackets, both with the typical symmetry factors:

$$M^{(\alpha\beta)} = \frac{M^{\alpha\beta} + M^{\beta\alpha}}{2}, \qquad M^{[\alpha\beta]} = \frac{M^{\alpha\beta} - M^{\beta\alpha}}{2}.$$
(3.1.1)

For a generic vector  $v^{\alpha}$ , we define:

$$|v| = \sqrt{|g_{\alpha\beta}v^{\alpha}v^{\beta}|}, \qquad \hat{v}^{\alpha} = \frac{v^{\alpha}}{|v|}.$$
(3.1.2)

Let  $\zeta(s, Z, v)$  be a geodesic with affine parameter s so that  $\zeta^{\mu}(0, Z, v) = z^{\mu}$  and  $\frac{d\zeta^{\mu}}{ds}(0, Z, v) = v^{\mu}$ . Then, the exponential map is defined by the event:

$$\exp_Z(v) = \zeta(1, Z, v). \tag{3.1.3}$$

Consider the geodesic  $\zeta(s)$  with affine parameter s so that  $\zeta^{\mu}(0) = z^{\mu}$  and  $\zeta^{\alpha}(1) = x^{\alpha}$  (for Z and X sufficiently close for one only such geodesic to exist). Then, Synge's worldfunction  $\sigma(Z, X)$  is defined by:

$$\sigma(Z,X) = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^1 g_{\alpha\beta}(\zeta) \frac{d\zeta^\alpha}{ds} \frac{d\zeta^\beta}{ds} ds.$$
(3.1.4)

Instead viewing  $\sigma$  as a functional or the path, under variation with respect to the path  $\zeta$ , we find:

$$\delta\sigma = \frac{d\zeta_{\alpha}}{ds}(1)\delta x^{\alpha} - \frac{d\zeta_{\mu}}{ds}(0)\delta z^{\mu}.$$
(3.1.5)

We place indices on  $\sigma$  to indicate covariant derivatives with  $\alpha, \beta, \dots$  indices for x and  $\mu, \nu, \dots$  indices for z:

$$\sigma_{\alpha} = \nabla_{\alpha}\sigma = \frac{\partial\sigma}{\partial x^{\alpha}} = \frac{d\zeta_{\alpha}}{ds}(1), \qquad \sigma_{\mu} = \nabla_{\mu}\sigma = \frac{\partial\sigma}{\partial z^{\mu}} = -\frac{d\zeta_{\mu}}{ds}(0). \tag{3.1.6}$$

If more that two indices of the same type were to be placed on  $\sigma$  the order would be important due to the noncommutativity of covariant derivatives, however we will have no need to do this. As well, we introduce the inverse matrix  $\sigma^{-1}$ :  $\sigma^{-\alpha} \ \sigma^{\mu} \ \sigma^{-\delta} \ \sigma^{\alpha}$ (3.1.7)

$$\sigma^{-\alpha}{}_{\mu}\sigma^{\mu}{}_{\beta} = \delta^{\alpha}_{\beta}. \tag{3.1.7}$$

We will describe the motion of the spinning body so that the worldline  $z^{\mu}(\lambda)$  tracks the center of momentum of the body with  $\lambda$  the worldline time parameter.  $u^{\mu}(\lambda)$  will be a smooth one parameter family of future oriented timelike unit vectors which later will be specialized to be  $\hat{p}^{\mu}(\lambda)$ , the unit vector in the direction of the linear momentum  $p^{\mu}(\lambda)$  of the body. We let  $\Sigma(\lambda)$  be the Cauchy slice formed by shooting out geodesics based at  $z^{\mu}(\lambda)$  which are orthogonal to  $u^{\mu}(\lambda)$ . Explicitly:

$$\Sigma(\lambda) = \{ X \in \mathbb{T} : u^{\mu}(\lambda)\sigma_{\mu}(Z(\lambda), X) = 0 \}.$$
(3.1.8)

Let  $\tau(X)$  be the value of  $\lambda$  so that  $X \in \Sigma(\lambda)$ . Let  $w_1^{\alpha}(X)$  be any vector field satisfying:

$$\lambda = \tau(X) \implies \lambda + \delta\lambda = \tau(\exp_X(w_1\delta\lambda)) + \mathcal{O}(\delta\lambda^2).$$
(3.1.9)

That is, if each point of  $\Sigma(\lambda)$  is displaced by  $w_1^{\alpha}\delta\lambda$  then it produces a point in  $\Sigma(\lambda + \delta\lambda)$  for sufficiently small  $\delta\lambda$ . Automatically:  $w^{\alpha}\nabla \tau = 1$ (3.1.10)

$$w_1^{\alpha} \nabla_{\alpha} \tau = 1. \tag{3.1.10}$$

Let  $D^4x$  be the invariant spacetime volume measure:

$$D^4x = \sqrt{-\det g} d^4x. \tag{3.1.11}$$

Let  $d\Sigma_{\alpha}$  be the future oriented invariant volume measure on  $\Sigma$ . For any scalar function f(X) then:

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} f(X) D^4 x = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{\Sigma(\lambda)} f(X) w_1^{\alpha} d\Sigma_{\alpha} d\lambda.$$
(3.1.12)

Because  $\lambda$  is an arbitrary parameter for the worldline, it is useful to introduce the einbein  $\mathbf{e}(\lambda)$  to help manage reparameterization invariance manifestly. The einbein is an arbitrary function defined so that under a smooth monotone increasing reparameterization  $\lambda' = \lambda'(\lambda)$ :

$$\mathbf{e}'(\lambda') = \frac{d\lambda}{d\lambda'} \mathbf{e}(\lambda). \tag{3.1.13}$$

The reparameterization invariant worldline measure  $D\lambda$  is then defined by:

$$D\lambda = \mathbf{e}(\lambda)d\lambda. \tag{3.1.14}$$

We also define the reparameterization invariant version of the vector field  $w_1^{\alpha}(X)$ :

$$w^{\alpha}(X) = \frac{w_1^{\alpha}(X)}{\mathsf{e}(\tau(X))}.$$
(3.1.15)

Then, we have:

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} f(X) d\mathbb{T} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{\Sigma(\lambda)} f(X) w^{\alpha} d\Sigma_{\alpha} D\lambda.$$
(3.1.16)

Selection of a worldline parameter then amounts to choosing  $e(\lambda)$  as an arbitrary function.

# 3.2 Electromagnetic MPD Equations

We begin with an analysis of the  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  electromagnetic particle in flat spacetime to develop a road-map for the gravitational analysis which follows. The motion of a generic spinning body under the influence of electromagnetism in Minkowski space is described by the electromagnetic flat space Mathisson Papapetrou Dixon (MPD) equations [260]. It is well established [260, 252, 264, 58, 226, 261] that the electromagnetic MPD equations can be derived from a variational principle through an action S of the form:

$$\mathcal{S}[z,p,\Lambda,S,\alpha,\beta] = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left( p_{\mu} \dot{z}^{\mu} + qA_{\mu} \dot{z}^{\mu} + \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} u^{\mu} S^{\nu} \Omega^{\rho\sigma} - \frac{\alpha}{2} (p^2 + \mathcal{M}^2) + \beta p \cdot S \right) d\lambda.$$
(3.2.1)

In this action,  $z^{\mu}(\lambda)$  is the center of momentum worldline of the body, its conjugate is the linear momentum carried by the body  $p_{\mu}(\lambda)$ , q is the charge of the body,  $A_{\mu}$  is the vector potential,  $u^{\mu} = \hat{p}^{\mu}$ ,  $\alpha = \frac{e}{M}$  is a Lagrange multiplier which reinforces reparameterization invariance, and  $S^{\mu}$  is the spin vector of the body. The spin vector is defined so that it becomes the angular momentum vector of the body in its center of momentum frame. Automatically, then  $S \cdot p = 0$  and so  $\beta$  is a Lagrange multiplier included to enforce this constraint. Also appearing is  $\Lambda^{\mu}{}_{A}(\lambda)$ , a tetrad tracking the orientation of the body, which satisfies:

$$\eta^{\mu\nu} = \Lambda^{\mu}{}_{A}\Lambda^{\nu}{}_{B}\eta^{AB}, \qquad \eta_{AB} = \eta_{\mu\nu}\Lambda^{\mu}{}_{A}\Lambda^{\nu}{}_{B}. \tag{3.2.2}$$

Without loss of generality, we take:

$$\Lambda^{\mu}{}_{0}(\lambda) = u^{\mu}(\lambda), \qquad \Lambda^{\mu}{}_{3}(\lambda) = \hat{S}^{\mu}(\lambda). \tag{3.2.3}$$

(If these are set as initial conditions, they are maintained dynamically automatically.) Capital Latin indices A, B, C, D, ... are always used for Lorentz indices in the default frame of the body so that  $\Lambda^{\mu}{}_{A}$  represents the Lorentz transformation the body has undergone in its motion relative to an arbitrary default orientation. The angular velocity tensor of the body is defined by:

$$\Omega^{\mu\nu} = \eta^{AB} \Lambda^{\mu}{}_{A} \frac{d\Lambda^{\nu}{}_{B}}{d\lambda}.$$
(3.2.4)

Finally,  $\mathcal{M}(z, u, S)$ , called the dynamical mass function of the body, encodes the free mass of the body and all of its nonminimal couplings to electromagnetism. In particular, it takes the form:

$$\mathcal{M}^2(z, u, S) = m^2 + \mathcal{O}(q\mathcal{F}) \tag{3.2.5}$$

where m is the mass of the body in vacuum.

For variations of the action it is useful to define the antisymmetric tensor:

$$\delta\theta^{\mu\nu} = \eta^{AB} \Lambda^{\mu}{}_A \delta\Lambda^{\nu}{}_B. \tag{3.2.6}$$

Then, the variation of the above action gives:

$$\delta S = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left( \delta z^{\mu} \left( -\dot{p}_{\mu} + q \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} \dot{z}^{\nu} - \mathbf{e} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial z^{\mu}} \right) \right. \\ \left. + \delta p_{\mu} \left( \dot{z}^{\mu} - \mathbf{e} u^{\mu} - \frac{\mathbf{e}}{|p|} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial u^{\nu}} (\eta^{\mu\nu} + u^{\mu} u^{\nu}) + \beta S^{\mu} + \frac{1}{2|p|} (\delta^{\mu}_{\alpha} + u^{\mu} u_{\alpha}) \epsilon^{\alpha\nu\rho\sigma} S_{\nu} \Omega_{\rho\sigma} \right) \\ \left. + \frac{1}{2} \delta \theta^{\rho\sigma} \left( -\frac{d}{d\lambda} \left( \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} u^{\mu} S^{\nu} \right) + \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\alpha} u^{\mu} S^{\nu} \Omega^{\alpha}{}_{\sigma} - \epsilon_{\mu\nu\sigma\alpha} u^{\mu} S^{\nu} \Omega^{\alpha}{}_{\rho} \right) \right. \\ \left. + \delta S^{\mu} \left( -\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} u^{\nu} \Omega^{\rho\sigma} - \mathbf{e} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial S^{\mu}} + \beta p_{\mu} \right) - \frac{\delta \alpha}{2} \left( p^{2} + \mathcal{M}^{2} \right) + \delta \beta p \cdot S \right) d\lambda.$$
 (3.2.7)

Using the  $\delta S^{\mu}$  variation to solve for the angular velocity tensor, one can then determine the value of  $\beta$ . That value of  $\beta$  can then be used to simplify the spin and trajectory equations of motion. Explicitly, these give:

$$\Omega^{\mu\nu} = \dot{u}^{\mu}u^{\nu} - u^{\mu}\dot{u}^{\nu} + \mathbf{e}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}u_{\rho}\frac{\partial\mathcal{M}}{\partial S^{\sigma}}$$
(3.2.8)

$$\beta = -\frac{\mathbf{e}}{\mathcal{M}} u^{\mu} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial S^{\mu}} \tag{3.2.9}$$

$$\dot{S}^{\mu} = u^{\mu} \dot{u} \cdot S + \mathbf{e} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} u_{\nu} S_{\rho} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial S^{\sigma}}$$
(3.2.10)

$$\dot{z}^{\mu} = \mathbf{e}u^{\mu} + \frac{\mathbf{e}}{\mathcal{M}}\frac{\partial\mathcal{M}}{\partial u_{\mu}} + \frac{\mathbf{e}}{\mathcal{M}}u^{\mu}u^{\nu}\frac{\partial\mathcal{M}}{\partial u^{\nu}} + \frac{\mathbf{e}}{\mathcal{M}}S^{\mu}u^{\nu}\frac{\partial\mathcal{M}}{\partial S^{\nu}} + \frac{1}{\mathcal{M}^{2}}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}S_{\nu}u_{\rho}\dot{p}_{\sigma}.$$
(3.2.11)

In order to determine the trajectory evolution explicitly we must insert the momentum equation of motion into (3.2.11). To simplify, it is useful to introduce the dual field strength:

$${}^{*}\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\rho\sigma} \implies \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} {}^{*}\mathcal{F}^{\rho\sigma}.$$
(3.2.12)

Simplifying finally gives the electromagnetic MPD equations of motion for the spinning body:

$$\left(1 - \frac{q}{\mathcal{M}^2} {}^{\star} \mathcal{F}^{\alpha\beta} u_{\alpha} S_{\beta}\right) \frac{\dot{z}^{\mu}}{\mathbf{e}} = u^{\mu} + \frac{1}{\mathcal{M}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial u_{\mu}} + u^{\mu} \frac{u^{\nu}}{\mathcal{M}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial u^{\nu}} + S^{\mu} \frac{u^{\nu}}{\mathcal{M}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial S^{\nu}} + \frac{1}{\mathcal{M}^2} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} u_{\nu} S_{\rho} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial z^{\sigma}} + \frac{q}{\mathcal{M}^2} {}^{\star} \mathcal{F}^{\mu\nu} S_{\nu} + \frac{q}{\mathcal{M}^3} \left( S^{\rho} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial u^{\rho}} + S^2 u^{\rho} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial S^{\rho}} \right) {}^{\star} \mathcal{F}^{\mu\nu} u_{\nu}$$
(3.2.13)

$$\dot{p}_{\mu} = q \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} \dot{z}^{\nu} - \mathbf{e} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial z^{\mu}} \tag{3.2.14}$$

$$\dot{S}^{\mu} = u^{\mu} \dot{u} \cdot S + \mathbf{e} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} u_{\nu} S_{\rho} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial S^{\sigma}}.$$
(3.2.15)

For solving these equations of motion we will always choose  $\lambda$  so that  $\mathbf{e} = 1$ .

To understand how the dynamical mass function relates to the multipole moments of the body, we will need to study the current produced by our action. Define the  $Q_n$  moments:

$$\mathcal{Q}_{n}^{\rho_{1}\dots\rho_{n}\mu\nu} = \mathcal{Q}_{n}^{(\rho_{1}\dots\rho_{n})[\mu\nu]} = \frac{\partial\mathcal{M}}{\partial\partial_{\rho_{1}\dots\rho_{n}}^{n}\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu}}$$
(3.2.16)

Then, our action produces a formal distributional expression for  $J^{\mu}$ :

$$J^{\mu}(X) = \frac{\delta S}{\partial A_{\mu}} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left( q \dot{z}^{\mu} \delta(X - Z) - 2\mathbf{e} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-1)^n \mathcal{Q}_n^{\rho_1 \dots \rho_n \mu \nu} \partial_{\rho_1 \dots \rho_n \nu}^{n+1} \delta(X - Z) \right) d\lambda$$
(3.2.17)

# **3.3** Dixon's Multipole Moments

In this section we summarize some of the ingredients and results of Dixon's definition of multipole moments [259]. The multipole moments of the current density (in the case of electromagnetism) and of the energy-momentum tensor (in the case of gravity) directly enter the equations of motion of the body and can be computed from the stationary fields produced by the body when isolated. We find that these multipole moments determine all linear in  $\mathcal{F}$  (for electromagnetism) or linear in R (for gravity) operators in the dynamical mass function. The necessary matching is similar to the three-point amplitude matching performed in Ref. [58] in the worldline or in Ref. [59] in the field theory. However, using Dixon's multipole construction we are able to extract more physical information from the stationary  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  or Kerr solutions than is contained in the three-point amplitude, which allows the determination of an increased number of Wilson coefficients.

Following Dixon's discussion, we first consider how multipole moments are defined for a generic scalar field, then a generic tensor field. Then, we see how the general multipole moments of a vector field are constrained in complicated ways if that vector field satisfies the continuity equation. This leads to Dixon's definition of the reduced multipole moments of a conserved vector field which we apply to the current density. In this section, in all but the final subsection, we keep the spacetime generic in anticipation of applying our analysis to gravity. In the final subsection, we specialize to Minkowski space in preparation for electromagnetic calculations.

## 3.3.1 Moments of a scalar field

Using the exponential map we can take functions on  $\mathbb{T}$  and turn them into functions on  $T_z(\mathbb{T})$ . For a scalar field  $\phi(X)$   $(X \in \mathbb{T})$  we may define the function  $\phi'(Z, v)$   $(v \in T_Z(\mathbb{T}))$  by:

$$\phi'(Z,v) = \phi(\exp_Z(v)). \tag{3.3.1}$$

Because  $\phi'(Z, v)$  is a function on the flat tangent space  $T_Z(\mathbb{T})$ , it is simple to define the Fourier transform  $\widetilde{\phi}(Z, k)$  and inverse Fourier transform:

$$\widetilde{\phi}(Z,k) = \int e^{-ik \cdot v} \phi'(Z,v) \frac{D^4 v}{(2\pi)^2}, \qquad \phi'(Z,v) = \int e^{ik \cdot v} \widetilde{\phi}(Z,k) \frac{D^4 k}{(2\pi)^2}$$
(3.3.2)

where the invariant tangent space measure and Fourier space measure are defined as:

$$D^4 v = \sqrt{-\det g(Z)} d^4 v, \qquad D^4 k = \frac{d^4 k}{\sqrt{-\det g(Z)}}.$$
 (3.3.3)

Using that  $v^{\mu} = -\sigma^{\mu}(Z, X)$  we can express the inverse Fourier transform for our original scalar function as:

$$\phi(X) = \int e^{-ik_{\mu}\sigma^{\mu}(Z,X)} \widetilde{\phi}(Z,k) \frac{D^4k}{(2\pi)^2}$$
(3.3.4)

It immediately follows that for scalar functions  $\phi(X)$  and  $\psi(X)$  and their associated  $\phi'(Z, v), \psi'(Z, v)$ :

$$\int_{\Sigma(\lambda)} \psi^*(X)\phi(X)w^{\alpha}d\Sigma_{\alpha} = \int \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{i^n}{n!} k_{\mu_1}...k_{\mu_n} \widetilde{\psi}^*(Z,k) \int_{\Sigma} \sigma^{\mu_1}...\sigma^{\mu_n}\phi(X)w^{\alpha}d\Sigma_{\alpha} \frac{D^4k}{(2\pi)^2}.$$
 (3.3.5)

Define then the moments  $F_n^{\mu_1...\mu_n}$  and the moment generating function F associated to the scalar function  $\phi$ :

$$F_{n}^{\mu_{1}...\mu_{n}}[\phi](\lambda) = \int_{\Sigma} (-\sigma^{\mu_{1}})...(-\sigma^{\mu_{n}})\phi(X)w^{\alpha}d\Sigma_{\alpha}$$
(3.3.6)

$$F[\phi](\lambda,k) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-i)^n}{n!} F_n^{\mu_1...\mu_n} k_{\mu_1}...k_{\mu_n}.$$
(3.3.7)

Automatically the moments of  $\phi$  satisfy the conditions:

$$F_n^{\mu_1\dots\mu_n} = F_n^{(\mu_1\dots\mu_n)}, \qquad u_{\mu_1}F_n^{\mu_1\dots\mu_n} = 0$$
(3.3.8)

where for this last condition it is useful to remember equation (3.1.8). The moment generating function determines how  $\phi(X)$  behaves against test functions and thus determines  $\phi(X)$  completely according to:

$$\int_{\Sigma(\lambda)} \psi^*(X)\phi(X)w^{\alpha}d\Sigma_{\alpha} = \int \widetilde{\psi}^*(Z,k)F(\lambda,k)\frac{D^4k}{(2\pi)^2}.$$
(3.3.9)

#### 3.3.2 Moments of a general tensor field

Suppose we now consider a tensor field  $\phi^{\alpha_1...\alpha_m}{}_{\beta_1...\beta_n}(X)$ . Using Synge's world function and the exponential map we can translate this to a tensor function on the tangent space at z by:

$$\phi^{\mu_1...\mu_m}{}_{\nu_1...\nu_n}(Z,v) = (-\sigma^{\mu_1}{}_{\alpha_1})...(-\sigma^{\mu_m}{}_{\alpha_m})(-\sigma^{-\beta_1}{}_{\nu_1})...(-\sigma^{-\beta_n}{}_{\nu_n})\phi^{\alpha_1...\alpha_m}{}_{\beta_1...\beta_n}(\exp_Z(v)).$$
(3.3.10)

The Fourier transform and its inverse may now be defined as:

$$\widetilde{\phi}^{\mu_1\dots\mu_m}{}_{\nu_1\dots\nu_n}(Z,k) = \int \frac{e^{-ik\cdot v}}{(2\pi)^2} \phi'^{\mu_1\dots\mu_m}{}_{\nu_1\dots\nu_n}(Z,v) D^4 v$$
(3.3.11)

$$\phi^{\prime \mu_1 \dots \mu_m}{}_{\nu_1 \dots \nu_n}(Z, v) = \int \frac{e^{ik \cdot v}}{(2\pi)^2} \widetilde{\phi}^{\mu_1 \dots \mu_m}{}_{\nu_1 \dots \nu_n}(Z, k) D^4 k$$
(3.3.12)

For a given  $\phi$ , suppose we define the lower rank tensor  $\varphi$  by contracting two indices:

$$\varphi^{\alpha_1...\alpha_{m-1}}_{\beta_1...\beta_{n-1}} = \phi^{\alpha_1...\alpha_{m-1}\alpha_m}_{\beta_1...\beta_{n-1}\alpha_m} \implies \varphi'^{\mu_1...\mu_{m-1}}_{\nu_1...\nu_{n-1}} = \phi'^{\mu_1...\mu_{m-1}\mu_m}_{\nu_1...\nu_{n-1}\mu_m}.$$
 (3.3.13)

This property only holds because the upper index bitensor propagator in (3.3.10)  $(-\sigma^{\mu}{}_{\alpha})$  is the matrix inverse of the lower index bitensor propagator  $(-\sigma^{-\beta}{}_{\nu})$ . Alternatively, suppose we consider the moments of a vector field  $\phi_{\beta}$  which is itself the gradient of a scalar field  $\varphi$ :

$$\phi_{\beta} = \nabla_{\beta} \varphi \implies \widetilde{\phi}_{\nu} = i k_{\nu} \widetilde{\varphi}. \tag{3.3.14}$$

This property only holds if the lower index bitensor propagator is  $-\sigma^{-\beta}{}_{\nu}$ . Therefore while one could have imagined other bitensor propagators to use for transporting the components of  $\phi$ , such as parallel transport, the choice in (3.3.10) is unique in satisfying both (3.3.13) and (3.3.14). Unfortunately, the expression given in (3.3.10) has the property that translation to a tensor function on tangent space does not commute with raising/lowering indices of the original tensor field. This causes no real inconvenience for our calculations but one should be aware that  $\phi'^{\mu} \neq g^{\mu\nu}(Z)\phi'_{\nu}$  if  $\phi'^{\mu}$  is defined as above from  $\phi^{\mu}$  and  $\phi'_{\mu}$  is defined as above from  $\phi_{\mu}$ .

For a generic  $\phi$ , the moments and moment generating function of  $\phi$  are defined by:

$$F_{N}^{\mu_{1}...\mu_{N}\rho_{1}...\rho_{m}}{}_{\nu_{1}...\nu_{n}}[\phi](\lambda) = \int_{\Sigma} (-\sigma^{\mu_{1}})...(-\sigma^{\mu_{N}})\phi'^{\rho_{1}...\rho_{m}}{}_{\nu_{1}...\nu_{n}}w^{\alpha}d\Sigma_{\alpha}$$
(3.3.15)

$$F^{\rho_1\dots\rho_m}{}_{\nu_1\dots\nu_n}[\phi](\lambda,k) = \sum_{N=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-i)^N}{N!} F_N^{\mu_1\dots\mu_N\rho_1\dots\rho_m}{}_{\nu_1\dots\nu_n} k_{\mu_1}\dots k_{\mu_N}.$$
(3.3.16)

Automatically the moments of  $\phi$  satisfy the conditions:

$$F_N^{\mu_1\dots\mu_N\rho_1\dots\rho_m}{}_{\nu_1\dots\nu_n} = F_N^{(\mu_1\dots\mu_N)\rho_1\dots\rho_m}{}_{\nu_1\dots\nu_n}, \qquad u_{\mu_1}F_N^{\mu_1\dots\mu_N\rho_1\dots\rho_m}{}_{\nu_1\dots\nu_n} = 0.$$
(3.3.17)

As well,  $\phi$ 's behavior against test functions is determined by:

$$\int_{\Sigma} \psi^{*\beta_1\dots\beta_n}{}_{\alpha_1\dots\alpha_m} \phi^{\alpha_1\dots\alpha_m}{}_{\beta_1\dots\beta_n} w^{\gamma} d\Sigma_{\gamma} = \int \widetilde{\psi}^{*\nu_1\dots\nu_n}{}_{\mu_1\dots\mu_m} F^{\mu_1\dots\mu_m}{}_{\nu_1\dots\nu_n}(\lambda,k) \frac{D^4k}{(2\pi)^2}.$$
(3.3.18)

Thus, just as in the scalar case the moment generating function determines the original tensor field.

#### 3.3.3 Moments of a conserved vector field

If we consider a vector field  $\phi^{\alpha}(X)$  with moments as defined above then a brief calculation reveals:

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} \psi^* \nabla_\alpha \phi^\alpha d\mathbb{T} = -\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int \widetilde{\psi}^*(z,k) \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-i)^n}{(n-1)!} k_{\mu_1} \dots k_{\mu_n} F_{n-1}^{(\mu_1\dots\mu_n)} \frac{D^4 k}{(2\pi)^2} D\lambda$$
(3.3.19)

If  $\phi^{\alpha}$  is a conserved vector field so that  $\nabla_{\alpha}\phi^{\alpha} = 0$ , then the left hand side is 0 for all  $\psi$ . One may then wish based on this to conclude that  $F_{n-1}^{(\mu_1...\mu_n)}$  is 0 for each  $n \ge 1$ . However, this is not a valid deduction.  $\tilde{\psi}^*(Z,k)$ at each fixed  $\lambda$  determines the function  $\psi(X)$  through the inverse Fourier transform and so  $\tilde{\psi}^*(Z(\lambda_1), k)$  and  $\tilde{\psi}^*(Z(\lambda_2), k)$  for  $\lambda_1 \ne \lambda_2$  are not independent of each other. Because of this, one cannot conclude that the integrand above at each  $\lambda$  must be individually 0 as they may conspire to cancel at different  $\lambda$  for arbitrary  $\psi^*(X)$ . Consequently, it is difficult to conclude anything explicit about the moments of  $\phi^{\alpha}$  from the condition  $\nabla_{\alpha}\phi^{\alpha} = 0$ .

Because of the mentioned difficulty, Dixon helpfully introduced an alternate set of reduced moments for a conserved vector field. For us the vector field of interest will always be  $J^{\alpha}$ . The goal of this reduced set of moments is precisely to produce a set which does not have the entanglements of the naive moments for a conserved vector field. Due to the absence of entanglements between the moments, when using Dixon's moments the it is valid to equate integrands moment-by-moment. To arrive at Dixon's reduced multipole moments, which for a conserved vector field are written  $m_n^{\lambda_1...\lambda_n\mu}$ , we first need to introduce a few building blocks. Define:

$$\Theta_n^{\kappa\lambda}(Z,X) = (n+1) \int_0^1 \sigma^{\kappa}{}_{\alpha}(Z,\zeta(t)) \sigma^{\alpha\lambda}(Z,\zeta(t)) t^n dt$$
(3.3.20)

$$\mathfrak{q}_{n}^{\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n}\mu\nu} = (-1)^{n} \int_{\Sigma} \sigma^{\lambda_{1}}...\sigma^{\lambda_{n}} \Theta_{n-1}^{\mu\nu} J^{\alpha} d\Sigma_{\alpha} \qquad (n \ge 1)$$
(3.3.21)

$$\mathfrak{j}_{n}^{\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n}\mu} = (-1)^{n} \int_{\Sigma} \sigma^{\lambda_{1}}...\sigma^{\lambda_{n}} \sigma^{\mu}{}_{\alpha} J^{\alpha} w^{\beta} d\Sigma_{\beta}$$

$$(3.3.22)$$

$$Q_n^{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_n\mu\nu} = \mathfrak{j}_{n+1}^{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_n[\mu\nu]} + \frac{1}{n+1}\mathfrak{q}_{n+1}^{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_n[\mu\nu]\kappa}\frac{\dot{z}^\kappa}{\mathsf{e}}$$
(3.3.23)

$$m_n^{\lambda_1...\lambda_n\mu} = \frac{2n}{n+1} Q_{n-1}^{(\lambda_1...\lambda_n)\mu} \qquad (n \ge 1).$$
(3.3.24)

The  $m_n^{\lambda_1...\lambda_n\mu}$  moments (called the reduced moments) will be the actual moments of interest. The other quantities defined are useful intermediate pieces for calculation. The reduced moments automatically satisfy:

$$m_n^{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_n\mu} = m_n^{(\lambda_1\dots\lambda_n)\mu}, \qquad m_n^{(\lambda_1\dots\lambda_n\mu)} = 0, \tag{3.3.25}$$

$$u_{\lambda_1} m_n^{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_{n-1} [\lambda_n \mu]} = 0 \qquad (n \ge 2).$$
(3.3.26)

Dixon finds that beyond these conditions, the reduced moments are not restricted by the conservation of  $J^{\alpha}$ and that they are independent of each other for different values of n. It is useful to define the  $0^{\text{th}}$  moment:

$$m_0^{\mu} = q \frac{\dot{z}^{\mu}}{\mathbf{e}} \tag{3.3.27}$$

where q is the total charge of the body defined by:

$$q = \int_{\Sigma} J^{\alpha} d\Sigma_{\alpha}.$$
 (3.3.28)

Due to the conservation of  $J^{\alpha}$ , q is independent of  $\lambda$ . Dixon finds also that the reduced moments are independent of this 0<sup>th</sup> moment. Then, define the reduced moment generating function:

$$M^{\mu}(\lambda,k) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-i)^n}{n!} m_n^{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_n \mu} k_{\lambda_1} \dots k_{\lambda_n}.$$
(3.3.29)

Like the naive moments, the reduced moment generating functions determine the behavior of  $J^{\alpha}$  against test functions. In particular, for an arbitrary vector field  $A_{\alpha}(X)$ :

$$\int_{\Sigma} A^*_{\alpha}(X) J^{\alpha}(X) w^{\beta} d\Sigma_{\beta} = \int \widetilde{A}^*_{\mu}(Z,k) M^{\mu}(\lambda,k) \frac{D^4 k}{(2\pi)^2}.$$
(3.3.30)

The moment generating function automatically satisfies:

n,

$$M^{\mu}k_{\mu} = \frac{q}{\mathsf{e}}\dot{z}\cdot k. \tag{3.3.31}$$

This implies that for the gradient of a scalar function, using the definition of the reduced moment generating function:

$$\int_{\Sigma} J^{\alpha} \nabla_{\alpha} f w^{\beta} d\Sigma_{\beta} = \frac{q}{\mathsf{e}} \frac{d}{d\lambda} f(Z).$$
(3.3.32)

For f which decay sufficiently quickly for no boundary term to be necessary under integration by parts we  $0 = \int_{\mathbb{T}} f \nabla_{\alpha} J^{\alpha} d\mathbb{T} = -q \ f(Z) |_{\lambda \to -\infty}^{\lambda \to \infty}$ immediately have: (3.3.33)

which is true without placing any restrictions on the reduced moments of 
$$J^{\alpha}$$
 beyond  $m_0^{\mu}$ . Dixon proved [259] that these reduced moments are the unique set of moments which are independent of each other for different  $n$ , have only  $m_0^{\mu}$  restricted by the conservation law, and satisfy the index symmetry conditions in equations (3.3.25) and (3.3.26).

Through (3.3.30), the current density is determined in terms of the reduced multipole moments. Explicitly comparing that behavior against test functions to (3.2.17) and using crucially that the reduced multipole moments are unique and contain no interdependencies, we can identify:

$$m_n^{\rho_1...\rho_n\mu} = -2 n! \mathcal{Q}_{n-1}^{(\rho_1...\rho_n)\mu} \tag{3.3.34}$$

which gives the reduced multipole moments from the couplings in the action. Alternatively, this can be nicely

inverted using the index symmetry conditions of both quantities to find:

$$\mathcal{Q}_{n}^{\rho_{1}\dots\rho_{n}\mu\nu} = -\frac{1}{n!} \frac{1}{n+2} m_{n+1}^{\rho_{1}\dots\rho_{n}[\mu\nu]}.$$
(3.3.35)

This allows the direct determination of the coupling of the body to the field strength in the action from its exact reduced multipole moments.

#### 3.3.4 Moments of the current density in Minkowski space

We now specialize our calculations to Minkowski space. We can represent an arbitrary element  $v^{\mu}$  of  $T_z(\mathbb{T})$  by a vector  $Y = y^A \vec{\iota}_A = y^A \Lambda^{\mu}{}_A \vec{e}_{\mu}$  where  $\vec{\iota}_A$  are local Minkowskian basis vectors ( $\vec{\iota}_A \cdot \vec{\iota}_B = \eta_{AB}$ ) and  $\vec{e}_{\mu}$  are coordinate basis vectors. Thus:  $v^{\mu} = \Lambda^{\mu}{}_A y^A$ . (3.3.36)

Just as in section 3.2 we continue to always choose the tetrad so that  $\Lambda^{\mu}{}_{0} = u^{\mu}$ . In flat space:

$$\sigma(Z,X) = \frac{1}{2}(x-z)^2, \qquad \sigma^{\mu} = -(x^{\mu} - z^{\mu}), \qquad \sigma^{\mu}{}_{\alpha} = -\delta^{\mu}_{\alpha} \implies \Theta^{\mu\nu}_n = \eta^{\mu\nu}$$
(3.3.37)

We always use lowercase beginning Latin alphabet indices a, b, c, ... for values 1, 2, 3 on the tangent space. Then, we have:  $X \in \Sigma(\lambda) \implies \exists y^a \in \mathbb{R}^3 : x^\mu = z^\mu + \Lambda^\mu_a y^a.$  (3.3.38)

Using the  $y^a$  coordinates and the definition of  $\tau(X)$  we may identify explicit flat space expressions for  $w^{\alpha}$ and  $d\Sigma_{\alpha}$ :

$$\lambda = \tau(z + \lambda u) \implies 1 = (\dot{z}^{\alpha} + \dot{\Lambda}^{\alpha}{}_{a}y^{a})\nabla_{\alpha}\tau \qquad (3.3.39)$$

$$w^{\alpha} = \frac{\dot{z}^{\alpha} + \Lambda^{\alpha}{}_{a}y^{a}}{\mathsf{e}}, \qquad d\Sigma_{\alpha} = -u_{\alpha}d^{3}y. \qquad (3.3.40)$$

With these the  $q_n$  and  $j_n$  moments become:

$$\mathfrak{q}_n^{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_n\mu\nu} = \eta^{\mu\nu}\Lambda^{\lambda_1}{}_{A_1}\dots\Lambda^{\lambda_n}{}_{A_n}\int_{\Sigma} y^{A_1}\dots y^{A_n}(-J\cdot u)d^3y \tag{3.3.41}$$

$$\mathbf{j}_{n}^{\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n}\mu} = \Lambda^{\lambda_{1}}{}_{A_{1}}...\Lambda^{\lambda_{n}}{}_{A_{n}}\Lambda^{\mu}{}_{B}\int_{\Sigma} y^{A_{1}}...y^{A_{n}}\Lambda_{\nu}{}^{B}J^{\nu}\frac{-u\cdot\dot{z}-u\cdot\dot{\Lambda}\cdot y}{\mathbf{e}}d^{3}y.$$
(3.3.42)

Using the explicit formula for the worldline velocity  $\dot{z}^{\mu}$  in (3.2.13),  $u \cdot \dot{z} = -\mathbf{e}$ . As well, due to (3.2.8),  $\dot{\Lambda} = \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{F})$ . Therefore:

$$\mathfrak{j}_{n}^{\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n}\mu} = \Lambda^{\lambda_{1}}{}_{A_{1}}...\Lambda^{\lambda_{n}}{}_{A_{n}}\Lambda^{\mu}{}_{B}\int_{\Sigma} y^{A_{1}}...y^{A_{n}}\Lambda_{\nu}{}^{B}J^{\nu}d^{3}y + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{F}).$$
(3.3.43)

It is useful to define one last class of moments:

$$K_n^{a_1...a_nB} = \int_{\Sigma} y^{a_1}...y^{a_n} \Lambda_{\nu}{}^B J^{\nu} d^3y$$
(3.3.44)

$$\implies \mathfrak{q}_n^{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_n\mu\nu} = \eta^{\mu\nu}\Lambda^{\lambda_1}{}_{a_1}\dots\Lambda^{\lambda_n}{}_{a_n}K_n^{a_1\dots a_n 0} \tag{3.3.45}$$

$$\implies \mathfrak{j}_n^{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_n\mu} = \Lambda^{\lambda_1}{}_{a_1}\dots\Lambda^{\lambda_n}{}_{a_n}\Lambda^{\mu}{}_BK_n^{a_1\dots a_nB} + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{F}). \tag{3.3.46}$$

For a stationary body in its center of momentum frame, the  $K_n$  moments coincide with the naive moments of the stationary current density. By following the chain of definitions from (3.3.20) to (3.3.24) these  $K_n$ moments determine the full reduced moments  $m_n$ . Therefore, computing the naive moments of a stationary body allows the determination of the (coupling independent part of the) full set of reduced moments.

# **3.4 Root-Kerr Multipole Moments**

In this section we determine the linear in  $\mathcal{F}$  couplings in the dynamical mass function to all orders in spin for a  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  particle. We begin by reviewing how the vector potential which defines the  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  particle arises from the Kerr-Newman solution and computing some basic mechanical properties of the  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  fields. Then, we use the  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  fields to determine the charge and current densities which are the source of the  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  solution using analysis which parallels the calculation of the source of the Kerr metric performed in Ref. [263]. From these charge and current densities we are then able to determine the  $K_n$  moments for  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$ and consequently determine the  $m_n$  reduced multipole moments up to corrections of  $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{F})$ . Comparing these reduced moments to those produced by the current density produced by (3.2.17) fully determines all linear in  $\mathcal{F}$  terms in the dynamical mass function for a  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  particle.

#### 3.4.1 From Kerr-Newman to Root-Kerr

The Kerr-Newman solution for a stationary charged spinning black hole is defined by the line element and vector potential:

$$-d\tau^{2} = -\frac{r^{2} - 2Gmr + a^{2} + \frac{q^{2}G}{4\pi}}{r^{2} + a^{2}\cos^{2}\theta}(dt - a\sin^{2}\theta d\varphi)^{2} + \frac{\sin^{2}\theta}{r^{2} + a^{2}\cos^{2}\theta}((r^{2} + a^{2})d\varphi - adt)^{2} + (r^{2} + a^{2}\cos^{2}\theta)\left(\frac{dr^{2}}{r^{2} - 2Gmr + a^{2} + \frac{q^{2}G}{4\pi}} + d\theta^{2}\right)$$
(3.4.1)

$$A_{\mu}dx^{\mu} = \frac{q}{4\pi} \frac{-rdt + ar\sin^2\theta d\varphi}{r^2 + a^2\cos^2\theta}.$$
(3.4.2)

The  $G \rightarrow 0$  limit of the Kerr-Newman metric produces the line element:

$$-d\tau^{2} = -dt^{2} + \frac{r^{2} + a^{2}\cos^{2}\theta}{r^{2} + a^{2}}dr^{2} + (r^{2} + a^{2}\cos^{2}\theta)d\theta^{2} + (r^{2} + a^{2})\sin^{2}\theta d\varphi^{2}.$$
 (3.4.3)

This is just the Minkowski line element in a particular choice of coordinates. The associated spatial metric  $g_{ab}^{(3)}$  implied by this line element is the natural metric of oblate-spheroidal coordinates, related to Cartesian coordinates by:

$$x = \sqrt{r^2 + a^2} \sin \theta \cos \varphi, \qquad y = \sqrt{r^2 + a^2} \sin \theta \sin \varphi, \qquad z = r \cos \theta$$
 (3.4.4)

and with corresponding coordinate basis vectors:

$$\vec{e}_r = \frac{\partial \vec{x}}{\partial r}, \qquad \vec{e}_\theta = \frac{\partial \vec{x}}{\partial \theta}, \qquad \vec{e}_\varphi = \frac{\partial \vec{x}}{\partial \varphi}, \qquad g_{ab}^{(3)} = \vec{e}_a \cdot \vec{e}_b.$$
 (3.4.5)

The vector potential of this system defines the vector potential of a stationary  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  particle:

$$\phi = -A_0 = \frac{q}{4\pi} \frac{r}{r^2 + a^2 \cos^2 \theta}$$
(3.4.6)

$$\vec{A} = g^{(3)ab} A_a \vec{e}_b = \frac{q}{4\pi} \frac{ar}{(r^2 + a^2)(r^2 + a^2 \cos^2 \theta)} \vec{e}_{\varphi}.$$
(3.4.7)

These potentials the produce the electric and magnetic fields:

$$\vec{E} = \frac{q}{4\pi} \frac{(r^2 + a^2)(r^2 - a^2\cos^2\theta)}{(r^2 + a^2\cos^2\theta)^3} \vec{e_r} - \frac{q}{4\pi} \frac{2ra^2\sin\theta\cos\theta}{(r^2 + a^2\cos^2\theta)^3} \vec{e_\theta}$$
(3.4.8)

$$\vec{B} = \frac{q}{4\pi} \frac{2ar(r^2 + a^2)\cos\theta}{(r^2 + a^2\cos^2\theta)^3} \vec{e}_r + \frac{q}{4\pi} \frac{a(r^2 - a^2\cos^2\theta)\sin\theta}{(r^2 + a^2\cos^2\theta)^3} \vec{e}_\theta.$$
 (3.4.9)

Away from any singularities, this magnetic field satisfies  $\nabla \times \vec{B} = 0$  and so can be expressed in terms of a magnetic scalar potential  $\vec{B} = -\nabla \psi$ . In general coordinates in Minkowski space, the condition that the magnetic field (away from any current sources) be given by both a magnetic scalar potential and vector potential is:  $-\sqrt{\det g^{(3)}}g^{(3)ab}\frac{\partial\psi}{\partial x^b} = \epsilon^{abc}\frac{\partial A_c}{\partial x^b}.$  (3.4.10)

Using the stationary 
$$\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$$
 vector potential, one may use this to explicitly compute the associated magnetic scalar potential. Doing so gives:  $q = a \cos \theta$ 

$$\psi = \frac{q}{4\pi} \frac{a\cos\theta}{r^2 + a^2\cos^2\theta}.$$
(3.4.11)

Defining  $\vec{a} = a\vec{e}_z$ , in oblate-spheroidal coordinates we have the identity:

$$\left|\vec{x} - i\vec{a}\right| = r - ia\cos\theta. \tag{3.4.12}$$

Consequently, the stationary  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  particle is equivalently defined [265] by producing the electric and magnetic scalar potentials or electric and magnetic fields given by:

$$\phi + i\psi = \frac{q}{4\pi |\vec{x} - i\vec{a}|} \implies \vec{E} + i\vec{B} = -\nabla \left(\frac{q}{4\pi |\vec{x} - i\vec{a}|}\right). \tag{3.4.13}$$

#### 3.4.2 Mechanical Properties of the Stationary Root-Kerr Solution

Consider a surface of constant r = R for integration. If we take  $R \to \infty$  this becomes the spatial boundary. The surface area element is:

$$d\vec{\mathbb{A}} = (r^2 + a^2)\sin\theta \vec{e_r} d\theta d\varphi. \tag{3.4.14}$$

Then, by Gauss' law the total charge of the  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  particle is given by:

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}} \rho d^3 \vec{x} = \int_{\partial \mathbb{S}} \vec{E} \cdot d\vec{\mathbb{A}} = \lim_{R \to \infty} \int_0^\pi \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{q}{4\pi} \frac{R^2 - a^2 \cos^2 \theta}{(R^2 + a^2 \cos^2 \theta)^2} (R^2 + a^2) \sin \theta d\varphi d\theta = q$$
(3.4.15)

confirming our consistent use of the symbol q for the total charge of the distribution.

The magnetic dipole moment of a charge distribution is by definition:

$$\vec{\mu} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{S}} \vec{x} \times \vec{J} d^3 \vec{x}. \tag{3.4.16}$$

Because the distribution is stationary, rewriting  $\vec{J} = \nabla \times \vec{B}$  and integrating by parts sufficiently many times this is equivalently:  $\vec{J} = \vec{\nabla} \times \vec{B}$  and integrating by parts sufficiently many times

$$\vec{\mu} = -\frac{3}{2} \int_{\partial \mathbb{S}} \vec{A} \times d\vec{\mathbb{A}}.$$
(3.4.17)

With the same surface of constant r = R:

$$\vec{\mu} = -\frac{3}{2} \lim_{R \to \infty} \int_0^\pi \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{qa}{4\pi} \frac{R}{R^2 + a^2 \cos^2 \theta^2} \vec{e}_{\varphi} \times \vec{e}_r \sin \theta d\varphi d\theta = q\vec{a}.$$
 (3.4.18)

So,  $\vec{a}$  is the magnetic dipole moment per unit charge.

Like for a point charge, the total energy in the electromagnetic field for this system is divergent. To regulate this instead of integrating all the way down to r = 0 for the total energy, we integrate down to a cutoff  $r = \varepsilon$ . Then, the total energy is:

$$\mathbf{E} = \int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{|\vec{E}|^2 + |\vec{B}|^2}{2} d^3 \vec{x} = \frac{q^2}{16\pi\varepsilon} \left( 1 + \frac{a}{\varepsilon} \arctan\left(\frac{a}{\varepsilon}\right) + \frac{\varepsilon}{a} \arctan\left(\frac{a}{\varepsilon}\right) \right). \tag{3.4.19}$$

The Poynting vector for the particle is:

$$\vec{\wp} = \vec{E} \times \vec{B} = \frac{q^2}{16\pi^2} \frac{a\vec{e}_{\varphi}}{(r^2 + a^2\cos^2\theta)^3}.$$
(3.4.20)

This leads to the total linear momentum:

$$\vec{p} = \int_{\mathbb{S}} \vec{p} d^3 \vec{x} = 0.$$
 (3.4.21)

So, the stationary  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  fields given are in fact in the center of momentum frame. Consequently, the energy found before is the invariant mass of the distribution:

$$m = \frac{q^2}{16\pi\varepsilon} \left( 1 + \frac{a}{\varepsilon} \arctan\left(\frac{a}{\varepsilon}\right) + \frac{\varepsilon}{a} \arctan\left(\frac{a}{\varepsilon}\right) \right).$$
(3.4.22)

The Poynting vector we found leads to the total angular momentum (which because we are in the center of momentum frame is the spin angular momentum):

$$\vec{S} = \int_{\mathbb{S}} \vec{x} \times \vec{\wp} d^3 \vec{x} = \frac{q^2}{16\pi\varepsilon} \left( 1 + \frac{a}{\varepsilon} \arctan\left(\frac{a}{\varepsilon}\right) + \frac{2\varepsilon}{a} \arctan\left(\frac{a}{\varepsilon}\right) - \frac{\varepsilon^2}{a^2} + \frac{\varepsilon^3}{a^3} \arctan\left(\frac{a}{\varepsilon}\right) \right) \vec{a}.$$
(3.4.23)

While both the spin and the mass of the solution are divergent in  $\varepsilon$ , their ratio has a finite  $\varepsilon$  to 0 limit. Therefore, the physical value of the ratio of the spin to the mass is:

$$\frac{\vec{S}}{m} = \vec{a}.\tag{3.4.24}$$

Immediately it follows that for this distribution:

$$\vec{\mu} = \frac{q}{m}\vec{S}.\tag{3.4.25}$$
Thus, the  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  particle has a gyromagnetic ratio of exactly 2.

## 3.4.3 Charge and Current density

The electric and magnetic fields as well as scalar and vector potential given diverge whenever  $r^2 + a^2 \cos^2 \theta = 0$  and nowhere else. For r > 0 the potentials and their derivatives are continuous and so there are no surface charges or currents for r > 0. Because the divergence of the right hand side in (3.4.8) is 0 away from any poles, there is no charge density for r > 0. Because the curl of the right hand side in (3.4.9) is 0 away from any poles, there is no current density for r > 0. Consequently, the source for the  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  particle must only have support for r = 0. For r = 0 the oblate spheroidal coordinates reduce to the disk in the xy plane with center at the origin and radius a. In order to approach this disk from above we must take  $r \to 0$  with  $\theta < \frac{\pi}{2}$  and in order to approach from below we must take  $r \to 0$  with  $\theta > \frac{\pi}{2}$ . It is useful to define the coordinate  $\chi = \theta$  for z > 0 and  $\chi = \pi - \theta$  for z < 0. This way, two points approaching the disk, one from above and one from below, will limit to the same point in space when their limiting values of  $\chi$  and  $\varphi$  coincide. The disk is then parameterized by the coordinates  $\chi$  and  $\varphi$  by:

$$x = a \sin \chi \cos \varphi, \qquad y = a \sin \chi \sin \varphi, \qquad z = 0.$$
 (3.4.26)

We can also use the cylindrical radial coordinate  $r = \sqrt{x^2 + y^2} = a \sin \chi$ .

The surface charge density inside the disk is given by:

$$\sigma_{\rm disk} = \vec{e}_z \cdot (\vec{E}(0,\chi,\varphi) - \vec{E}(0,\pi-\chi,\varphi)) = -\frac{qa}{2\pi(a^2 - r^2)^{\frac{3}{2}}}.$$
(3.4.27)

We can integrate this from  $\chi = 0$  to  $\chi = \frac{\pi}{2} - \varepsilon$  to get the total charge inside the disk:

$$Q_{\rm disk} = \int_{\rm disk} \sigma_{\rm disk} d\mathbb{A} = q \left( 1 - \frac{1}{\sin \varepsilon} \right). \tag{3.4.28}$$

The surface charge density cannot be extended all the way to the ring at  $\chi = \frac{\pi}{2}$  as it has a nonintegrable divergence. We know from before that the total charge of the distribution is q and so there must be a charged ring at  $\chi = \frac{\pi}{2}$  so that the total charge between this ring and the disk is q. This ring is precisely the ring on which  $r^2 + a^2 \cos^2 \theta = 0$  and so where the potentials and fields are divergent. The charge density on the ring must be azimuthally symmetric because the fields are. So:

$$q = Q_{\text{disk}} + Q_{\text{ring}} = q - \frac{q}{\sin\varepsilon} + \int_0^{2\pi} \lambda_{\text{ring}} a d\varphi \implies \lambda_{\text{ring}} = \frac{q}{2\pi a \sin\varepsilon}.$$
 (3.4.29)

Thus the total charge density of the stationary  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr particle is:}}$ 

$$\rho = -\frac{qa}{2\pi(a^2 - r^2)^{\frac{3}{2}}}\delta(z)\vartheta(a\cos\varepsilon - r) + \frac{q}{2\pi a\sin\varepsilon}\delta(z)\delta(r - a).$$
(3.4.30)

The surface current density inside the disk is:

$$\vec{K}_{\text{disk}} = \vec{e}_z \times \left(\vec{B}(0,\chi,\varphi) - \vec{B}(0,\pi-\chi,\varphi)\right) = \sigma_{\text{disk}} \frac{r}{a} \vec{\iota}_{\varphi}$$
(3.4.31)

where  $\vec{\iota}_{\varphi}$  is the unit vector in the direction of  $\vec{e}_{\varphi}$ . This is precisely the surface current density produced by rigidly rotating the surface charge density of the disk with angular velocity  $\vec{\omega}$  given by:

$$\vec{\omega} = \frac{1}{a}\vec{e}_z.\tag{3.4.32}$$

Rotating the ring with this same angular velocity produces a current in the ring of:

$$\vec{I}_{\rm ring} = \lambda_{\rm ring} \vec{\iota}_{\varphi} = \frac{q}{2\pi a \sin \varepsilon} \vec{\iota}_{\varphi}.$$
(3.4.33)

These currents produce a magnetic dipole moment:

$$\vec{\mu} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\text{disk}} \vec{x} \times \vec{K}_{\text{disk}} d\mathbb{A} + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\text{ring}} \vec{x} \times \vec{I}_{\text{ring}} ds = q\vec{a} \left(1 - \frac{1}{2}\sin\varepsilon\right).$$
(3.4.34)

In the  $\varepsilon \to 0$  limit this produces exactly the magnetic dipole moment we found before. Therefore, the current density for the stationary  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  distribution is:

$$\vec{J} = \rho \frac{\vec{a} \times \vec{x}}{a^2} \tag{3.4.35}$$

and the stationary  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  particle is exactly a charged disk and ring with the charge distribution given by equation (3.4.30) and rotating with the angular velocity  $\frac{1}{a}$  about the central axis of the disk. These charge and current densities are precisely analogous to the mass density and energy-momentum tensor found in Ref. [263] for a stationary Kerr black hole.

#### 3.4.4 Stationary Multipole Moments

We can now compute the  $K_n$  moments explicitly for a stationary  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  particle:

$$K_n^{a_1...a_n0} = \int_{\mathbb{S}} x^{a_1}...x^{a_n} \rho(\vec{x}) d^3 \vec{x}, \qquad K_n^{a_1...a_nb} = \int_{\mathbb{S}} x^{a_1}...x^{a_n} J^b(\vec{x}) d^3 \vec{x}.$$
(3.4.36)

By using (3.4.35), we find immediately:

$$K_n^{a_1\dots a_n b} = \frac{1}{a^2} \epsilon^b{}_{cd} a^c K_{n+1}^{da_1\dots a_n 0}$$
(3.4.37)

and so only the multipole moments of  $\rho$  need to be computed in order to determine the moments of the full distribution. Further, due to the full symmetrization of  $K_n^{a_1...a_n0}$ , for an arbitrary 3-vector  $k_a$ :

$$K_{n}^{a_{1}...a_{n}0} = \frac{1}{n!} \frac{\partial^{n}}{\partial k_{a_{1}}...\partial k_{a_{n}}} \left( K_{n}^{b_{1}...b_{n}0} k_{b_{1}}...k_{b_{n}} \right).$$
(3.4.38)

The charge density of the  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  particle is localized to the xy plane and is rotationally symmetric about the z axis. So, it can be written as:  $\rho(\vec{x}) = \sigma(r)\delta(z)$  (3.4.39) where in particular for  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$ :

$$\sigma(\mathbf{r}) = -\frac{qa}{2\pi(a^2 - \mathbf{r}^2)^{\frac{3}{2}}}\vartheta(a\cos\varepsilon - \mathbf{r}) + \frac{q}{2\pi a\sin\varepsilon}\delta(\mathbf{r} - a).$$
(3.4.40)

Then:

$$K_n^{a_1...a_n 0} k_{a_1}...k_{a_n} = (k_x^2 + k_y^2)^{\frac{n}{2}} \int_0^{2\pi} \cos^n \varphi d\varphi \int_0^\infty \sigma(\mathbf{r}) \mathbf{r}^{n+1} d\mathbf{r}.$$
 (3.4.41)

If n is odd the azimuthal integral gives 0, so we only need to consider even n. For even n the azimuthal .2integral !)

is: 
$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} \cos^{2n} \varphi d\varphi = 2\pi \frac{(2n)!}{4^{n} n!^{2}}.$$
 (3.4.42)

With the integration variable  $x = \frac{1}{a}\sqrt{a^2 - r^2}$  the radial integral becomes:

$$\int_0^\infty \sigma(\mathbf{r}) \mathbf{r}^{2n+1} d\mathbf{r} = \frac{q a^{2n}}{2\pi} \left( 1 + \int_{\sin\varepsilon}^1 \frac{1 - (1 - x^2)^n}{x^2} dx \right).$$
(3.4.43)

Here it is safe to take the  $\varepsilon \to 0$  limit to give:

$$\int_0^\infty \sigma(\mathbf{r}) \mathbf{r}^{2n+1} d\mathbf{r} = \frac{q a^{2n}}{2\pi} \frac{4^n n!^2}{(2n)!}.$$
(3.4.44)

Thus the nonzero  $K_n$  moments become:

$$K_{2n}^{a_1...a_{2n}0} v_{a_1}...v_{a_{2n}} = q |\vec{a} \times \vec{v}|^{2n}$$
(3.4.45)

$$K_{2n+1}^{a_1\dots a_{2n+1}b} v_{a_1}\dots v_{a_{2n+1}} = q |\vec{a} \times \vec{v}|^{2n} (\vec{a} \times \vec{v})^b.$$
(3.4.46)

#### **Dynamical Multipole Moments** 3.4.5

Now we return the  $K_n$  moments to the definition of the reduced multipole moments. For a generic body allowed to respond to external fields, the multipole moments will in general depend on those external fields and so the general moments in external fields cannot be fully determined from the stationary moments. It is unclear at this time what is the appropriate response for a  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  body to external fields. So, for an exact dynamical  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  body:  $K_n^{a_1\dots a_n b} = K_n^{a_1\dots a_n b} + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{F})$ (3.4.47)

where  $K_{n \text{ stat}}^{a_1...a_n b}$  are the  $K_n$  moments we found for a stationary  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  particle. To express the reduced moments it is useful to define the projector  $\perp^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$  which projects 4-vectors into the plane of the disk:

$$\perp^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = \delta^{\mu}_{\nu} + u^{\mu}u_{\nu} - \hat{a}^{\mu}\hat{a}_{\nu}. \tag{3.4.48}$$

We also write  $k_{\perp}^{\mu}$  as a shorthand for  $k_{\perp}^{\mu} = \perp^{\mu} {}_{\nu} k^{\nu}$  and  $k_{\perp}$  without an index as a shorthand for  $\sqrt{|k_{\mu} \perp^{\mu} {}_{\nu} k^{\nu}|}$ . Using the definition of the reduced multipole moments for arbitrary 4-vectors  $k_{\mu}$  and  $v_{\mu}$  we find:

$$k_{\lambda_1}...k_{\lambda_{2n}}v_{\mu}m_{2n}^{\lambda_1...\lambda_{2n}\mu} = qa^{2n}k_{\perp}^{2n}u \cdot v - qa^{2n}k_{\perp}^{2n-2}(u \cdot k)(k_{\perp} \cdot v) + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{F})$$
(3.4.49)

$$k_{\lambda_1}...k_{\lambda_{2n+1}}v_{\mu}m_{2n+1}^{\lambda_1...\lambda_{2n+1}\mu} = qa^{2n}k_{\perp}^{2n}\epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}u^{\mu}a^{\nu}k^{\rho}v^{\sigma} + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{F}).$$
(3.4.50)

Returning these to (3.3.35), we find:

as:

$$\mathcal{Q}_{2n}^{\rho_1...\rho_{2n}\mu\nu}\partial_{\rho_1...\rho_{2n}}^{2n}\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{q}{(2n+1)!}a^{2n}\partial_{\perp}^{2n\star}\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu}a^{\mu}u^{\nu} + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{F}^2)$$
(3.4.51)

$$\mathcal{Q}_{2n+1}^{\rho_1\dots\rho_{2n+1}\mu\nu}\partial_{\rho_1\dots\rho_{2n+1}}^{2n+1}\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{q}{(2n+2)!}a^{2n+2}\partial_{\perp}^{2n}\partial_{\perp}^{\mu}\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu}u^{\nu} + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{F}^2).$$
(3.4.52)

With the definition of  $Q_n$ , these produce the dynamical mass function:

$$\mathcal{M} = m + q \frac{\sinh(a\partial_{\perp})}{a\partial_{\perp}} * \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} a^{\mu} u^{\nu} + q \frac{1 - \cosh(a\partial_{\perp})}{\partial_{\perp}^2} \partial_{\perp}^{\mu} \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} u^{\nu} + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{F}^2).$$
(3.4.53)

There is no subtlety in defining the square root or inverse of the differential operator here because once the trigonometric functions are series expanded only positive even powers of  $\partial_{\perp}$  survive. We will see later that for  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  particles, at least at low orders in spin, the squared dynamical mass function  $\mathcal{M}^2$  may be a simpler object when  $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{F})^2$  operators are considered. So, going forward we will express the dynamical mass function

$$\mathcal{M}^2 = m^2 + 2mq \frac{\sinh(a\partial_\perp)}{a\partial_\perp} * \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} a^\mu u^\nu + 2mq \frac{1 - \cosh(a\partial_\perp)}{\partial_\perp^2} \partial_\perp^\mu \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} u^\nu + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{F}^2).$$
(3.4.54)

This  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  dynamical mass function is our primary result for electromagnetism. When acting on a field strength which in the neighborhood of the body is a vacuum solution ( $\partial_{\nu} \mathcal{F}^{\mu\nu} = 0$ ) of Maxwell's equations, this reduces to:

$$\mathcal{M}^2 = m^2 + 2mq \frac{\sin(a\Delta)}{a\Delta} * \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} a^{\mu} u^{\nu} + 2mq \frac{1 - \cos(a\Delta)}{(a\Delta)^2} (a \cdot \partial) \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} a^{\mu} u^{\nu} + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{F}^2)$$
(3.4.55)

where the  $\Delta$  differential operator is defined by:

$$a\Delta = \sqrt{(a \cdot \partial)^2 - a^2(u \cdot \partial)^2}.$$
(3.4.56)

Again there is no subtlety in defining the square root or inverse of the differential operator. In general (3.4.55) and (3.4.54) are not equivalent, however we show that for computing Compton amplitudes they are interchangeable.

The dynamical mass function in (3.4.55) very nearly matches the couplings in Ref. [145] (if the analysis done there for gravity is done for electromagnetism). In particular, phrased as a dynamical mass function, the couplings in Ref. [145] determine:

$$\mathcal{M}^2 = m^2 + 2mq \frac{\sin(a \cdot \partial)}{a \cdot \partial} * \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} a^{\mu} u^{\nu} + 2mq \frac{1 - \cos(a \cdot \partial)}{a \cdot \partial} \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} a^{\mu} u^{\nu} + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{F}^2)$$
(3.4.57)

Equation (3.4.55) becomes this result with the replacement:

$$a\Delta \to a \cdot \partial.$$
 (3.4.58)

The  $(u \cdot \partial)$  terms present in  $a\Delta$  do not contribute to the three point amplitude and so  $a\Delta$  and  $a \cdot \partial$  are indistinguishable in a three point matching calculation. For this reason, the analyses of Refs. [58, 59] were insensitive to the couplings on terms of the form  $S^{2n}(u \cdot \partial)^{2n} \mathcal{F}_{...}$  The first of such terms is present in Ref. [79] with an undetermined Wilson coefficient. Similarly, in Ref. [145]  $(u \cdot \partial)$  are not considered because if one uses the equations of motion in the action, they can be shuffled into order  $\mathcal{F}^2$  terms. One can see this quickly on the lowest order such term, for example:

$$ea^{2}(u\cdot\partial)^{2\star}\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu}a^{\mu}u^{\nu} = a^{2}a^{\mu}u^{\nu}u^{\rho}\dot{z}^{\sigma}\partial_{\sigma}\partial_{\rho}^{\star}\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{F}^{2})$$
(3.4.59)

$$= \frac{d}{d\lambda} \left( a^2 a^{\mu} u^{\nu} u^{\rho} \partial_{\rho} {}^{\star} \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} \right) - \frac{d}{d\lambda} \left( a^2 a^{\mu} u^{\nu} u^{\rho} \right) \partial_{\rho} {}^{\star} \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{F}^2)$$
(3.4.60)

$$= \frac{d}{d\lambda} \left( a^2 a^{\mu} u^{\nu} u^{\rho} \partial_{\rho} {}^{\star} \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} \right) + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{F}^2).$$
(3.4.61)

For three-point amplitudes, (3.4.54), (3.4.55), and (3.4.57) are interchangeable. For Compton amplitudes, (3.4.54) and (3.4.55) are interchangeable but distinct from (3.4.57). The worldline evolution of all three are distinct. Importantly, by the definition of Dixon's moments (3.3.30) holds for any test function vector field  $A_{\alpha}(X)$ , not only the physically relevant vector potential and that it holds without using the solution to the equations of motion. We have shown that for a  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  particle the only dynamical mass function for which (3.3.30) holds without using the electromagnetic MPD equations is (3.4.54). If one shuffles away  $(u \cdot \partial)$ operators in favor of  $\mathcal{F}^2$  so that the linear in  $\mathcal{F}$  dynamical mass function is given by (3.4.57), then (3.3.30) will not be true identically. In this sense, the advantage of (3.4.54) is that it uniquely provides at each  $\lambda$  the physically correct multipole moments for  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$ .

## 3.5 Electromagnetic Compton Amplitude

In this section we formally compute the  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  Compton amplitude to all orders in spin up to contact terms. Those contact terms are determined by  $\mathcal{F}^2$  operators in the dynamical mass function which the multipole analysis is insensitive to. We begin by computing a formal expression for the all orders in spin Compton amplitude for a generic charged spinning body in terms of the dynamical mass function. Next we consider that generic Compton amplitude explicitly to order  $S^3$ . At  $\mathcal{O}(S^1)$  there is a single Wilson coefficient in the action and it can be determined by matching the  $\mathcal{O}(S^1)$  three-point amplitude or Compton amplitude. At  $\mathcal{O}(S^2)$  there are 5 new Wilson coefficients in the action. One of them can be determined by matching the  $\mathcal{O}(S^2)$  three-point amplitude while the other 4 can be determined uniquely by matching the  $\mathcal{O}(S^2)$  Compton amplitude. At  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$  there are 8 new Wilson coefficients in the action. One of them can be determined by matching the  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$  three-point amplitude while the other 7 appear only as contact terms in the Compton amplitude. Among those 7, there are only 6 linearly independent structures appearing in the  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$  Compton amplitude, and so there is one linear combination of Wilson coefficients that the Compton amplitude is independent of at this order in spin.

Once we have the results for a generic body through  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$ , we specialize our interest to  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$ . Requiring the exponentiation of spin structure as found in Ref. [53] through  $\mathcal{O}(S^2)$  for the helicity-preserving amplitude (which develops a spurious pole starting at  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$ ) and through  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$  for the helicity-reversing amplitude (which has no such spurious pole) fixes all Wilson coefficients through  $\mathcal{O}(S^2)$  and 4 of the 8 new operators at  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$ . Alternatively, requiring the helicity-preserving amplitude to have the shift-symmetry described in Refs. [173, 101, 179, 180] through  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$  fixes 3 of the 8 new operators at  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$ . The spinexponentiation and shift-symmetry are consistent with each other, and together fix 6 of the 8 new operators at  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$  (as they share one redundant condition). The dynamical mass function (3.4.55) determines 2 Wilson coefficients at  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$ , one of which is fixed by the three-point amplitude and the other of which is independent of and consistent with both spin-exponentiation and shift-symmetry. Together then Dixon's multipole moments, spin-exponentiation, and shift-symmetry fix 7 of the 8 Wilson coefficients at  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$ , which is the maximum amount possible by using the Compton amplitude (due to the presence of a linearly independent combination of Wilson coefficients that the amplitude is independent of).

#### 3.5.1 Formal Classical Compton

We consider Compton scattering of an incoming photon with polarization  $\mathcal{E}_1$  and momentum  $k_1$  off of a massive spinning charged body with initial momentum mv ( $v \cdot v = -1$ ) and initial spin s to an outgoing photon with polarization  $\mathcal{E}_2$  and momentum  $k_2$  and perturbed massive body. For a plane wave vector potential with strength  $\epsilon$ :

$$A_{\mu}(X) = \epsilon \mathcal{E}_{\mu} e^{ik \cdot x}, \qquad \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu}(X) = \epsilon f_{\mu\nu} e^{ik \cdot x}, \qquad f_{\mu\nu} = ik_{\mu} \mathcal{E}_{\nu} - ik_{\nu} \mathcal{E}_{\mu}.$$
(3.5.1)

Because the tree level Compton amplitude is  $\mathcal{O}(q^2)$ , it depends only on the  $\mathcal{O}(q)$  and  $\mathcal{O}(q^2)$  pieces of the dynamical mass function. Consequently, we will only be concerned with operators in  $\mathcal{M}$  which are linear or quadratic in  $\mathcal{F}$  and so we consider an  $\mathcal{M}$  of the form:

$$\mathcal{M}^{2}(z, u, S) = m^{2} + q\delta\mathcal{M}_{1}^{2}(z, u, S) + q^{2}\delta\mathcal{M}_{2}^{2}(z, u, S) + \mathcal{O}(q^{3}\mathcal{F}^{3})$$
(3.5.2)

where  $\delta \mathcal{M}_1^2$  is of the form:

$$\delta \mathcal{M}_1^2(z, u, S) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} T_n^{\rho_1 \dots \rho_n \mu \nu}(u, S) \partial_{\rho_1 \dots \rho_n}^n \mathcal{F}_{\mu \nu}(z)$$
(3.5.3)

for some functions  $T_n^{\rho_1 \ldots \rho_n \mu \nu}(u,S)$  satisfying:

$$T_n^{\rho_1...\rho_n\mu\nu} = T_n^{(\rho_1...\rho_n)[\mu\nu]}$$
(3.5.4)

and  $\delta \mathcal{M}_2^2$  is of the form:

$$\delta \mathcal{M}_2^2(z, u, S) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} V_{nl}^{\rho_1 \dots \rho_n \mu \nu | \kappa_1 \dots \kappa_l \tau \omega}(u, S) \partial_{\rho_1 \dots \rho_n}^n \mathcal{F}_{\mu \nu}(z) \partial_{\kappa_1 \dots \kappa_l}^l \mathcal{F}_{\tau \omega}(z)$$
(3.5.5)

for some functions  $V_{nl}^{\dots}(u, S)$  satisfying:

$$V_{nl}^{\rho_1\dots\rho_n\mu\nu|\kappa_1\dots\kappa_l\tau\omega} = V_{nl}^{(\rho_1\dots\rho_n)[\mu\nu]|(\kappa_1\dots\kappa_l)[\tau\omega]}$$
(3.5.6)

$$V_{nl}^{\rho_1\dots\rho_n\mu\nu|\kappa_1\dots\kappa_l\tau\omega} = V_{ln}^{\kappa_1\dots\kappa_l\tau\omega|\rho_1\dots\rho_n\mu\nu}$$
(3.5.7)

Maxwell's equations together with the flat space electromagnetic MPD equations with the described initial conditions will produce solutions of the form:

$$z^{\mu}(\lambda) = v^{\mu}\lambda + q\epsilon\delta z^{\mu}(\lambda) + \mathcal{O}(q^2)$$
(3.5.8)

$$p_{\mu}(\lambda) = mv_{\mu} + q\epsilon \delta p_{\mu}(\lambda) + \mathcal{O}(q^2)$$
(3.5.9)

$$S^{\mu}(\lambda) = s^{\mu} + q\epsilon\delta S^{\mu}(\lambda) + \mathcal{O}(q^2)$$
(3.5.10)

$$J^{\mu}(X) = q J^{\mu}_{\text{stat}}(X) + q^2 \epsilon \delta J(X) + \mathcal{O}(q^3)$$
(3.5.11)

$$A_{\mu}(X) = \epsilon \mathcal{E}_{1\mu} e^{ik \cdot x} + q A_{\mu}^{\text{stat}}(X) + q^2 \epsilon \delta A_{\mu}(X) + \mathcal{O}(q^3)$$
(3.5.12)

where  $qJ_{\text{stat}}^{\mu}$  is the current density produced by the stationary spinning body in the absence of the incoming photon ( $\epsilon \rightarrow 0$ ) and  $qA_{\mu}^{\text{stat}}$  is the (Lorenz gauge) vector potential produced by that current density. The equation of motion perturbations will be oscillatory from solving the electromagnetic MPD equations. In particular, their solutions take the form:

$$\delta z^{\mu} = \delta \tilde{z}^{\mu} e^{ik_1 \cdot v\lambda}, \qquad \delta u^{\mu} = \delta \tilde{u}^{\mu} e^{ik_1 \cdot v\lambda}, \qquad \delta S^{\mu} = \delta \tilde{S}^{\mu} e^{ik_1 \cdot v\lambda}$$
(3.5.13)

for constant vectors  $\delta \tilde{z}, \delta \tilde{u}, \delta \tilde{S}$ . ( $\delta p$  is determined from  $\delta u$  and  $\delta \mathcal{M}_1^2$  because  $p^{\mu} = \mathcal{M} u^{\mu}$ .)

The  $\mathcal{O}(q^2\epsilon)$  piece of the vector potential,  $\delta A_{\mu}$ , determines the linear in  $\epsilon$  outgoing electromagnetic field and thus determines the tree level Compton amplitude. From the Lorenz-gauge Maxwell equation,  $\delta A_{\mu}$ satisfies:  $\partial^2 \delta A^{\mu} = \delta I^{\mu}$  (2.5.14)

$$-\partial^2 \delta A^\mu = \delta J^\mu \tag{3.5.14}$$

and limits to 0 in the asymptotic past (when the appropriate  $i\varepsilon$  is used for the oscillatory solutions). Therefore, it is determined by the delayed Green's function solution to the wave equation and given by:

$$\delta A^{\mu}(X) = \int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\delta J^{\mu}(t - |\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|, \vec{x}')}{4\pi |\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|} d^3 \vec{x}'$$
(3.5.15)

where:

$$t = -v \cdot x, \qquad \vec{x}^{\mu} = x^{\mu} + v^{\mu}v \cdot x.$$
 (3.5.16)

Thus,  $\delta A$  is determined by  $\delta J$ . The current perturbation is determined by the equation of motion perturbations  $\delta z, \delta p, \delta S$ . From (3.2.16) we may identify:

$$\mathcal{Q}_{n}^{\rho_{1}\dots\rho_{n}\mu\nu} = \frac{q}{2m} \left(1 - \frac{q\delta\mathcal{M}_{1}^{2}}{2m^{2}}\right) T_{n}^{\rho_{1}\dots\rho_{n}\mu\nu} + \frac{q^{2}}{m} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} V_{nl}^{\rho_{1}\dots\rho_{n}\mu\nu|\kappa_{1}\dots\kappa_{l}\tau\omega} \partial_{\kappa_{1}\dots\kappa_{l}}^{l} \mathcal{F}_{\tau\omega} + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{F}^{2}).$$
(3.5.17)

Define the Fourier transform of the current:

$$\widetilde{J}^{\mu}(k) = \int \frac{e^{-ik \cdot x}}{(2\pi)^2} J^{\mu}(X) d^4 X.$$
(3.5.18)

In terms of the  $Q_n$  the exact Fourier transform of  $J^{\mu}(X)$  is:

$$\widetilde{J}^{\mu}(k_2) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left( q \dot{z}^{\mu} + 2 \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-i)^{n+1} \mathcal{Q}_n^{\rho_1 \dots \rho_n \mu \nu} k_{2\rho_1} \dots k_{2\rho_n} k_{2\nu} \right) \frac{e^{-ik_2 \cdot z}}{(2\pi)^2} d\lambda$$
(3.5.19)

For a plane wave vector potential it is useful to introduce the function:

$$\mathcal{N}(u, S, k, \mathcal{E}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{i^n}{2m} T_n^{\rho_1 \dots \rho_n \mu \nu}(u, S) k_{\rho_1} \dots k_{\rho_n} f_{\mu \nu}$$
(3.5.20)

so that if we evaluate  $\delta \mathcal{M}_1^2$  on a plane wave vector potential:

$$\delta \mathcal{M}_1^2 \big|_{\text{plane wave}} = 2m \epsilon \mathcal{N}(u, S, k, \mathcal{E}) e^{ik \cdot z}.$$
(3.5.21)

Similarly, for a pair of plane waves it is useful to introduce the function:

$$\mathcal{P}(u, S, k, \mathcal{E}, k', \mathcal{E}') = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{i^{l-n}}{m} V_{nl}^{\rho_1 \dots \rho_n \mu \nu | \kappa_1 \dots \kappa_l \tau \omega}(u, S) k'_{\rho_1} \dots k'_{\rho_n} f'^*_{\mu \nu} k_{\kappa_1} \dots k_{\kappa_l} f_{\tau \omega}.$$
(3.5.22)

As a shorthand, we write:

$$\mathcal{N}_1 = \mathcal{N}(v, s, k_1, \mathcal{E}_1), \qquad \mathcal{N}_2 = \mathcal{N}(v, s, k_2, \mathcal{E}_2), \qquad \mathcal{P}_{12} = \mathcal{P}(v, s, k_1, \mathcal{E}_1, k_2, \mathcal{E}_2).$$
 (3.5.23)

Expanding the definition of the  $Q_n$  moments and returning the result to the Fourier transform of the current produces:  $\delta \tilde{J}^{\mu}(k_2) = H^{\mu}(k_2) \frac{\delta(k_1 \cdot v - k_2 \cdot v)}{\delta(k_1 \cdot v - k_2 \cdot v)}$ (3.5.24)

$$\delta \widetilde{J}^{\mu}(k_2) = H^{\mu}(k_2) \frac{\delta(k_1 \cdot v - k_2 \cdot v)}{2\pi}$$
(3.5.24)

where:

$$H^{\mu}(k_{2}) = -ik_{2} \cdot \delta \tilde{z} v^{\mu} + ik_{2} \cdot v \delta \tilde{z}^{\mu} + 2\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-i)^{n+1} \delta \tilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{n}^{\rho_{1}...\rho_{n}\mu\nu} k_{2\rho_{1}}...k_{2\rho_{n}} k_{2\nu}$$
(3.5.25)

$$\delta \widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{n}^{\rho_{1}\dots\rho_{n}\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2m} \left( -\frac{\mathcal{N}_{1}}{m} + \delta \widetilde{u}^{\sigma} \frac{\partial}{\partial v^{\sigma}} + \delta \widetilde{S}^{\sigma} \frac{\partial}{\partial s^{\sigma}} \right) T_{n}^{\rho_{1}\dots\rho_{n}\mu\nu}(v,s) + \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{i^{l}}{m} V_{nl}^{\rho_{1}\dots\rho_{n}\mu\nu|\kappa_{1}\dots\kappa_{l}\tau\omega} k_{1\kappa_{1}}\dots k_{1\kappa_{l}} f_{1\tau\omega}.$$
(3.5.26)

Returning our current perturbation to  $\delta A$  produces:

$$\delta A^{\mu} = \frac{e^{i\omega(r-t)}}{4\pi r} H^{\mu}(k_2) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r^2}\right)$$
(3.5.27)

where

$$r = \sqrt{x^2 + (x \cdot v)^2}, \qquad n^{\mu} = v^{\mu} + \frac{x^{\mu} + (x \cdot v)v^{\mu}}{r}, \qquad \omega = -k_1 \cdot v, \qquad k_2^{\mu} = \omega n^{\nu}.$$
(3.5.28)

Therefore, the canonically normalized Compton amplitude is:

$$\mathcal{A}_{\text{canonical}} = \mathcal{E}_{2\mu}^* H^{\mu}(k_2). \tag{3.5.29}$$

The covariant (Feynman) normalized Compton amplitude can be obtained by multiplying by the usual factor of  $\sqrt{(2E_1)(2E_2)}$ . Because the calculation is performed in the classical limit and in a frame in which the initial body is at rest, this normalization factor simply becomes 2m. Thus:

$$\mathcal{A} = 2m\mathcal{E}_{2\mu}^* H^{\mu}(k_2). \tag{3.5.30}$$

Expanding the electromagnetic MPD equations to linear order in  $\epsilon$  produces the solutions:

$$\delta \tilde{u}^{\mu} = \frac{-if_{1}^{\mu\nu}v_{\nu}}{mk_{1}\cdot v} - \frac{\mathcal{N}_{1}}{m}\left(v^{\mu} + \frac{k_{1}^{\mu}}{k_{1}\cdot v}\right)$$
(3.5.31)

$$\delta \widetilde{S}^{\mu} = v^{\mu} \delta \widetilde{u} \cdot s - \frac{i}{k_1 \cdot v} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} v_{\nu} s_{\rho} \frac{\partial \mathcal{N}_1}{\partial s^{\sigma}}$$
(3.5.32)

$$\delta \widetilde{z}^{\mu} = \frac{-i}{k_1 \cdot v} \left( \delta \widetilde{u}^{\mu} + \frac{\delta_{\alpha}^{\mu} + v^{\mu} v_{\alpha}}{m^2} * f_1^{\alpha\beta} s_{\beta} + \frac{\eta^{\mu\nu} + v^{\mu} v^{\nu}}{m} \frac{\partial \mathcal{N}_1}{\partial v^{\nu}} + \frac{s^{\mu}}{m} v^{\nu} \frac{\partial \mathcal{N}_1}{\partial s^{\nu}} + \frac{i}{m^2} \mathcal{N}_1 \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} v_{\nu} s_{\rho} k_{1\sigma} \right).$$
(3.5.33)

Simplifying the Compton amplitude allows it to be expressed in terms of these solutions as:

$$\mathcal{A} = 2m \left( f_{2\mu\nu}^* \delta \widetilde{z}^{\mu} v^{\nu} + ik_2 \cdot \delta \widetilde{z} \mathcal{N}_2^* - \delta \widetilde{u}^{\sigma} \frac{\partial \mathcal{N}_2^*}{\partial v^{\sigma}} - \delta \widetilde{S}^{\sigma} \frac{\partial \mathcal{N}_2^*}{\partial s^{\sigma}} + \frac{\mathcal{N}_1 \mathcal{N}_2^*}{m} - \mathcal{P}_{12} \right).$$
(3.5.34)

This gives the formal tree-level electromagnetic Compton amplitude for an arbitrary dynamical mass function.

Using either the dynamical mass function in (3.4.54) or in (3.4.55) determines the  $\mathcal{N}$  function to be:

$$\mathcal{N}(u, S, k, \mathcal{E}) = \frac{\sin\left(\frac{1}{m}\sqrt{S^2(u \cdot k)^2 - (S \cdot k)^2}\right)}{\sqrt{S^2(u \cdot k)^2 - (S \cdot k)^2}} * f_{\mu\nu}S^{\mu}u^{\nu} + ik \cdot S \frac{1 - \cos\left(\frac{1}{m}\sqrt{S^2(u \cdot k)^2 - (S \cdot k)^2}\right)}{S^2(u \cdot k)^2 - (S \cdot k)^2} f_{\mu\nu}S^{\mu}u^{\nu}$$
(3.5.35)

however the multipole analysis is unable to determine the  $\mathcal{P}$  function. Thus, this determines the Compton amplitude through equations (3.5.31)-(3.5.34) up to contact terms. Because the electromagnetic Compton amplitude only depends on the linear in  $\mathcal{F}$  dynamical mass function through the  $\mathcal{N}$  function and (3.4.54) and (3.4.55) determine the same  $\mathcal{N}$  function, they are interchangeable for Compton amplitudes.

### 3.5.2 Compton Amplitude through Spin Cubed

In this subsection we explicitly compute the Compton amplitude for a generic dynamical mass function through order  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$ . Requiring a match to the spin-exponentiated result for a  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  particle fixes all Wilson coefficients on  $\mathcal{F}^1$  and  $\mathcal{F}^2$  operators through  $\mathcal{O}(S^2)$ . The implied values of the Wilson coefficients on  $\mathcal{F}^1$  operators match those determined by (3.4.55). For the helicity-conserving Compton amplitude, the spin-exponentiation cannot be continued past  $\mathcal{O}(S^2)$  due to spurious poles. However, the helicity-reversing Compton amplitude has a perfectly healthy exponentiation at  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$ . The helicity-conserving amplitude can instead be required to satisfy the shift symmetry at  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$  (which is automatic for lower orders which satisfy spin-exponentiation). We find that at  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$  requiring spin-exponentiation for the helicity-reversing Compton and shift symmetry for the helicity-conserving Compton are consistent with each other and consistent with (3.4.55). However, we find that these three requirements still leave one remaining free parameter in the  $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{F}^2S^3)$  piece of the dynamical mass function.

We consider only effects in the dynamical mass function which introduce no additional length scales beyond  $\frac{S}{m}$ . Consequently, we only consider terms for which the number of powers of spin equals the number of derivatives on the vector potential(s). As well, we only consider terms which are parity symmetric and not proportional to the field equations (no  $\partial_{\nu} \mathcal{F}^{\mu\nu}$  or  $\partial^2 \mathcal{F}^{\mu\nu}$  terms). (Terms proportional to  $\partial_{\nu} \mathcal{F}^{\mu\nu}$  or  $\partial^2 \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu}$  do not contribute to the electromagnetic Compton amplitude because they evaluate to 0 in the  $\mathcal{N}$  function.) The most general such  $\delta \mathcal{M}_1^2$  to order  $S^3$  is:

$$\delta \mathcal{M}_{1}^{2} = 2C_{1}^{*} \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} S^{\mu} u^{\nu} + \frac{C_{2}}{m} (S \cdot \partial) \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} S^{\mu} u^{\nu} - \frac{C_{3}}{3m^{2}} (S \cdot \partial)^{2*} \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} S^{\mu} u^{\nu} + \frac{E_{3}}{3m^{2}} S^{2} (u \cdot \partial)^{2*} \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} S^{\mu} u^{\nu} + \mathcal{O}(S^{4})$$
(3.5.36)

for some Wilson coefficients  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$ ,  $C_3$ ,  $E_3$ . The most general such  $\delta M_2^2$  to order  $S^3$  is:

$$\delta \mathcal{M}_{2}^{2} = \frac{D_{2a}}{m^{2}} (\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} S^{\mu} u^{\nu})^{2} + \frac{D_{2b}}{m^{2}} ({}^{*}\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} S^{\mu} u^{\nu})^{2} + \frac{D_{2c}}{m^{2}} S^{2} \mathcal{F}^{\mu\nu} \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} + \frac{D_{2d}}{m^{2}} S^{2} u^{\mu} \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} \mathcal{F}^{\nu\rho} u_{\rho} + \frac{D_{3a}}{m^{3}} {}^{*}\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} S^{\mu} u^{\nu} (S \cdot \partial) \mathcal{F}_{\rho\sigma} S^{\rho} u^{\sigma} + \frac{D_{3b}}{m^{3}} S^{2*} \mathcal{F}^{\mu\nu} u_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \mathcal{F}_{\rho\sigma} S^{\rho} u^{\sigma} + \frac{D_{3c}}{m^{3}} S^{2*} \mathcal{F}^{\mu\nu} u_{\mu} (S \cdot \partial) \mathcal{F}_{\nu\rho} u^{\rho} + \frac{D_{3d}}{m^{3}} S^{2*} \mathcal{F}^{\mu\nu} S_{\mu} (u \cdot \partial) \mathcal{F}_{\nu\rho} u^{\rho} + \frac{D_{3e}}{m^{3}} {}^{*}\mathcal{F}^{\mu\nu} S_{\mu} (S \cdot \partial) \mathcal{F}_{\nu\rho} S^{\rho} + \frac{D_{3f}}{m^{3}} S^{2*} \mathcal{F}^{\mu\nu} (S \cdot \partial) \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{O}(S^{4})$$
(3.5.37)

for some Wilson coefficients  $D_{2a}$ ,  $D_{2b}$ ,  $D_{2c}$ ,  $D_{2d}$  for quadratic-in-spin terms and  $D_{3a}$ ,  $D_{3b}$ ,  $D_{3c}$ ,  $D_{3d}$ ,  $D_{3e}$ ,  $D_{3f}$  for cubic in spin. These lead to the  $\mathcal{N}$  and  $\mathcal{P}$  functions:

$$\mathcal{N} = \frac{C_1}{m} * f_{\mu\nu} S^{\mu} u^{\nu} + \frac{iC_2}{2m^2} k \cdot S f_{\mu\nu} S^{\mu} u^{\nu} + \frac{C_3}{6m^3} (k \cdot S)^{2*} f_{\mu\nu} S^{\mu} u^{\nu} - \frac{E_3}{6m^3} S^2 (k \cdot u)^{2*} f_{\mu\nu} S^{\mu} u^{\nu}, \qquad (3.5.38)$$

$$\mathcal{P} = \frac{D_{2a}}{m^3} f_{\mu\nu}^{**} S^{\mu} u^{\nu} f_{\rho\sigma} S^{\rho} u^{\sigma} + \frac{D_{2b}}{m^3} * f_{\mu\nu}^{**} S^{\mu} u^{\nu*} f_{\rho\sigma} S^{\rho} u^{\sigma} + \frac{D_{2c}}{m^3} S^2 f_{\mu\nu}^{**} f^{\mu\nu} + \frac{D_{2d}}{m^3} S^2 u^{\mu} f_{\mu\nu}^{**} f^{\nu\rho} u_{\rho}$$

$$+ \frac{iD_{3a}}{2m^4} * f_{\mu\nu}^{**} S^{\mu} u^{\nu} (S \cdot k) f_{\rho\sigma} S^{\rho} u^{\sigma} - \frac{iD_{3a}}{2m^4} * f_{\mu\nu} S^{\mu} u^{\nu} (S \cdot k') f_{\rho\sigma}^{**} S^{\rho} u^{\sigma}$$

$$+ \frac{iD_{3b}}{2m^4} S^{2*} f_{\mu\nu}^{**} u^{\mu} k^{\nu} f_{\rho\sigma} S^{\rho} u^{\sigma} - \frac{iD_{3b}}{2m^4} S^{2*} f_{\mu\nu} u^{\mu} k^{\prime\nu} f_{\rho\sigma}^{**} S^{\rho} u^{\sigma}$$

$$+ \frac{iD_{3c}}{2m^4} S^{2*} f_{\mu\nu}^{**} u^{\mu} (S \cdot k) f_{\nu\rho} u^{\rho} - \frac{iD_{3d}}{2m^4} S^{2*} f^{\mu\nu} u_{\mu} (S \cdot k') f_{\nu\rho}^{**} u^{\rho}$$

$$+ \frac{iD_{3d}}{2m^4} S^{2*} f_{\mu\nu}^{**} S_{\mu} (u \cdot k) f_{\nu\rho} u^{\rho} - \frac{iD_{3d}}{2m^4} S^{2*} f^{\mu\nu} S_{\mu} (u \cdot k') f_{\nu\rho}^{**} u^{\rho}$$

$$+ \frac{iD_{3d}}{2m^4} S^{2*} f_{\mu\nu}^{**} S_{\mu} (S \cdot k) f_{\nu\rho} S^{\rho} - \frac{iD_{3d}}{2m^4} S^{2*} f^{\mu\nu} S_{\mu} (S \cdot k') f_{\nu\rho}^{**} S^{\rho}$$

$$+ \frac{iD_{3d}}{2m^4} S^{2*} f_{\mu\nu}^{**} (S \cdot k) f_{\mu\rho} S^{\rho} - \frac{iD_{3d}}{2m^4} S^{2*} f^{\mu\nu} S_{\mu} (S \cdot k') f_{\nu\rho}^{**} S^{\rho}$$

$$+ \frac{iD_{3d}}{2m^4} S^{2*} f_{\mu\nu}^{**} (S \cdot k) f_{\mu\rho} S^{\rho} - \frac{iD_{3d}}{2m^4} S^{2*} f^{\mu\nu} S_{\mu} (S \cdot k') f_{\nu\rho}^{**} S^{\rho}$$

$$+ \frac{iD_{3d}}{2m^4} S^{2*} f_{\mu\nu}^{**} (S \cdot k) f_{\mu\rho} - \frac{iD_{3d}}{2m^4} S^{2*} f^{\mu\nu} S_{\mu} (S \cdot k') f_{\nu\rho}^{**} S^{\rho}$$

$$+ \frac{iD_{3d}}{2m^4} S^{2*} f_{\mu\nu}^{**} (S \cdot k) f_{\mu\nu} - \frac{iD_{3d}}{2m^4} S^{2*} f^{\mu\nu} (S \cdot k') f_{\mu\nu}^{**}.$$

$$(3.5.39)$$

We find it advantageous to express our results for the Compton amplitude in a basis of definite-

helicity/circularly polarized/(anti-)self-dual states for the incoming and outgoing electromagnetic waves, or "photons," while manifesting special covariance and gauge invariance (ultimately). For concreteness (initially), we can work in a particular Lorentz frame, associated to inertial Cartesian coordinates  $x^{\mu} = (t, x, y, z)$ , such that the charged massive spinning particle's initial velocity v and the two photon wavevectors,  $k_1$  incoming and  $k_2$  outgoing (both future-pointing), are given by

$$v^{\mu} = (1, 0, 0, 0), \qquad k_1^{\mu} = \omega(1, 0, 0, 1), \qquad k_2^{\mu} = \omega(1, \sin \theta, 0, \cos \theta).$$
 (3.5.40)

Then  $\theta$  is the photon scattering angle in the z-x-plane, and  $\omega = -v \cdot k_1 = -v \cdot k_2$  is the waves' angular frequency. The "momentum transfer" (per  $\hbar$ )  $q = k_2 - k_1$  squares to

$$q^{2} = (k_{2} - k_{1})^{2} = -2k_{1} \cdot k_{2} = 2\omega^{2}(1 - \cos\theta) = 4\omega^{2}\sin^{2}\frac{\theta}{2},$$
(3.5.41)

vanishing at forward scattering,  $\theta = 0$ . In choosing a particular basis of definite-helicity (complex null) polarization vectors,  $\mathcal{E}_{1\pm}$  incoming,  $\mathcal{E}_{2\pm}$  outgoing, with  $k_n \cdot \mathcal{E}_{n\pm} = 0 = \mathcal{E}_{n\pm}^2$ , it is natural to fix the gauge freedom  $\mathcal{E}_n \to \mathcal{E}_n + \alpha k_n$  by imposing  $v \cdot \mathcal{E} = 0$ . Up to little group transformations ( $\mathcal{E} \to e^{2i\varphi}\mathcal{E}$ ), this determines

$$\mathcal{E}_{1\sigma_{1}}^{\mu} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left( 0, 1, i\sigma_{1}, 0 \right), \qquad \mathcal{E}_{2\sigma_{2}}^{\mu} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left( 0, \cos\theta, i\sigma_{2}, -\sin\theta \right), \tag{3.5.42}$$

for helicities  $\sigma_1 = \pm 1$  and  $\sigma_2 = \pm 1$ , with complex conjugates  $\mathcal{E}_{n\pm}^{*\mu} = \mathcal{E}_{n\mp}^{\mu}$ , normalized as  $\mathcal{E}_{n\sigma_n} \cdot \mathcal{E}_{n\sigma_n}^* = 1$ . This frame (3.5.40) and polarization basis (or gauge) (3.5.42) are just as in [247] and in [185]. The spinless Compton amplitude is given simply by the contraction of the ingoing and conjugate-outgoing polarization vectors (only) in this  $v \cdot \mathcal{E} = 0$  gauge:

$$\mathcal{A}_{\sigma_1\sigma_2}^{(0)} = -2\mathcal{E}_{1\sigma_1} \cdot \mathcal{E}_{2\sigma_2}^* = -\sigma_1\sigma_2 - \cos\theta. \tag{3.5.43}$$

In analyzing the helicity-preserving amplitudes  $\mathcal{A}_{\pm\pm} \propto \mathcal{E}_{1\pm}^{\mu} \mathcal{E}_{2\pm}^{*\nu}$ , it is useful to define as in [22]<sup>1</sup> a complex null vector w orthogonal to both  $k_1$  and  $k_2$ . The conditions  $w^2 = k_1 \cdot w = k_2 \cdot w = 0$  determine w up to an overall normalization, which we fix by setting  $v \cdot w = -\omega$ , and up to a binary choice of branch  $(w \propto |1\rangle [2]$ or  $w \propto |2\rangle [1|)$  to be correlated with the photons' helicities. For our ++ (or --) case, the appropriate w is given by

$$w^{\mu} = \frac{\omega}{4\omega^2 - q^2} \left( 2\omega (k_1^{\mu} + k_2^{\mu}) - q^2 v^{\mu} - 2i\epsilon^{\mu}{}_{\nu\rho\sigma} v^{\nu} k_1^{\rho} k_2^{\sigma} \right)$$
(3.5.44)

(or the complex conjugate  $w^{*\mu}$ ). In the frame of (3.5.40),

$$w^{\mu} = \omega \left( 1, \tan \frac{\theta}{2}, i \tan \frac{\theta}{2}, 1 \right), \tag{3.5.45}$$

noting  $4\omega^2 - q^2 = 4\omega^2 \cos^2 \frac{\theta}{2}$  along with (3.5.41). The complex null direction  $\propto w$  provides an alternative

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In [22] as in most Amplitudes literature, our *helicity-preserving* amplitudes  $\mathcal{A}_{\pm\pm} \propto \mathcal{E}_{1\pm}^{\mu} \mathcal{E}_{2\pm}^{\pm\nu}$  are called "opposite-helicity amplitudes  $\mathcal{A}_{\pm\mp}$ ", while our *helicity-reversing* amplitudes  $\mathcal{A}_{\pm\mp} \propto \mathcal{E}_{1\pm}^{\mu} \mathcal{E}_{2\mp}^{*\nu}$  are called "same-helicity amplitudes  $\mathcal{A}_{\pm\pm}$ ", due to differing conventions (essentially  $k_n \leftrightarrow -k_n$  entailing  $\sigma_n \leftrightarrow -\sigma_n$ ).

(+)-helicity polarization direction for the incoming  $k_1$  photon, as well as an alternative conjugate (+)-helicity polarization direction for the outgoing  $k_2$  photon. We see that we can recover the normalized orthogonal-to-vpolarization vectors  $\mathcal{E}_{1+}$  and  $\mathcal{E}_{2+}^*$  of (3.5.42) from w via  $\mathcal{E}_n \to \mathcal{E}_n + \alpha k_n$  shifts and rescalings:

$$\mathcal{E}_{1+}^{\mu} = \frac{w^{\mu} - k_{1}^{\mu}}{\sqrt{2\omega} \tan \frac{\theta}{2}}, \qquad \mathcal{E}_{2+}^{*\mu} = \frac{k_{2}^{\mu} - w^{\mu}}{\sqrt{2\omega} \tan \frac{\theta}{2}}, \qquad (3.5.46)$$

As in [179] (modulo conventions), let us define the vectors

$$\check{k}_{1}^{\mu} = k_{1}^{\mu} - w^{\mu}, \qquad \check{k}_{2}^{\mu} = k_{2}^{\mu} - w^{\mu}, \qquad (3.5.47)$$

proportional to those in (3.5.46), which, along with w as in (3.5.44), provide a relatively compact way to express the ++ Compton amplitude.

The complex field-strength amplitudes  $f^{\pm}_{\mu\nu} = 2ik_{[\mu}\mathcal{E}^{\pm}_{\nu]}$  are invariant under  $\mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} + \alpha k$ , they transform under the little groups like the  $\mathcal{E}$ s, and they are self-dual (or anti-self-dual),

$${}^{\star}f^{\pm}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\mu\nu}{}^{\kappa\lambda} f^{\pm}_{\kappa\lambda} = \pm i f^{\pm}_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (3.5.48)$$

for states of helicity +1 (or -1), while the complex conjugates are reversed:  ${}^*f_{\mu\nu}^{\pm*} = \mp i f_{\mu\nu}^{\pm*}$ . For one way to see this, we can construct  $f_{1\mu\nu}^+$  from the  $\mathcal{E}_{1\mu}^+$  of (3.5.42), using (3.5.46) with (3.5.44),

$$f_{1\mu\nu}^{+} = 2ik_{1[\mu}\mathcal{E}_{1\nu]}^{+} = \frac{\sqrt{2}i}{\omega\tan\frac{\theta}{2}}k_{1[\mu}w_{\nu]}$$

$$= \frac{\sqrt{2}i}{\omega^{2}\sin\theta}k_{1[\mu}\left(v_{\nu]}(k_{1}\cdot k_{2}) + \omega k_{2\nu]} - i\epsilon_{\nu]\rho\alpha\beta}v^{\rho}k_{1}^{\alpha}k_{2}^{\beta}\right)$$

$$= \frac{\sqrt{2}i}{\omega^{2}\sin\theta}\left(\delta_{[\mu}{}^{\alpha}\delta_{\nu]}{}^{\beta} - \frac{i}{2}\epsilon_{\mu\nu}{}^{\alpha\beta}\right)k_{1\alpha}\left(v_{\beta}(k_{1}\cdot k_{2}) + \omega k_{2\beta}\right)$$

$$= \frac{\sqrt{2}i}{\omega^{2}\sin\theta}2^{+}\mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu}{}^{\alpha\beta}k_{1\alpha}2v_{[\beta}k_{2\gamma]}k_{1}^{\gamma},$$
(3.5.49)

where we have used  $0 = 5k_{1[\mu}\epsilon_{\nu\rho\alpha\beta]}v^{\rho}k_{1}^{\alpha}k_{2}^{\beta} = 2k_{1[\mu}\epsilon_{\nu]\rho\alpha\beta}v^{\rho}k_{1}^{\alpha}k_{2}^{\beta} - \epsilon_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}k_{1}^{\alpha}(v^{\beta}(k_{1}\cdot k_{2}) + \omega k_{2}^{\beta}) = 2k_{1[\mu}\epsilon_{\nu]vk_{1}k_{2}} - \epsilon_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}k_{1}^{\alpha}2v^{[\beta}k_{2}^{\gamma]}k_{1\gamma}$  and  $2\tan\frac{\theta}{2}\cos^{2}\frac{\theta}{2} = \sin\theta$ , and where we recognize the (anti-)self-dual ((A)SD) projector,

$${}^{\pm}\mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu}{}^{\kappa\lambda} = \frac{1}{2}\delta_{[\mu}{}^{\kappa}\delta_{\nu]}{}^{\lambda} \mp \frac{i}{4}\epsilon_{\mu\nu}{}^{\kappa\lambda} = {}^{\pm}\mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu}{}^{\alpha\beta\pm}\mathcal{G}_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\kappa\lambda} = \mp i{}^{\star\pm}\mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu}{}^{\kappa\lambda}, \qquad (3.5.50)$$

which maps a 2-form (or any tensor)  $A_{\mu\nu}$  onto its (A)SD part  ${}^{\pm}A_{\mu\nu}$ :

$${}^{\pm}A_{\mu\nu} = {}^{\pm}\mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu}{}^{\kappa\lambda}A_{\kappa\lambda} = \frac{1}{2} \big( A_{[\mu\nu]} \mp i \,{}^{*}A_{[\mu\nu]} \big), \qquad {}^{*\pm}A_{\mu\nu} = \pm i^{\pm}A_{\mu\nu}. \tag{3.5.51}$$

Note the useful identity

$${}^{\pm}\mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu}{}^{(\alpha}{}_{\rho}{}^{\pm}\mathcal{G}_{\kappa\lambda}{}^{\beta)\rho} = \frac{1}{4}{}^{\pm}\mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu\kappa\lambda}g^{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (3.5.52)$$

or  ${}^{\pm}\mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu(\alpha}{}^{\gamma}{}^{\pm}A_{\beta)\gamma} = \frac{1}{4}{}^{\pm}A_{\mu\nu}g_{\alpha\beta}$  and thus  ${}^{\pm}\mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho\sigma}p_{\sigma}{}^{\pm}A_{\rho\tau}p^{\tau} = \frac{1}{4}p^{2}{}^{\pm}A_{\mu\nu}$ , following from the double Levi-Civita identity  $\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} = -24\delta_{\alpha}{}^{[\mu}\delta_{\beta}{}^{\nu}\delta_{\gamma}{}^{\rho}\delta_{\delta}{}^{\sigma]}$  and  $\delta_{\omega}{}^{[\lambda}\delta_{\alpha}{}^{\mu}\delta_{\beta}{}^{\nu}\delta_{\gamma}{}^{\rho}\delta_{\delta}{}^{\sigma]} = 0$ . Collecting (3.5.49) along with its

conjugate outgoing versions, also following from (3.5.44) and (3.5.46), we have

$$f_{1\mu\nu}^{+} = +2ik_{1[\mu}\mathcal{E}_{1\nu]}^{+} = \frac{4\sqrt{2}i}{\omega^{2}\sin\theta} + \mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu}{}^{\alpha\beta}k_{1\alpha}v_{[\beta}k_{2\gamma]}k_{1}^{\gamma} = \frac{\sqrt{2}i}{\omega\tan\frac{\theta}{2}}k_{1[\mu}w_{\nu]},$$

$$f_{2\mu\nu}^{+*} = -2ik_{2[\mu}\mathcal{E}_{2\nu]}^{+*} = \frac{4\sqrt{2}i}{\omega^{2}\sin\theta} - \mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu}{}^{\alpha\beta}k_{2\alpha}v_{[\beta}k_{1\gamma]}k_{2}^{\gamma} = \frac{\sqrt{2}i}{\omega\tan\frac{\theta}{2}}k_{2[\mu}w_{\nu]},$$

$$f_{2\mu\nu}^{-*} = -2ik_{2[\mu}\mathcal{E}_{2\nu]}^{-*} = \frac{4\sqrt{2}i}{\omega^{2}\sin\theta} + \mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu}{}^{\alpha\beta}k_{2\alpha}v_{[\beta}k_{1\gamma]}k_{2}^{\gamma} = \frac{\sqrt{2}i}{\omega\tan\frac{\theta}{2}}k_{2[\mu}w_{\nu]},$$
(3.5.53)

noting  $w^{*\mu} = -w^{\mu} + \omega \frac{2\omega(k_1 + k_2)^{\mu} - q^2 v^{\mu}}{4\omega^2 - q^2}$  and

$$\omega^{2}\sin\theta = \sqrt{4\omega^{4}\sin^{2}\frac{\theta}{2}\cos^{2}\frac{\theta}{2}} = \frac{q^{2}}{4}(4\omega^{2} - q^{2}) = -\epsilon^{\mu}{}_{vk_{1}k_{2}}\epsilon_{\mu}{}^{vk_{1}k_{2}} \propto [12]\langle 12\rangle[2|v|1\rangle[1|v|2\rangle].$$
(3.5.54)

In simplifying the helicity-basis Compton amplitudes  $\mathcal{A}_{+\pm} \propto f_{1\mu\nu}^+ f_{2\alpha\beta}^{\pm*}$ , the (A)SD properties  $*f_{1\mu\nu}^+ = +if_{1\mu\nu}$  and  $*f_{2\mu\nu}^{\pm*} = \mp if_{2\mu\nu}^{\pm*}$  can be used immediately within (before differentiation of) the  $\mathcal{N}(f)$  and  $\mathcal{P}(f, f')$  functions in (3.5.38). These functions completely determine the amplitudes via (3.5.31)–(3.5.34). They can finally be evaluated directly in terms of the complex null  $w^{\mu}(k_1, k_2, v)$  by using the extreme equalities of (3.5.53), noting e.g.  $\epsilon_{vak_1w} = i\omega \check{k}_1 \cdot a$ ,  $\epsilon_{vak_2w} = -i\omega \check{k}_2 \cdot a$ ,  $\epsilon_{vk_1k_2w} = i\omega q^2/2$  following from (3.5.44), recalling  $\check{k}_1 = k_1 - w$  and  $\check{k}_2 = k_2 - w$ ; they otherwise depend only on  $k_1^{\mu}, k_2^{\mu}, v^{\mu}$  and the initial spin  $s^{\mu} = ma^{\mu}$ .

For the ++ amplitudes  $\mathcal{A}_{++}^{(n)} \propto f_1^+ f_2^{+*} a^n$  at *n*th order in spin, we find

$$\mathcal{A}_{++}^{(0)} = -\frac{4\omega^2 - q^2}{2\omega^2},\tag{3.5.55a}$$

$$\mathcal{A}_{++}^{(1)} = -\frac{4\omega^2 - q^2}{2\omega^2} \bigg\{ C_1(\check{k}_1 + \check{k}_2) \cdot a - (C_1 - 1)^2 w \cdot a \bigg\},\tag{3.5.55b}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}_{++}^{(2)} &= -\frac{4\omega^2 - q^2}{2\omega^2} \Biggl\{ \frac{C_2}{2} [(\check{k}_1 + \check{k}_2) \cdot a]^2 - \Bigl((C_1 - 1)C_2 + D_{2d}\Bigr)(w \cdot a)^2 \\ &+ (C_1 - 1)(C_1 - C_2) w \cdot a \,(\check{k}_1 + \check{k}_2) \cdot a \\ &+ \left[ \Bigl((C_1 - 1)(2C_1 - C_2) + 2D_{2d} - D_{2a} - D_{2b}\Bigr) \frac{2\omega^2}{q^2} + C_1^2 - C_2 \right] \check{k}_1 \cdot a \,\check{k}_2 \cdot a \Biggr\}, \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}_{++}^{(3)} &= -\frac{4\omega^2 - q^2}{2\omega^2} \Biggl\{ \frac{C_3}{6} [(\check{k}_1 + \check{k}_2) \cdot a]^3 + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{++}^{(3)(C_2 - 1, C_1 - 1)} \\ &+ \Bigl( \frac{4}{3} + 2F_i - \frac{F_{ii}}{4} + \frac{F_{iii}}{2} \Bigr) (w \cdot a)^3 + \Bigl(F_i - \frac{C_3 - 1}{6} \Bigr) (w \cdot a)^2 (\check{k}_1 + \check{k}_2) \cdot a \\ &+ \Bigl[ F_{ii} \frac{\omega^2}{q^2} w \cdot a + \Bigl(F_{iii} \frac{\omega^2}{q^2} - \frac{C_3 - 1}{2} \Bigr) (\check{k}_1 + \check{k}_2) \cdot a \Bigr] \check{k}_1 \cdot a \,\check{k}_2 \cdot a \Biggr\}, \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.5.55d)$$

where

$$F_{i} = \frac{E_{3} - 1}{6} - \frac{D_{3b} + D_{3c} + D_{3e}}{2}, \qquad F_{ii} = 3 - 2D_{3a} + 4D_{3c} + 4D_{3d},$$

$$F_{\rm iii} = -1 - \frac{2}{3}E_3 - D_{3a} + 2D_{3b} + 2D_{3c}, \qquad (3.5.55e)$$

and  $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{++}^{(3)(C_2-1,C_1-1)}$  vanishes when  $C_2 = C_1 = 1$  (which for  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  are fixed by lower-order-in-spin pieces of the Compton amplitude, or by the three-point amplitude). Here we have used

$$\omega^2 a^2 = (w \cdot a)^2 - \frac{4\omega^2}{q^2} \check{k}_1 \cdot a \,\check{k}_2 \cdot a, \qquad (3.5.56)$$

resulting from  $0 = (u^{[\lambda}k_1^{\mu}k_2^{\nu}w^{\rho}a^{\sigma}])^2$ , to eliminate  $a^2$  in favor of  $(w \cdot a)^2$ . This leads to the relatively compact expressions (3.5.55) — paralleling the parametrization (3.8.85) of the black hole–graviton ++ Compton amplitude at fifth order in spin as formulated in [185] — but it makes the amplitude appear to have (in addition to the physical poles at  $v \cdot k_1 = v \cdot k_2 = -\omega = 0$ ) unphysical poles: firstly, explicitly, at  $q^2 = 4\omega^2 \sin^2 \frac{\theta}{2} = 0$  at forward scattering,  $\theta = 0$  — the would-be physical pole corresponding to an internal photon of momentum  $q = k_2 - k_1$  going on shell, but on which the residue must be zero because the three-photon amplitude vanishes; and secondly, hidden inside w (and  $\check{k}_1$  and  $\check{k}_2$ ) in (3.5.44), at  $4\omega^2 - q^2 = 4\omega^2 \cos^2 \frac{\theta}{2} = 0$  — at back-scattering,  $\theta = \pi$  — "the spurious pole." However, no unphysical poles are actually present, for arbitrary values of the Wilson coefficients, as can be made manifest by using (3.5.56) to eliminate factors of  $(w \cdot a)^2$  in favor of  $a^2$ .

The helicity-preserving amplitude  $\mathcal{A}_{++}$  is well expressed in terms of the spin component  $w \cdot a$  along the complex null  $w^{\mu}(k_1, k_2, u)$  of (3.5.44) because of its symmetry  $w \leftrightarrow w^*$  under  $k_1 \leftrightarrow k_2$  [with  $-2\omega = (k_1 + k_2) \cdot v$ ].

Turning to the helicity-reversing amplitude  $\mathcal{A}_{+-}$ , the appropriate symmetry is reflected by a vector  $x^{\mu}(k_1, k_2, v)$  with  $x \leftrightarrow -x$  under  $k_1 \leftrightarrow k_2$  (modulo any component along v). An apt choice is  $x(k_1, k_2, v) \cdot a \propto w(k_2, -k_1, v) \cdot a$ :

$$w \cdot a = \left(\omega(k_1 + k_2) \cdot a + i\epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}v^{\mu}k_1^{\nu}k_2^{\rho}a^{\sigma}\right)\frac{2\omega}{4\omega^2 - q^2},$$
  

$$x \cdot a = \left(\omega(k_2 - k_1) \cdot a + i\epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}v^{\mu}k_1^{\nu}k_2^{\rho}a^{\sigma}\right)\frac{2\omega}{q^2} = w \cdot a + \frac{4\omega^2}{q^2}(k_1 - w) \cdot a$$
  

$$= \frac{2\omega}{q^2}\left(\omega q \cdot a + ik_1 \times k_2 \cdot a\right),$$
(3.5.57)

coinciding with " $w_O \cdot a$ " from [247] or  $\propto$  " $w_{++} \cdot a$ " from [179], with  $x \cdot a \propto \langle 1|av|1 \rangle$ , in contrast to  $w \cdot a \propto [2|a|1 \rangle$ . The identity (3.5.56) for  $(w \cdot a)^2$  translates into

$$\frac{q^2}{4\omega^2} \left( (x \cdot a)^2 - \omega^2 a^2 \right) = \frac{-q^2}{4\omega^2 - q^2} (k_1 \cdot a - x \cdot a) (k_2 \cdot a + x \cdot a)$$

$$= (k_1 \cdot a) (k_2 \cdot a) - (x \cdot a) (q \cdot a) - \omega^2 a^2 = (aya)$$
(3.5.58)

for  $(x \cdot a)^2$  and defines a convenient quadratic (aya) in the spin. With this, we find

$$\mathcal{A}_{+-} = \frac{q^2}{2\omega^2} \Biggl\{ 1 - C_1 \, q \cdot a + (C_1^2 - 1)x \cdot a + \frac{C_2}{2} (q \cdot a)^2 - (C_1 - 1)(C_1 + C_2)k_1 \cdot a \, k_2 \cdot a \Biggr\}$$
(3.5.59)

$$+ \left[ \left( D_{2b} - D_{2a} - (C_1 - 1)(2C_1 + C_2) \right) \frac{2\omega^2}{q^2} + (C_2 - 1)C_1 \right] (aya) \\ - \left( 4D_{2c} + D_{2d} + (C_1 - 1)C_1 \right) \omega^2 a^2 \\ - \frac{C_3}{6} (q \cdot a)^3 + (C_3 - 1)x \cdot a k_1 \cdot a k_2 \cdot a + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{+-}^{(3)(C_2 - 1, C_1 - 1)} \\ - \left( (1 + D_{3a}) \frac{\omega^2}{q^2} + \frac{C_3 - 1}{2} \right) (aya)q \cdot a - \left( \frac{3}{4} + E_3 + D_{3b} + D_{3d} \right) \omega^2 a^2 x \cdot a \\ - \left( \frac{1 + E_3}{6} + \frac{D_{3b} + D_{3c} - D_{3e}}{2} + 2D_{3f} + \frac{C_3 - 1}{6} \right) \omega^2 a^2 q \cdot a + \mathcal{O}(a^4) \bigg\},$$

where again  $\hat{\mathcal{A}}^{(3)(C_2-1,C_1-1)}_{+-}$  vanishes when  $C_2 = C_1 = 1$ .

At linear order in spin,  $C_1$  is determined by the  $\mathcal{O}(S^1)$  amplitude. At  $\mathcal{O}(S^2)$ , all 5 new operators,  $C_2, D_{2a,b,c,d}$  contribute linearly independent structures to the amplitude. At  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$  there are 8 new operators  $C_3, D_{3a,b,c,d,e,f}, E_3$  but only 7 linearly independent structures in the Compton. In particular, the Compton amplitude is independent of the value of the linear combination:

$$Z = -6E_3 + D_{3f} + 2C_1D_{3b} - 2(1+C_1)D_{3c} + 4D_{3d}$$
(3.5.60)

These amplitudes produce the spin-exponentiation of Ref. [53] through order  $\mathcal{O}(S^2)$  if and only if:

$$C_1 = C_2 = 1,$$
  $D_{2a} = D_{2b} = D_{2c} = D_{2d} = 0.$  (3.5.61)

For these values of the Wilson coefficients, we recover the spin-exponentiated amplitudes:

$$\mathcal{A}_{++} = \mathcal{A}_{++}^{(0)} \exp\left(a \cdot (\check{k}_1 + \check{k}_2)\right) + \mathcal{O}(S^3)$$
(3.5.62)

$$\mathcal{A}_{+-} = \mathcal{A}_{+-}^{(0)} \exp\left(a \cdot (k_1 - k_2)\right) + \mathcal{O}(S^3)$$
(3.5.63)

For the equal helicity amplitude the spin-exponentiation cannot continue past  $\mathcal{O}(S^2)$  due to the spurious pole in  $\cos(\theta/2)$ . There is no such trouble for the opposite helicity amplitude. If one demands the continuance of the spin-exponentiation for the opposite helicity amplitude through  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$ , it fixes  $C_3$  and 3 of the  $D_{3a,b,c,d,e,f}$  coefficients. In particular it determines:

$$C_{3} = 1, D_{3a} = -1, D_{3d} = -D_{3b} - E_{3} - \frac{3}{4}, D_{3f} = -\frac{1}{12} - \frac{E_{3}}{12} - \frac{D_{3b}}{4} - \frac{D_{3c}}{4} + \frac{D_{3e}}{4}. (3.5.64)$$

The value  $C_3 = 1$  is consistent with (3.4.55). Equation (3.4.55) fixes the value of  $E_3 = 1$  which is possible while continuing the spin-exponentiation but not demanded by it.

It is also interesting to study the shift symmetry condition identified in Refs. [173, 101, 179, 180]. In order for the same helicity Compton amplitude to maintain shift symmetry through  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$  according to the criteria of Ref. [173], some of the  $C_3$ ,  $E_3$ ,  $D_{3a,b,c,d,e,f}$  are fixed. In particular:

$$C_3 = 1,$$
  $D_{3c} = \frac{E_3}{3} + \frac{1+D_{3a}}{2} - D_{3b},$   $D_{3d} = D_{3b} - \frac{E_3}{3} - \frac{5}{4}.$  (3.5.65)

Thus, at this order the shift symmetry is also consistent with (3.4.55).

The conditions necessary to maintain opposite helicity spin-exponentiation, shift symmetry, and match (3.4.55) are consistent with each other at  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$  and lead to the combined set of conditions:

$$C_{3} = 1, E_{3} = 1, D_{3a} = -1, D_{3b} = -\frac{1}{12}$$
$$D_{3c} = \frac{5}{12}, D_{3d} = -\frac{5}{3}, D_{3f} = \frac{D_{3e} - 1}{4}.$$
(3.5.66)

Thus, at  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$  there is a one parameter family of dynamical mass functions (as  $D_{3e}$  is fully undetermined) satisfying all of these constraints.

Following the decomposition of Ref. [173], the same helicity amplitude in terms of  $D_{3e}$  through  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$ may be written as:  $\mathcal{A}_{++} = e^{a \cdot (k_1 + k_2)} \sum_{n=0}^{3} \frac{\bar{I}_n}{n!} + \mathcal{O}(S^4)$ (3.5.67)

with:

$$\bar{I}_0 = -2\cos^2\frac{\theta}{2}, \qquad \bar{I}_1 = -2a \cdot w\bar{I}_0,$$
  

$$\bar{I}_2 = (2a \cdot w)^2 \bar{I}_0, \qquad \bar{I}_3 = -(3D_{3e} + 1)(a \cdot w)^2 a \cdot (k_1 + k_2)\bar{I}_0.$$
(3.5.68)

Thus we can identify  $c_0^{(3)}$  in equation (3.9b) of Ref. [173] with  $-2 - 6D_{3e}$ .

We can also compare to the recent work of [266] on  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  amplitudes from higher-spin gauge interactions. To that end, following the lead of [266], instead of using (3.5.56) to eliminate  $a^2\omega^2$  leaving  $(w \cdot a)^2$  as we did in (3.5.55), we can express the ++ amplitude in terms of both  $(w \cdot a)^2$  and  $\omega^2 a^2$  while eliminating  $q^2/\omega^2$ using (3.5.56). Defining  $k_{\pm} = k_2 \pm k_1$ ,

$$k_{+} = k_{1} + k_{2}, \qquad \check{k}_{1} + \check{k}_{2} = k_{+} - 2w, \qquad (3.5.69)$$

$$q = k_{-} = k_{2} - k_{1} = \check{k}_{2} - \check{k}_{1}, \qquad [(k_{+} - 2w) \cdot a]^{2} - (q \cdot a)^{2} = 4\check{k}_{1} \cdot a\check{k}_{2} \cdot a,$$

and replacing  $\omega^2/q^2$  with  $[(w \cdot a)^2 - \omega^2 a^2]/(4 \check{k}_1 \cdot a \check{k}_2 \cdot a)$ , our amplitude (3.5.55) becomes

$$\begin{split} \frac{\mathcal{A}_{++}}{\mathcal{A}_{++}^{(0)}} &= 1 + C_1(k_+ - 2w) \cdot a - (C_1 - 1)^2 w \cdot a \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} [(k_+ - 2w) \cdot a]^2 \frac{C_1^2 + C_2}{2} + \frac{C_2 - C_1^2}{4} (q \cdot a)^2 \\ &+ (C_1 - 1) \left[ (C_1 - C_2) k_+ \cdot a \, w \cdot a + \frac{C_2 - 2C_1}{2} \left( \omega^2 a^2 + (w \cdot a)^2 \right) \right] \\ &- \frac{D_{2a} + D_{2b}}{2} (w \cdot a)^2 + \frac{D_{2a} + D_{2b} - 2D_{2d}}{2} \omega^2 a^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{6} (k_+ - 2w) \cdot a \left[ (k_+ - 4w) \cdot a \, k_+ \cdot a \frac{3 + C_3}{4} + 3 \frac{C_3 - 1}{4} (q \cdot a)^2 \right] + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{++}^{(3)(C_2 - 1, C_1 - 1)} \end{split}$$

$$+\frac{1-D_{3a}-2D_{3e}}{4}(w\cdot a)^{2}k_{+}\cdot a + \frac{-15+12(D_{3b}-D_{3d})-4E_{3}}{12}\omega^{2}a^{2}w\cdot a$$
$$+\frac{3+3D_{3a}-6(D_{3b}+D_{3c})+2E_{3}}{12}\omega^{2}a^{2}k_{+}\cdot a + \mathcal{O}(a^{4}).$$
(3.5.70)

Similarly, using (3.5.59),

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\mathcal{A}_{+-}}{\mathcal{A}_{+-}^{(0)}} &= 1 - C_1 q \cdot a + (C_1^2 - 1)x \cdot a \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} (q \cdot a)^2 \frac{C_1^2 + C_2}{2} + \frac{C_2 - C_1^2}{4} (k_+ \cdot a)^2 - (C_2 - 1)C_1 q \cdot a x \cdot a \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \Big( (1 - C_1)(C_2 + 2C_1) - D_{2a} + D_{2b} \Big) (x \cdot a)^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \Big( 2C_1 - C_2 - C_1 C_2 + D_{2a} - D_{2b} - 8D_{2c} - 2D_{2d} \Big) \omega^2 a^2 \\ &- \frac{1}{6} (q \cdot a)^3 \frac{3 + C_3}{4} + \frac{C_3 - 1}{4} \Big[ (q \cdot a)^2 x \cdot a - \frac{1}{2} (k_+ \cdot a)^2 (q - 2x) \cdot a + \frac{4}{3} \omega^2 a^2 q \cdot a \Big] \\ &- \frac{1 + D_{3a}}{4} (x \cdot a)^2 q \cdot a - \frac{3 + 4(D_{3b} + D_{3d} + E_3)}{4} \omega^2 a^2 x \cdot a + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{+-}^{(3)(C_2 - 1, C_1 - 1)} \\ &+ \frac{1 + 3D_{3a} - 6(D_{3b} + D_{3c} - D_{3e}) - 24D_{3f} - 2E_3}{12} \omega^2 a^2 q \cdot a + \mathcal{O}(a^4). \end{aligned}$$
(3.5.71)

With  $C_1 = C_2 = C_3 = 1$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\mathcal{A}_{++}}{\mathcal{A}_{++}^{(0)}} &= 1 + (k_{+} - 2w) \cdot a + \frac{1}{2} [(k_{+} - 2w) \cdot a]^{2} + \frac{D_{2a} + D_{2b}}{2} [\omega^{2} a^{2} - (w \cdot a)^{2}] - D_{2d} \omega^{2} a^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{6} (k_{+} - 4w) \cdot a (k_{+} - 2w) \cdot a k_{+} \cdot a + \frac{1 - D_{3a} - 2D_{3e}}{4} (w \cdot a)^{2} k_{+} \cdot a \\ &+ \frac{-15 + 12(D_{3b} - D_{3d}) - 4E_{3}}{12} \omega^{2} a^{2} w \cdot a + \frac{3 + 3D_{3a} - 6(D_{3b} + D_{3c}) + 2E_{3}}{12} \omega^{2} a^{2} k_{+} \cdot a \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(a^{4}), \end{aligned}$$
(3.5.72)

and

$$\frac{\mathcal{A}_{+-}}{\mathcal{A}_{+-}^{(0)}} = 1 - q \cdot a + \frac{1}{2}(q \cdot a)^2 + \frac{D_{2a} - D_{2b}}{2} \left[\omega^2 a^2 - (x \cdot a)^2\right] + (4D_{2c} + D_{2d})\omega^2 a^2 
- \frac{1}{6}(q \cdot a)^3 - \frac{1 + D_{3a}}{4}(x \cdot a)^2 q \cdot a - \frac{3 + 4(D_{3b} + D_{3d} + E_3)}{4}\omega^2 a^2 x \cdot a 
+ \frac{1 + 3D_{3a} - 6(D_{3b} + D_{3c} - D_{3e}) - 24D_{3f} - 2E_3}{12}\omega^2 a^2 q \cdot a + \mathcal{O}(a^4).$$
(3.5.73)

This matches (6.76) of [266],

$$\frac{\mathcal{A}_{++}}{\mathcal{A}_{++}^{(0)}} = 1 + (k_{+} - 2w) \cdot a + \frac{1}{2} [(k_{+} - 2w) \cdot a]^{2} + 2\delta [\omega^{2}a^{2} - (w \cdot a)^{2}] + \frac{1}{6} (k_{+} - 2w) \cdot a [(k_{+} - 4w) \cdot a k_{+} \cdot a + 4\omega^{2}a^{2}] + \frac{4}{3} \delta [\omega^{2}a^{2} - (w \cdot a)^{2}] k_{+} \cdot a + \mathcal{O}(a^{4}),$$
(3.5.74)

and  $\mathcal{A}_{+-}/\mathcal{A}_{+-}^{(0)} = e^{-q \cdot a} + \mathcal{O}(a^4)$  if

$$D_{2a} = D_{2b} = 2\delta, \qquad D_{2c} = D_{2d} = 0, \tag{3.5.75}$$

$$D_{3a} = -1, \qquad D_{3b} = -\frac{5+4E_3}{12}, \qquad D_{3c} = \frac{-11+8E_3-32\delta}{12},$$
$$D_{3d} = -\frac{1+2E_3}{3}, \qquad D_{3e} = 1+\frac{8}{3}\delta, \qquad D_{3f} = \frac{3-E_3+8\delta}{6}.$$

# 3.6 Gravitational MPD Equations

We now turn our attention to gravity. We find that the line of analysis is directly analogous to that of electromagnetism and the resulting dynamical mass function is very similar. The motion of a generic spinning body in general relativity is described by the MPD equations [107, 108, 110, 253, 259, 260]. It is well established [260, 252, 264, 58, 230, 226, 267, 145] that the MPD equations can be derived from a variational principle through an action S of the form:

$$\mathcal{S}[z,p,\Lambda,S,\alpha,\beta] = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left( p_{\mu} \dot{z}^{\mu} + \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\epsilon}_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} u^{\mu} S^{\nu} \Omega^{\rho\sigma} - \frac{\alpha}{2} (p^2 + \mathcal{M}^2) + \beta p \cdot S \right) d\lambda$$
(3.6.1)

where the pseudotensor Levi-Civita symbol is defined by:

$$\widetilde{\epsilon}_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} = \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \sqrt{-\det g} \tag{3.6.2}$$

in terms of the purely numerical antisymmetric Levi-Civita symbol  $\epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$  which has  $\epsilon_{0123} = 1$ . In curved spacetime, the  $\Lambda^{\mu}{}_{A}(\lambda)$  tetrad satisfies:

$$g^{\mu\nu}(Z) = \Lambda^{\mu}{}_{A}\Lambda^{\nu}{}_{B}\eta^{AB}, \qquad \eta_{AB} = g_{\mu\nu}(Z)\Lambda^{\mu}{}_{A}\Lambda^{\nu}{}_{B}.$$
 (3.6.3)

Just as in the case of electromagnetism, we take:

$$\Lambda^{\mu}{}_{0}(\lambda) = u^{\mu}(\lambda), \qquad \Lambda^{\mu}{}_{3}(\lambda) = \hat{S}^{\mu}(\lambda). \tag{3.6.4}$$

The angular velocity tensor of the body is defined by:

$$\Omega^{\mu\nu} = \eta^{AB} \Lambda^{\mu}{}_{A} \frac{D\Lambda^{\nu}{}_{B}}{D\lambda}$$
(3.6.5)

where  $\frac{D}{D\lambda}$  indicates covariant  $\lambda$  differentiation:

$$\frac{D\Lambda^{\mu}{}_{A}}{D\lambda} = \frac{d\Lambda^{\mu}{}_{A}}{d\lambda} + \Gamma^{\mu}{}_{\rho\sigma}\dot{z}^{\rho}\Lambda^{\sigma}{}_{A}.$$
(3.6.6)

The dynamical mass function  $\mathcal{M}(z, u, S)$  now encodes the mass of the body and all of its nonminimal couplings to gravity and in particular takes the form:

$$\mathcal{M}^2(z, u, S) = m^2 + \mathcal{O}(R) \tag{3.6.7}$$

where m is the mass of the body in vacuum and  $R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$  is the Riemann tensor.

For variations of the action, it is useful to define the covariant variations:

$$\Delta p_{\mu} = \delta p_{\mu} - \Gamma^{\rho}{}_{\sigma\mu} p_{\rho} \delta z^{\sigma} \tag{3.6.8}$$

$$\Delta S^{\mu} = \delta S^{\mu} + \Gamma^{\mu}{}_{\rho\sigma} S^{\rho} \delta z^{\sigma} \tag{3.6.9}$$

$$\Delta\Lambda^{\mu}{}_{A} = \delta\Lambda^{\mu}{}_{A} + \Gamma^{\mu}{}_{\rho\sigma}\delta z^{\rho}\Lambda^{\sigma}{}_{A} \tag{3.6.10}$$

and the antisymmetric tensor:

$$\Delta \theta^{\mu\nu} = \eta^{AB} \Lambda^{[\mu}{}_A \Delta \Lambda^{\nu]}{}_B. \tag{3.6.11}$$

This definition leads to the identity:

$$\Delta\Omega^{\mu\nu} = \frac{D}{D\lambda} \Delta\theta^{\mu\nu} + \Omega^{\mu}{}_{\rho} \Delta\theta^{\rho\nu} - \Omega^{\nu}{}_{\rho} \Delta\theta^{\rho\mu} + R^{\mu\nu}{}_{\rho\sigma} \dot{z}^{\rho} \delta z^{\sigma}.$$
(3.6.12)

Then, the variation of the above action gives:

$$\delta S = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left( \delta z^{\mu} \left( -\frac{Dp_{\mu}}{D\lambda} - R^{\star}_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \dot{z}^{\nu} u^{\rho} S^{\sigma} - \mathbf{e} \nabla_{\mu} \mathcal{M} \right) \right. \\ \left. + \Delta p_{\mu} \left( \dot{z}^{\mu} - \mathbf{e} u^{\mu} - \frac{\mathbf{e}}{|p|} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial u^{\nu}} (g^{\mu\nu} + u^{\mu} u^{\nu}) + \beta S^{\mu} \right. \\ \left. + \frac{1}{2|p|} \tilde{\epsilon}^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} S_{\nu} \Omega_{\rho\sigma} + \frac{u^{\mu}}{2|p|} \tilde{\epsilon}_{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma} u^{\alpha} S^{\beta} \Omega^{\rho\sigma} \right) \\ \left. + \frac{1}{2} \Delta \theta^{\rho\sigma} \left( -\frac{D}{D\lambda} \left( \tilde{\epsilon}_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} u^{\mu} S^{\nu} \right) + \tilde{\epsilon}_{\mu\nu\rho\alpha} u^{\mu} S^{\nu} \Omega^{\alpha} - \tilde{\epsilon}_{\mu\nu\sigma\alpha} u^{\mu} S^{\nu} \Omega^{\alpha} \rho \right) \right. \\ \left. + \Delta S^{\mu} \left( -\frac{1}{2} \tilde{\epsilon}_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} u^{\nu} \Omega^{\rho\sigma} - \mathbf{e} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial S^{\mu}} + \beta p_{\mu} \right) - \frac{\delta \alpha}{2} \left( p^{2} + \mathcal{M}^{2} \right) + \delta \beta p \cdot S \right) d\lambda$$
(3.6.13)

where the right-dual of the Riemann tensor is defined by:

$$R^{\star}_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} = \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\epsilon}_{\rho\sigma}{}^{\alpha\beta} R_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}.$$
(3.6.14)

Using the  $\delta S^{\mu}$  variation to solve for the angular velocity tensor, one can then determine the value of  $\beta$ . That value of  $\beta$  can then be used to simplify the spin and trajectory equations of motion. Explicitly, these give:

$$\Omega^{\mu\nu} = \frac{Du^{\mu}}{D\lambda}u^{\nu} - u^{\mu}\frac{Du^{\nu}}{D\lambda} + \mathbf{e}\widetilde{\epsilon}^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}u_{\rho}\frac{\partial\mathcal{M}}{\partial S^{\sigma}}$$
(3.6.15)

$$\beta = -\frac{\mathbf{e}}{\mathcal{M}} u^{\mu} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial S^{\mu}} \tag{3.6.16}$$

$$\frac{DS^{\mu}}{D\lambda} = u^{\mu} \frac{Du^{\nu}}{D\lambda} S_{\nu} + \mathbf{e} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} u_{\nu} S_{\rho} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial S^{\sigma}}$$
(3.6.17)

$$\dot{z}^{\mu} = \mathbf{e}u^{\mu} + \frac{\mathbf{e}}{\mathcal{M}}(g^{\mu\nu} + u^{\mu}u^{\nu})\frac{\partial\mathcal{M}}{\partial u^{\nu}} + \frac{\mathbf{e}}{\mathcal{M}}S^{\mu}u^{\nu}\frac{\partial\mathcal{M}}{\partial S^{\nu}} + \frac{1}{\mathcal{M}^{2}}\tilde{\epsilon}^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}S_{\nu}u_{\rho}\frac{Dp_{\sigma}}{D\lambda}.$$
(3.6.18)

In order to determine the trajectory evolution explicitly we must insert the momentum equation of motion into (3.6.18). To simplify, it is useful to introduce the two sided dual Riemann tensor:

$${}^{\star}R^{\star}_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} = \frac{1}{2}\tilde{\epsilon}_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}R^{\star\alpha\beta}{}_{\rho\sigma} \tag{3.6.19}$$

Simplifying finally gives the gravitational MPD equations of motion for the spinning body:

$$\left(1 + \frac{{}^{*}R_{uSuS}^{*}}{\mathcal{M}^{2}}\right)\frac{\dot{z}^{\mu}}{\mathbf{e}} = u^{\mu} + \frac{g^{\mu\nu} + u^{\mu}u^{\nu}}{\mathcal{M}}\frac{\partial\mathcal{M}}{\partial u^{\nu}} + S^{\mu}\frac{u^{\nu}}{\mathcal{M}}\frac{\partial\mathcal{M}}{\partial S^{\nu}} + \frac{1}{\mathcal{M}^{2}}\tilde{\epsilon}^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}u_{\nu}S_{\rho}\nabla_{\sigma}\mathcal{M} - \frac{{}^{*}R^{\star\mu SuS}}{\mathcal{M}^{2}} - \frac{1}{\mathcal{M}^{3}}\left(S^{\nu}\frac{\partial\mathcal{M}}{\partial u^{\nu}} + S^{2}u^{\nu}\frac{\partial\mathcal{M}}{\partial S^{\nu}}\right){}^{*}R^{\star\mu uuS}$$
(3.6.20)

$$\frac{Dp_{\mu}}{D\lambda} = -R^{\star}_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}\dot{z}^{\nu}u^{\rho}S^{\sigma} - \mathbf{e}\nabla_{\mu}\mathcal{M}$$
(3.6.21)

$$\frac{DS^{\mu}}{D\lambda} = u^{\mu}S_{\nu}\frac{Du^{\nu}}{D\lambda} + \mathbf{e}\tilde{\epsilon}^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}u_{\nu}S_{\rho}\frac{\partial\mathcal{M}}{\partial S^{\sigma}}.$$
(3.6.22)

Vectors such as u and S are used as indices to indicate contractions with them  $(*R^{\star\mu uuS} = *R^{\star\mu\nu\rho\sigma}u_{\nu}u_{\rho}S_{\sigma})$ . For solving these equations of motion we will always choose  $\lambda$  so that  $\mathbf{e} = 1$ .

To understand how the dynamical mass function relates to the multipole moments of the body, we will need to study the energy-momentum tensor produced by our action. The energy-momentum tensor will be given by: T

$$\Gamma_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{-\det g}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}}.$$
(3.6.23)

In varying the metric, we have  $\delta z^{\mu} = 0$ ,  $\delta p_{\mu} = 0$ ,  $\delta S^{\mu} = 0$ , and  $\Delta \theta^{\mu\nu} = 0$ .  $\delta \Lambda^{\mu}{}_{A}$  cannot be made 0 as its variation is related to the metric variation on the worldline. It is useful to introduce the DeWitt index shuffling operator [226]  $\hat{G}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$ , which acts on tensors according to:

$$\hat{G}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}F^{\mu_{1}...\mu_{m}}{}_{\nu_{1}...\nu_{n}} = \delta^{\mu_{1}}_{\beta}F^{\alpha\mu_{2}...\mu_{m}}{}_{\nu_{1}...\nu_{n}} + ... + \delta^{\mu_{m}}_{\beta}F^{\mu_{1}...\mu_{m-1}\alpha}{}_{\nu_{1}...\nu_{n}}$$
$$- \delta^{\alpha}_{\nu_{1}}F^{\mu_{1}...\mu_{m}}{}_{\beta\nu_{2}...\nu_{n}} - ... - \delta^{\alpha}_{\nu_{n}}F^{\mu_{1}...\mu_{m}}{}_{\nu_{1}...\nu_{n-1}\beta}$$
(3.6.24)

so that:

$$\nabla_{\rho} F^{\mu_1 \dots \mu_m}{}_{\nu_1 \dots \nu_n} = \partial_{\rho} F^{\mu_1 \dots \mu_m}{}_{\nu_1 \dots \nu_n} + \Gamma^{\beta}{}_{\alpha\rho} \hat{G}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} F^{\mu_1 \dots \mu_m}{}_{\nu_1 \dots \nu_n}.$$
(3.6.25)

For expressing the energy-momentum tensor simply it is important to use the scalarity of the dynamical mass function. In particular, requiring it to be a scalar function of  $u_{\mu}$ ,  $S^{\mu}$ ,  $g_{\mu\nu}$ , and symmetric covariant derivatives of  $R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$  implies it is invariant under a small diffeomorphism. This is only true if:

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial g^{\alpha\beta}} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial u^{\alpha}} u_{\beta} - \frac{1}{2} S_{\alpha} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial S^{\beta}} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial \nabla^{n}_{(\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n})} R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}} \hat{G}_{\alpha\beta} \nabla^{n}_{(\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n})} R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}.$$
(3.6.26)

With these ingredients, the variation of the action with respect to the metric becomes:

$$\delta S = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left( -\frac{1}{2} p_{\mu} \dot{z}_{\nu} \delta g^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{\epsilon}_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} u^{\mu} S^{\nu} \dot{z}_{\alpha} \nabla^{\sigma} \delta g^{\rho\alpha} + \mathbf{e} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\partial \mathcal{M}}{\partial \nabla^{n}_{(\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n})} R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}} \left( \frac{1}{2} \delta g^{\alpha\beta} \hat{G}_{\alpha\beta} \nabla^{n}_{(\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n})} R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} - \delta (\nabla^{n}_{(\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n})} R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}) \right) \right) d\lambda \qquad (3.6.27)$$

For computing variations of derivatives of the Riemann curvature, a strategy from Ref. [268] is helpful. Consider a tensor field  $F^{\lambda_1...\lambda_n\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$  with the same index symmetries as  $\nabla^n_{(\lambda_1...\lambda_n)}R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$  which decays to 0 sufficiently quickly at infinity for no surface terms to be necessary upon the relevant integrations by parts we will perform. Then, a short calculation gives:

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} F^{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_n \mu \nu \rho \sigma} \delta(\nabla^n_{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_n} R_{\mu \nu \rho \sigma}) D^4 x$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{T}} \left( F^{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_n \mu \nu \rho \sigma} \delta\Gamma^\beta_{\ \alpha \lambda_n} \hat{G}^\alpha_{\ \beta} \nabla^{n-1}_{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_{n-1}} R_{\mu \nu \rho \sigma} - \nabla_{\lambda_n} F^{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_n \mu \nu \rho \sigma} \delta(\nabla^{n-1}_{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_{n-1}} R_{\mu \nu \rho \sigma}) \right) D^4 x. \quad (3.6.28)$$

The final term is now in the same form as the initial variational problem, but of a lower rank. Applying this

formula iteratively allows all derivatives on the Riemann tensor to eventually be pushed past the variation, resulting in:

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} F^{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_n \mu \nu \rho \sigma} \delta(\nabla^n_{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_n} R_{\mu \nu \rho \sigma}) D^4 x$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{T}} \left( \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (-1)^k \nabla^k_{\lambda_n \dots \lambda_{n-k+1}} F^{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_n \mu \nu \rho \sigma} \delta\Gamma^\beta_{\ \alpha \lambda_{n-k}} \hat{G}^\alpha_{\ \beta} \nabla^{n-k-1}_{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_{n-k-1}} R_{\mu \nu \rho \sigma} \right.$$

$$\left. + (-1)^n \nabla^n_{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_n} F^{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_n \mu \nu \rho \sigma} \delta R_{\mu \nu \rho \sigma} \right) D^4 x. \tag{3.6.29}$$

Now using:

$$\delta\Gamma^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\alpha}g_{\nu\beta}\nabla^{\rho}\delta g^{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\sigma}\nabla_{\nu}\delta g^{\rho\sigma} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\nu\sigma}\nabla_{\mu}\delta g^{\rho\sigma}$$
(3.6.30)

$$\delta R^{\rho}{}_{\mu\sigma\nu} = \nabla_{\sigma} \delta \Gamma^{\rho}{}_{\nu\mu} - \nabla_{\nu} \delta \Gamma^{\rho}{}_{\sigma\mu} \tag{3.6.31}$$

we are able to arrive at:

$$\int F^{\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n}\mu\nu\rho\sigma}\delta(\nabla^{n}_{(\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n})}R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma})D^{4}x$$

$$= \int \left(\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (-1)^{k}\delta g^{\alpha\beta}g_{\alpha\lambda_{n-k}}\nabla^{\gamma}\nabla^{k}_{(\lambda_{n-k+1}...\lambda_{n})}F^{\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n}\mu\nu\rho\sigma}\hat{G}_{[\gamma\beta]}(\nabla^{n-k-1}_{(\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n-k-1})}R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma})\right)$$

$$+ \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (-1)^{k}\delta g^{\alpha\beta}g_{\alpha\lambda_{n-k}}\nabla^{k}_{(\lambda_{n-k+1}...\lambda_{n})}F^{\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n}\mu\nu\rho\sigma}g^{\gamma\tau}\hat{G}_{[\tau\beta]}(\nabla_{\gamma}\nabla^{n-k-1}_{(\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n-k-1})}R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma})$$

$$+ \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} 2(-1)^{k}\delta g^{\alpha\beta}g_{\alpha\lambda_{n-k}}\nabla^{k}_{(\lambda_{n-k+1}...\lambda_{n})}F^{\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n}\mu\nu\rho\sigma}\nabla_{\beta}\nabla^{n-k-1}_{(\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n-k-1})}R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$$

$$+ (-1)^{n}\delta g^{\alpha\beta}\nabla^{n}_{(\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n})}F^{\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n}\mu\nu\rho\sigma}g_{\alpha\mu}R_{\beta\nu\rho\sigma} + 2(-1)^{n}\nabla^{2}_{(\mu\nu)}\nabla^{n}_{(\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n})}F^{\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n}\mu_{n}\mu_{n}\delta}g^{\alpha\beta}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2}\delta g^{\alpha\beta}F^{\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n}\mu\nu\rho\sigma}\hat{G}_{\alpha\beta}(\nabla^{n}_{\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n}}R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma})\right)D^{4}x.$$
(3.6.32)

Define the gravitational  $\mathcal{Q}_n$  moments:

$$\mathcal{Q}_{n}^{\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n}\mu\nu\rho\sigma} = \frac{\partial\mathcal{M}}{\partial\nabla_{(\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n})}^{n}R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}}.$$
(3.6.33)

As well, define the scalar Dirac delta distribution:

$$\delta(X,Z) = \frac{\delta(x-z)}{\sqrt{-\det g}}$$
(3.6.34)

and the  $\Phi_n$  fields:

$$\Phi_n^{\lambda_1...\lambda_n\mu\nu\rho\sigma}(X) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathcal{Q}_n^{\lambda_1...\lambda_n\mu\nu\rho\sigma}\delta(X,Z)D\lambda.$$
(3.6.35)

Then, formally as a distributional expression the energy-momentum tensor becomes:

$$T_{\alpha\beta} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left( \dot{z}_{(\alpha} p_{\beta)} \delta(X, Z) + \nabla^{\gamma} (\dot{z}_{(\alpha} \tilde{\epsilon}_{\beta)\gamma\rho\sigma} u^{\rho} S^{\sigma} \delta(X, Z)) \right) d\lambda + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \Psi_{\alpha\beta}^{(n)}$$
(3.6.36)

with:

$$\Psi_{\alpha\beta}^{(n)} = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (-1)^k \nabla_{\lambda_{n-k+1}\dots\lambda_n}^k \Phi_n^{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_n\mu\nu\rho\sigma} g_{\lambda_{n-k}(\alpha} \nabla_{\beta)} \nabla_{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_{n-k-1}}^{n-k-1} R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} + \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} 2(-1)^k \nabla_{\gamma} \left( \nabla_{\lambda_{n-k+1}\dots\lambda_n}^k \Phi_n^{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_n\mu\nu\rho\sigma} g_{\lambda_{n-k}(\alpha} g_{\beta)\delta} \hat{G}^{[\gamma\delta]} (\nabla_{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_{n-k-1}}^{n-k-1} R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}) \right) + 2(-1)^n \nabla_{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_n}^n \Phi_n^{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_n\mu\nu\rho\sigma} g_{\mu(\alpha} R_{\beta)\nu\rho\sigma} + 4(-1)^n \nabla_{\mu\nu}^2 \nabla_{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_n}^n \Phi_n^{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_n\mu} (\alpha^{\nu}{}_{\beta}).$$
(3.6.37)

# 3.7 Kerr Multipole Moments

In this section we perform the analysis of sections 3.3 and 3.4 but for the Kerr metric in gravity instead of the  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  solution in electromagnetism. We begin by describing Dixon's definition of the multipoles of the energy-momentum tensor. Then, following analysis done by Israel in Ref. [263] we identify the energy-momentum tensor which acts as the source of the Kerr metric in the causally maximal extension of the Kerr spacetime.

#### 3.7.1 Moments of the Energy Momentum Tensor

For precisely the same reasons that cause the naive moments of the current density to be interdependent due to the continuity equation, the naive moments of the energy-momentum tensor are interdependent due to its covariant conservation. Define the quantities:

$$\Theta_n^{\kappa\lambda\mu\nu}(Z,X) = (n-1) \int_0^1 \sigma^{\kappa\alpha} \sigma^{(\mu}{}_{\alpha} \sigma^{\nu)}{}_{\beta} \sigma^{\lambda\beta} t^{n-2} dt, \quad (n \ge 2)$$
(3.7.1)

$$p_n^{\kappa_1...\kappa_n\lambda\mu\nu} = 2(-1)^n \int_{\Sigma} \sigma^{\kappa_1}...\sigma^{\kappa_n} \Theta_n^{\rho\nu\lambda\mu} (-\sigma_{\alpha\rho}^{-1}) T^{\alpha\beta} d\Sigma_{\beta}, \quad (n \ge 2)$$
(3.7.2)

$$\mathbf{t}_{n}^{\kappa_{1}...\kappa_{n}\lambda\mu} = (-1)^{n} \int_{\Sigma} \sigma^{\kappa_{1}}...\sigma^{\kappa_{n}} \sigma^{\lambda}{}_{\alpha} \sigma^{\mu}{}_{\beta} T^{\alpha\beta} w^{\gamma} d\Sigma_{\gamma}, \quad (n \ge 2)$$
(3.7.3)

$$\mathcal{J}_{n}^{\kappa_{1}\ldots\kappa_{n}\lambda\mu\nu\rho} = \mathbf{t}_{n+2}^{\kappa_{1}\ldots\kappa_{n}[\lambda['\nu\mu]\rho]'} + \frac{1}{n+1}\mathbf{p}_{n+2}^{\kappa_{1}\ldots\kappa_{n}[\lambda['\nu\mu]\rho]'\tau}\frac{\dot{z}_{\tau}}{\mathbf{e}}$$
(3.7.4)

$$I_n^{\lambda_1...\lambda_n\mu\nu} = \frac{4(n-1)}{n+1} \mathcal{J}_{n-2}^{(\lambda_1...\lambda_{n-1}|\mu|\lambda_n)\nu}, \quad (n \ge 2).$$
(3.7.5)

These definitions are precisely analogous to equations (3.3.20) through (3.3.24) for electromagnetism, in precisely the same order. The  $I_n$  moments will serve as the interdependence-free reduced multipole moments of the energy-momentum tensor. The other quantities defined are useful intermediate pieces for calculation. For the necessary index symmetrizations, we use the notation that [] brackets antisymmetrize together and [']' brackets antrisymmetrize together but that the two ignore each other. For example:

$$I_{2}^{[\lambda['\nu\mu]\rho]'} = \frac{1}{4} \left( I_{2}^{\lambda\nu\mu\rho} - I_{2}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} - I_{2}^{\lambda\rho\mu\nu} + I_{2}^{\mu\rho\lambda\nu} \right).$$
(3.7.6)

As well, the inclusion of vertical bars  $|\mu|$  around indices in the midst of an (anti)symmetrization indicates that those indices should be skipped over when performing the (anti)symmetrization. For example:

$$I_1^{(\lambda|\mu|\nu)} = \frac{1}{2} (I_1^{\lambda\mu\nu} + I_1^{\nu\mu\lambda}).$$
(3.7.7)

Dixon's reduced moments automatically satisfy:

$$I_n^{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_n\mu\nu} = I_n^{(\lambda_1\dots\lambda_n)(\mu\nu)}, \qquad I_n^{(\lambda_1\dots\lambda_n\mu)\nu} = 0, \qquad (3.7.8)$$

$$u_{\lambda_1} I_n^{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_{n-2} [\lambda_{n-1}]' \lambda_n \mu] \nu]' = 0, \qquad (n \ge 3).$$
(3.7.9)

Dixon finds that beyond these conditions, the reduced moments are not restricted by the covariant conservation of  $T^{\alpha\beta}$  and that they are independent of each other for different values of n. It is useful to define the 0<sup>th</sup> and 1<sup>st</sup> moments:  $I_0^{\lambda\mu} = \frac{p^{(\lambda}\dot{z}^{\mu)}}{\mathbf{e}}, \qquad I_1^{\kappa\lambda\mu} = \frac{S^{\kappa(\lambda}\dot{z}^{\mu)}}{\mathbf{e}}$  (3.7.10)

where  $p^{\lambda}$  is the total linear momentum of the body defined by:

$$p^{\kappa} = \int_{\Sigma} (-\sigma_{\alpha\lambda}^{-1}) \sigma^{\lambda\kappa} T^{\alpha\beta} d\Sigma_{\beta}$$
(3.7.11)

and  $S^{\lambda\mu}$  is the total spin tensor of the body defined by:

$$S^{\kappa\lambda} = 2 \int_{\Sigma} \sigma^{[\kappa} (\sigma^{-1})^{\lambda]}{}_{\alpha} T^{\alpha\beta} d\Sigma_{\beta}.$$
(3.7.12)

We will always choose our definition of the worldline and Cauchy slicing so that  $p^{\mu}(\lambda)$  is orthogonal to all tangent vectors to  $\Sigma(\lambda)$ . With this choice we can require:

$$p^{\mu} = |p|u^{\mu}, \qquad S^{\mu\nu}p_{\nu} = 0 \tag{3.7.13}$$

and thus we can introduce the spin vector  $S^{\mu}$  defined so that:

$$S^{\mu} = -\frac{1}{2} \tilde{\epsilon}^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} u_{\nu} S_{\rho\sigma} \implies S_{\mu\nu} = \tilde{\epsilon}_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} u^{\rho} S^{\sigma}.$$
(3.7.14)

The conservation of  $T^{\alpha\beta}$  determines the time evolution of  $p^{\mu}$  and  $S^{\mu}$  (through the MPD equations) but determines nothing about the time evolution of the higher moments. Dixon finds also that the reduced moments are independent of the 0<sup>th</sup> and 1<sup>st</sup> moments. Then, define the reduced moment generating function:

$$I^{\mu\nu}(\lambda,k) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-i)^n}{n!} I_n^{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_n\mu\nu} k_{\lambda_1\dots}k_{\lambda_n}.$$
(3.7.15)

Like the naive moments, the reduced moment generating functions determine the behavior of  $T^{\alpha\beta}$  against test functions. In particular, for an arbitrary symmetric tensor field  $h_{\alpha\beta}(X)$ :

$$\int_{\Sigma} h_{\alpha\beta}^*(X) T^{\alpha\beta}(X) w^{\gamma} d\Sigma_{\gamma} = \int \widetilde{h}_{\mu\nu}^*(Z,k) I^{\mu\nu}(\lambda,k) \frac{D^4k}{(2\pi)^2}.$$
(3.7.16)

The moment generating function automatically satisfies:

$$I^{\lambda\mu}k_{\lambda} = I_0^{\lambda\mu}k_{\lambda} - ik_{\kappa}k_{\lambda}I_1^{\kappa\lambda\mu}.$$
(3.7.17)

Dixon proved [259] that these reduced moments are the unique set of moments which are independent of each other for different n, have only  $I_0$  and  $I_1$  restricted by the conservation law, and satisfy the index symmetry conditions in equations (3.7.8) and (3.7.9).

Through (3.7.16), the energy-momentum tensor is determined in terms of the reduced multipole moments. Explicitly comparing that behavior against test functions to (3.6.36) and using crucially that the reduced multipole moments are unique and contain no interdependencies, we can identify:

$$I_n^{\rho_1...\rho_n\mu\nu} = 4n! \mathcal{Q}_{n-2}^{(\rho_1...\rho_{n-1}|\mu|\rho_n)\nu} + \mathcal{O}(R)$$
(3.7.18)

which gives the reduced multipole moments from the couplings in the action. Alternatively, this can be nicely inverted using the index symmetry conditions of both quantities to find:

$$\mathcal{Q}_{n}^{\lambda_{1}\dots\lambda_{n}\rho\mu\sigma\nu} = \frac{n+1}{(n+3)!} I_{n+2}^{\lambda_{1}\dots\lambda_{n}[\rho['\sigma\mu]\nu]'} + \mathcal{O}(R)$$
(3.7.19)

This allows the direct determination of the coupling of the body to the Riemann tensor in the action from its reduced multipole moments.

#### 3.7.2 Source of the Kerr Metric

Here we summarize the analysis of Ref. [263] to identify the energy-momentum tensor which produces the Kerr metric. The Kerr metric has no intrinsic singularities away from r = 0 and everywhere away from r = 0 it is a solution to the vacuum Einstein equations. Therefore, the source of the Kerr metric can only have support on the surface r = 0. This surface is a disk and we introduce the same coordinate  $\chi = \theta$  above the disk and  $\chi = \pi - \theta$  below the disk as we did for  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  so that  $t, \chi, \varphi$  provide an intrinsic coordinate system. Restricting the Kerr solution to the surface r = 0 produces the flat metric  $\gamma_{ij}$  on the disk:

$$\gamma_{tt} = -1, \qquad \gamma_{t\chi} = 0, \qquad \gamma_{t\varphi} = 0,$$
  
$$\gamma_{\chi\chi} = a^2 \cos^2 \chi, \qquad \gamma_{\chi\varphi} = 0, \qquad \gamma_{\varphi\varphi} = a^2 \sin^2 \chi. \qquad (3.7.20)$$

The extrinsic curvature  $K_{ij}$  of the disk, when approached from above toward r = 0, is determined by the first r derivative of the Kerr solution and produces:

$$K_{tt} = \frac{Gm}{a^2 \cos^3 \chi}, \qquad K_{t\chi} = 0, \qquad K_{t\varphi} = -\frac{Gm}{a} \frac{\sin^2 \chi}{\cos^3 \chi}, \qquad K_{\chi\chi} = 0, \qquad K_{\chi\varphi} = 0, \qquad K_{\varphi\varphi} = Gm \frac{\sin^4 \chi}{\cos^3 \chi}. \qquad (3.7.21)$$

The extrinsic curvature tensor of the disk when approached from below is simply the negative of the extrinsic curvature when approached from above. We may now use Israel's junction conditions to determine the surface energy-momentum tensor on the disk  $S_{ij}^{disk}$ :

$$\mathbf{S}_{ij}^{\text{disk}} = -\frac{1}{8\pi G} \left( K_{ij} - K\gamma_{ij} \right) \big|_{\text{below}}^{\text{above}}.$$
(3.7.22)

The resulting surface energy-momentum tensor is:

$$S_{ij}^{\text{disk}} = \frac{\sigma_{\text{disk}}}{2} (\zeta_i \zeta_j + \xi_i \xi_j) \tag{3.7.23}$$

where:

$$\sigma_{\rm disk} = -\frac{m}{2\pi a^2 \cos^3 \chi} \tag{3.7.24}$$

$$\zeta_t = 0, \qquad \qquad \zeta_{\chi} = a \cos^2 \chi, \qquad \qquad \zeta_{\varphi} = 0 \qquad (3.7.25)$$

$$\xi_t = -\sin\chi, \qquad \xi_\chi = 0, \qquad \xi_\varphi = a\sin\chi. \qquad (3.7.26)$$

As a distribution the disk energy-momentum tensor is:

$$T_{\mu\nu}^{\text{disk}} = \frac{\sigma_{\text{disk}}}{2} (\zeta_{\mu}\zeta_{\nu} + \xi_{\mu}\xi_{\nu})\delta(r\cos\chi).$$
(3.7.27)

Taking the worldline which passes through the center of the disk as the worldline of the metric, we can use equations (3.7.11) and (3.7.12) to compute the total momentum and spin of the Kerr solution. With only the given surface energy-momentum tensor, the resultant linear momentum and spin are not  $mu^{\mu}$  and  $m\epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}u^{\rho}a^{\sigma}$ . Instead, the integrals diverge as  $\chi \to \frac{\pi}{2}$  in precisely the same way as occurred for  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$ . In order to produce the correct total momentum and spin it is necessary to have a linear energy-momentum tensor density on the ring singularity at  $r = 0, \chi = \frac{\pi}{2}$ . In particular, the necessary effective mass density is:

$$\rho = -\frac{m}{2\pi a^2 \cos^4 \chi} \delta(r) \vartheta \left(\frac{\pi}{2} - \varepsilon - \chi\right) + \frac{m}{2\pi a^2 \sin \varepsilon \cos^2 \chi} \delta(r) \delta \left(\chi - \frac{\pi}{2}\right)$$
(3.7.28)

which is the same density as the  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  solution. The resulting energy-momentum tensor is:

$$T_{\mu\nu} = \frac{\rho}{2} (\zeta_{\mu} \zeta_{\nu} + \xi_{\mu} \xi_{\nu}).$$
(3.7.29)

With this energy-momentum tensor using (3.7.11) and (3.7.12) we have precisely:

$$p^{\mu} = m u^{\mu}, \qquad S^{\mu} = m a^{\mu}.$$
 (3.7.30)

### 3.7.3 Stationary Multipole Moments of Kerr

We now consider the Minkowski space limit of Dixon's moments for the energy-momentum tensor. Using the same  $y^a$  coordinates as before, we find:

$$p_n^{\kappa_1\dots\kappa_n\lambda\mu\nu} = 2\Lambda^{\kappa_1}{}_{A_1}\dots\Lambda^{\kappa_n}{}_{A_n}\eta^{\nu(\mu}\int_{\Sigma} (-T^{\lambda)\rho}u_{\rho})y^{A_1}\dots y^{A_n}d^3y + \mathcal{O}(R)$$
(3.7.31)

$$\mathbf{t}_{n}^{\kappa_{1}...\kappa_{n}\lambda\mu} = \Lambda^{\kappa_{1}}{}_{A_{1}}...\Lambda^{\kappa_{n}}{}_{A_{n}}\int_{\Sigma} y^{A_{1}}...y^{A_{n}}T^{\lambda\mu}d^{3}y + \mathcal{O}(R).$$
(3.7.32)

Just like with the current density, we now define the naive K moments:

$$K_n^{a_1\dots a_n BC} = \int_{\Sigma} y^{a_1} \dots y^{a_n} \Lambda_{\alpha}{}^B \Lambda_{\beta}{}^C T^{\alpha\beta} d^3y.$$
(3.7.33)

In terms of these moments, we have:

$$p_n^{\kappa_1\dots\kappa_n\lambda\mu\nu} = 2\Lambda^{\kappa_1}{}_{a_1}\dots\Lambda^{\kappa_n}{}_{a_n}\eta^{\nu(\mu}\Lambda^{\lambda)}{}_BK_n^{a_1\dots a_nB0} + \mathcal{O}(R)$$
(3.7.34)

$$t_n^{\kappa_1\dots\kappa_n\lambda\mu} = \Lambda^{\kappa_1}{}_{a_1}\dots\Lambda^{\kappa_n}{}_{a_n}\Lambda^{\lambda}{}_B\Lambda^{\mu}{}_CK_n^{a_1\dots a_nBC} + \mathcal{O}(R).$$
(3.7.35)

For arbitrary vectors on the internal Lorentz indices,  $k^A$  and  $v^A$  we have:

$$K_n^{a_1...a_nBC}k_{a_1}...k_{a_n}v_Bv_C = \int_{\Sigma} (x^a k_a)^n \frac{\sigma(\mathbf{r})}{2} \delta(z)((\zeta^A v_A)^2 + (\xi^A v_A)^2)d^3x.$$
(3.7.36)

Following the same integrations as for  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  allows these moments to be computed with no additional complications giving:

$$K_{2n}^{a_1\dots a_{2n}BC}k_{a_1}\dots k_{a_{2n}}v_Bv_C = m\frac{n+1}{2n+1}|\vec{k}\times\vec{a}|^{2n}v_0^2 + m\frac{n}{2n+1}|\vec{k}\times\vec{a}|^{2n-2}(\vec{a}\cdot(\vec{k}\times\vec{v}))^2$$
(3.7.37)

$$K_{2n+1}^{a_1\dots a_{2n+1}BC}k_{a_1\dots k_{a_{2n+1}}}v_Bv_C = mv_0|\vec{a}\times\vec{k}|^{2n}\vec{a}\cdot(\vec{k}\times\vec{v}).$$
(3.7.38)

# 3.7.4 Dynamical Multipole Moments of Kerr

Now that we have the stationary moments of the Kerr solution, we can use these to compute the dynamical moments of a spinning black hole, up to corrections of order of the Riemann tensor, exactly analogously to the calculation for  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$ . We can compute the reduced moments of the energy-momentum tensor by returning the stationary results through the chain of definitions defining  $I_n^{\rho_1...\rho_n\mu\nu}$ . Using the same notation as for electromagnetism, we find:

$$I_{2n}^{\rho_1\dots\rho_{2n}\mu\nu}k_{\rho_1}\dots k_{\rho_{2n}}v_{\mu}v_{\nu} = \frac{n+1}{2n+1}ma^{2n}k_{\perp}^{2n-4}\left(k_{\perp}^4v_0^2 - 2k_{\perp}^2(k_{\perp}\cdot v)k_0v_0 + \frac{k_{\perp}^2v_{\perp}^2}{2n-1}k_0^2 + \frac{2n-1}{2n-1}(k_{\perp}\cdot v)^2k_0^2 + \frac{n}{n+1}k_{\perp}^2\left(\epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}u^{\mu}\hat{a}^{\nu}k^{\rho}v^{\sigma}\right)^2\right) + \mathcal{O}(R)$$
(3.7.39)

$$I_{2n+1}^{\rho_1\dots\rho_{2n+1}\mu\nu}k_{\rho_1\dots}k_{\rho_{2n+1}}v_{\mu}v_{\nu} = ma^{2n+1}k_{\perp}^{2n-2}\epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}u^{\mu}\hat{a}^{\nu}k^{\rho}v^{\sigma}(k_{\perp}^2v_0 - (k_{\perp}\cdot v)k_0) + \mathcal{O}(R).$$
(3.7.40)

By returning these to (3.7.19), we find that:

$$\mathcal{Q}_{2n}^{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_{2n}\rho\mu\sigma\nu}\nabla^{2n}_{(\lambda_1\dots\lambda_{2n})}R_{\rho\mu\sigma\nu} = \frac{ma^{2n+2}\nabla^{2n-2}_{\perp}}{(2n+3)!}\left((n+2)\nabla^2_{\perp}\perp^{\rho\sigma}R_{\rho\mu\sigma\nu}\right) + \frac{n+1}{2}\nabla^2_{\perp}\perp^{\rho\sigma}\perp^{\mu\nu}R_{\rho\mu\sigma\nu} - \frac{n(n+2)}{2n+1}(u\cdot\nabla)^2\perp^{\rho\sigma}\perp^{\mu\nu}R_{\rho\mu\sigma\nu}\right)$$
(3.7.41)

$$\mathcal{Q}_{2n+1}^{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_{2n+1}\rho\mu\sigma\nu}\nabla^{2n+1}_{(\lambda_1\dots\lambda_{2n+1})}R_{\rho\mu\sigma\nu} = \frac{ma^{2n+2}}{(2n+3)!}\nabla^{2n}_{\perp}R^{\star}_{\nabla_{\perp}uua}$$
(3.7.42)

(up to terms which are quadratic in the Riemann tensor).  $\nabla_{\perp}$  is consistent with our use of the  $\perp$  symbol:  $\nabla_{\perp}^{\rho} = \perp^{\rho\sigma} \nabla_{\sigma}$  and is used as an index to indicate contraction just as with u and a. Now returning these to the dynamical mass function produces:

$$\mathcal{M}^{2} = m^{2} + 2m^{2}a^{2}\mathscr{F}_{1}(a\nabla_{\perp}) \perp^{\rho\sigma} R_{\rho u\sigma u} + 2m^{2}a^{2}\mathscr{F}_{2}(a\nabla_{\perp}) \perp^{\rho\sigma} \perp^{\mu\nu} R_{\rho\mu\sigma\nu} + 2m^{2}a^{4}\mathscr{F}_{3}(a\nabla_{\perp})(u\cdot\nabla)^{2} \perp^{\rho\sigma} \perp^{\mu\nu} R_{\rho\mu\sigma\nu} + 2m^{2}a^{2}\mathscr{F}_{4}(a\nabla_{\perp})R_{\nabla_{\perp}uua}^{\star} + \mathcal{O}(R^{2})$$
(3.7.43)

where:

$$\mathscr{F}_1(x) = \frac{\cosh x}{2x^2} + \frac{\sinh x}{2x^3} - \frac{1}{x^2} \tag{3.7.44}$$

$$\mathscr{F}_2(x) = \frac{\cosh x}{4x^2} - \frac{\sinh x}{4x^3} \tag{3.7.45}$$

$$\mathscr{F}_3(x) = \frac{1}{x^4} - \frac{5}{8} \frac{\cosh x}{x^4} - \frac{3}{8} \frac{\sinh x}{x^5} + \frac{3}{8x^3} \int_0^x \frac{\sinh t}{t} dt$$
(3.7.46)

$$\mathscr{F}_4(x) = \frac{\sinh x - x}{x^3}.$$
 (3.7.47)

The dynamical mass function in (3.7.43) is our principal result for spinning black holes, analogous to (3.4.54). If we neglect  $u \cdot \nabla$  terms and consider only contributions to the dynamical mass function which are nonzero for a local vacuum solution of Einstein's equations ( $R_{\mu\nu} = 0$ ), then (3.7.43) simplifies to:

$$\mathcal{M}^2 = m^2 - 2m^2 \frac{1 - \cos(a \cdot \nabla)}{(a \cdot \nabla)^2} R_{uaua} + 2m^2 \frac{(a \cdot \nabla) - \sin(a \cdot \nabla)}{(a \cdot \nabla)^2} R_{uaua}^{\star} + \mathcal{O}(R^2)$$
(3.7.48)

which are the equivalent couplings of Ref. [145]. While (3.7.43) and (3.7.48) produce the same three point amplitude (and so the same stationary energy-momentum tensor), they do not produce the same Compton amplitudes. Only (3.7.43) satisfies (3.7.16) as an off-shell statement for black holes. In this way, (3.7.43) uniquely captures the physical multipole moments for a spinning black hole independent of its motion.

# 3.8 Gravitational Compton Amplitude

### 3.8.1 Formal Classical Compton

To write Einstein's equations explicitly for the metric perturbation, it is useful to introduce a shorthand

$$V = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-\det g}}.\tag{3.8.1}$$

and to define the inverse metric tensor density  $\mathfrak{g}^{\mu\nu}$ :

$$\mathfrak{g}^{\mu\nu} = g^{\mu\nu}\sqrt{-\det g}.\tag{3.8.2}$$

Then, derivatives of the metric can be expressed as:

$$\partial_{\rho}g^{\mu\nu} = V\left(\partial_{\rho}\mathfrak{g}^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g^{\mu\nu}g_{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\rho}\mathfrak{g}^{\alpha\beta}\right), \qquad \partial_{\rho}V = -\frac{V^2}{2}g_{\mu\nu}\partial_{\rho}\mathfrak{g}^{\mu\nu}.$$
(3.8.3)

With these definitions, we find that:

for the volume form Jacobian:

$$\frac{2}{V^{2}}\left(R^{\mu\nu}-\frac{1}{2}Rg^{\mu\nu}\right) = \mathfrak{g}^{\rho\sigma}\partial_{\rho\sigma}^{2}\mathfrak{g}^{\mu\nu} + \mathfrak{g}^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\rho\sigma}^{2}\mathfrak{g}^{\rho\sigma} - \mathfrak{g}^{\mu\sigma}\partial_{\rho\sigma}^{2}\mathfrak{g}^{\rho\nu} - \mathfrak{g}^{\nu\sigma}\partial_{\rho\sigma}^{2}\mathfrak{g}^{\rho\mu} - \partial_{\sigma}\mathfrak{g}^{\mu\rho}\partial_{\rho}\mathfrak{g}^{\nu\sigma} + \partial_{\rho}\mathfrak{g}^{\rho\sigma}\partial_{\sigma}\mathfrak{g}^{\mu\nu} - g_{\alpha\beta}g^{\rho\sigma}\partial_{\rho}\mathfrak{g}^{\mu\alpha}\partial_{\sigma}\mathfrak{g}^{\nu\beta} + g^{\mu\beta}g_{\rho\alpha}\partial_{\sigma}\mathfrak{g}^{\nu\alpha}\partial_{\beta}\mathfrak{g}^{\rho\sigma} + g^{\nu\beta}g_{\rho\alpha}\partial_{\sigma}\mathfrak{g}^{\mu\alpha}\partial_{\beta}\mathfrak{g}^{\rho\sigma} - \frac{1}{2}g^{\mu\nu}g_{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\sigma}\mathfrak{g}^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\beta}\mathfrak{g}^{\rho\sigma} - \frac{1}{8}(2g^{\mu\tau}g^{\nu\omega} - g^{\mu\nu}g^{\tau\omega})(2g_{\alpha\rho}g_{\beta\sigma} - g_{\alpha\beta}g_{\rho\sigma})\partial_{\tau}\mathfrak{g}^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\omega}\mathfrak{g}^{\rho\sigma}.$$
(3.8.4)

This expression is true in any coordinates. Going forward we will only use de Donder gauge, defined so that the coordinates are harmonic functions when viewed as scalars:

$$\nabla^2 x^{\mu} = -g^{\alpha\beta} \Gamma^{\mu}{}_{\alpha\beta} = V \partial_{\nu} \mathfrak{g}^{\mu\nu} \stackrel{!}{=} 0.$$
(3.8.5)

Using this gauge, Einstein's equations can be written exactly in Landau-Lifshitz form as:

$$-\mathfrak{g}^{\rho\sigma}\partial^{2}_{\rho\sigma}\mathfrak{g}^{\mu\nu} = -16\pi G T^{\mu\nu} |\det\mathfrak{g}| - \partial_{\sigma}\mathfrak{g}^{\mu\rho}\partial_{\rho}\mathfrak{g}^{\nu\sigma} - g_{\alpha\beta}g^{\rho\sigma}\partial_{\rho}\mathfrak{g}^{\mu\alpha}\partial_{\sigma}\mathfrak{g}^{\nu\beta} + g^{\mu\beta}g_{\rho\alpha}\partial_{\sigma}\mathfrak{g}^{\nu\alpha}\partial_{\beta}\mathfrak{g}^{\rho\sigma} + g^{\nu\beta}g_{\rho\alpha}\partial_{\sigma}\mathfrak{g}^{\mu\alpha}\partial_{\beta}\mathfrak{g}^{\rho\sigma} - \frac{1}{2}g^{\mu\nu}g_{\alpha\rho}\partial_{\sigma}\mathfrak{g}^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\beta}\mathfrak{g}^{\rho\sigma} - \frac{1}{8}(2g^{\mu\tau}g^{\nu\omega} - g^{\mu\nu}g^{\tau\omega})(2g_{\alpha\rho}g_{\beta\sigma} - g_{\alpha\beta}g_{\rho\sigma})\partial_{\tau}\mathfrak{g}^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\omega}\mathfrak{g}^{\rho\sigma}$$
(3.8.6)

For studying gravitational waves we perturb about Minkowski space:

$$\mathfrak{g}^{\mu\nu} = \eta^{\mu\nu} + \kappa h^{\mu\nu}, \qquad \kappa = \sqrt{32\pi G}. \tag{3.8.7}$$

For this choice of coupling constant, the Einstein-Hilbert action is canonically normalized as a functional of the perturbation  $h^{\mu\nu}$ . When considering perturbations of Minkowski space, we raise and lower indices by

using the Minkowski metric. In terms of  $h^{\mu\nu}$ , de Donder gauge is the requirement:

$$\partial_{\nu}h^{\mu\nu} = 0. \tag{3.8.8}$$

In terms of  $h^{\mu\nu}$ , Einstein's equations are exactly:

$$-\partial^{2}h^{\mu\nu} = \kappa \left( -\frac{T^{\mu\nu}}{2} |\det \mathfrak{g}| + h^{\rho\sigma}\partial^{2}_{\rho\sigma}h^{\mu\nu} - \partial_{\sigma}h^{\mu\rho}\partial_{\rho}h^{\nu\sigma} - g_{\alpha\beta}g^{\rho\sigma}\partial_{\rho}h^{\mu\alpha}\partial_{\sigma}h^{\nu\beta} + g^{\mu\beta}g_{\rho\alpha}\partial_{\sigma}h^{\mu\alpha}\partial_{\beta}h^{\rho\sigma} - \frac{1}{2}g^{\mu\nu}g_{\alpha\rho}\partial_{\sigma}h^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\beta}h^{\rho\sigma} - \frac{1}{8}(2g^{\mu\tau}g^{\nu\omega} - g^{\mu\nu}g^{\tau\omega})(2g_{\alpha\rho}g_{\beta\sigma} - g_{\alpha\beta}g_{\rho\sigma})\partial_{\tau}h^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\omega}h^{\rho\sigma} \right)$$
(3.8.9)

With  $\kappa$  acting as the coupling constant,  $h^{\mu\nu}$  and  $T^{\mu\nu}$  will have solutions in powers of  $\kappa$ :

$$h^{\mu\nu} = h^{\mu\nu}_{(0)} + \kappa h^{\mu\nu}_{(1)} + \kappa^2 h^{\mu\nu}_{(2)} + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^3)$$
  
$$T^{\mu\nu} = T^{\mu\nu}_{(0)} + \kappa T^{\mu\nu}_{(1)} + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^2)$$
(3.8.10)

The  $\kappa^0$  piece then satisfies the homogeneous wave equation from Einstein's equations:

$$\partial^2 h_{(0)}^{\mu\nu} = 0. \tag{3.8.11}$$

For Compton scattering, we will consider the incoming gravitational field to be a plane wave:

$$h_{(0)}^{\mu\nu} = \mathcal{E}_1^{\mu\nu} e^{ik_1 \cdot x} \tag{3.8.12}$$

for some polarization tensor  $\mathcal{E}_1^{\mu\nu}$ . We will further gauge fix within de Donder gauge so that  $\mathcal{E}_1^{\mu\nu}$  is traceless, transverse to  $k_{1\mu}$  and orthogonal to a vector  $v^{\mu}$ . Using the helicity polarization vectors from electromagnetism, the most general such tensor may be written as a linear combination:

$$\mathcal{E}_1^{\mu\nu} = c_+ \mathcal{E}_{1+}^{\mu} \mathcal{E}_{1+}^{\nu} + c_- \mathcal{E}_{1-}^{\mu} \mathcal{E}_{1-}^{\nu}.$$
(3.8.13)

Therefore for considering Compton scattering in the helicity basis we will take the incoming plane wave to be of the form:  $\mu_{\mu\nu} = c\mu_{\mu\nu} ik_{\mu\nu}$ 

$$h_{(0)}^{\mu\nu} = \epsilon \mathcal{E}_1^{\mu} \mathcal{E}_1^{\nu} e^{ik_1 \cdot x}.$$
 (3.8.14)

From Einstein's equations, the  $\kappa^1$  piece  $h^{\mu\nu}_{(1)}$  then satisfies:

$$-\partial^{2}h_{(1)}^{\mu\nu} = -\frac{T_{(0)}^{\mu\nu}}{2} + h_{(0)}^{\rho\sigma}\partial_{\rho\sigma}^{2}h_{(0)}^{\mu\nu} - \partial_{\sigma}h_{(0)}^{\mu\rho}\partial_{\rho}h_{(0)}^{\nu\sigma} - \eta_{\alpha\beta}\eta^{\rho\sigma}\partial_{\rho}h_{(0)}^{\mu\alpha}\partial_{\sigma}h_{(0)}^{\nu\beta} + \eta^{\mu\beta}\eta_{\rho\alpha}\partial_{\sigma}h_{(0)}^{\nu\alpha}\partial_{\beta}h_{(0)}^{\rho\sigma} + \eta^{\nu\beta}\eta_{\rho\alpha}\partial_{\sigma}h_{(0)}^{\mu\alpha}\partial_{\beta}h_{(0)}^{\rho\sigma} - \frac{1}{2}\eta^{\mu\nu}\eta_{\alpha\rho}\partial_{\sigma}h_{(0)}^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\beta}h_{(0)}^{\rho\sigma} - \frac{1}{8}(2\eta^{\mu\tau}\eta^{\nu\omega} - \eta^{\mu\nu}\eta^{\tau\omega})(2\eta_{\alpha\rho}\eta_{\beta\sigma} - \eta_{\alpha\beta}\eta_{\rho\sigma})\partial_{\tau}h_{(0)}^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\omega}h_{(0)}^{\rho\sigma}.$$
(3.8.15)

For Compton scattering we are only concerned with the response of the system to linear order in the incoming field strength  $\epsilon$  and so it is useful to define  $h_{\text{stat}}^{\mu\nu}$  as the stationary response of the metric perturbation to the unperturbed energy-momentum tensor. In the equation of motion for  $h_{(1)}^{\mu\nu}$ , all of the contributions from  $h_{(0)}^{\mu\nu}$  are of order  $\epsilon^2$  and so:

$$h_{(1)}^{\mu\nu} = h_{\text{stat}}^{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2), \qquad -\partial^2 h_{\text{stat}}^{\mu\nu} = -\frac{T_{(0)}^{\mu\nu}}{2}.$$
 (3.8.16)

The  $\kappa^1$  correction to the metric perturbation can be decomposted into a statioanry piece from iterating corrections from  $h_{\text{stat}}^{\mu\nu}$ , which is  $\epsilon$  independent, a piece which is linear in  $\epsilon$ , and pieces which are of at least  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$ :  $h_{(2)}^{\mu\nu} = h_{\text{stat},2}^{\mu\nu} + \epsilon \delta h^{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2).$  (3.8.17)

Because the lowest order stationary correction to the actual metric 
$$g_{\mu\nu}$$
 is  $\mathcal{O}(\kappa^2)$ , the  $\kappa^1$  correction to the energy-momentum tensor has no  $\epsilon^0$  piece and so may be written:

$$T_{(1)}^{\mu\nu} = \epsilon \delta T^{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2). \tag{3.8.18}$$

The quantity  $\delta h^{\mu\nu}$  thus encodes the linearized response of gravity to the interaction of an incoming plane wave with the massive body and so determines the Compton amplitude. Returning these definitions to Einstein's equations, we find that  $\delta h^{\mu\nu}$  satisfies:

$$-\epsilon\partial^{2}\delta h^{\mu\nu} = -\frac{\epsilon}{2}\delta T^{\mu\nu} + h^{\rho\sigma}_{\text{stat}}\partial^{2}_{\rho\sigma}h^{\mu\nu}_{(0)} + h^{\rho\sigma}_{(0)}\partial^{2}_{\rho\sigma}h^{\mu\nu}_{\text{stat}} - \partial_{\sigma}h^{\mu\rho}_{\text{stat}}\partial_{\rho}h^{\nu\sigma}_{(0)} - \partial_{\sigma}h^{\mu\rho}_{(0)}\partial_{\rho}h^{\nu}_{\text{stat}} - \partial^{\rho}h^{\mu\sigma}_{\text{stat}}\partial_{\rho}h^{\nu}_{(0)\sigma} - \partial^{\rho}h^{\mu\sigma}_{(0)}\partial_{\rho}h^{\nu}_{\text{stat}\sigma} + \partial^{\mu}h^{\rho\sigma}_{\text{stat}}\partial_{\rho}h^{\nu}_{(0)\sigma} + \partial^{\mu}h^{\rho\sigma}_{(0)}\partial_{\rho}h^{\nu}_{\text{stat}\sigma} + \partial^{\nu}h^{\rho\sigma}_{\text{stat}}\partial_{\rho}h^{\mu}_{(0)\sigma} + \partial^{\nu}h^{\rho\sigma}_{(0)}\partial_{\rho}h^{\mu}_{\text{stat}\sigma} - \eta^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\lambda}h^{\rho\sigma}_{\text{stat}}\partial_{\rho}h^{\lambda}_{(0)\sigma} - \frac{1}{4}\left(\eta^{\mu\tau}\eta^{\nu\omega} + \eta^{\nu\tau}\eta^{\mu\omega} - \eta^{\mu\nu}\eta^{\tau\omega}\right)\left(2\eta_{\alpha\rho}\eta_{\beta\sigma} - \eta_{\alpha\beta}\eta_{\rho\sigma}\right)\partial_{\tau}h^{\alpha\beta}_{\text{stat}}\partial_{\omega}h^{\rho\sigma}_{(0)}.$$
(3.8.19)

Define the source fluctuation  $\delta \tau^{\mu\nu}$  so that:

$$-\partial^2 \delta h^{\mu\nu} = -\frac{\delta \tau^{\mu\nu}}{2}.$$
(3.8.20)

Because the tree level Compton is  $\mathcal{O}(\kappa^2)$ , it only depends on linear and quadratic in R terms in the dynamical mass function. Consequently, we will consider the dynamical mass function to be of the form:

$$\mathcal{M}^2 = m^2 + \delta \mathcal{M}_1^2 + \delta \mathcal{M}_2^2 + \mathcal{O}(R^3)$$
(3.8.21)

where  $\delta \mathcal{M}_1^2$  is of the form:

$$\delta \mathcal{M}_1^2 = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} T_n^{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_n \rho \mu \sigma \nu}(g, u, S) \nabla_{(\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_n)}^n R_{\rho \mu \sigma \nu}$$
(3.8.22)

for some functions  $T_n^{\dots}$  with the same index symmetries as  $\nabla_{(\lambda_1\dots\lambda_n)}^n R_{\rho\mu\sigma\nu}$  and where  $\delta \mathcal{M}_2^2$  is of the form:

$$\delta \mathcal{M}_2^2 = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} V_{nl}^{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_n \rho \mu \sigma \nu | \kappa_1 \dots \kappa_l \gamma \alpha \delta \beta}(g, u, S) \nabla_{(\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_n)}^n R_{\rho \mu \sigma \nu} \nabla_{(\kappa_1 \dots \kappa_l)}^l R_{\gamma \alpha \delta \beta}$$
(3.8.23)

for some functions  $V_{nl}^{...}$  with the same index symmetries as  $\nabla_{(\lambda_1...\lambda_n)}^n R_{\rho\mu\sigma\nu} \nabla_{(\kappa_1...\kappa_l)}^l R_{\gamma\alpha\delta\beta}$ .

Einstein's equations together with the MPD equations with the described initial conditions will produce

solutions of the form:

$$z^{\mu}(\lambda) = v^{\mu}\lambda + \kappa\epsilon\delta z^{\mu}(\lambda) + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^2)$$
(3.8.24)

$$u_{\mu}(\lambda) = v_{\mu} + \kappa \epsilon \delta u_{\mu}(\lambda) + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^2)$$
(3.8.25)

$$S^{\mu}(\lambda) = s^{\mu} + \kappa \epsilon \delta S^{\mu}(\lambda) + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^2)$$
(3.8.26)

$$T^{\mu\nu}(X) = T^{\mu\nu}_{(0)}(X) + \kappa\epsilon\delta T^{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^2, \epsilon^2)$$
(3.8.27)

$$h^{\mu\nu}(X) = \epsilon \mathcal{E}_1^{\mu} \mathcal{E}_1^{\nu} e^{ik_1 \cdot x} + \kappa h_{\text{stat}}^{\mu\nu}(X) + \kappa^2 h_{\text{stat},2}^{\mu\nu}(X) + \kappa^2 \epsilon \delta h^{\mu\nu}(X) + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^3, \epsilon^2).$$
(3.8.28)

The equation of motion perturbations will be oscillatory from solving the MPD equations. In particular, their solutions take the form:

$$\delta z^{\mu} = \delta \widetilde{z}^{\mu} e^{ik_1 \cdot v\lambda}, \qquad \delta u_{\mu} = \delta \widetilde{u}_{\mu} e^{ik_1 \cdot v\lambda}, \qquad \delta S^{\mu} = \delta \widetilde{S}^{\mu} e^{ik_1 \cdot v\lambda}$$
(3.8.29)

for constant vectors  $\delta \widetilde{z}, \delta \widetilde{u}, \delta \widetilde{S}$ .

It is useful to define the function  $\mathcal{N}(u, S, k, \mathcal{E})$ :

$$\mathcal{N}(u, S, k, \mathcal{E}) = -\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{i^n}{m} T_n^{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_n \rho \mu \sigma \nu}(\eta, u, S) k_{\lambda_1} \dots k_{\lambda_n} \mathcal{E}_\rho k_\mu \mathcal{E}_\sigma k_\nu$$
(3.8.30)

so that for a plane-wave:

$$\delta \mathcal{M}_1^2 \big|_{\text{plane-wave}} = 2m\kappa \epsilon \mathcal{N}(u, S, k, \mathcal{E}) e^{ik \cdot z} + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^2).$$
(3.8.31)

Similarly, we define the function  $\mathcal{P}(u, S, k, \mathcal{E}, k', \mathcal{E}')$ :

$$\mathcal{P}(u, S, k, \mathcal{E}, k', \mathcal{E}') = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{4i^{l-n}}{m} V_{nl}^{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_n \rho \mu \sigma \nu | \kappa_1 \dots \kappa_l \gamma \alpha \delta \beta} k'_{\lambda_1} \dots k'_{\lambda_n} k'_{\rho} \mathcal{E}'^*_{\mu} k'_{\sigma} \mathcal{E}'^*_{\nu} k_{\kappa_1} \dots k_{\kappa_l} k_{\gamma} \mathcal{E}_{\alpha} k_{\delta} \mathcal{E}_{\beta}$$
(3.8.32)

and adopt the shorthand:

$$\mathcal{N}_1 = \mathcal{N}(v, s, k_1, \mathcal{E}_1), \qquad \mathcal{N}_2 = \mathcal{N}(v, s, k_2, \mathcal{E}_2), \qquad \mathcal{P}_{12} = \mathcal{P}(v, s, k_1, \mathcal{E}_1, k_2, \mathcal{E}_2).$$
 (3.8.33)

Using the delayed Green's function solution to the wave equation to solve Einstein's equations for  $\delta h^{\mu\nu}$ , we find:  $\delta b^{\mu\nu}(\mathbf{x}) = \int \delta \tau^{\mu\nu} (t - |\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|, \vec{x}') d^{3}\vec{x}'$  (2.8.24)

$$\delta h^{\mu\nu}(X) = -\int_{\mathbb{S}} \frac{\delta \tau^{\mu\nu}(t - |x - x'|, x')}{8\pi |\vec{x} - \vec{x}'|} d^3 \vec{x}'$$
(3.8.34)

where t and  $\vec{x}$  retain their definitions from electromagnetism. The source perturbation is determined by the equation of motion perturbations  $\delta z$ ,  $\delta u$ ,  $\delta S$ . Define the flat-space Fourier transform of the energy-momentum tensor:  $\widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu}(k) = \int \frac{e^{-ik \cdot x}}{ik \cdot x} T^{\mu\nu}(X) d^4 X.$  (3.8.35)

$$\widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu}(k) = \int \frac{e^{-i\kappa x}}{(2\pi)^2} T^{\mu\nu}(X) d^4 X.$$
(3.8.35)

From (3.6.36) we can identify that the Fourier transform of the stationary stress tensor of the unperturbed body is:  $\widetilde{T}_{(0)}^{\alpha\beta}(k) = M^{\alpha\beta}(k) \frac{\delta(k \cdot v)}{2\pi}$ (3.8.36) where:

$$M^{\alpha\beta}(k) = mv^{\alpha}v^{\beta} + iv^{(\alpha}\epsilon^{\beta)\gamma\rho\sigma}k_{\gamma}v_{\rho}s_{\sigma} - \frac{2}{m}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}(-i)^{n}T_{n}^{\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n}\mu\alpha\nu\beta}(\eta, v, s)k_{\lambda_{1}}...k_{\lambda_{n}}k_{\mu}k_{\nu}.$$
(3.8.37)

The resulting Fourier transform of the stationary metric perturbation is:

$$\widetilde{h}_{\text{stat}}^{\alpha\beta}(k) = -\frac{M^{\alpha\beta}(k)}{2k^2} \frac{\delta(k \cdot v)}{2\pi}.$$
(3.8.38)

In terms of this solution, (3.8.19) produces:

$$\delta \tilde{\tau}^{\mu\nu}(k_{2}) = \delta \widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu}(k_{2}) + 2\mathcal{E}_{1}^{\mu} \mathcal{E}_{1}^{\nu} (\widetilde{h}_{\text{stat}}^{\rho\sigma} k_{1\rho} k_{1\sigma}) + 2(\mathcal{E}_{1} \cdot k_{2})^{2} \widetilde{h}_{\text{stat}}^{\mu\nu} - 4(\mathcal{E}_{1} \cdot k_{2}) \mathcal{E}_{1}^{(\mu} \widetilde{h}_{\text{stat}}^{\nu)\rho} k_{1\rho} - 4(k_{1} \cdot k_{2}) \mathcal{E}_{1}^{(\mu} \widetilde{h}_{\text{stat}}^{\nu)\rho} \mathcal{E}_{1\rho} + 4\mathcal{E}_{1}^{(\mu} (k_{2} - k_{1})^{\nu)} (\widetilde{h}_{\text{stat}}^{\rho\sigma} k_{1\rho} \mathcal{E}_{1\sigma}) + 4(\mathcal{E}_{1} \cdot k_{2}) k_{1}^{(\mu} \widetilde{h}_{\text{stat}}^{\nu)\rho} \mathcal{E}_{1\rho} - 2\eta^{\mu\nu} (\mathcal{E}_{1} \cdot k_{2}) \widetilde{h}_{\text{stat}}^{\rho\sigma} k_{1\rho} \mathcal{E}_{1\sigma} - 2k_{1}^{(\mu} (k_{2} - k_{1})^{\nu)} \widetilde{h}_{\text{stat}}^{\alpha\beta} \mathcal{E}_{1\alpha} \mathcal{E}_{1\beta} + \eta^{\mu\nu} k_{1} \cdot k_{2} \widetilde{h}_{\text{stat}}^{\alpha\beta} \mathcal{E}_{1\alpha} \mathcal{E}_{1\beta}$$
(3.8.39)

where everywhere it appears in the above equation,  $\tilde{h}_{\text{stat}}^{\rho\sigma}$  is evaluated at  $k_2 - k_1$ .

From the definition of  $\mathcal{Q}_n$ , we find:

$$\mathcal{Q}_{n}^{\lambda_{1}\dots\lambda_{n}\rho\mu\sigma\nu} = \left(1 - \frac{\delta\mathcal{M}_{1}^{2}}{2m^{2}}\right)\frac{T_{n}^{\lambda_{1}\dots\lambda_{n}\rho\mu\sigma\nu}}{2m} + \frac{1}{m}\sum_{l=0}^{\infty}V_{nl}^{\lambda_{1}\dots\lambda_{n}\rho\mu\sigma\nu|\kappa_{1}\dots\kappa_{l}\gamma\alpha\delta\beta}\nabla_{(\kappa_{1}\dots\kappa_{l})}^{l}R_{\gamma\alpha\delta\beta} + \mathcal{O}(R^{2}). \quad (3.8.40)$$

In terms of the solutions to the equations of motion:

$$\mathcal{Q}_{n}^{\lambda_{1}\dots\lambda_{n}\rho\mu\sigma\nu} = \frac{T_{n}^{\lambda_{1}\dots\lambda_{n}\rho\mu\sigma\nu}(\eta,v,s)}{2m} + \kappa\epsilon\delta\widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{n}^{\lambda_{1}\dots\lambda_{n}\rho\mu\sigma\nu}e^{ik_{1}\cdot v\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^{2})$$
(3.8.41)

where:

$$\delta \widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{n}^{\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n}\rho\mu\sigma\nu} = \frac{1}{4m} \mathcal{E}_{1\alpha} \mathcal{E}_{1\beta} \widehat{G}^{\alpha\beta} T_{n}^{\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n}\rho\mu\sigma\nu} + \frac{1}{2m} \frac{\partial T_{n}^{\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n}\rho\mu\sigma\nu}}{\partial v^{\alpha}} \delta \widetilde{u}^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2m} \frac{\partial T_{n}^{\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n}\rho\mu\sigma\nu}}{\partial s^{\alpha}} \left( \delta \widetilde{S}^{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2} s \cdot \mathcal{E}_{1} \mathcal{E}_{1}^{\alpha} \right) - \frac{\mathcal{N}_{1}}{2m^{2}} T_{n}^{\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n}\rho\mu\sigma\nu} - \frac{2}{m} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} i^{l} V_{nl}^{\lambda_{1}...\lambda_{n}\rho\mu\sigma\nu|\kappa_{1}...\kappa_{l}\gamma\alpha\delta\beta} k_{1\kappa_{1}}...k_{1\kappa_{l}} k_{1\gamma} k_{1\delta} \mathcal{E}_{1\alpha} \mathcal{E}_{1\beta}.$$
(3.8.42)

Returning these to  $\delta \tau$ , we find that in Fourier space it takes the form:

$$\delta \tilde{\tau}^{\mu\nu}(k_2) = H^{\mu\nu}(k_2) \frac{\delta(k_2 \cdot v - k_1 \cdot v)}{2\pi}$$
(3.8.43)

and that at large distances, recycling the notation from electromagnetism. The metric perturbation becomes:

$$\delta h^{\mu\nu}(X) = -\frac{e^{i\omega(r-t)}}{8\pi r} H^{\mu\nu}(k_2) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r^2}\right).$$
(3.8.44)

Therefore, the covariantly normalized Compton amplitude is given by:

$$\mathcal{A} = -m\mathcal{E}_{2\mu}^*\mathcal{E}_{2\nu}^*H^{\mu\nu}(k_2).$$
(3.8.45)

The solutions to the equations of motion are:

$$\delta \widetilde{u}^{\mu} = \frac{i}{2m} \mathcal{E}_{1}^{\mu} \epsilon^{vsk_{1}\mathcal{E}_{1}} - \frac{\mathcal{N}_{1}}{m} \left( v^{\mu} + \frac{k_{1}^{\mu}}{k_{1} \cdot v} \right)$$
(3.8.46)

$$\delta \widetilde{S}^{\mu} = \frac{1}{2} (\mathcal{E}_{1} \cdot s) \mathcal{E}_{1}^{\mu} + v^{\mu} s \cdot \delta \widetilde{u} - \frac{i}{k_{1} \cdot v} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} v_{\nu} s_{\rho} \frac{\partial \mathcal{N}_{1}}{\partial s^{\sigma}}$$

$$\delta \widetilde{z}^{\mu} = \frac{-i}{k_{1} \cdot v} \left( \delta \widetilde{u}^{\mu} + \frac{\epsilon^{vsk_{1}\mathcal{E}_{1}}}{2m^{2}} \left( \delta_{\nu}^{\mu} + v^{\mu} v_{\nu} \right) \epsilon^{\nu sk_{1}\mathcal{E}_{1}} + \frac{\eta^{\mu\nu} + v^{\mu} v^{\nu}}{m} \frac{\partial \mathcal{N}_{1}}{\partial v^{\nu}} + \frac{s^{\mu} v^{\nu}}{m} \frac{\partial \mathcal{N}_{1}}{\partial s^{\nu}} + \frac{i}{m^{2}} \mathcal{N}_{1} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} v_{\nu} s_{\rho} k_{1\sigma} \right).$$

$$(3.8.47)$$

$$(3.8.48)$$

Expressed in terms of these solutions, the gravitational Compton amplitude to all orders in spin is:

$$\mathcal{A} = 2m \left( \frac{1}{2} (k_2 \cdot v) (\mathcal{E}_2^* \cdot \delta \widetilde{z}) \epsilon^{\mathcal{E}_2^* k_2 v s} - \frac{i}{4} (k_2 \cdot v) (\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \mathcal{E}_2^*) \epsilon^{\mathcal{E}_1 \mathcal{E}_2^* v s} \right. \\ \left. + i (k_2 \cdot \delta \widetilde{z}) \mathcal{N}_2^* - \delta \widetilde{u}^{\alpha} \frac{\partial \mathcal{N}_2^*}{\partial v^{\alpha}} - \left( \delta \widetilde{S}^{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2} (s \cdot \mathcal{E}_1) \mathcal{E}_1^{\alpha} \right) \frac{\partial \mathcal{N}_2^*}{\partial s^{\alpha}} + \frac{\mathcal{N}_1 \mathcal{N}_2^*}{m} - \mathcal{P}_{12} \right) \\ \left. - \frac{m (\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \mathcal{E}_2^*)^2}{2(k_1 \cdot k_2)} (M_{\mu\nu} k_1^{\mu} k_1^{\nu}) - \frac{m (\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot k_2)^2}{2(k_1 \cdot k_2)} (M_{\mu\nu} \mathcal{E}_2^{*\mu} \mathcal{E}_2^{*\nu}) + \frac{m (\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot k_2) (\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \mathcal{E}_2^*)}{(k_1 \cdot k_2)} (M_{\mu\nu} k_1^{\mu} \mathcal{E}_2^{*\nu}) \right. \\ \left. + m (\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \mathcal{E}_2^*) (M_{\mu\nu} \mathcal{E}_1^{\mu} \mathcal{E}_2^{*\nu}) + \frac{m (\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \mathcal{E}_2^*) (k_1 \cdot \mathcal{E}_2^*)}{(k_1 \cdot k_2)} (M_{\mu\nu} k_1^{\mu} \mathcal{E}_1^{\nu}) \right. \\ \left. - \frac{m (\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot k_2) (\mathcal{E}_2^* \cdot k_1)}{(k_1 \cdot k_2)} (M_{\mu\nu} \mathcal{E}_1^{\mu} \mathcal{E}_2^{*\nu}) - \frac{m (\mathcal{E}_2^* \cdot k_1)^2}{2(k_1 \cdot k_2)} (M_{\mu\nu} \mathcal{E}_1^{\mu} \mathcal{E}_1^{\nu}) + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \delta \mathcal{A}_n \right)$$
(3.8.49)

where:

$$\begin{split} \delta\mathcal{A}_{n} &= -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{l=0}^{n-1} i^{n} (-1)^{l} (k_{1} \cdot \mathcal{E}_{2}^{*}) T_{n}^{\lambda_{1} \dots \lambda_{n} \rho \mu \sigma \nu} k_{1\lambda_{1}} \dots k_{1\lambda_{n-l-1}} \mathcal{E}_{2\lambda_{n-l}}^{*} q_{\lambda_{n-l+1}} \dots q_{\lambda_{n}} \delta \widetilde{R}_{\rho \mu \sigma \nu} \\ &+ \sum_{l=0}^{n-1} i^{n} (-1)^{l} T_{n}^{\lambda_{1} \dots \lambda_{n} \rho \mu \sigma \nu} \mathcal{E}_{2}^{*[\tau} k_{2}^{\omega]} \widehat{G}_{\tau \omega} (k_{1\lambda_{1}} \dots k_{1\lambda_{n-l-1}} \delta \widetilde{R}_{\rho \mu \sigma \nu}) \mathcal{E}_{2\lambda_{n-l}}^{*} q_{\lambda_{n-l+1}} \dots q_{\lambda_{n}} \\ &- (-i)^{n} T_{n}^{\lambda_{1} \dots \lambda_{n} \rho \mu \sigma \nu} q_{\lambda_{1}} \dots q_{\lambda_{n}} \mathcal{E}_{2\rho}^{*} \mathcal{E}_{2}^{*\alpha} \delta \widetilde{R}_{\alpha \mu \sigma \nu} \\ &+ 2(-1)^{n} \sum_{l=0}^{n-1} i^{n-1} \mathcal{E}_{2\alpha}^{*} \mathcal{E}_{2\beta}^{*} k_{2\mu} k_{2\nu} k_{2\lambda_{n-l+1}} \dots k_{2\lambda_{n}} \delta \widetilde{\Gamma}^{\sigma} \rho_{\lambda_{n-l}} \widehat{G}^{\rho} \sigma (T_{n}^{\lambda_{1} \dots \lambda_{n} \mu \alpha \nu \beta} q_{\lambda_{1}} \dots q_{\lambda_{n-l-1}}) \\ &- 2i(-i)^{n} \mathcal{E}_{2\alpha}^{*} \mathcal{E}_{2\beta}^{*} k_{2\mu} \delta \widetilde{\Gamma}^{\sigma} \rho_{\nu} \widehat{G}^{\rho} \sigma (T_{n}^{\lambda_{1} \dots \lambda_{n} \mu \alpha \nu \beta} q_{\lambda_{1}} \dots q_{\lambda_{n}}) \\ &- 2i(-i)^{n} \mathcal{E}_{2\alpha}^{*} \mathcal{E}_{2\beta}^{*} \delta \widetilde{\Gamma}^{\sigma} \rho_{\mu} \widehat{G}^{\rho} \sigma (T_{n}^{\lambda_{1} \dots \lambda_{n} \mu \alpha \nu \beta} q_{\nu} q_{\lambda_{1}} \dots q_{\lambda_{n}}) \\ &+ (-i)^{n} k_{2\lambda_{1}} \dots k_{2\lambda_{n}} k_{2\rho} \mathcal{E}_{2\mu}^{*} k_{2\sigma} \mathcal{E}_{2\nu}^{*} \mathcal{E}_{1}^{\alpha} \widehat{G}_{\beta}^{\beta} \widehat{G}_{\alpha\beta} (T_{n}^{\lambda_{1} \dots \lambda_{n} \rho \mu \sigma \nu) \end{split}$$
(3.8.50)

and where:

$$q^{\mu} = k_2^{\mu} - k_1^{\mu} \tag{3.8.51}$$

$$\delta \widetilde{\Gamma}^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{i}{2} (k_1^{\rho} \mathcal{E}_{1\mu} \mathcal{E}_{1\nu} - \mathcal{E}_1^{\rho} k_{1\mu} \mathcal{E}_{1\nu} - \mathcal{E}_1^{\rho} k_{1\nu} \mathcal{E}_{1\mu})$$
(3.8.52)

$$\delta \widetilde{R}_{\rho\mu\sigma\nu} = -\frac{1}{2} (k_{1\rho} \mathcal{E}_{1\mu} - k_{1\mu} \mathcal{E}_{1\rho}) (k_{1\sigma} \mathcal{E}_{1\nu} - k_{1\nu} \mathcal{E}_{1\sigma}).$$
(3.8.53)

## 3.8.2 Compton Amplitude through Spin to the Fifth

Similarly to electromagnetism, we consider only operators which have the same number of powers of spin as they do number of derivatives acting on the metric, so as not to include any length scales beyond

 $\frac{S}{m}$ . For enumerating linear in Riemann operators, it is not safe to use Einstein's equations to simplify the possible terms when considering the Compton amplitude as the linear in Riemann piece of the dynamical mass function does not contribute solely in a perfectly on-shell way to the Compton amplitude in the way the linear in field strength piece did for electromagnetism (only through the  $\mathcal{N}$  function). We find explicitly that some Ricci operators make independent contributions to the Compton amplitude. Through  $\mathcal{O}(S^5)$ , the most general possible dynamical mass function with only length scale  $\frac{S}{m}$  is:

$$\delta \mathcal{M}_{1}^{2} = \delta \mathcal{M}_{1S^{2}}^{2} + \delta \mathcal{M}_{1S^{3}}^{2} + \delta \mathcal{M}_{1S^{4}}^{2} + \delta \mathcal{M}_{1S^{5}}^{2} + \mathcal{O}(S^{6})$$
(3.8.54)

$$\delta \mathcal{M}_{1S^2}^2 = -C_2 R_{uSuS} - \frac{E_{2a}}{3} R_{SS} + E_{2b} S^2 R_{uu} + \frac{E_{2c}}{6} S^2 R, \qquad (3.8.55)$$

$$\delta \mathcal{M}_{1S^3}^2 = \frac{C_3}{3m} (S \cdot \nabla) R_{uSuS}^* + \frac{E_3}{3m} S^2 \nabla^{\rho} R_{\rho uuS}^*, \qquad (3.8.56)$$

$$\delta \mathcal{M}_{1S^{4}}^{2} = \frac{C_{4}}{12m^{2}} (S \cdot \nabla)^{2} R_{uSuS} - \frac{E_{4a}}{20m^{2}} S^{2} (u \cdot \nabla)^{2} R_{uSuS} - \frac{E_{4b}}{12m^{2}} S^{2} \nabla^{2} R_{uSuS} + \frac{E_{4c}}{30m^{2}} (S \cdot \nabla)^{2} R_{SS} - \frac{E_{4d}}{30m^{2}} S^{2} (u \cdot \nabla)^{2} R_{SS} - \frac{E_{4e}}{30m^{2}} S^{2} \nabla^{2} R_{SS} - \frac{E_{4f}}{12m^{2}} S^{2} (S \cdot \nabla)^{2} R_{uu} + \frac{E_{4g}}{20m^{2}} S^{4} (u \cdot \nabla)^{2} R_{uu} + \frac{E_{4h}}{12m^{2}} S^{4} \nabla^{2} R_{uu} - \frac{E_{4i}}{60m^{2}} S^{2} (S \cdot \nabla)^{2} R - \frac{E_{4j}}{60m^{2}} S^{4} (u \cdot \nabla)^{2} R + \frac{E_{4k}}{60m^{2}} S^{4} \nabla^{2} R,$$
(3.8.57)  
$$\delta \mathcal{M}_{1S^{5}}^{2} = -\frac{C_{5}}{60m^{3}} (S \cdot \nabla)^{3} R_{uSuS}^{*} + \frac{E_{5a}}{60m^{3}} S^{2} (u \cdot \nabla)^{2} (S \cdot \nabla) R_{uSuS}^{*} + \frac{E_{5b}}{60m^{3}} (S \cdot \nabla) \nabla^{2} R_{uSuS}^{*} - \frac{E_{5c}}{60m^{3}} S^{2} (S \cdot \nabla)^{2} \nabla^{\rho} R_{\rho uuS}^{*} + \frac{E_{5d}}{60m^{3}} S^{4} (u \cdot \nabla)^{2} \nabla^{\rho} R_{\rho uuS}^{*} + \frac{E_{5e}}{60m^{3}} S^{4} \nabla^{2} \nabla^{\rho} R_{\rho uuS}^{*}.$$
(3.8.58)

Expanding (3.7.43) through order  $S^5$  we find that it implies that all of these Wilson coefficients should be 1 except  $E_{4d}$  and  $E_{4j}$  which should both be 0:

$$C_{2} = C_{3} = C_{4} = C_{5} = E_{2a} = E_{2b} = E_{2c} = E_{3}$$
  

$$= E_{4a} = E_{4b} = E_{4c} = E_{4e} = E_{4f} = E_{4g} = E_{4h}$$
  

$$= E_{4i} = E_{4k} = E_{5a} = E_{5b} = E_{5c} = E_{5d} = E_{5e} = 1$$
  

$$E_{4d} = E_{4j} = 0.$$
(3.8.59)

While it is not valid to use Einstein's equations to simplify the linear in Riemann piece of the dynamical mass function when computing the Compton amplitude, because the quadratic in Riemann piece of the dynamical mass function only contributes to the Compton amplitude by being evaluated fully on-shell (through the  $\mathcal{P}$  function) we are perfectly safe to only consider terms within it which are nonzero for vacuum solutions of Einstein's equations. If we assume vacuum,  $R^{\rho}_{\mu\rho\nu} = 0$ , then the left and right duals of the Riemann tensor are equal,  $*R = R^*$ ,  $*R^* = -R$ , and its (A)SD part can be obtained by projecting with

(3.5.50) from either side, and it commutes through to the other,

$${}^{\pm}R_{\rho\mu\sigma\nu} = \frac{1}{2}(R \mp i^{*}R)_{\rho\mu\sigma\nu} = {}^{\pm}\mathcal{G}_{\rho\mu}{}^{\alpha\beta}R_{\alpha\beta\sigma\nu} = R_{\rho\mu\gamma\delta}{}^{\pm}\mathcal{G}^{\gamma\delta}{}_{\sigma\nu} = {}^{\pm}\mathcal{G}_{\rho\mu}{}^{\alpha\beta}R_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}{}^{\pm}\mathcal{G}^{\gamma\delta}{}_{\sigma\nu}, \qquad (3.8.60)$$

satisfying  $\star \pm R = \pm R \star = \pm i \pm R$  and  $\pm R^* = \pm R$ . Defining the quadrupolar gravito-electric and -magnetic "tidal" curvature tensors with respect to a unit timelike direction u,

$$E_{\mu\nu} \mp i B_{\mu\nu} = (R_{\rho\mu\sigma\nu} \mp i^* R_{\rho\mu\sigma\nu}) u^{\rho} u^{\sigma} = 2^{\pm} R_{\rho\mu\sigma\nu} u^{\rho} u^{\sigma}, \qquad (3.8.61)$$

we see that the identities (3.5.50)–(3.5.52) allow us to reconstruct  $R_{\rho\mu\sigma\nu}$  from its components  $E_{\mu\nu}$  and  $B_{\mu\nu}$ (and  $u_{\rho}$ ), as the real part of

$$2^{\pm}R_{\rho\mu\sigma\nu} = (R \mp i^{*}R)_{\rho\mu\sigma\nu} = 16^{\pm}\mathcal{G}_{\rho\mu}{}^{\gamma\alpha}{}^{\pm}\mathcal{G}_{\sigma\nu}{}^{\delta\beta}(E_{\alpha\beta} \mp iB_{\alpha\beta})u_{\gamma}u_{\delta}.$$
(3.8.62)

The tidal tensors  $E_{\mu\nu}$  and  $B_{\mu\nu}$  are symmetric and trace-free (STF) in vacuum, and orthogonal to  $u^{\mu}$ , forming irreducible representations of the SO(3) rotation little group of  $u^{\mu}$ . Moving on to the first derivative  $\nabla_{\lambda}R_{\rho\mu\sigma\nu}$ , the irreducible pieces w.r.t.  $u^{\mu}$  are the fully STF-( $\perp u$ ) octupolar tidal tensors

$$E_{\lambda\mu\nu} \mp i B_{\lambda\mu\nu} = 2\nabla_{\kappa} {}^{\pm} R^{\rho}{}_{(\lambda}{}^{\sigma}{}_{\mu} (\delta_{\nu)}{}^{\kappa} + u_{\nu)} u^{\kappa} ) u_{\rho} u_{\sigma}, \qquad (3.8.63)$$

and the 'time derivatives' of the quadrupolar curvature components,

$$\dot{E}_{\mu\nu} \mp i\dot{B}_{\mu\nu} = 2u^{\lambda}\nabla_{\lambda}{}^{\pm}R_{\rho\mu\sigma\nu}u^{\rho}u^{\sigma}.$$
(3.8.64)

In terms of the tidal tensors, the most general dynamical mass function through  $S^5$  which is quadratic in the Riemann tensor and contains only pieces which are nonzero in vacuum is:

$$\delta \mathcal{M}_2^2 = \delta \mathcal{M}_{2S^4}^2 + \delta \mathcal{M}_{2S^5}^2 + \mathcal{O}(S^6), \qquad (3.8.65)$$

$$\delta \mathcal{M}_{2S^4}^2 = \frac{D_{4a}}{m^2} (E_{SS})^2 + \frac{D_{4b}}{m^2} S^2 E^{\mu}{}_S E_{\mu S} + \frac{D_{4c}}{m^2} S^4 E^{\mu\nu} E_{\mu\nu} + \frac{D_{4d}}{2} (B_{SS})^2 + \frac{D_{4e}}{2} S^2 B^{\mu}{}_S B_{\mu S} + \frac{D_{4f}}{2} S^4 B^{\mu\nu} B_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (3.8.66)$$

$$\delta \mathcal{M}_{2S^{5}}^{2} = \frac{D_{5a}}{m^{3}} B_{SS} E_{SSS} + \frac{D_{5b}}{m^{3}} S^{2} B^{\mu}{}_{S} E_{\mu SS} + \frac{D_{5c}}{m^{3}} S^{4} B^{\mu\nu} E_{\mu\nu S} + \frac{D_{5d}}{m^{3}} E_{SS} B_{SSS} + \frac{D_{5e}}{m^{3}} S^{2} E^{\mu}{}_{S} B_{\mu SS} + \frac{D_{5f}}{m^{3}} S^{4} E^{\mu\nu} B_{\mu\nu S} + \left(\frac{D_{5g}}{m^{3}} E_{S\mu} \dot{E}_{S\nu} + \frac{D_{5h}}{m^{3}} S^{2} E^{\lambda}{}_{\mu} \dot{E}_{\lambda\nu} + \frac{D_{5i}}{m^{3}} B_{S\mu} \dot{B}_{S\nu} + \frac{D_{5j}}{m^{3}} S^{2} B^{\lambda}{}_{\mu} \dot{B}_{\lambda\nu}\right) \epsilon^{\mu\nu}{}_{\rho\sigma} u^{\rho} S^{\sigma} S^{2}.$$
(3.8.67)

The spinless and linear in spin pieces of the amplitudes are universal (independent of the values of any Wilson coefficients). At quadratic order in spin, there are 4 Wilson coefficients in the dynamical mass function,  $C_2$ ,  $E_{2a,b,c}$ . The amplitude for a given body at  $\mathcal{O}(S^2)$  determines  $C_2$  and is independent of  $E_{2a,b,c}$ . In fact, the amplitude is independent of  $E_{2a,b,c}$  to all orders in spin. At cubic order in spin, there are 2 Wilson coefficients in the dynamical mass function,  $C_3$  and  $E_3$ . The amplitude for a given body at  $\mathcal{O}(S^3)$  determines  $C_3$  and is independent of  $E_3$ . In fact, the amplitude is independent of  $E_3$  to all orders in spin. At quartic order in spin, there are 18 Wilson coefficients in the dynamical mass function,  $C_4$ ,  $D_{4a,b,c,d,e,f}$ ,  $E_{4a,b,c,d,e,f,g,h,i,j,k}$ . The amplitude for a given body at  $\mathcal{O}(S^4)$  is independent of  $E_{4c,d,e,f,g,h,i,j,k}$  and remains so at all orders in spin. Of the 9 remaining coefficients  $C_4$ ,  $D_{4a,b,c,d,e,f}$ ,  $E_{4a,b}$ , only 7 linear combinations can be determined from the  $\mathcal{O}(S^4)$  Compton amplitude. In particular, the  $S^4$  amplitude is independent of the value of  $E_{4a}$  (though the  $S^5$  amplitude does depend on  $E_{4a}$ ) and of the linear combination:

$$Z_4 = E_{4b} + \frac{D_{4b}}{2} - \frac{D_{4c}}{6} - \frac{D_{4e}}{2} + \frac{D_{4f}}{6}.$$
(3.8.68)

We find agreement with the Compton amplitude computed by Ben-Shahar in Ref [262] to quartic order in spin.

At quintic order in spin, there are 16 Wilson coefficients in the dynamical mass function,  $C_5$ ,  $D_{5a-j}$ ,  $E_{5a,b,c,d,e}$ . As well,  $E_{4a}$  contributes to the  $S^5$  amplitude. Of these 17 coefficients, 11 linearly combinations can be determined from the Compton amplitude. The amplitude is independent of the values of the 6 linear combinations:

$$Z_{5a} = E_{5a} + \frac{D_{5e}}{180} + \frac{D_{5g}}{60} - \frac{D_{5i}}{90}$$
(3.8.69)

$$Z_{5b} = E_{5b} - \frac{4}{15}D_{5b} + \frac{D_{5c}}{10} - \frac{4}{15}D_{5e} + \frac{D_{5f}}{10} + \frac{D_{5h}}{30} - \frac{D_{5j}}{30}$$
(3.8.70)

$$Z_{5c} = E_{5c} - \frac{D_{5b}}{12} + \frac{D_{5c}}{36} - \frac{17}{180}D_{5e} + \frac{D_{5f}}{30} - \frac{D_{5g}}{180} + \frac{D_{5h}}{180} - \frac{D_{5i}}{180}$$
(3.8.71)

$$Z_{5d} = E_{5d} - \frac{D_{5f}}{180} - \frac{D_{5h}}{90} + \frac{D_{5j}}{180}$$
(3.8.72)

$$Z_{5e} = E_{5e} + \frac{D_{5c}}{60} + \frac{D_{5f}}{60} + \frac{D_{5h}}{20} - \frac{D_{5j}}{20}$$
(3.8.73)

$$Z_{5f} = E_{4a} - \frac{D_{5b}}{20} - \frac{C_2}{10}D_{5g} + \frac{3}{20}D_{5i}.$$
(3.8.74)

There are precisely as many Z combinations which the Compton amplitude is independent of as there are E coefficients in the amplitude at this order, so if the amplitude is fully determined by some matching conditions those conditions can be expressed so that all of the D coefficients are parameterized by the matched values and the undetermined E coefficients. If (3.8.59) is used, all of these E coefficients are set to 1, which then fully determines the D coefficients and hence the dynamical mass function through this order. Because of these null Z combinations, the values of the any values of E coefficients can be made consistent with any matching conditions on the Compton amplitude.

In order to match the spin-exponentiated amplitude of Ref. [53] through  $\mathcal{O}(S^4)$ , we must have:

$$C_2 = C_3 = C_4 = 1, \qquad D_{4a} = D_{4d} = 0,$$
  
$$D_{4b} = \frac{E_{4b}}{2}, \qquad D_{4c} = -\frac{E_{4b}}{6}, \qquad D_{4e} = -\frac{E_{4b}}{2}, \qquad D_{4f} = \frac{E_{4b}}{6}.$$
 (3.8.75)
These conditions are consistent with (3.8.59). For the opposite-helicity amplitude, it is possible to continue the spin-exponentiation through  $S^5$ . Doing so requires:

$$C_{5} = 1,$$

$$D_{5d} = \frac{1}{6} - D_{5a},$$

$$D_{5e} = -\frac{1}{15} - D_{5b} - \frac{E_{4a}}{20} + \frac{E_{5a}}{180} - \frac{8}{15}E_{5b} - \frac{8}{45}E_{5c},$$

$$D_{5f} = -D_{5c} + \frac{E_{5b}}{5} + \frac{11}{180}E_{5c} - \frac{E_{5d}}{180} + \frac{E_{5e}}{30},$$

$$D_{5i} = \frac{2}{9} + D_{5g} + \frac{E_{4a}}{4} - \frac{E_{5a}}{36}$$

$$D_{5j} = D_{5h} - \frac{E_{5b}}{15} - \frac{E_{5c}}{180} + \frac{E_{5d}}{60} - \frac{E_{5e}}{10}$$
(3.8.76)

which are completely consistent with (3.8.59) (which simply sets  $E_{4a} = E_{5a,b,c,d,e} = 1$  in these expressions). Therefore, if the dynamical mass function in (3.7.43) is used, opposite-helicity spin exponentiation can be maintained at  $\mathcal{O}(S^5)$ .

It is also interesting to see what is required by shift-symmetry. In order for the same-helicity Compton amplitude to have shift-symmetry through  $\mathcal{O}(S^4)$  we find that it requires:

$$C_4 = 1, \qquad D_{4e} = -D_{4a} - D_{4b} - D_{4d}, \qquad D_{4f} = \frac{D_{4a}}{4} - D_{4c} + \frac{D_{4d}}{4}$$
(3.8.77)

which are consistent with both (3.8.59) and (3.8.75). It is possible to demand shift-symmetry at  $S^5$  as well. Doing so requires:

$$C_{5} = 1,$$

$$D_{5e} = \frac{4}{5} + D_{5a} + D_{5b} - D_{5d} + \frac{E_{4a}}{20} + \frac{E_{5a}}{180} - \frac{E_{5c}}{90},$$

$$D_{5f} = -\frac{43}{120} - \frac{D_{5a}}{4} + D_{5c} + \frac{D_{5d}}{4} + \frac{E_{5c}}{180} - \frac{E_{5d}}{180},$$

$$D_{5i} = \frac{5}{18} - D_{5g} + \frac{E_{4a}}{20} + \frac{E_{5a}}{180} - \frac{E_{5c}}{90}$$

$$D_{5j} = -D_{5h} + \frac{E_{5c}}{180} - \frac{E_{5d}}{180}$$
(3.8.78)

which are completely consistent with (3.8.59). Therefore, if the dynamical mass function in (3.7.43) is used, shift-symmetry will may be continued at  $\mathcal{O}(S^5)$ . The spin-exponentiation conditions and shift-symmetry conditions can be demanded simultaneously through  $\mathcal{O}(S^5)$ .

A final interesting case of comparison is to results from the Teukolsky equation. Following the analysis of Ref [185], a match to the analytically continued results of the Teukolsky equation depends on the combinations:

$$c_2^{(0)} = D_{5f} - D_{5c} + \frac{E_{5d} - E_{5c}}{180}, \qquad c_3^{(0)} = -2D_{5h} - 2D_{5j} + \frac{E_{5c} - E_{5d}}{90}$$
$$c_2^{(1)} = \frac{1}{20} + 2c_2^{(0)} + \frac{D_{5e} - D_{5b}}{2} - \frac{9E_{4a} + E_{5a} - 2E_{5c}}{360},$$

$$c_{3}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{90} + 2c_{3}^{(0)} - D_{5g} - D_{5i} + \frac{9E_{4a} + E_{5a} - 2E_{5c}}{180},$$

$$c_{2}^{(2)} = -\frac{11}{120} + \frac{D_{5d} - D_{5a}}{4} + c_{2}^{(1)} - c_{2}^{(0)}, \qquad c_{3}^{(2)} = \frac{4}{15} + c_{3}^{(1)} - c_{3}^{(0)}. \qquad (3.8.79)$$

Matching Teukolsky at  $\mathcal{O}(S^5)$  requires:

$$c_2^{(0)} = c_2^{(1)} = c_2^{(2)} = 0, \qquad c_3^{(0)} = \frac{64}{15}\alpha, \qquad c_3^{(1)} = \frac{16}{3}\alpha, \qquad c_3^{(2)} = \frac{4}{15}(1+4\alpha), \qquad (3.8.80)$$

where  $\alpha = 1$  if contributions from analytically continued digamma functions are to be kept or  $\alpha = 0$  if such contributions are to be dropped. Matching to Teukolsky is inconsistent with shift-symmetry but consistent with continuing spin-exponentiation for the same helicity amplitude and with (3.7.43). The combination of Teukolsky, spin-exponentiation, and (3.8.59) are consistent with each other and fully determine the *D* type Wilson coefficients to be:

$$D_{5a} = -\frac{1}{10}, \qquad D_{5b} = -\frac{23}{60}, \qquad D_{5c} = \frac{13}{90}, \qquad D_{5d} = \frac{4}{15}, \\ D_{5e} = -\frac{79}{180}, \qquad D_{5f} = \frac{13}{90}, \qquad D_{5g} = -\frac{7}{36} + \frac{8}{5}\alpha, \qquad D_{5h} = \frac{7}{90} - \frac{16}{15}\alpha, \\ D_{5i} = \frac{1}{4} + \frac{8}{5}\alpha, \qquad D_{5j} = -\frac{7}{90} - \frac{16}{15}\alpha.$$
(3.8.81)

For expressing the full amplitudes, recall  $\check{k}_1 = k_1 - w$ ,  $\check{k}_2 = k_2 - w$ . Then, for the helicity-preserving amplitude we find:

$$\mathcal{A}_{++} = \frac{(4\omega^2 - q^2)^2}{16q^2\omega^2} \bigg\{ 1 + \check{k}_1 \cdot a + \check{k}_2 \cdot a \\ + \frac{1}{2} (\check{k}_1 \cdot a + \check{k}_2 \cdot a)^2 + \frac{C_2 - 1}{2} \Big( (\check{k}_1 \cdot a)^2 + (\check{k}_2 \cdot a)^2 \Big) \\ + \frac{1}{6} (\check{k}_1 \cdot a + \check{k}_2 \cdot a)^3 + \frac{C_3 - 1}{2} \Big( (\check{k}_1 \cdot a)^3 + (\check{k}_2 \cdot a)^3 \Big) \\ + \frac{C_2 - 1}{2} (k_1 + k_2 - 2C_2 w) \cdot a \,\check{k}_1 \cdot a \,\check{k}_2 \cdot a \\ + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{++}^{(4)} + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{++}^{(5)} + \mathcal{O}(a^6) \bigg\},$$
(3.8.82)

with

$$\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{++}^{(4)} = \frac{1}{24} (\check{k}_1 \cdot a + \check{k}_2 \cdot a)^4 + \frac{C_4 - 1}{24} \left( (\check{k}_1 \cdot a)^4 + (\check{k}_2 \cdot a)^4 \right) \\ + \frac{C_3 - 1}{6} \left( (\check{k}_1 \cdot a)^2 + (\check{k}_2 \cdot a)^2 \right) \check{k}_1 \cdot a \,\check{k}_2 \cdot a + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{++}^{(4)(C_2 - 1)} \\ - (D_{4a} + D_{4d}) \frac{2\omega^2}{q^2} (\check{k}_1 \cdot a)^2 (\check{k}_2 \cdot a)^2 \\ + (D_{4b} + D_{4e}) \omega^2 a^2 \check{k}_1 \cdot a \,\check{k}_2 \cdot a - \frac{D_{4c} + D_{4f}}{2} q^2 \omega^2 a^4, \qquad (3.8.83)$$

noting

$$\omega^2 a^2 = (w \cdot a)^2 - \frac{4\omega^2}{q^2} \check{k}_1 \cdot a \,\check{k}_2 \cdot a, \qquad (3.8.84)$$

and with

$$\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{++}^{(5)} = \frac{1}{120} (\check{k}_1 \cdot a + \check{k}_2 \cdot a)^5 + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{++}^{(5)(C_n - 1)} + \left( c_2^{(0)}(k_1 + k_2) \cdot a + c_3^{(0)} w \cdot a \right) (w \cdot a)^4 \frac{q^2}{4\omega^2} - \left( c_2^{(1)}(k_1 + k_2) \cdot a + c_3^{(1)} w \cdot a \right) (w \cdot a)^2 \check{k}_1 \cdot a \,\check{k}_2 \cdot a + \left( c_2^{(2)}(k_1 + k_2) \cdot a + c_3^{(2)} w \cdot a \right) \frac{4\omega^2}{q^2} (\check{k}_1 \cdot a)^2 (\check{k}_2 \cdot a)^2,$$
(3.8.85)

using the previous definitions of the  $c_i^{(j)}$  coefficients in (3.8.79), and where

$$\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{++}^{(5)(C_n-1)} = \frac{C_5 - 1}{120} \Big[ (\check{k}_1 \cdot a)^5 + (\check{k}_2 \cdot a)^5 - (w \cdot a)^2 (\check{k}_1 \cdot a + \check{k}_2 \cdot a) \check{k}_1 \cdot a \,\check{k}_2 \cdot a \Big]$$

$$+ \frac{C_4 - 1}{24} \Big[ (\check{k}_1 \cdot a)^3 + (\check{k}_2 \cdot a)^3 - (w \cdot a)^2 (\check{k}_1 \cdot a + \check{k}_2 \cdot a) \Big] \check{k}_1 \cdot a \,\check{k}_2 \cdot a + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{++}^{(5)(C_3 - 1, C_2 - 1)},$$

$$(3.8.86)$$

with  $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{++}^{(4)(C_2-1)}$  vanishing when  $C_2 = 1$  and  $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{++}^{(5)(C_3-1,C_2-1)}$  vanishing when  $C_3 = C_2 = 1$ . Because the C coefficients are all determined by the three-point amplitude, for black holes they are all known to take the value 1.

For the helicity reversing amplitude, it is useful to recall:

$$(aya) := (k_1 \cdot a)(k_2 \cdot a) - (x \cdot a)(q \cdot a) - \omega^2 a^2 = \frac{-q^2}{4\omega^2 - q^2} (k_1 \cdot a - x \cdot a)(k_2 \cdot a + x \cdot a) = \frac{q^2}{4\omega^2} ((x \cdot a)^2 - \omega^2 a^2).$$
(3.8.87)

With this, we find:

$$\mathcal{A}_{+-} = \frac{q^2}{16\omega^2} \bigg\{ 1 - q \cdot a + \frac{(q \cdot a)^2}{2} C_2 + (C_2 - 1)(aya) \\ - \frac{(q \cdot a)^3}{6} C_3 + (aya) \Big( (1 - C_2 - C_2^2 + C_3)x + \frac{C_2 - C_3}{2} q \Big) \cdot a \\ + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{+-}^{(4)} + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{+-}^{(5)} + \mathcal{O}(a^6) \bigg\},$$
(3.8.88)

with

$$\begin{aligned} \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{+-}^{(4)} &= \frac{(q \cdot a)^4}{24} C_4 + (aya)^2 \frac{3 - 4C_3 + C_4}{12} + \frac{C_4 - C_3}{6} (aya)q \cdot a(q - 2x) \cdot a \\ &+ (C_2 - 1)(aya) \left[ \frac{C_3 + 3C_2}{3} \left( 2(aya) \frac{\omega^2}{q^2} + \omega^2 a^2 \right) + \frac{C_3 + C_2}{2} q \cdot a x \cdot a \right] \\ &+ (aya)^2 \frac{\omega^2}{q^2} 2(D_{4d} - D_{4a}) + q^2 \omega^2 a^4 \left( \frac{D_{4f} - D_{4c}}{2} - \frac{E_{4b}}{6} \right) \\ &+ (aya) \omega^2 a^2 (D_{4b} - D_{4e} - E_{4b}), \end{aligned}$$
(3.8.89)

and

$$\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{+-}^{(5)} = -\frac{(q \cdot a)^5}{120}C_5 + \frac{C_4 - C_5}{24}(aya)(q \cdot a)^2(q - 2x) \cdot a + \frac{1 - C_4}{12}(aya)^2q \cdot a + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{+-}^{(5)(C_3 - 1, C_2 - 1)}(aya)(q \cdot a)^2(q - 2x) \cdot a + \frac{1 - C_4}{12}(aya)^2q \cdot a + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{+-}^{(5)(C_3 - 1, C_2 - 1)}(aya)(q \cdot a)^2(q - 2x) \cdot a + \frac{1 - C_4}{12}(aya)^2q \cdot a + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{+-}^{(5)(C_3 - 1, C_2 - 1)}(aya)(q \cdot a)^2(q - 2x) \cdot a + \frac{1 - C_4}{12}(aya)^2q \cdot a + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{+-}^{(5)(C_3 - 1, C_2 - 1)}(aya)(q \cdot a)^2(q - 2x) \cdot a + \frac{1 - C_4}{12}(aya)^2q \cdot a + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{+-}^{(5)(C_3 - 1, C_2 - 1)}(aya)(q \cdot a)^2(q - 2x) \cdot a + \frac{1 - C_4}{12}(aya)^2q \cdot a + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{+-}^{(5)(C_3 - 1, C_2 - 1)}(aya)(q \cdot a)^2(q - 2x) \cdot a + \frac{1 - C_4}{12}(aya)^2q \cdot a + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{+-}^{(5)(C_3 - 1, C_2 - 1)}(aya)(q \cdot a)^2(q - 2x) \cdot a + \frac{1 - C_4}{12}(aya)^2q \cdot a + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{+-}^{(5)(C_3 - 1, C_2 - 1)}(aya)(q \cdot a)^2(q - 2x) \cdot a + \frac{1 - C_4}{12}(aya)^2q \cdot a + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{+-}^{(5)(C_3 - 1, C_2 - 1)}(aya)(q \cdot a)^2(q - 2x) \cdot a + \frac{1 - C_4}{12}(aya)^2q \cdot a + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{+-}^{(5)(C_3 - 1, C_2 - 1)}(aya)(q \cdot a)^2(q - 2x) \cdot a + \frac{1 - C_4}{12}(aya)^2q \cdot a + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{+-}^{(5)(C_3 - 1, C_2 - 1)}(aya)(q \cdot a)^2(q - 2x) \cdot a + \frac{1 - C_4}{12}(aya)^2q \cdot a + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{+-}^{(5)(C_3 - 1, C_2 - 1)}(aya)(q \cdot a)^2(q - 2x) \cdot a + \frac{1 - C_4}{12}(aya)^2q \cdot a + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{+-}^{(5)(C_3 - 1, C_2 - 1)}(aya)(q \cdot a)^2(q - 2x) \cdot a + \frac{1 - C_4}{12}(aya)^2q \cdot a + \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{+-}^{(5)(C_3 - 1, C_2 - 1)}(aya)(q \cdot a)^2(q - 2x) \cdot a + \frac{1 - C_4}{12}(aya)^2(q -$$

$$+\frac{5C_4-C_5-4}{120}(aya)\left[5(aya)\left((q-2x)\cdot a-8\frac{\omega^2}{q^2}q\cdot a\right)+\omega^2 a^2(9q+10x)\cdot a\right]$$

$$+q\cdot a(aya)^2\frac{\omega^2}{q^2}\left(\frac{1}{6}-(D_{5a}+D_{5d})\right)$$

$$+q\cdot a(aya)\omega^2 a^2\left(\frac{1}{30}+\frac{D_{5b}+D_{5e}}{2}+\frac{4}{15}E_{5b}+\frac{4E_{5c}}{45}+\frac{9E_{4a}-E_{5a}}{360}\right)$$

$$+x\cdot a(aya)\omega^2 a^2\left(\frac{2}{9}+D_{5g}-D_{5i}+\frac{9E_{4a}-E_{5a}}{36}\right)$$

$$+q\cdot aq^2\omega^2 a^4\left(-\frac{D_{5c}+D_{5f}}{4}+\frac{E_{5b}}{20}+\frac{11E_{5c}}{720}+\frac{6E_{5e}-E_{5d}}{720}\right)$$

$$+x\cdot aq^2\omega^2 a^4\left(\frac{D_{5j}-D_{5h}}{2}+\frac{E_{5b}}{30}+\frac{E_{5c}}{360}+\frac{6E_{5e}-E_{5d}}{120}\right),$$
(3.8.90)

where similarly  $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{+-}^{(5)(C_3-1,C_2-1)}$  vanishes when  $C_3 = C_2 = 1$ .

## 3.9 Conclusion

Using the dynamical mass function worldline formalism, we derived formal expressions for the electromagnetic/gravitational Compton amplitudes of a generic spinning body to all orders in spin, with precise parameterized expressions in terms of Wilson coefficients for the amplitudes to order  $S^3$  in electromagnetism and  $S^5$  in gravity for bodies which match the  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  /Kerr three-point amplitude. In electromagnetism we found 1 Wilson coefficient and 1 independent structure in the Compton at  $S^1$ , 5 new Wilson coefficients and 5 independent structures at  $S^2$ , and 8 new Wilson coefficients but only 7 independent structures at  $S^3$ . In gravity we found 4 Wilson coefficients and 1 independent structure in the Compton at  $S^2$ , 2 new Wilson coefficients and 1 independent structure at  $S^3$ , 18 new Wilson coefficients and 7 independent structures at  $S^4$ , and 16 new Wilson coefficients and 11 independent structures at  $S^5$ . As well, one of the Wilson coefficients on an  $S^4$  operator in gravity ( $E_{4a}$ ) does not contribute to  $S^4$  piece of the Compton but does contribute to the  $S^5$  piece (whereas the other operator contributions which do not contribute at the order they are introduced actually do not contribute at all through  $S^5$ ).

Dixon's multipole moment formalism provides additional physical constraints on the dynamical mass function beyond those required by naive multipole moments which are determined by the three-point amplitude. Many of the additional terms induced by Dixon's formalism (the operators with E coefficients), especially at low orders in spin, happen to not affect the Compton amplitude. However, at sufficiently high orders in spin ( $S^5$  and beyond in gravity) at least some of these additional terms do contribute to the Compton amplitude. Through  $\mathcal{O}(S^5)$  these combinations are linearly redundant in the Compton amplitude to contributions from Riemann squared operators. It would be interesting to see if these additional coefficients begin to contribute in linearly independent ways in the Compton at higher orders in spin or in higher-point processes, such as the five-point amplitude (with three graviton lines).

In electromagnetism, using Dixon's multipole moments for  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  determines the dynamical mass function to be given by (3.4.54) with no room for additional operators which are linear in the field strength. Because the stationary  $\sqrt{Kerr}$  solution only determines its multipole moments up to corrections which are linear in the field strength, they only determine the couplings in the action up to corrections which are quadratic in the field strength. Without some additional physical principle which specifies how the multipole moments of the  $\sqrt{\text{Kerr}}$  particle deform in the presence of a background field (which would determine its electromagnetic susceptibility tensors), it is not possible to determine the quadratic in field strength couplings using the multipole moment formalism. The couplings in (3.4.54) contain all of the couplings of (3.4.57)(in that the coefficients of operators which are present in both agree). The story is very similar in gravity. Dixon's multipole moment formalism applied to the Kerr solution determines the dynamical mass function to be given by (3.7.43) with no room for additional operators which are linear in the Riemann tensor. Because the stationary Kerr solution only determines its multipole moments up to corrections which are linear in the Riemann tensor, they only determine the couplings in the action up to corrections which are quaratic in the Riemann tensor. Without some further knowledge of the gravitational susceptibility tensors of a spinning black hole, it is not possible to determine the quadratic in Riemann couplings using the multipole moment formalism. The couplings in (3.7.43) contain all of the couplings of (3.7.48).

It is uncertain what precise physical principles determine the correction couplings in the action for a spinning black hole in general. Through  $\mathcal{O}(S^4)$ , spin-exponentiation, shift-symmetry, the results of the Teukolsky equation, and the results from the multipole moment formalism can all be maintained simultaneously by appropriately choosing the values of Wilson coefficients for quadratic in Riemann tensor operators. However, beginning at  $\mathcal{O}(S^5)$  these different principles cannot all be maintained. Spin-exponentiation is only possible to maintain for one of the two independent helicity combinations and is consistent with shift-symmetry at  $\mathcal{O}(S^5)$ . However, shift-symmetry and the Teukolsky results are inconsistent with each other at  $\mathcal{O}(S^5)$ . The couplings fixed by the multipole moment formalism are the unique values for the couplings so that the stress tensor they produce behaves correctly against test functions (meaning satisfies (3.7.16) with the multipole moments of the Kerr solution used to form the generating function on the right hand side). In this way, only those couplings produce the Kerr multipole moments (up to corrections which are linear in the Riemann tensor) for a black hole which is in arbitrary nonuniform motion. Such couplings are consistent with maintaining a match to spin-exponentiation and the Teukolsky equation at  $\mathcal{O}(S^5)$ .

# Chapter 4

# Spin Magnitude Change in Orbital Evolution in General Relativity

Mark Alaverdian<sup>a</sup>, Zvi Bern<sup>b</sup>, Dimitrios Kosmopoulos<sup>c</sup>, Andres Luna<sup>d</sup>, Radu Roiban<sup>a</sup>, Trevor Scheopner<sup>b</sup>,

Fei  $\operatorname{Teng}^a$ 

<sup>a</sup>Institute for Gravitation and the Cosmos, Pennsylvania State University, University Park, PA 16802, USA <sup>b</sup>Mani L. Bhaumik Institute for Theoretical Physics, Department of Physics and Astronomy, UCLA, Los Angeles, CA 90095 <sup>c</sup>Département de Physique Théorique, Université de Genève, CH-1211 Geneva, Switzerland <sup>d</sup>Niels Bohr International Academy, Niels Bohr Institute, University of Copenhagen, Blegdamsvej 17, DK-2100, Copenhagen Ø, Denmark

We show that physical scattering observables for compact spinning objects in general relativity can depend on additional degrees of freedom in the spin tensor beyond those described by the spin vector alone. The impulse, spin kick and leading order waveforms exhibit such a nontrivial dependence. A clear signal of this additional structure is the change of the magnitude of the spin vector under conservative Hamiltonian evolution, similar to our previous studies in electrodynamics. These additional degrees of freedom describe dynamical mass multipoles of compact objects and decouple for black holes.

# 4.1 Introduction

The detection of gravitational waves by the LIGO/Virgo collaboration [102, 103] has opened a new era in astronomy, cosmology, and perhaps even particle physics. As the sensitivity of gravitational-wave detectors will continue to improve [104, 105, 106], the spin of compact astrophysical objects will become increasingly important for signal identification and interpretation. Spin introduces rich three-dimensional dynamics due to the angular momentum exchange between the objects and their orbital motion. For further details, see reviews [269, 225, 227, 241] and references therein. The study of spinning compact objects brings to the forefront interesting and subtle theoretical questions regarding the number of physical degrees of freedom and independent effective operators describing their interactions and their Wilson coefficients [101, 2]. Here, we discuss these issues along the lines of Ref. [2], which dealt with the case of electrodynamics.

In traditional worldline approaches (see e.g. [117, 229, 145, 60]) as well as in WQFT [166], a spin supplementary condition (SSC) [228] identifies the three physical spin degrees of freedom and restricts their interactions <sup>1</sup>. While a consequence of the SSC is the invariance of the spin magnitude under conservative time evolution, rotation and Lorentz invariance generally guarantee only the conservation of the magnitude of the total angular momentum.

Ref. [2] studied the effective operators and associated Wilson coefficients [101] in the simpler case of electrodynamics. It does so from the amplitudes-based field theory, worldline, and two-body Hamiltonian perspectives by relaxing the SSC, and found all approaches consistent. Additional Wilson coefficients vis-à-vis worldline approaches reflect the presence of additional dynamical degrees of freedom. In the field theory approach, this is connected to the description of the classical spin as a combination of quantum spins with allowed transitions. To match the field theory results, the worldline formulation of Ref. [226] was modified by relaxing the SSC, identifying the additional degrees of freedom denoted below by  $K^{\mu}$  with components of the spin tensor

$$S^{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{m} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} p_{\rho} S_{\sigma} + \frac{i}{m} (p^{\mu} K^{\nu} - p^{\nu} K^{\mu}). \qquad (4.1.1)$$

Here  $S^{\mu}$  is the usual spin vector and  $K^{\mu}$  can be interpreted as a mass dipole. They satisfy  $p^{\mu}S_{\mu} = p^{\mu}K_{\mu} = 0$ . Finally, the two-body Hamiltonian that reproduces the field theory and worldline results with the extra degrees of freedom necessarily should include both S and K [2].

Similar considerations apply just as well to gravity. Indeed, the self-consistency and physical inequivalence of the worldline approach with a dynamical mass dipole (i.e., with no SSC imposed) was understood a while ago [270, 271, 272] in this context.

Here, we show that the conclusions of Ref. [2] for electrodynamics carry over to gravity, including that the spin magnitude can evolve under conservative Hamiltonian dynamics, contrary to the usual approaches. While the linear-in-spin (dipole) interactions are not altered by the presence of K in accordance with the principles of general relativity, physical observables such as scattering angles and waveforms reflect the presence of additional degrees of freedom at  $\mathcal{O}(G^2S^2)$  and  $\mathcal{O}(G^2S^2)$ , where S is the spin tensor of one of the objects <sup>2</sup>. Interestingly, starting at  $\mathcal{O}(G^2S^3)$ , artificially excluding the extra degrees of freedom in the external states

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$ The SSC was interpreted in Ref. [229, 145, 230] in terms of a spin-gauge symmetry encoding the freedom to locally shift the worldline in the ambient space.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ This contrasts with electrodynamics, where the first effect is linear in the spin tensor, and reflects the lack of universality of electromagnetic interactions at linear order in spin.

does not remove the additional Wilson coefficients [101]. Moreover, for special values of Wilson coefficients the extra degrees of freedom decouple from the spin and position dynamics, indicating the emergence of a local symmetry, possibly related to the spin gauge symmetry [145]. This interpretation is compatibile with the Kerr stress tensor [58], the results of Teukolsky equations [247, 185, 186] and with earlier results for black hole scattering through  $\mathcal{O}(G^2S^4)$  [59, 60, 61, 167, 173, 101]<sup>3</sup>.

## 4.2 Field Theory

We begin by outlining our amplitude-based field theory approach of Refs. [59, 61, 101, 2], which describes a spinning body by a symmetric and traceless tensor field  $\phi_s$ . In the local frame defined by the vierbein  $e^a_{\mu}$ , the minimal interaction with Einstein gravity is,

$$\mathcal{L}_{0} = -\frac{1}{2}\phi_{s}(\nabla^{2} + m^{2})\phi_{s} + \frac{H}{8}R_{abcd}\phi_{s}M^{ab}M^{cd}\phi_{s}, \qquad (4.2.1)$$

where  $M^{ab}$  is the Lorentz generator acting in the space of  $\phi_s$ . For generic bodies, such as neutron stars, we can write down additional interactions starting at  $\mathcal{O}(M^2)$ ,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{non-min}} = -\frac{C_2}{2m^2} R_{af_1 bf_2} \nabla^a \phi_s \mathbb{S}^{(f_1} \mathbb{S}^{f_2)} \nabla^b \phi_s + \frac{D_2}{2m^2} R_{abcd} \nabla_i \phi_s \{M^{ai} M^{cd}\} \nabla^b \phi_s \qquad (4.2.2) + \frac{E_2 - 2D_2}{2m^4} R_{abcd} \nabla^{(a} \nabla^{i)} \phi_s \{M^{b_i} M^{d_j}\} \nabla^{(c} \nabla^{j)} \phi_s \,.$$

where  $\mathbb{S}^a = -i\epsilon^{abcd} M_{bc} \nabla_d / (2m)$ . The  $C_2$  term corresponds to a standard interaction included on the worldline. It is the unique interaction at this order compatible with an internal SO(3) symmetry in the body-fixed frame and an imposed worldline spin gauge symmetry [145]. In contrast, in the field-theory formalism, it is natural to include all interactions that can be relevant to classical physics. The Wilson coefficients  $(H, C_2, D_2, E_2)$ are not independent, *allowing us to fix* H = 1. Note that we introduce a certain mixing of  $E_2$  and  $D_2$  to align the spin structures in amplitudes and observables.

Analogous interactions are not included in the usual worldline formulations because the SSC, which effectively removes three dynamical degrees of freedom from the spin tensor, sets them to zero. As discussed in some detail for the case of electrodynamics [2] through quadratic order in spin, demanding that only states of fixed definite spin propagates in the field theory formulation enforces the conservation of the magnitude of the spin vector during the interactions and is equivalent to enforcing the SSC. In contrast, when states of different spins propagate, transitions between them are allowed, the additional interactions in Eq. (4.2.2) contribute to physical observables. While negative norm states can appear in the analog of Eq. (4.2.2), using a more involved Lagrangian with only positive norm states does not change the conclusion that additional

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Through  $\mathcal{O}(S^4)$  Refs. [247, 185, 186] find that the black hole Compton amplitude obtained via the Teukolsky equation agrees with these previous results, but beyond this, the situation is less clear. See Refs. [273, 274] for recent discussions on reconciling the approaches based on scattering amplitudes and the Teukolsky equation.

Wilson coefficients contribute in the classical limit if transitions between different spin states are allowed. Furthermore, physical observables obtained in the two cases are related by a simple mapping of parameters. The same conclusions hold for gravity. Since the appearance of negative norm states does not change the classical limit, we find it more practical to use Eq. (4.2.2).

We define the classical spin tensor  $S^{ab}$  as the expectation value of a Lorentz generator  $M^{ab}$  in the boosted spin-coherent states of the massive spinning particles (see Eq. (2.27) of Ref. [2]). Due to the presence of degrees of freedom beyond those of a single fixed spin and of the ensuing absence of an SSC, the product of massive polarization tensors also depends on the mass dipole K [2],

$$\mathcal{E}_1 \cdot \mathcal{E}_2 = \exp\left[\frac{q \cdot K}{m}\right] \mathcal{E}_1^{(s)} \cdot \mathcal{E}_2^{(s)} + \mathcal{O}(q), \qquad (4.2.3)$$

where  $q = p_2 - p_1$  and  $\mathcal{E}^{(s)}$  is the transverse traceless component of  $\mathcal{E}$ , corresponding to the coherent state of a fixed spin s. The product  $\mathcal{E}_1^{(s)} \cdot \mathcal{E}_2^{(s)}$  only depends on the spin vector. It provides the transition between the covariant and canonical impact parameter [59] and between the covariant spin variable used in field-theory amplitudes and the canonical spin used in the effective Hamiltonian.

We construct the three-point and four-point Compton amplitudes, schematically shown in Fig. 4.1, using the Feynman rules from the Lagrangian  $\mathcal{L}_0 + \mathcal{L}_{\text{non-min}}$ . We separate the mass dipole K from the spin tensor using Eq. (4.1.1) and expose in the classical amplitudes both the K-dependence coming from both the interactions and from Eq. (4.2.3), but suppress the spin vector dependent factor  $\mathcal{E}_1^{(s)} \cdot \mathcal{E}_2^{(s)}$ . With this understanding, the classical Compton amplitudes up to  $\mathcal{O}(S^2)$  are

$$\mathcal{M}_{C}^{3\text{pt}} = -(\epsilon_{1} \cdot p)^{2} + \frac{(\epsilon_{1} \cdot p)\tilde{f}_{1}(p,S)}{m} - \frac{(1+C_{2})(\epsilon_{1} \cdot p)^{2}(k_{1} \cdot S)^{2}}{2m^{2}} - \frac{D_{2}(k_{1} \cdot K)(\epsilon_{1} \cdot p)\tilde{f}_{1}(p,S)}{m^{2}} - \frac{E_{2}(k_{1} \cdot K)^{2}(\epsilon_{1} \cdot p)^{2}}{2m^{2}},$$

$$\mathcal{M}_{C}^{4\text{pt}} = \frac{4}{\hat{s}t\hat{u}} \left[ \alpha^{2} - \alpha \mathcal{O}_{(1)} + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{O}_{(1)}^{2} + C_{2} \alpha \mathcal{O}_{(2)} + D_{2} \alpha \left( \mathcal{O}_{(1)} \frac{(k_{1} + k_{2}) \cdot K}{m} - \mathcal{K}_{(1,1)} \right) + E_{2} \left( \alpha \mathcal{O}_{(2)} \Big|_{S \to K} \right) \right],$$

$$(4.2.4)$$

where  $\alpha = p \cdot f_1 \cdot f_2 \cdot p$ , and  $f_i^{\mu\nu} = k_i^{\mu} \epsilon_i^{\nu} - k_i^{\nu} \epsilon_i^{\mu}$  is the linearized field strength. The kinematic variables here are defined as  $\hat{s} = 2p \cdot k_1$ ,  $t = 2k_1 \cdot k_2$  and  $\hat{u} = 2p \cdot k_2$ . The operators  $\mathcal{O}$  and  $\mathcal{K}$  are given by

$$\mathcal{O}_{(1)} = \frac{1}{m} \Big[ f_2(p, k_1) \tilde{f}_1(p, S) + \frac{\hat{s}}{2} \tilde{f}_{12}(p, S) + (1 \leftrightarrow 2) \Big],$$
  

$$\mathcal{O}_{(2)} = \frac{1}{2m^2} \Big[ t f_1(p, S) f_2(p, S) + \alpha (k_1 \cdot S + k_2 \cdot S)^2 \Big],$$
  

$$\mathcal{K}_{(1,1)} = \frac{t}{2m^2} \Big[ f_2(p, K) \tilde{f}_1(p, S) + f_1(p, K) \tilde{f}_2(p, S) \Big],$$
(4.2.5)

where  $f_i(a,b) = f_i^{\mu\nu} a_\mu b_\nu$ , and  $(\tilde{f}_i^{\mu\nu}, \tilde{f}_{12}^{\mu\nu})$  are respectively the Hodge duals <sup>4</sup> of  $(f_i^{\mu\nu}, f_1^{\mu\rho} f_{2,\rho}^{\nu})$ .

This result reveals interesting correlations between the additional degrees of freedom in  $\phi_s$  and Wilson <sup>4</sup>We define the Hodge dual as  $\tilde{f}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{i}{2} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} f_{\alpha\beta}$ 



Figure 4.1: Three-point and four-point Compton amplitudes

coefficients. Firstly, the appearance of K is due to  $\mathcal{L}_0$  not enforcing transversality on  $\phi_s$ . However, the spin-orbit terms are unchanged and there are no linear-in-K contributions at this order, in line with the absence of interactions of mass dipoles in general relativity. At  $\mathcal{O}(S^2)$  level, K appears in the form of SK and  $K^2$ . Note that the  $K^2$  dependence is identical to the  $S^2$  dependence with Wilson coefficient  $C_2$ . The Compton amplitude (4.2.4) is independent of K if  $D_2 = E_2 = 0$ , as the mass dipoles originating from interactions exactly cancel the contribution of the exponential factor in Eq. (4.2.3). With these choices, the results agree with the conventional formalism for neutron stars or other compact astrophysical objects considered in Ref. [145]. Finally, the Kerr black hole corresponds to setting  $C_2 = 0$ , in close analogy with the root-Kerr solution in electrodynamics [2].

Starting from the Compton amplitudes in Fig. 4.1, two-body scattering amplitudes at  $\mathcal{O}(G^2)$  can be found using generalized unitarity [206, 207, 248]. We construct tree-level and one-loop four-point two-body amplitudes, from which we may obtain the classical two-body effective Hamiltonian and observables through a matching process [14, 59].

## 4.3 Worldline

The standard approach to spinning particles using worldline formalisms, an SSC, e.g.,  $p_{\mu}S^{\mu\nu} = 0$ , is imposed via a Lagrange multiplier, which has the effect of eliminating  $K^{\mu}$  in Eq. (4.1.1) as a dynamical degree of freedom. This implies that the magnitude of the spin vector,  $S^{\mu}S_{\mu}$ , is conserved and it eliminates various operators and their associated Wilson coefficients. A basic result of the field-theory analysis above and in Refs. [101, 2] is that even for conservative systems,  $S^{\mu}S_{\mu}$  can change under conservative time evolution and that additional Wilson coefficients appear compared to the standard worldline framework. In Ref. [2], these features matched to a worldline description of electrodynamics with no imposed SSC, rediscovering the observation of Refs. [270, 271, 272] that the worldline with no SSC is distinct and consistent. Here we construct the analogous gravitational worldline theory and show that the Compton amplitudes match those of the abovementioned field theory.

To this end, we follow the same steps as for electrodynamics, which in turn is based on the dynamical mass formalism of Ref. [226], except that the SSC-imposing terms are dropped. In this approach, a spinning body is described by a timelike worldline  $z^{\mu}(\lambda)$ , its conjugate momentum  $p_{\mu}(\lambda)$ , a body tetrad  $\Lambda^{A}_{\mu}(\lambda)$ ,

and the body spin tensor  $S^{\mu\nu}(\lambda)$ , where  $\lambda$  is a parameter describing the position along the worldline. The Lagrangian is  $L = -p_{\mu}\dot{z}^{\mu} + \frac{1}{2}S^{\mu\nu}\Lambda_{A\mu}\frac{D\Lambda^{A}{}_{\nu}}{D\lambda} + \frac{\xi}{2}(p^{2} - M^{2})$ (4.3.1)

where  $\xi(\lambda)$  is a Lagrange multiplier that enforces the on-shell constraint  $p^2 = M^2$  and M(z, p, S) is the dynamical mass function of the body, which contains the body's free mass and all its non-minimal couplings to gravity. The stationary variation of the corresponding action describes the body dynamics. In terms of the 4-velocity  $u^{\mu} = p^{\mu}/\sqrt{p^2}$  and to second order in the vectors  $S^{\mu}$  and  $K^{\mu}$ , the dynamical mass function can be written as:

$$\mathbf{M}^{2} = m^{2} + \frac{1 - C_{2}}{4} R_{uSuS} + \frac{1 - D_{2}}{2} R_{uSuK} + \frac{1 - E_{2}}{4} R_{uKuK},$$

with  $R_{uSuK} = R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}u^{\mu}S^{\nu}u^{\rho}K^{\sigma}$ . This worldline Lagrangian is equivalent to the one of Ref. [226] except that no Lagrange multiplier term that imposes an SSC is included.

The classical Compton is computed [247] as the coefficient of the outgoing spherical wave produced by the response of the spinning body to in an incoming plane wave. The metric perturbation,

$$h^{\mu\nu} = e^{ik \cdot x} \varepsilon^{\mu\nu} + \frac{e^{i(kr-\omega t)}}{4\pi r} \mathcal{M}_{C}^{\mu\nu,\rho\sigma} \varepsilon_{\rho\sigma} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r^{2}}\right) , \qquad (4.3.2)$$

and the Compton amplitude  $\mathcal{M}_{C}^{\mu\nu,\rho\sigma}$  is extracted directly from the stress tensor  $T_{\mu\nu} = \frac{\delta}{\delta h^{\mu\nu}} \int d\lambda L$  using the solution to the wave equation at large distances in de Donder gauge. With the Wilson coefficients assigned as in Eq. (4.3.2), the result exactly matches Eq. (4.2.4), pointing to the equivalence of this worldline theory and the field theory described above.

As discussed, the description of spinning particles in the presence of the covariant SSC can be obtained from the unconstrained one by simply setting  $D_2 = 0 = E_2$ . Fur such special values of the Wilson coefficients, initial data satisfying the covariant SSC (i.e. with  $K^{\mu} = 0$ ) is preserved under time evolution, similarly to the case of electrodynamics [2]. This feature implies that, from a practical standpoint, it is convenient not to impose the SSC but instead to make appropriate choices of Wilson coefficients that reduce the system to the one without mass dipole K.

#### 4.4 Scattering waveform at leading order

To explore the physical relevance of the mass dipole K and of the additional Wilson coefficients, we study their effect on the scattering waveform. To this end, we assume that we are given a waveform signal that can be fitted by a K = 0 system and study whether it is possible to accurately describe the same signal by turning on K and readjusting Wilson coefficients. Since our spin-dependent amplitudes are to a fixed (second) order in spin, we carry out this comparison at each order separately.

Since K does not enter at linear order, S should remain fixed as K is turned on. Thus, we may only

adjust the Wilson coefficients. We will find that, to the order we are working and unless  $D_2 = 0$ , the waveform at a fixed observation angle can discern a nonvanishing mass dipole. The leading order waveform for the scattering Kerr black hole off a spinless body was computed in [275, 276, 277]. We have verified that our results at K = 0 exactly agrees with Ref. [275].

The metric perturbation at infinity is given by

$$h_{\mu\nu}^{\infty} = \frac{1}{\kappa} \lim_{|\boldsymbol{x}| \to \infty} 4\pi |\boldsymbol{x}| (g_{\mu\nu} - \eta_{\mu\nu})$$
$$= \kappa M \left[ \frac{\kappa^2 M}{|\boldsymbol{b}|} \hat{h}_{\mu\nu}^{(1)} + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^4) \right], \qquad (4.4.1)$$

where  $M = m_1 + m_2$  and  $\kappa^2 = 32\pi G$ . Ref. [8] established the connection between  $h_{\mu\nu}^{\infty}$  and scattering amplitudes. At leading order, the waveform  $W \equiv \varepsilon^{\mu\nu} h_{\mu\nu}^{\infty}$  takes the simple form

$$W^{\text{LO}}(t) = \frac{\kappa^3 M^2}{|b|} \varepsilon^{\mu\nu} \hat{h}^{(1)}_{\mu\nu}$$
  
=  $-2 \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{d\omega}{2\pi} \int d\mu \,\mathcal{M}_5^{\text{tree}} e^{-iq_1 \cdot b} e^{-i\omega t},$  (4.4.2)

where  $\mathcal{M}_5^{\text{tree}} \equiv \mathcal{M}_5^{\text{tree}}(p_1, p_2, q_1, k, \varepsilon)$  is the classical five-point amplitude with an outgoing graviton of momentum k and physical polarization  $\varepsilon$ . The measure  $d\mu$  is

$$d\mu = \frac{d^4 q_1}{(2\pi)^4} \hat{\delta}(2p_1 \cdot q_1) \hat{\delta}(2p_2 \cdot (k - q_1)), \qquad (4.4.3)$$

with  $\hat{\delta}(x) = 2\pi\delta(x)$  and  $\hat{\delta}^d(x) = (2\pi)^d \delta^d(x)$ , and  $q_1$  is the momenta lost by particle  $p_1$ .

Using generalized unitarity, the classical tree-level five-point amplitude necessary for  $W^{\text{LO}}$  can be computed by sewing together three- and four-point Compton amplitudes. Schematically, it is given by

where the dashed lines indicate on-shell conditions and summation over physical states. We ignore the local terms as they do not contribute in the classical regime.

The gravitational-wave memory, which is given by the soft limit of this amplitude, provides clues into the structure of the complete waveform. Interestingly, explicit calculation reveals that it follows the same pattern as for the scattering of spinless particles, i.e. [278, 279] that in the frequency domain,  $k^{\mu} = \omega n^{\mu}$ ,

$$\varepsilon^{\mu\nu}h^{\infty}_{\mu\nu}(\omega) = \frac{i}{\omega}\sum_{i=1}^{4}\frac{\eta_i(\varepsilon \cdot p_i)^2}{n \cdot p_i} + \mathcal{O}(\omega^0), \qquad (4.4.5)$$

where  $\eta_{1,2} = 1$ ,  $\eta_{3,4} = -1$  and  $\varepsilon^{\mu\nu} = \varepsilon^{\mu}\varepsilon^{\nu}$  for on-shell gravitons. Momentum conservation requires  $p_4 = p_1 + \Delta p$ and  $p_3 = p_2 - \Delta p$ , where  $\Delta p$  is the leading order covariant impulse.



Figure 4.2: Plots showing the waveforms for  $\mathbf{S} = (\cos \pi/4, \sin \pi/4, 0), C_2 = 1$ , denoted by  $h_+^{(1)}(\ldots, \mathbf{K} = 0)$ , and their difference from a  $\mathbf{K}$ -dependent waveform as follows. Left two figures: the + and × polarizations observed at angles  $(\theta_1, \phi_1) = (7, 4)\pi/10$ ,  $(\theta_2, \phi_2) = (1, 4)\pi/10$  for particles with COM velocity  $\mathbf{v} = (0, 0, 1/5)$  and impact parameter  $\mathbf{b}_{cov} = (5, 0, 0)$ . We choose  $\mathbf{K} = \mathbf{S}, C_2 = 1/3, D_2 \simeq 0.286$  so that the memory difference for the + polarization at observation angle  $(\theta_2, \phi_1)$  vanishes,  $\Delta \hat{h}_+^{(1)}(\theta_1, \phi_1) = 0$ . Right two figures: dashed lines: the + and × polarizations observed at  $(\theta, \phi) = (5, 10)\pi/10$  for COM velocities  $\mathbf{v}_1 = (0, 0, 1/14), \mathbf{v}_2 = (0, 0, 1/7)$  impact parameter  $\mathbf{b}_{cov} = (5, 0, 0)$ ; solid lines: the difference from  $\mathbf{K} = \mathbf{S}, C_2 = 1/3, D_2 \simeq 0.431; D_2$  is chosen so that the memory difference for the + polarization and velocity  $\mathbf{v}_1$  vanishes,  $\Delta \hat{h}_+^{(1)}(\mathbf{v}_1) = 0$ . The three-vector  $\mathbf{S}$  and  $\mathbf{K}$  are related to the four-vector  $S^{\mu}$  and  $K^{\mu}$  as  $S^{\mu} = (0, \mathbf{S}), K^{\mu} = (0, \mathbf{K})$ . We note that the spin  $S^{\mu}$  here is the covariant spin, and the impact parameter  $\mathbf{b}_{cov}^{\mu} = (0, \mathbf{b}_{cov})$  is defined accordingly [59].

It is not difficult to see that the third term in Eq. (4.4.4) is subleading as  $k^{\mu} \to 0$ , and thus the soft limit of the classical five-point tree amplitude is determined by the soft limit of the four-point tree-level Compton amplitude. As discussed below Eq. (4.2.5), in this amplitude, the terms bilinear in the spin vector originating from Wilson coefficient  $C_2$  are the same (up to  $S \to K$ ) as the terms bilinear in K originating from  $E_2$ . We may, therefore, expect a similar property for the entire five-point amplitude, which indeed turns out to be the case:

$$\mathcal{M}_5\Big|_{E_2K^2} = \mathcal{M}_5\Big|_{C_2S^2}^{S \to K, C_2 \to E_2}.$$
(4.4.6)

Namely, if we turn on  $K^{\mu}$  parallel (||) to  $S^{\mu}$ , we can compensate the effect by adjusting  $C_2$ . Thus, for special systems with  $D_2 = 0$ , such mass dipoles are degenerate with the spin. In the following we consider only  $D_2 \neq 0$  and  $K^{\mu} \parallel S^{\mu}$ . To streamline the comparison, we keep  $E_2 = 0$  and interpret  $E_2 \neq 0$  as a change in  $C_2$ .

Exploring the memory contribution of the  $\mathcal{O}(SK)$  terms, we find that it is possible to choose the Wilson coefficients  $C_2$  (or equivalently  $E_2$ ) and  $D_2$  so that K is not distinguishable at late times in a fixed observation direction specified by the polar angles  $(\theta, \phi)$  and for a center-of-mass (COM) velocity v in one, say +, polarization. At finite times, however, and for the second polarization at all times, the difference between waveforms with and without K is nontrivial, as illustrated at fixed velocity and several observation angles in the left two plots of Fig. 4.2. Depending on the observation angle, we note that the difference can be as large as about 50% of the K-independent waveform.

A similar conclusion can be drawn by inspecting the waveform at a fixed observation angle as a function of the relative velocity of the particles in the COM. Examples are shown in the right two plots in Fig. 4.2. We choose to align the gravitational wave memory for the + polarization and for the lower of the two velocities.

1	$\left( \left( oldsymbol{r}  imes oldsymbol{p}  ight) / oldsymbol{r}^2  ight)$	$\left(oldsymbol{r}\cdot\mathbf{K} ight)/oldsymbol{r}^{2}$
$\left(oldsymbol{r}\cdot\mathbf{S} ight)^{2}/oldsymbol{r}^{4}$	$\left(oldsymbol{r}\cdot\mathbf{K} ight)\left(\left(oldsymbol{r} imesoldsymbol{p} ight)\cdot\mathbf{S} ight)/oldsymbol{r}^4$	$\left(oldsymbol{r}\cdot\mathbf{K} ight)^{2}/oldsymbol{r}^{4}$
$\mathbf{S}^2/r^2$	$\left( {f K} \cdot \left( {m p}  imes {f S}  ight)  ight) / {m r}^2$	$\mathbf{K}^2/r^2$
$\left(oldsymbol{p}\cdot\mathbf{S} ight)^{2}/oldsymbol{r}^{2}$	$\left(oldsymbol{r}\cdot\mathbf{S} ight)\left(\left(oldsymbol{r} imes\mathbf{K} ight)\cdotoldsymbol{p} ight)/oldsymbol{r}^4$	$\left(oldsymbol{p}\cdot\mathbf{K} ight)^{2}/oldsymbol{r}^{2}$

Table 4.1: The operators up to terms quadratic in S and K appearing in the Hamiltonian for a single spinning body.

Interestingly, the maximum waveform difference for the + polarization appears to exhibit a very weak velocity dependence. The variation of the width of the curves can be traced to a similar variation in the waveform itself, which is due to the fact that, at fixed impact parameter, lower-velocity particles experience a longer period of stronger acceleration, leading to a broader waveform. As before, the differences shown in the two right plots of Fig. 4.2 can be as large as 50% of the K-independent waveform.

## 4.5 Effective Hamiltonian

Using the two-body elastic amplitudes obtained in our field-theory analysis, we match to a Hamiltonian that describes the conservative evolution of the two bodies in general relativity. This Hamiltonian can serve as an input to EOB models for gravitational waveforms, connecting theoretical computations and experimental observations (see e.g. Refs. [280, 281, 282, 283, 164]).

The steps to construct a two-body Hamiltonian from our amplitudes are described in detail in our earlier paper [2], which builds on effective Hamiltonians used for the non-spinning [14] and spinning cases without  $\mathbf{K}$  [59]. We start with an ansatz for the most general Hamiltonian with a set of to-be-determined coefficients of spin structures that include the  $\mathbf{S}$  and  $\mathbf{K}$  degrees of freedom and determine these coefficients by matching the two-to-two scattering amplitudes from this Hamiltonian and the ones obtained from field theory calculations.

A one-loop consistency is that all IR divergences of the amplitude (i.e. the coefficients of box integrals) are completely determined in terms of tree-level Hamiltonian coefficients.

We organize our Hamiltonian in terms of spin structures  $\Sigma_a$  and corresponding coefficients  $c_n^a(\mathbf{p}^2)$  as

$$\mathcal{H} = \sqrt{\mathbf{p}^2 + m_1^2} + \sqrt{\mathbf{p}^2 + m_2^2} + V, \qquad (4.5.1)$$
$$V = \sum_a V^a \Sigma_a, \quad V^a = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{G}{|\mathbf{r}|}\right)^n c_n^a(\mathbf{p}^2),$$

where  $m_1$  and  $m_2$  are the masses of the two objects,  $\boldsymbol{r}$  and  $\boldsymbol{p}$  is the relative distance and the relative momentum in the COM, respectively. We give the spin structures for the case of one spinning body in Table 4.1. For choices of Wilson coefficients that match the worldline with SSC, the resulting scattering angles reproduce in the overlap with those of Refs. [78, 21, 22, 167, 163].

The earlier two-body Hamiltonian in Ref. [101] was constructed with  $\mathbf{K} = 0$  and cannot be used to

match the field theory or worldline where  $\mathbf{K}$  is nonvanishing since the Hamiltonian must contain all the dynamical degrees of freedom.

An important prediction of general relativity is that the mass dipole of compact objects does not partake on its own in gravitational interactions. A non-trivial consistency check is that the introduction of  $\mathbf{K}$  does not contradict this basic result. Indeed, our Hamiltonian allows multiple interactions that are linear in the mass dipole of one of the objects, e.g.

$$\Sigma_{(1,3)} = \frac{\boldsymbol{r} \cdot \mathbf{K}_1}{\boldsymbol{r}^2}, \ \Sigma_{(2,13)} = \frac{(\boldsymbol{r} \cdot \mathbf{K}_1) \left( (\boldsymbol{r} \times \boldsymbol{p}) \cdot \mathbf{S}_2 \right)}{\boldsymbol{r}^4}.$$
(4.5.2)

We expect this property to hold to all orders in the spin and G, as the vanishing of these coefficients may be traced back to the fact that at linear order in the spin tensor, the only possible gravitational coupling is the minimal one. Since there is no freedom in adjusting the minimal coupling with additional Wilson coefficients, at linear order in the spin the gravitational interactions do not differentiate between black holes, conventional neutron stars and generic astrophysical objects considered here. In this way, the vanishing of the gravitational mass-dipole interaction in our formalism follows from general coordinate invariance.

Having obtained a Hamiltonian that captures the conservative evolution of our binary in general relativity, we demonstrate that including the additional degrees of freedom leads to spin-magnitude change. Indeed, by solving Hamilton's equations, we find at  $\mathcal{O}(G)$ :

$$\Delta \mathbf{S}_{1}^{2} = GD_{2} \frac{8\sigma m_{2} \left(m_{1}^{2} + 2\sigma m_{1}m_{2} + m_{2}^{2}\right) \left(K_{1z}^{(0)} \left(S_{1x}^{(0)} - S_{1y}^{(0)}\right) \left(S_{1x}^{(0)} + S_{1y}^{(0)}\right) - S_{1z}^{(0)} \left(K_{1x}^{(0)} S_{1x}^{(0)} - K_{1y}^{(0)} S_{1y}^{(0)}\right)\right)}{|\mathbf{b}|^{2} \left(\sqrt{p_{\infty}^{2} + m_{1}^{2}} + \sqrt{p_{\infty}^{2} + m_{2}^{2}}\right)^{2} m_{1}}$$

$$(4.5.3)$$

$$+GE_{2}\frac{4\left(2\sigma^{2}-1\right)m_{2}^{2}\left(m_{1}^{2}+2\sigma m_{1}m_{2}+m_{2}^{2}\right)\left(K_{1y}^{(0)}K_{1z}^{(0)}S_{1x}^{(0)}+K_{1x}^{(0)}K_{1z}^{(0)}S_{1y}^{(0)}-2K_{1x}^{(0)}K_{1y}^{(0)}S_{1z}^{(0)}\right)}{|\boldsymbol{b}|^{2}\left(\sqrt{p_{\infty}^{2}+m_{1}^{2}}+\sqrt{p_{\infty}^{2}+m_{2}^{2}}\right)^{3}p_{\infty}},$$

where  $\mathbf{S}_{1}^{(0)}$  and  $\mathbf{K}_{1}^{(0)}$  are respectively the initial value of the spin and mass dipole. The impact parameter **b** points in the *x* direction and the incoming momenta are  $p_{1} = (\sqrt{p_{\infty}^{2} + m_{1}^{2}}, 0, 0, p_{\infty})$  and  $p_{2} = (\sqrt{p_{\infty}^{2} + m_{2}^{2}}, 0, 0, -p_{\infty})$ , with  $\sigma = \frac{p_{1} \cdot p_{2}}{m_{1} m_{2}}$  (see Ref. [2] for more details). As noted there, while neither  $\mathbf{S}_{1}^{2}$  nor  $\mathbf{K}_{1}^{2}$  are conserved, the difference  $\mathbf{S}_{1}^{2} - \mathbf{K}_{1}^{2}$  is, so we have  $\Delta \mathbf{K}_{1}^{2} = \Delta \mathbf{S}_{1}^{2}$ .

#### 4.6 Eikonal Phase

Remarkably, the spin-dependent scattering observables can be encoded in a single scalar function—the eikonal phase [59, 284, 285], which to  $\mathcal{O}(G^2)$  is given by the two-dimensional Fourier transform (from q space to b space) of the classical part of the EFT amplitude. Ref. [2] gave a generalization of the construction of [59], including the effects of K and applied it to electrodynamics. Here we explicitly confirm that this construction gives the correct results through  $\mathcal{O}(G^2\mathsf{S}^2)$ . From Ref. [2] we have

$$\Delta \boldsymbol{p} = \frac{\partial \chi}{\partial \boldsymbol{b}} + \frac{1}{2} \{ \chi, \frac{\partial \chi}{\partial \boldsymbol{b}} \} + \mathcal{D}_L(\chi, \frac{\partial \chi}{\partial \boldsymbol{b}}) - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{b}} \mathcal{D}_L(\chi, \chi) - \frac{\boldsymbol{p}}{2\boldsymbol{p}^2} \left( \frac{\partial \chi}{\partial \boldsymbol{b}} \right)^2 + \mathcal{O}\left(\chi^3\right), \tag{4.6.1}$$

which simultaneously gives contributions orthogonal and along p. Here,  $p \cdot b = 0$ , so all the *b*-derivatives are projected orthogonal to the incoming momentum p. The spin and mass dipole change are

$$\Delta \mathbb{O} = \{\chi, \mathbb{O}\} + \frac{1}{2} \{\chi, \{\chi, \mathbb{O}\}\} + \mathcal{D}_L(\chi, \{\chi, \mathbb{O}\}) - \frac{1}{2} \{\mathcal{D}_L(\chi, \chi), \mathbb{O}\}, \qquad (4.6.2)$$

where  $\mathbb{O} = (\mathbf{S}, \mathbf{K})$  and

$$\mathcal{D}_L(f,g) \equiv -\epsilon_{ijk} \left( S_{1i} \frac{\partial f}{\partial S_{1j}} + K_{1i} \frac{\partial f}{\partial K_{1j}} \right) \frac{\partial g}{\partial L_k} \,. \tag{4.6.3}$$

with an obvious generalization when both particles are spinning. The Lorentz algebra gives the brackets involving  $\mathbf{S}$  and  $\mathbf{K}$  (see Eq. (5.40) of Ref. [2]).

We have explicitly checked that Eqs. (4.6.1) and (4.6.2) indeed reproduce the impulse, spin kick and mass dipole change given by Hamilton's equations.

## 4.7 Conclusions and Outlook

The body-fixed tetrad has six degrees of freedom. Demanding the minimal EFT description of the body causes only three of them to be dynamical and requires an SSC to fix the other three [286]. The spin gauge symmetry then guarantees independence of this constraint. Relaxing minimality removes the need of an SSC and promotes the additional tetrad components to dynamical variables in the form of a mass dipole.

We demonstrated that the traditional description of gravitating spinning compact objects can be naturally extended to include such additional degrees of freedom describing properties of their mass distribution. The mass dipole K yields to new interaction terms with associated free Wilson coefficients in the field-theory, worldline, and two-body-Hamiltonian descriptions, which are all in physical agreement. This mirrors the conclusions of Ref. [2] obtained in electrodynamics. The distinct dynamics and self-consistency of worldline theories with no SSC imposed were also appreciated a while ago [270, 271, 272]. An unconstrained description of spinning particles is technically simpler and, if desired, the SSC can be imposed by choosing Wilson coefficients leading to the cancellation of all K-dependent contributions. Notably, the known Wilson coefficients for fixed-spin compact objects have this property.

An important feature is that in agreement with the principles of general relativity, interactions linear in the mass dipole do not affect physical observables. We explicitly demonstrated in general relativity that multilinears in the mass dipole and spin and their associated Wilson coefficients not only affect the impulse and spin kick at  $\mathcal{O}(G)$  and  $\mathcal{O}(G^2)$  but also directly modify the waveform in ways that cannot be replicated by merely readjusting the Wilson coefficients in the absence of a mass dipole. We also explicitly showed that a K-dependent generalization [2] of the spinning eikonal formula [59] yields the correct impulse, spin and boost kick. It would be interesting to understand whether this agreement continues to higher orders.

While we have demonstrated that a mass dipole affects physical observables, it remains an interesting question whether this could lead to measurable effects for any compact astrophysical bodies in our Universe <sup>5</sup>. The Wilson coefficients governing their interactions could be determined by matching them onto suitable models or comparing theoretical waveforms to numerical relativity simulations or gravitational-wave data. While we focused here on the scattering regime, the absence of the tail effect at these low orders makes it straightforward to use the Hamiltonian we derived in the bound regime. It would be very interesting to contrast the  $K \neq 0$  and K = 0 bound-orbit waveforms. Defining black holes in purely field-theoretic terms remains an interesting problem. Here, we observed, to low orders, that a suitable criterion is the decoupling of the mass dipole. An all-order proof is desirable.

 $<sup>^{5}</sup>$ See Refs. [287, 240] for a discussion of the hierarchical three-body system in which the inner body may be interpreted as exhibiting a mass dipole.

# Bibliography

- [1] L. de la Cruz, A. Luna, and T. Scheopner, "Yang-Mills observables: from KMOC to eikonal through EFT," JHEP 01 (2022) 045, arXiv:2108.02178 [hep-th].
- [2] Z. Bern, D. Kosmopoulos, A. Luna, R. Roiban, T. Scheopner, F. Teng, and J. Vines, "Quantum Field Theory, Worldline Theory, and Spin Magnitude Change in Orbital Evolution," arXiv:2308.14176 [hep-th].
- [3] T. Scheopner and J. Vines, "Dynamical Implications of the Kerr Multipole Moments for Spinning Black Holes," arXiv:2311.18421 [gr-qc].
- [4] M. Alaverdian, Z. Bern, D. Kosmopoulos, A. Luna, R. Roiban, T. Scheopner, and F. Teng,
   "Conservative Spin Magnitude Change in Orbital Evolution in General Relativity," arXiv:2407.10928
   [hep-th].
- [5] D. A. Kosower, B. Maybee, and D. O'Connell, "Amplitudes, Observables, and Classical Scattering," JHEP 02 (2019) 137, arXiv:1811.10950 [hep-th].
- [6] B. Maybee, D. O'Connell, and J. Vines, "Observables and amplitudes for spinning particles and black holes," JHEP 12 (2019) 156, arXiv:1906.09260 [hep-th].
- [7] L. de la Cruz, B. Maybee, D. O'Connell, and A. Ross, "Classical Yang-Mills observables from amplitudes," JHEP 12 (2020) 076, arXiv:2009.03842 [hep-th].
- [8] A. Cristofoli, R. Gonzo, D. A. Kosower, and D. O'Connell, "Waveforms from Amplitudes," arXiv:2107.10193 [hep-th].
- [9] A. Manu, D. Ghosh, A. Laddha, and P. V. Athira, "Soft radiation from scattering amplitudes revisited," JHEP 05 (2021) 056, arXiv:2007.02077 [hep-th].
- [10] E. Herrmann, J. Parra-Martinez, M. S. Ruf, and M. Zeng, "Gravitational Bremsstrahlung from Reverse Unitarity," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **126** no. 20, (2021) 201602, arXiv:2101.07255 [hep-th].

- [11] E. Herrmann, J. Parra-Martinez, M. S. Ruf, and M. Zeng, "Radiative Classical Gravitational Observables at  $\mathcal{O}(G^3)$  from Scattering Amplitudes," arXiv:2104.03957 [hep-th].
- [12] L. de la Cruz, "Scattering amplitudes approach to hard thermal loops," *Phys. Rev. D* 104 no. 1, (2021) 014013, arXiv:2012.07714 [hep-th].
- [13] D. Neill and I. Z. Rothstein, "Classical Space-Times from the S Matrix," Nucl. Phys. B 877 (2013) 177-189, arXiv:1304.7263 [hep-th].
- [14] C. Cheung, I. Z. Rothstein, and M. P. Solon, "From Scattering Amplitudes to Classical Potentials in the Post-Minkowskian Expansion," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **121** no. 25, (2018) 251101, arXiv:1808.02489
   [hep-th].
- [15] K. Westpfahl, "High-Speed Scattering of Charged and Uncharged Particles in General Relativity," *Fortsch. Phys.* 33 no. 8, (1985) 417–493.
- [16] Z. Bern, C. Cheung, R. Roiban, C.-H. Shen, M. P. Solon, and M. Zeng, "Scattering Amplitudes and the Conservative Hamiltonian for Binary Systems at Third Post-Minkowskian Order," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 122 no. 20, (2019) 201603, arXiv:1901.04424 [hep-th].
- [17] Z. Bern, C. Cheung, R. Roiban, C.-H. Shen, M. P. Solon, and M. Zeng, "Black Hole Binary Dynamics from the Double Copy and Effective Theory," *JHEP* 10 (2019) 206, arXiv:1908.01493 [hep-th].
- [18] C. Cheung and M. P. Solon, "Classical gravitational scattering at  $\mathcal{O}(G^3)$  from Feynman diagrams," JHEP 06 (2020) 144, arXiv:2003.08351 [hep-th].
- [19] A. Cristofoli, N. E. J. Bjerrum-Bohr, P. H. Damgaard, and P. Vanhove, "Post-Minkowskian Hamiltonians in general relativity," *Phys. Rev. D* 100 no. 8, (2019) 084040, arXiv:1906.01579 [hep-th].
- [20] N. E. J. Bjerrum-Bohr, A. Cristofoli, and P. H. Damgaard, "Post-Minkowskian Scattering Angle in Einstein Gravity," JHEP 08 (2020) 038, arXiv:1910.09366 [hep-th].
- [21] P. H. Damgaard, K. Haddad, and A. Helset, "Heavy Black Hole Effective Theory," JHEP 11 (2019)
   070, arXiv:1908.10308 [hep-ph].
- [22] R. Aoude, K. Haddad, and A. Helset, "On-shell heavy particle effective theories," JHEP 05 (2020) 051, arXiv:2001.09164 [hep-th].
- [23] K. Haddad and A. Helset, "The double copy for heavy particles," Phys. Rev. Lett. 125 (2020) 181603, arXiv:2005.13897 [hep-th].

- [24] G. Kälin and R. A. Porto, "From Boundary Data to Bound States," JHEP 01 (2020) 072, arXiv:1910.03008 [hep-th].
- [25] G. Kälin and R. A. Porto, "From boundary data to bound states. Part II. Scattering angle to dynamical invariants (with twist)," *JHEP* 02 (2020) 120, arXiv:1911.09130 [hep-th].
- [26] G. Kälin and R. A. Porto, "Post-Minkowskian Effective Field Theory for Conservative Binary Dynamics," JHEP 11 (2020) 106, arXiv:2006.01184 [hep-th].
- [27] G. Kälin, Z. Liu, and R. A. Porto, "Conservative Dynamics of Binary Systems to Third Post-Minkowskian Order from the Effective Field Theory Approach," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **125** no. 26, (2020) 261103, arXiv:2007.04977 [hep-th].
- [28] C. Dlapa, G. Kälin, Z. Liu, and R. A. Porto, "Dynamics of binary systems to fourth Post-Minkowskian order from the effective field theory approach," *Phys. Lett. B* 831 (2022) 137203, arXiv:2106.08276 [hep-th].
- [29] G. Mogull, J. Plefka, and J. Steinhoff, "Classical black hole scattering from a worldline quantum field theory," JHEP 02 (2021) 048, arXiv:2010.02865 [hep-th].
- [30] Z. Bern, J. Parra-Martinez, R. Roiban, M. S. Ruf, C.-H. Shen, M. P. Solon, and M. Zeng, "Scattering Amplitudes and Conservative Binary Dynamics at O(G<sup>4</sup>)," Phys. Rev. Lett. **126** no. 17, (2021) 171601, arXiv:2101.07254 [hep-th].
- [31] S. Caron-Huot and Z. Zahraee, "Integrability of Black Hole Orbits in Maximal Supergravity," JHEP 07 (2019) 179, arXiv:1810.04694 [hep-th].
- [32] Z. Bern, H. Ita, J. Parra-Martinez, and M. S. Ruf, "Universality in the classical limit of massless gravitational scattering," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **125** no. 3, (2020) 031601, arXiv:2002.02459 [hep-th].
- [33] J. Parra-Martinez, M. S. Ruf, and M. Zeng, "Extremal black hole scattering at O(G<sup>3</sup>): graviton dominance, eikonal exponentiation, and differential equations," JHEP 11 (2020) 023, arXiv:2005.04236 [hep-th].
- [34] M. Carrillo-González, C. de Rham, and A. J. Tolley, "Scattering Amplitudes for Binary Systems beyond GR," arXiv:2107.11384 [hep-th].
- [35] M. C. Gonzalez, Q. Liang, and M. Trodden, "Effective field theory for binary cosmic strings," Phys. Rev. D 104 no. 4, (2021) 043517, arXiv:2010.15913 [hep-th].

- [36] F. Loebbert, J. Plefka, C. Shi, and T. Wang, "Three-Body Effective Potential in General Relativity at 2PM and Resulting PN Contributions," arXiv:2012.14224 [hep-th].
- [37] P. Di Vecchia, C. Heissenberg, R. Russo, and G. Veneziano, "Universality of ultra-relativistic gravitational scattering," *Phys. Lett. B* 811 (2020) 135924, arXiv:2008.12743 [hep-th].
- [38] P. Di Vecchia, C. Heissenberg, R. Russo, and G. Veneziano, "Radiation Reaction from Soft Theorems," *Phys. Lett. B* 818 (2021) 136379, arXiv:2101.05772 [hep-th].
- [39] T. Damour, "Radiative contribution to classical gravitational scattering at the third order in G," Phys. Rev. D 102 no. 12, (2020) 124008, arXiv:2010.01641 [gr-qc].
- [40] G. U. Jakobsen, G. Mogull, J. Plefka, and J. Steinhoff, "Classical Gravitational Bremsstrahlung from a Worldline Quantum Field Theory," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **126** no. 20, (2021) 201103, arXiv:2101.12688
   [gr-qc].
- [41] S. Mougiakakos, M. M. Riva, and F. Vernizzi, "Gravitational Bremsstrahlung in the Post-Minkowskian Effective Field Theory," arXiv:2102.08339 [gr-qc].
- [42] N. E. J. Bjerrum-Bohr, P. H. Damgaard, L. Planté, and P. Vanhove, "The Amplitude for Classical Gravitational Scattering at Third Post-Minkowskian Order," arXiv:2105.05218 [hep-th].
- [43] K. Haddad and A. Helset, "Tidal effects in quantum field theory," JHEP 12 (2020) 024, arXiv:2008.04920 [hep-th].
- [44] R. Aoude, K. Haddad, and A. Helset, "Tidal effects for spinning particles," JHEP 03 (2021) 097, arXiv:2012.05256 [hep-th].
- [45] M. Accettulli Huber, A. Brandhuber, S. De Angelis, and G. Travaglini, "From amplitudes to gravitational radiation with cubic interactions and tidal effects," *Phys. Rev. D* 103 no. 4, (2021) 045015, arXiv:2012.06548 [hep-th].
- [46] G. Kälin, Z. Liu, and R. A. Porto, "Conservative Tidal Effects in Compact Binary Systems to Next-to-Leading Post-Minkowskian Order," *Phys. Rev. D* 102 (2020) 124025, arXiv:2008.06047 [hep-th].
- [47] C. Cheung and M. P. Solon, "Tidal Effects in the Post-Minkowskian Expansion," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 125 no. 19, (2020) 191601, arXiv:2006.06665 [hep-th].
- [48] C. Cheung, N. Shah, and M. P. Solon, "Mining the Geodesic Equation for Scattering Data," *Phys. Rev. D* 103 no. 2, (2021) 024030, arXiv:2010.08568 [hep-th].

- [49] Z. Bern, J. Parra-Martinez, R. Roiban, E. Sawyer, and C.-H. Shen, "Leading Nonlinear Tidal Effects and Scattering Amplitudes," JHEP 05 (2021) 188, arXiv:2010.08559 [hep-th].
- [50] B. R. Holstein and A. Ross, "Spin Effects in Long Range Gravitational Scattering," arXiv:0802.0716 [hep-ph].
- [51] V. Vaidya, "Gravitational spin Hamiltonians from the S matrix," Phys. Rev. D 91 no. 2, (2015) 024017, arXiv:1410.5348 [hep-th].
- [52] A. Guevara, "Holomorphic Classical Limit for Spin Effects in Gravitational and Electromagnetic Scattering," JHEP 04 (2019) 033, arXiv:1706.02314 [hep-th].
- [53] A. Guevara, A. Ochirov, and J. Vines, "Scattering of Spinning Black Holes from Exponentiated Soft Factors," JHEP 09 (2019) 056, arXiv:1812.06895 [hep-th].
- [54] M.-Z. Chung, Y.-T. Huang, J.-W. Kim, and S. Lee, "The simplest massive S-matrix: from minimal coupling to Black Holes," JHEP 04 (2019) 156, arXiv:1812.08752 [hep-th].
- [55] M.-Z. Chung, Y.-T. Huang, and J.-W. Kim, "Classical potential for general spinning bodies," JHEP 09 (2020) 074, arXiv:1908.08463 [hep-th].
- [56] M.-Z. Chung, Y.-t. Huang, J.-W. Kim, and S. Lee, "Complete Hamiltonian for spinning binary systems at first post-Minkowskian order," JHEP 05 (2020) 105, arXiv:2003.06600 [hep-th].
- [57] A. Guevara, A. Ochirov, and J. Vines, "Black-hole scattering with general spin directions from minimal-coupling amplitudes," *Phys. Rev. D* 100 no. 10, (2019) 104024, arXiv:1906.10071 [hep-th].
- [58] J. Vines, "Scattering of two spinning black holes in post-Minkowskian gravity, to all orders in spin, and effective-one-body mappings," *Class. Quant. Grav.* **35** no. 8, (2018) 084002, arXiv:1709.06016 [gr-qc].
- [59] Z. Bern, A. Luna, R. Roiban, C.-H. Shen, and M. Zeng, "Spinning black hole binary dynamics, scattering amplitudes, and effective field theory," *Phys. Rev. D* 104 no. 6, (2021) 065014, arXiv:2005.03071 [hep-th].
- [60] Z. Liu, R. A. Porto, and Z. Yang, "Spin Effects in the Effective Field Theory Approach to Post-Minkowskian Conservative Dynamics," JHEP 06 (2021) 012, arXiv:2102.10059 [hep-th].
- [61] D. Kosmopoulos and A. Luna, "Quadratic-in-spin Hamiltonian at O(G<sup>2</sup>) from scattering amplitudes," JHEP 07 (2021) 037, arXiv:2102.10137 [hep-th].

- [62] G. U. Jakobsen, G. Mogull, J. Plefka, and J. Steinhoff, "Gravitational Bremsstrahlung and Hidden Supersymmetry of Spinning Bodies," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **128** no. 1, (2022) 011101, arXiv:2106.10256 [hep-th].
- [63] B.-T. Chen, M.-Z. Chung, Y.-t. Huang, and M. K. Tam, "Minimal spin deflection of Kerr-Newman and supersymmetric black hole," *JHEP* 10 (2021) 011, arXiv:2106.12518 [hep-th].
- [64] Y. F. Bautista, A. Guevara, C. Kavanagh, and J. Vines, "From Scattering in Black Hole Backgrounds to Higher-Spin Amplitudes: Part I," arXiv:2107.10179 [hep-th].
- [65] R. Aoude and A. Ochirov, "Classical observables from coherent-spin amplitudes," JHEP 10 (2021) 008, arXiv:2108.01649 [hep-th].
- [66] M. Chiodaroli, H. Johansson, and P. Pichini, "Compton black-hole scattering for  $s \le 5/2$ ," JHEP 02 (2022) 156, arXiv:2107.14779 [hep-th].
- [67] D. Amati, M. Ciafaloni, and G. Veneziano, "Higher Order Gravitational Deflection and Soft Bremsstrahlung in Planckian Energy Superstring Collisions," Nucl. Phys. B 347 (1990) 550–580.
- [68] S. Melville, S. G. Naculich, H. J. Schnitzer, and C. D. White, "Wilson line approach to gravity in the high energy limit," *Phys. Rev. D* 89 no. 2, (2014) 025009, arXiv:1306.6019 [hep-th].
- [69] A. Luna, S. Melville, S. G. Naculich, and C. D. White, "Next-to-soft corrections to high energy scattering in QCD and gravity," JHEP 01 (2017) 052, arXiv:1611.02172 [hep-th].
- [70] R. Akhoury, R. Saotome, and G. Sterman, "High Energy Scattering in Perturbative Quantum Gravity at Next to Leading Power," *Phys. Rev. D* 103 no. 6, (2021) 064036, arXiv:1308.5204 [hep-th].
- [71] A. Koemans Collado, P. Di Vecchia, and R. Russo, "Revisiting the second post-Minkowskian eikonal and the dynamics of binary black holes," *Phys. Rev. D* 100 no. 6, (2019) 066028, arXiv:1904.02667 [hep-th].
- [72] A. Cristofoli, P. H. Damgaard, P. Di Vecchia, and C. Heissenberg, "Second-order Post-Minkowskian scattering in arbitrary dimensions," *JHEP* 07 (2020) 122, arXiv:2003.10274 [hep-th].
- [73] P. Di Vecchia, A. Luna, S. G. Naculich, R. Russo, G. Veneziano, and C. D. White, "A tale of two exponentiations in N = 8 supergravity," *Phys. Lett. B* 798 (2019) 134927, arXiv:1908.05603
  [hep-th].
- [74] P. Di Vecchia, S. G. Naculich, R. Russo, G. Veneziano, and C. D. White, "A tale of two exponentiations in  $\mathcal{N} = 8$  supergravity at subleading level," *JHEP* **03** (2020) 173, arXiv:1911.11716 [hep-th].

- [75] P. Di Vecchia, C. Heissenberg, R. Russo, and G. Veneziano, "The Eikonal Approach to Gravitational Scattering and Radiation at  $\mathcal{O}(G^3)$ ," arXiv:2104.03256 [hep-th].
- [76] C. Heissenberg, "Infrared Divergences and the Eikonal," arXiv:2105.04594 [hep-th].
- [77] P. H. Damgaard, L. Plante, and P. Vanhove, "On an exponential representation of the gravitational S-matrix," JHEP 11 (2021) 213, arXiv:2107.12891 [hep-th].
- [78] J. Vines, J. Steinhoff, and A. Buonanno, "Spinning-black-hole scattering and the test-black-hole limit at second post-Minkowskian order," *Phys. Rev. D* **99** no. 6, (2019) 064054, arXiv:1812.00956 [gr-qc].
- [79] N. Siemonsen and J. Vines, "Test black holes, scattering amplitudes and perturbations of Kerr spacetime," Phys. Rev. D 101 no. 6, (2020) 064066, arXiv:1909.07361 [gr-qc].
- [80] Z. Bern, J. J. Carrasco, M. Chiodaroli, H. Johansson, and R. Roiban, "The Duality Between Color and Kinematics and its Applications," arXiv:1909.01358 [hep-th].
- [81] W. D. Goldberger and A. K. Ridgway, "Radiation and the classical double copy for color charges," *Phys. Rev. D* 95 no. 12, (2017) 125010, arXiv:1611.03493 [hep-th].
- [82] W. D. Goldberger, S. G. Prabhu, and J. O. Thompson, "Classical gluon and graviton radiation from the bi-adjoint scalar double copy," *Phys. Rev. D* 96 no. 6, (2017) 065009, arXiv:1705.09263 [hep-th].
- [83] W. D. Goldberger and A. K. Ridgway, "Bound states and the classical double copy," Phys. Rev. D 97 no. 8, (2018) 085019, arXiv:1711.09493 [hep-th].
- [84] W. D. Goldberger, J. Li, and S. G. Prabhu, "Spinning particles, axion radiation, and the classical double copy," *Phys. Rev. D* 97 no. 10, (2018) 105018, arXiv:1712.09250 [hep-th].
- [85] D. Chester, "Radiative double copy for Einstein-Yang-Mills theory," Phys. Rev. D 97 no. 8, (2018) 084025, arXiv:1712.08684 [hep-th].
- [86] C.-H. Shen, "Gravitational Radiation from Color-Kinematics Duality," JHEP 11 (2018) 162, arXiv:1806.07388 [hep-th].
- [87] A. Luna, R. Monteiro, I. Nicholson, A. Ochirov, D. O'Connell, N. Westerberg, and C. D. White, "Perturbative spacetimes from Yang-Mills theory," JHEP 04 (2017) 069, arXiv:1611.07508
   [hep-th].
- [88] A. Luna, I. Nicholson, D. O'Connell, and C. D. White, "Inelastic Black Hole Scattering from Charged Scalar Amplitudes," JHEP 03 (2018) 044, arXiv:1711.03901 [hep-th].

- [89] M. Carrillo González, R. Penco, and M. Trodden, "Radiation of scalar modes and the classical double copy," JHEP 11 (2018) 065, arXiv:1809.04611 [hep-th].
- [90] J. Plefka, J. Steinhoff, and W. Wormsbecher, "Effective action of dilaton gravity as the classical double copy of Yang-Mills theory," *Phys. Rev. D* 99 no. 2, (2019) 024021, arXiv:1807.09859 [hep-th].
- [91] J. Plefka, C. Shi, J. Steinhoff, and T. Wang, "Breakdown of the classical double copy for the effective action of dilaton-gravity at NNLO," *Phys. Rev. D* 100 no. 8, (2019) 086006, arXiv:1906.05875 [hep-th].
- [92] R. Monteiro, D. O'Connell, and C. D. White, "Black holes and the double copy," JHEP 12 (2014) 056, arXiv:1410.0239 [hep-th].
- [93] A. Luna, R. Monteiro, I. Nicholson, and D. O'Connell, "Type D Spacetimes and the Weyl Double Copy," Class. Quant. Grav. 36 (2019) 065003, arXiv:1810.08183 [hep-th].
- [94] C. Keeler, T. Manton, and N. Monga, "From Navier-Stokes to Maxwell via Einstein," JHEP 08 (2020) 147, arXiv:2005.04242 [hep-th].
- [95] C. Cheung and J. Mangan, "Scattering Amplitudes and the Navier-Stokes Equation," arXiv:2010.15970 [hep-th].
- [96] N. E. J. Bjerrum-Bohr, P. H. Damgaard, G. Festuccia, L. Planté, and P. Vanhove, "General Relativity from Scattering Amplitudes," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **121** no. 17, (2018) 171601, arXiv:1806.04920 [hep-th].
- [97] N. E. J. Bjerrum-Bohr, P. H. Damgaard, L. Planté, and P. Vanhove, "Classical gravity from loop amplitudes," *Phys. Rev. D* 104 no. 2, (2021) 026009, arXiv:2104.04510 [hep-th].
- [98] S. K. Wong, "Field and particle equations for the classical Yang-Mills field and particles with isotopic spin," Nuovo Cim. A 65 (1970) 689–694.
- [99] A. P. Balachandran, P. Salomonson, B.-S. Skagerstam, and J.-O. Winnberg, "Classical Description of Particle Interacting with Nonabelian Gauge Field," *Phys. Rev. D* 15 (1977) 2308–2317.
- [100] A. P. Balachandran, S. Borchardt, and A. Stern, "Lagrangian and Hamiltonian Descriptions of Yang-Mills Particles," *Phys. Rev. D* 17 (1978) 3247.
- [101] Z. Bern, D. Kosmopoulos, A. Luna, R. Roiban, and F. Teng, "Binary Dynamics through the Fifth Power of Spin at  $O(G^2)$ ," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **130** no. 20, (2023) 201402, arXiv:2203.06202 [hep-th].

- [102] LIGO Scientific, Virgo Collaboration, B. P. Abbott et al., "Observation of Gravitational Waves from a Binary Black Hole Merger," Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 no. 6, (2016) 061102, arXiv:1602.03837 [gr-qc].
- [103] LIGO Scientific, Virgo Collaboration, B. P. Abbott et al., "GW170817: Observation of Gravitational Waves from a Binary Neutron Star Inspiral," Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 no. 16, (2017) 161101, arXiv:1710.05832 [gr-qc].
- [104] M. Punturo et al., "The Einstein Telescope: A third-generation gravitational wave observatory," Class. Quant. Grav. 27 (2010) 194002.
- [105] LISA Collaboration, P. Amaro-Seoane et al., "Laser Interferometer Space Antenna," arXiv:1702.00786 [astro-ph.IM].
- [106] D. Reitze et al., "Cosmic Explorer: The U.S. Contribution to Gravitational-Wave Astronomy beyond LIGO," Bull. Am. Astron. Soc. 51 no. 7, (2019) 035, arXiv:1907.04833 [astro-ph.IM].
- [107] M. Mathisson, "Neue mechanik materieller systemes," Acta Phys. Polon. 6 (1937) 163–200.
- [108] A. Papapetrou, "Spinning test particles in general relativity. 1.," Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A 209 (1951) 248–258.
- [109] F. A. E. Pirani, "On the Physical significance of the Riemann tensor," Acta Phys. Polon. 15 (1956) 389–405.
- [110] W. Tulczyjew, "Equations of Motion of Rotating Bodies in General Relativity Theory," Acta Phys. Polon. 18 (1959) 37–55. [Erratum: Acta Phys. Pol. 18, 393 (1959)].
- [111] B. M. Barker and R. F. O'Connell, "Derivation of the equations of motion of a gyroscope from the quantum theory of gravitation," *Phys. Rev. D* 2 (1970) 1428–1435.
- [112] B. M. Barker and R. F. O'Connell, "Gravitational Two-Body Problem with Arbitrary Masses, Spins, and Quadrupole Moments," *Phys. Rev. D* 12 (1975) 329–335.
- [113] L. E. Kidder, C. M. Will, and A. G. Wiseman, "Spin effects in the inspiral of coalescing compact binaries," *Phys. Rev. D* 47 no. 10, (1993) R4183-R4187, arXiv:gr-qc/9211025.
- [114] L. E. Kidder, "Coalescing binary systems of compact objects to postNewtonian 5/2 order. 5. Spin effects," Phys. Rev. D 52 (1995) 821–847, arXiv:gr-qc/9506022.
- [115] L. Blanchet, G. Faye, and B. Ponsot, "Gravitational field and equations of motion of compact binaries to 5/2 postNewtonian order," *Phys. Rev. D* 58 (1998) 124002, arXiv:gr-qc/9804079.

- [116] H. Tagoshi, A. Ohashi, and B. J. Owen, "Gravitational field and equations of motion of spinning compact binaries to 2.5 postNewtonian order," *Phys. Rev. D* 63 (2001) 044006, arXiv:gr-qc/0010014.
- [117] R. A. Porto, "Post-Newtonian corrections to the motion of spinning bodies in NRGR," *Phys. Rev. D* 73 (2006) 104031, arXiv:gr-qc/0511061.
- [118] G. Faye, L. Blanchet, and A. Buonanno, "Higher-order spin effects in the dynamics of compact binaries.
   I. Equations of motion," *Phys. Rev. D* 74 (2006) 104033, arXiv:gr-qc/0605139.
- [119] L. Blanchet, A. Buonanno, and G. Faye, "Higher-order spin effects in the dynamics of compact binaries. II. Radiation field," *Phys. Rev. D* 74 (2006) 104034, arXiv:gr-qc/0605140. [Erratum: Phys.Rev.D 75, 049903 (2007), Erratum: Phys.Rev.D 81, 089901 (2010)].
- [120] T. Damour, P. Jaranowski, and G. Schaefer, "Hamiltonian of two spinning compact bodies with next-to-leading order gravitational spin-orbit coupling," *Phys. Rev. D* 77 (2008) 064032, arXiv:0711.1048 [gr-qc].
- [121] J. Steinhoff, S. Hergt, and G. Schaefer, "On the next-to-leading order gravitational spin(1)-spin(2) dynamics," *Phys. Rev. D* 77 (2008) 081501, arXiv:0712.1716 [gr-qc].
- [122] M. Levi, "Next to Leading Order gravitational Spin1-Spin2 coupling with Kaluza-Klein reduction," *Phys. Rev. D* 82 (2010) 064029, arXiv:0802.1508 [gr-qc].
- [123] J. Steinhoff, G. Schaefer, and S. Hergt, "ADM canonical formalism for gravitating spinning objects," *Phys. Rev. D* 77 (2008) 104018, arXiv:0805.3136 [gr-qc].
- [124] J. Steinhoff, S. Hergt, and G. Schaefer, "Spin-squared Hamiltonian of next-to-leading order gravitational interaction," Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 101503, arXiv:0809.2200 [gr-qc].
- [125] S. Marsat, A. Bohe, G. Faye, and L. Blanchet, "Next-to-next-to-leading order spin-orbit effects in the equations of motion of compact binary systems," *Class. Quant. Grav.* **30** (2013) 055007, arXiv:1210.4143 [gr-qc].
- [126] S. Hergt, J. Steinhoff, and G. Schaefer, "Reduced Hamiltonian for next-to-leading order Spin-Squared Dynamics of General Compact Binaries," *Class. Quant. Grav.* 27 (2010) 135007, arXiv:1002.2093 [gr-qc].
- [127] R. A. Porto, "Next to leading order spin-orbit effects in the motion of inspiralling compact binaries," Class. Quant. Grav. 27 (2010) 205001, arXiv:1005.5730 [gr-qc].

- [128] M. Levi, "Next to Leading Order gravitational Spin-Orbit coupling in an Effective Field Theory approach," Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 104004, arXiv:1006.4139 [gr-qc].
- [129] R. A. Porto, A. Ross, and I. Z. Rothstein, "Spin induced multipole moments for the gravitational wave flux from binary inspirals to third Post-Newtonian order," JCAP 03 (2011) 009, arXiv:1007.1312 [gr-qc].
- [130] M. Levi, "Binary dynamics from spin1-spin2 coupling at fourth post-Newtonian order," *Phys. Rev. D* 85 (2012) 064043, arXiv:1107.4322 [gr-qc].
- [131] R. A. Porto, A. Ross, and I. Z. Rothstein, "Spin induced multipole moments for the gravitational wave amplitude from binary inspirals to 2.5 Post-Newtonian order," JCAP 09 (2012) 028, arXiv:1203.2962 [gr-qc].
- [132] S. Hergt, J. Steinhoff, and G. Schaefer, "On the comparison of results regarding the post-Newtonian approximate treatment of the dynamics of extended spinning compact binaries," J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 484 (2014) 012018, arXiv:1205.4530 [gr-qc].
- [133] A. Bohe, S. Marsat, G. Faye, and L. Blanchet, "Next-to-next-to-leading order spin-orbit effects in the near-zone metric and precession equations of compact binaries," *Class. Quant. Grav.* **30** (2013) 075017, arXiv:1212.5520 [gr-qc].
- [134] J. Hartung, J. Steinhoff, and G. Schafer, "Next-to-next-to-leading order post-Newtonian linear-in-spin binary Hamiltonians," Annalen Phys. 525 (2013) 359–394, arXiv:1302.6723 [gr-qc].
- [135] S. Marsat, L. Blanchet, A. Bohe, and G. Faye, "Gravitational waves from spinning compact object binaries: New post-Newtonian results," 12, 2013. arXiv:1312.5375 [gr-qc].
- [136] M. Levi and J. Steinhoff, "Leading order finite size effects with spins for inspiralling compact binaries," JHEP 06 (2015) 059, arXiv:1410.2601 [gr-qc].
- [137] A. Bohé, G. Faye, S. Marsat, and E. K. Porter, "Quadratic-in-spin effects in the orbital dynamics and gravitational-wave energy flux of compact binaries at the 3PN order," *Class. Quant. Grav.* **32** no. 19, (2015) 195010, arXiv:1501.01529 [gr-qc].
- [138] D. Bini, A. Geralico, and J. Vines, "Hyperbolic scattering of spinning particles by a Kerr black hole," *Phys. Rev. D* 96 no. 8, (2017) 084044, arXiv:1707.09814 [gr-qc].

- [139] N. Siemonsen, J. Steinhoff, and J. Vines, "Gravitational waves from spinning binary black holes at the leading post-Newtonian orders at all orders in spin," *Phys. Rev. D* 97 no. 12, (2018) 124046, arXiv:1712.08603 [gr-qc].
- [140] R. A. Porto and I. Z. Rothstein, "The Hyperfine Einstein-Infeld-Hoffmann potential," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 97 (2006) 021101, arXiv:gr-qc/0604099.
- [141] R. A. Porto and I. Z. Rothstein, "Comment on 'On the next-to-leading order gravitational spin(1) spin(2) dynamics' by J. Steinhoff et al," arXiv:0712.2032 [gr-qc].
- [142] R. A. Porto and I. Z. Rothstein, "Spin(1)Spin(2) Effects in the Motion of Inspiralling Compact Binaries at Third Order in the Post-Newtonian Expansion," *Phys. Rev. D* 78 (2008) 044012, arXiv:0802.0720 [gr-qc]. [Erratum: Phys.Rev.D 81, 029904 (2010)].
- [143] R. A. Porto and I. Z. Rothstein, "Next to Leading Order Spin(1)Spin(1) Effects in the Motion of Inspiralling Compact Binaries," *Phys. Rev. D* 78 (2008) 044013, arXiv:0804.0260 [gr-qc].
   [Erratum: Phys.Rev.D 81, 029905 (2010)].
- [144] M. Levi and J. Steinhoff, "Equivalence of ADM Hamiltonian and Effective Field Theory approaches at next-to-next-to-leading order spin1-spin2 coupling of binary inspirals," JCAP 12 (2014) 003, arXiv:1408.5762 [gr-qc].
- [145] M. Levi and J. Steinhoff, "Spinning gravitating objects in the effective field theory in the post-Newtonian scheme," JHEP 09 (2015) 219, arXiv:1501.04956 [gr-qc].
- [146] M. Levi and J. Steinhoff, "Next-to-next-to-leading order gravitational spin-orbit coupling via the effective field theory for spinning objects in the post-Newtonian scheme," JCAP 01 (2016) 011, arXiv:1506.05056 [gr-qc].
- [147] M. Levi and J. Steinhoff, "Next-to-next-to-leading order gravitational spin-squared potential via the effective field theory for spinning objects in the post-Newtonian scheme," JCAP 01 (2016) 008, arXiv:1506.05794 [gr-qc].
- [148] M. Levi and J. Steinhoff, "Complete conservative dynamics for inspiralling compact binaries with spins at the fourth post-Newtonian order," JCAP 09 (2021) 029, arXiv:1607.04252 [gr-qc].
- [149] M. Levi, S. Mougiakakos, and M. Vieira, "Gravitational cubic-in-spin interaction at the next-to-leading post-Newtonian order," JHEP 01 (2021) 036, arXiv:1912.06276 [hep-th].

- [150] M. Levi and F. Teng, "NLO gravitational quartic-in-spin interaction," JHEP 01 (2021) 066, arXiv:2008.12280 [hep-th].
- [151] M. Levi, A. J. Mcleod, and M. Von Hippel, "N<sup>3</sup>LO gravitational spin-orbit coupling at order G<sup>4</sup>," JHEP 07 (2021) 115, arXiv:2003.02827 [hep-th].
- [152] M. Levi, A. J. Mcleod, and M. Von Hippel, "N<sup>3</sup>LO gravitational quadratic-in-spin interactions at G<sup>4</sup>," JHEP 07 (2021) 116, arXiv:2003.07890 [hep-th].
- [153] J.-W. Kim, M. Levi, and Z. Yin, "Quadratic-in-spin interactions at the fifth post-Newtonian order probe new physics," arXiv:2112.01509 [hep-th].
- [154] N. T. Maia, C. R. Galley, A. K. Leibovich, and R. A. Porto, "Radiation reaction for spinning bodies in effective field theory I: Spin-orbit effects," *Phys. Rev. D* 96 no. 8, (2017) 084064, arXiv:1705.07934 [gr-qc].
- [155] N. T. Maia, C. R. Galley, A. K. Leibovich, and R. A. Porto, "Radiation reaction for spinning bodies in effective field theory II: Spin-spin effects," *Phys. Rev. D* 96 no. 8, (2017) 084065, arXiv:1705.07938 [gr-qc].
- [156] G. Cho, B. Pardo, and R. A. Porto, "Gravitational radiation from inspiralling compact objects: Spin-spin effects completed at the next-to-leading post-Newtonian order," *Phys. Rev. D* 104 no. 2, (2021) 024037, arXiv:2103.14612 [gr-qc].
- [157] G. Cho, R. A. Porto, and Z. Yang, "Gravitational radiation from inspiralling compact objects: Spin effects to the fourth post-Newtonian order," *Phys. Rev. D* 106 no. 10, (2022) L101501, arXiv:2201.05138 [gr-qc].
- [158] J.-W. Kim, M. Levi, and Z. Yin, "N<sup>3</sup>LO spin-orbit interaction via the EFT of spinning gravitating objects," JHEP 05 (2023) 184, arXiv:2208.14949 [hep-th].
- [159] M. K. Mandal, P. Mastrolia, R. Patil, and J. Steinhoff, "Gravitational spin-orbit Hamiltonian at NNNLO in the post-Newtonian framework," JHEP 03 (2023) 130, arXiv:2209.00611 [hep-th].
- [160] J.-W. Kim, M. Levi, and Z. Yin, "N<sup>3</sup>LO quadratic-in-spin interactions for generic compact binaries," JHEP 03 (2023) 098, arXiv:2209.09235 [hep-th].
- [161] M. K. Mandal, P. Mastrolia, R. Patil, and J. Steinhoff, "Gravitational quadratic-in-spin Hamiltonian at NNNLO in the post-Newtonian framework," *JHEP* 07 (2023) 128, arXiv:2210.09176 [hep-th].

- [162] M. Levi, R. Morales, and Z. Yin, "From the EFT of Spinning Gravitating Objects to Poincaré and Gauge Invariance at the 4.5PN Precision Frontier," arXiv:2210.17538 [hep-th].
- [163] M. Levi and Z. Yin, "Completing the fifth PN precision frontier via the EFT of spinning gravitating objects," JHEP 04 (2023) 079, arXiv:2211.14018 [hep-th].
- [164] D. Bini and T. Damour, "Gravitational spin-orbit coupling in binary systems, post-Minkowskian approximation and effective one-body theory," *Phys. Rev. D* 96 no. 10, (2017) 104038, arXiv:1709.00590 [gr-qc].
- [165] D. Bini and T. Damour, "Gravitational spin-orbit coupling in binary systems at the second post-Minkowskian approximation," *Phys. Rev. D* 98 no. 4, (2018) 044036, arXiv:1805.10809 [gr-qc].
- [166] G. U. Jakobsen, G. Mogull, J. Plefka, and J. Steinhoff, "SUSY in the sky with gravitons," JHEP 01 (2022) 027, arXiv:2109.04465 [hep-th].
- [167] W.-M. Chen, M.-Z. Chung, Y.-t. Huang, and J.-W. Kim, "The 2PM Hamiltonian for binary Kerr to quartic in spin," JHEP 08 (2022) 148, arXiv:2111.13639 [hep-th].
- [168] W.-M. Chen, M.-Z. Chung, Y.-t. Huang, and J.-W. Kim, "Gravitational Faraday effect from on-shell amplitudes," JHEP 12 (2022) 058, arXiv:2205.07305 [hep-th].
- [169] A. Cristofoli, R. Gonzo, N. Moynihan, D. O'Connell, A. Ross, M. Sergola, and C. D. White, "The Uncertainty Principle and Classical Amplitudes," arXiv:2112.07556 [hep-th].
- [170] L. Cangemi and P. Pichini, "Classical limit of higher-spin string amplitudes," JHEP 06 (2023) 167, arXiv:2207.03947 [hep-th].
- [171] L. Cangemi, M. Chiodaroli, H. Johansson, A. Ochirov, P. Pichini, and E. Skvortsov, "Kerr Black Holes Enjoy Massive Higher-Spin Gauge Symmetry," arXiv:2212.06120 [hep-th].
- [172] K. Haddad, "Exponentiation of the leading eikonal phase with spin," *Phys. Rev. D* 105 no. 2, (2022) 026004, arXiv:2109.04427 [hep-th].
- [173] R. Aoude, K. Haddad, and A. Helset, "Searching for Kerr in the 2PM amplitude," JHEP 07 (2022) 072, arXiv:2203.06197 [hep-th].
- [174] G. Menezes and M. Sergola, "NLO deflections for spinning particles and Kerr black holes," JHEP 10 (2022) 105, arXiv:2205.11701 [hep-th].

- [175] F. Alessio and P. Di Vecchia, "Radiation reaction for spinning black-hole scattering," *Phys. Lett. B* 832 (2022) 137258, arXiv:2203.13272 [hep-th].
- [176] F. Alessio, "Kerr binary dynamics from minimal coupling and double copy," arXiv:2303.12784 [hep-th].
- [177] N. E. J. Bjerrum-Bohr, G. Chen, and M. Skowronek, "Classical spin gravitational Compton scattering," JHEP 06 (2023) 170, arXiv:2302.00498 [hep-th].
- [178] P. H. Damgaard, J. Hoogeveen, A. Luna, and J. Vines, "Scattering angles in Kerr metrics," *Phys. Rev. D* 106 no. 12, (2022) 124030, arXiv:2208.11028 [hep-th].
- [179] K. Haddad, "Recursion in the classical limit and the neutron-star Compton amplitude," JHEP 05 (2023) 177, arXiv:2303.02624 [hep-th].
- [180] R. Aoude, K. Haddad, and A. Helset, "Classical gravitational scattering at  $\mathcal{O}(G^2S_1^{\infty}S_2^{\infty})$ ," Phys. Rev. D 108 no. 2, (2023) 024050, arXiv:2304.13740 [hep-th].
- [181] G. U. Jakobsen, G. Mogull, J. Plefka, B. Sauer, and Y. Xu, "Conservative scattering of spinning black holes at fourth post-Minkowskian order," arXiv:2306.01714 [hep-th].
- [182] G. U. Jakobsen, G. Mogull, J. Plefka, and B. Sauer, "Dissipative scattering of spinning black holes at fourth post-Minkowskian order," arXiv:2308.11514 [hep-th].
- [183] C. Heissenberg, "Angular Momentum Loss Due to Spin-Orbit Effects in the Post-Minkowskian Expansion," arXiv:2308.11470 [hep-th].
- [184] M. Bianchi, C. Gambino, and F. Riccioni, "A Rutherford-like formula for scattering off Kerr-Newman BHs and subleading corrections," arXiv:2306.08969 [hep-th].
- [185] Y. F. Bautista, A. Guevara, C. Kavanagh, and J. Vines, "Scattering in black hole backgrounds and higher-spin amplitudes. Part II," JHEP 05 (2023) 211, arXiv:2212.07965 [hep-th].
- [186] Y. F. Bautista, "Dynamics for Super-Extremal Kerr Binary Systems at  $\mathcal{O}(G^2)$ ," arXiv:2304.04287 [hep-th].
- [187] K. Westpfahl and M. Goller, "Gravitational scattering of two relativistic particles in postlinear approximation," *Lett. Nuovo Cim.* 26 (1979) 573–576.
- [188] T. Damour and G. Schaefer, "Redefinition of position variables and the reduction of higher order Lagrangians," J. Math. Phys. 32 (1991) 127–134.

- [189] A. Buonanno, "Reduction of the two-body dynamics to a one-body description in classical electrodynamics," *Phys. Rev. D* 62 (2000) 104022, arXiv:hep-th/0004042.
- [190] M. V. S. Saketh, J. Vines, J. Steinhoff, and A. Buonanno, "Conservative and radiative dynamics in classical relativistic scattering and bound systems," *Phys. Rev. Res.* 4 no. 1, (2022) 013127, arXiv:2109.05994 [gr-qc].
- [191] Z. Bern, J. P. Gatica, E. Herrmann, A. Luna, and M. Zeng, "Scalar QED as a toy model for higher-order effects in classical gravitational scattering," JHEP 08 (2022) 131, arXiv:2112.12243 [hep-th].
- [192] Z. Bern, E. Herrmann, R. Roiban, M. S. Ruf, A. V. Smirnov, V. A. Smirnov, and M. Zeng, "Conservative binary dynamics at order  $O(\alpha^5)$  in electrodynamics," arXiv:2305.08981 [hep-th].
- [193] N. Arkani-Hamed, Y.-t. Huang, and D. O'Connell, "Kerr black holes as elementary particles," JHEP 01 (2020) 046, arXiv:1906.10100 [hep-th].
- [194] H. Kawai, D. C. Lewellen, and S. H. H. Tye, "A Relation Between Tree Amplitudes of Closed and Open Strings," Nucl. Phys. B 269 (1986) 1–23.
- [195] Z. Bern, J. J. M. Carrasco, and H. Johansson, "New Relations for Gauge-Theory Amplitudes," Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 085011, arXiv:0805.3993 [hep-ph].
- [196] Z. Bern, J. J. M. Carrasco, and H. Johansson, "Perturbative Quantum Gravity as a Double Copy of Gauge Theory," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **105** (2010) 061602, arXiv:1004.0476 [hep-th].
- [197] Y. Iwasaki, "Quantum theory of gravitation vs. classical theory. fourth-order potential," Prog. Theor. Phys. 46 (1971) 1587–1609.
- [198] Y. Iwasaki, "Fourth-order gravitational potential based on quantum field theory," Lett. Nuovo Cim.
   1S2 (1971) 783–786.
- [199] S. N. Gupta and S. F. Radford, "IMPROVED GRAVITATIONAL COUPLING OF SCALAR FIELDS," Phys. Rev. D 19 (1979) 1065–1069.
- [200] J. F. Donoghue, "General relativity as an effective field theory: The leading quantum corrections," *Phys. Rev. D* 50 (1994) 3874–3888, arXiv:gr-qc/9405057.
- [201] N. E. J. Bjerrum-Bohr, J. F. Donoghue, and B. R. Holstein, "Quantum gravitational corrections to the nonrelativistic scattering potential of two masses," *Phys. Rev. D* 67 (2003) 084033, arXiv:hep-th/0211072. [Erratum: Phys.Rev.D 71, 069903 (2005)].

- [202] N. E. J. Bjerrum-Bohr, J. F. Donoghue, and P. Vanhove, "On-shell Techniques and Universal Results in Quantum Gravity," JHEP 02 (2014) 111, arXiv:1309.0804 [hep-th].
- [203] T. Damour, "Gravitational scattering, post-Minkowskian approximation and Effective One-Body theory," Phys. Rev. D 94 no. 10, (2016) 104015, arXiv:1609.00354 [gr-qc].
- [204] T. Damour, "High-energy gravitational scattering and the general relativistic two-body problem," *Phys. Rev. D* 97 no. 4, (2018) 044038, arXiv:1710.10599 [gr-qc].
- [205] A. Brandhuber, G. Chen, G. Travaglini, and C. Wen, "Classical gravitational scattering from a gauge-invariant double copy," JHEP 10 (2021) 118, arXiv:2108.04216 [hep-th].
- [206] Z. Bern, L. J. Dixon, D. C. Dunbar, and D. A. Kosower, "One loop n point gauge theory amplitudes, unitarity and collinear limits," *Nucl. Phys. B* 425 (1994) 217–260, arXiv:hep-ph/9403226.
- [207] Z. Bern, L. J. Dixon, D. C. Dunbar, and D. A. Kosower, "Fusing gauge theory tree amplitudes into loop amplitudes," Nucl. Phys. B 435 (1995) 59–101, arXiv:hep-ph/9409265.
- [208] Z. Bern and A. G. Morgan, "Massive loop amplitudes from unitarity," Nucl. Phys. B 467 (1996) 479–509, arXiv:hep-ph/9511336.
- [209] Z. Bern, L. J. Dixon, and D. A. Kosower, "One loop amplitudes for e+ e- to four partons," Nucl. Phys. B 513 (1998) 3-86, arXiv:hep-ph/9708239.
- [210] R. Britto, F. Cachazo, and B. Feng, "Generalized unitarity and one-loop amplitudes in N=4 super-Yang-Mills," Nucl. Phys. B 725 (2005) 275–305, arXiv:hep-th/0412103.
- [211] Z. Bern, J. J. M. Carrasco, H. Johansson, and D. A. Kosower, "Maximally supersymmetric planar Yang-Mills amplitudes at five loops," *Phys. Rev. D* 76 (2007) 125020, arXiv:0705.1864 [hep-th].
- [212] K. G. Chetyrkin and F. V. Tkachov, "Integration by Parts: The Algorithm to Calculate beta Functions in 4 Loops," Nucl. Phys. B 192 (1981) 159–204.
- [213] A. V. Kotikov, "Differential equations method: New technique for massive Feynman diagrams calculation," *Phys. Lett. B* 254 (1991) 158–164.
- [214] Z. Bern, L. J. Dixon, and D. A. Kosower, "Dimensionally regulated pentagon integrals," Nucl. Phys. B 412 (1994) 751-816, arXiv:hep-ph/9306240.
- [215] E. Remiddi, "Differential equations for Feynman graph amplitudes," Nuovo Cim. A 110 (1997) 1435–1452, arXiv:hep-th/9711188.

- [216] S. Laporta, "High precision calculation of multiloop Feynman integrals by difference equations," Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 15 (2000) 5087-5159, arXiv:hep-ph/0102033.
- [217] W. D. Goldberger and I. Z. Rothstein, "An Effective field theory of gravity for extended objects," *Phys. Rev. D* 73 (2006) 104029, arXiv:hep-th/0409156.
- [218] Z. Bern, J. Parra-Martinez, R. Roiban, M. S. Ruf, C.-H. Shen, M. P. Solon, and M. Zeng, "Scattering Amplitudes, the Tail Effect, and Conservative Binary Dynamics at O(G4)," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 128 no. 16, (2022) 161103, arXiv:2112.10750 [hep-th].
- [219] C. Dlapa, G. Kälin, Z. Liu, and R. A. Porto, "Conservative Dynamics of Binary Systems at Fourth Post-Minkowskian Order in the Large-Eccentricity Expansion," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **128** no. 16, (2022) 161104, arXiv:2112.11296 [hep-th].
- [220] A. V. Manohar, A. K. Ridgway, and C.-H. Shen, "Radiated Angular Momentum and Dissipative Effects in Classical Scattering," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **129** no. 12, (2022) 121601, arXiv:2203.04283 [hep-th].
- [221] C. Dlapa, G. Kälin, Z. Liu, J. Neef, and R. A. Porto, "Radiation Reaction and Gravitational Waves at Fourth Post-Minkowskian Order," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 130 no. 10, (2023) 101401, arXiv:2210.05541 [hep-th].
- [222] N. E. J. Bjerrum-Bohr, L. Planté, and P. Vanhove, "Effective Field Theory and Applications: Weak Field Observables from Scattering Amplitudes in Quantum Field Theory," arXiv:2212.08957 [hep-th].
- [223] F. Cachazo and A. Guevara, "Leading Singularities and Classical Gravitational Scattering," JHEP 02 (2020) 181, arXiv:1705.10262 [hep-th].
- [224] D. Bini, T. Damour, and A. Geralico, "Scattering of tidally interacting bodies in post-Minkowskian gravity," Phys. Rev. D 101 no. 4, (2020) 044039, arXiv:2001.00352 [gr-qc].
- [225] R. A. Porto, "The effective field theorist's approach to gravitational dynamics," *Phys. Rept.* 633 (2016)
   1-104, arXiv:1601.04914 [hep-th].
- [226] J. Steinhoff, Spin and Quadrupole Contributions to the Motion of Astrophysical Binaries, pp. 615-649.
   Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2015. arXiv:1412.3251 [gr-qc].
   https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-18335-0\_19.
- [227] M. Levi, "Effective Field Theories of Post-Newtonian Gravity: A comprehensive review," Rept. Prog. Phys. 83 no. 7, (2020) 075901, arXiv:1807.01699 [hep-th].

- [228] G. N. Fleming, "Covariant Position Operators, Spin, and Locality," Phys. Rev. 137 (Jan, 1965)
   B188-B197. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.137.B188.
- [229] J. Steinhoff, "Spin gauge symmetry in the action principle for classical relativistic particles," arXiv:1501.04951 [gr-qc].
- [230] J. Vines, D. Kunst, J. Steinhoff, and T. Hinderer, "Canonical Hamiltonian for an extended test body in curved spacetime: To quadratic order in spin," *Phys. Rev. D* 93 no. 10, (2016) 103008,
   arXiv:1601.07529 [gr-qc]. [Erratum: Phys.Rev.D 104, 029902 (2021)].
- [231] J.-W. Kim and J. Steinhoff, "Spin supplementary condition in quantum field theory: covariant SSC and physical state projection," JHEP 07 (2023) 042, arXiv:2302.01944 [hep-th].
- [232] L. P. S. Singh and C. R. Hagen, "Lagrangian formulation for arbitrary spin. 1. The boson case," Phys. Rev. D 9 (1974) 898–909.
- [233] S. D. Chowdhury, A. Gadde, T. Gopalka, I. Halder, L. Janagal, and S. Minwalla, "Classifying and constraining local four photon and four graviton S-matrices," JHEP 02 (2020) 114, arXiv:1910.14392 [hep-th].
- [234] W. D. Goldberger, J. Li, and I. Z. Rothstein, "Non-conservative effects on spinning black holes from world-line effective field theory," JHEP 06 (2021) 053, arXiv:2012.14869 [hep-th].
- [235] M. V. S. Saketh, J. Steinhoff, J. Vines, and A. Buonanno, "Modeling horizon absorption in spinning binary black holes using effective worldline theory," *Phys. Rev. D* 107 no. 8, (2023) 084006, arXiv:2212.13095 [gr-qc].
- [236] R. Aoude and A. Ochirov, "Gravitational partial-wave absorption from scattering amplitudes," arXiv:2307.07504 [hep-th].
- [237] A. Ochirov and E. Skvortsov, "Chiral Approach to Massive Higher Spins," Phys. Rev. Lett. 129 no. 24, (2022) 241601, arXiv:2207.14597 [hep-th].
- [238] J. E. Vines and E. E. Flanagan, "Post-1-Newtonian quadrupole tidal interactions in binary systems," *Phys. Rev. D* 88 (2013) 024046, arXiv:1009.4919 [gr-qc].
- [239] S. Naoz, B. Kocsis, A. Loeb, and N. Yunes, "Resonant Post-Newtonian Eccentricity Excitation in Hierarchical Three-body Systems," Astrophys. J. 773 (2013) 187, arXiv:1206.4316 [astro-ph.SR].
- [240] A. Kuntz, F. Serra, and E. Trincherini, "Effective two-body approach to the hierarchical three-body problem: Quadrupole to 1PN," Phys. Rev. D 107 no. 4, (2023) 044011, arXiv:2210.13493 [gr-qc].
- [241] A. Buonanno, M. Khalil, D. O'Connell, R. Roiban, M. P. Solon, and M. Zeng, "Snowmass White Paper: Gravitational Waves and Scattering Amplitudes," in *Snowmass 2021.* 4, 2022. arXiv:2204.05194 [hep-th].
- [242] A. Proca, "Sur la theorie ondulatoire des electrons positifs et negatifs," J. Phys. Radium 7 (1936) 347–353.
- [243] M. Fierz and W. Pauli, "On relativistic wave equations for particles of arbitrary spin in an electromagnetic field," Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A 173 (1939) 211–232.
- [244] S.-J. Chang, "Lagrange Formulation for Systems with Higher Spin," Phys. Rev. 161 (1967) 1308–1315.
- [245] J. Klauder and B. Skagerstam, Coherent States. WORLD SCIENTIFIC, 1985. https://www.worldscientific.com/doi/pdf/10.1142/0096. https://www.worldscientific.com/doi/abs/10.1142/0096.
- [246] B. R. Holstein and A. Ross, "Spin Effects in Long Range Electromagnetic Scattering," arXiv:0802.0715 [hep-ph].
- [247] M. V. S. Saketh and J. Vines, "Scattering of gravitational waves off spinning compact objects with an effective worldline theory," *Phys. Rev. D* 106 no. 12, (2022) 124026, arXiv:2208.03170 [gr-qc].
- [248] D. Kosmopoulos, "Simplifying D-dimensional physical-state sums in gauge theory and gravity," Phys. Rev. D 105 no. 5, (2022) 056025, arXiv:2009.00141 [hep-th].
- [249] A. V. Smirnov, "Algorithm FIRE Feynman Integral REduction," JHEP 10 (2008) 107, arXiv:0807.3243 [hep-ph].
- [250] A. V. Smirnov and F. S. Chuharev, "FIRE6: Feynman Integral REduction with Modular Arithmetic," Comput. Phys. Commun. 247 (2020) 106877, arXiv:1901.07808 [hep-ph].
- [251] B. R. Holstein, "On-shell calculation of mixed electromagnetic and gravitational scattering," *Phys. Rev.* D 108 no. 1, (2023) 013004, arXiv:2305.01426 [nucl-th].
- [252] J. Ehlers and E. Rudolph, "Dynamics of extended bodies in general relativity center-of-mass description and quasirigidity," *General Relativity and Gravitation* 8 (1977) 197–217.
- [253] W. G. Dixon, "Dynamics of extended bodies in general relativity. I. Momentum and angular momentum," Proc. R. Soc. Lond. A 314 (1970) 499–527.

- [254] D. Amati, M. Ciafaloni, and G. Veneziano, "Towards an S-matrix description of gravitational collapse," JHEP 02 (2008) 049, arXiv:0712.1209 [hep-th].
- [255] E. Laenen, G. Stavenga, and C. D. White, "Path integral approach to eikonal and next-to-eikonal exponentiation," JHEP 03 (2009) 054, arXiv:0811.2067 [hep-ph].
- [256] S. Weinberg, The Quantum theory of fields. Vol. 1: Foundations. Cambridge University Press, 6, 2005.
- [257] See the ancillary files of this manuscript.
- [258] W. K. Tung, GROUP THEORY IN PHYSICS. 1985.
- [259] W. G. Dixon, "Dynamics of Extended Bodies in General Relativity. II. Moments of the Charge-Current Vector," Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A, Mathematical and Physical Sciences 319 no. 1539, (1970) 509-547. http://www.jstor.org/stable/77735.
- [260] W. G. Dixon, "Dynamics of Extended Bodies in General Relativity. III. Equations of Motion," Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series A, Mathematical and Physical Sciences 277 no. 1264, (1974) 59-119. http://www.jstor.org/stable/74364.
- [261] A. Guevara, B. Maybee, A. Ochirov, D. O'connell, and J. Vines, "A worldsheet for Kerr," JHEP 03 (2021) 201, arXiv:2012.11570 [hep-th].
- [262] M. Ben-Shahar, "Scattering of spinning compact objects from a worldline EFT," arXiv:2311.01430 [hep-th].
- [263] W. Israel, "Source of the Kerr Metric," Phys. Rev. D 2 (Aug, 1970) 641-646. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.2.641.
- [264] I. Bailey and W. Israel, "Lagrangian dynamics of spinning particles and polarized media in general relativity," *Communications in Mathematical Physics* 42 (Feb, 1975) 65-82. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01609434.
- [265] D. Lynden-Bell, "A magic electromagnetic field," arXiv:astro-ph/0207064.
- [266] L. Cangemi, M. Chiodaroli, H. Johansson, A. Ochirov, P. Pichini, and E. Skvortsov, "From higher-spin gauge interactions to Compton amplitudes for root-Kerr," arXiv:2311.14668 [hep-th].
- [267] S. Marsat, "Cubic order spin effects in the dynamics and gravitational wave energy flux of compact object binaries," *Class. Quant. Grav.* **32** no. 8, (2015) 085008, arXiv:1411.4118 [gr-qc].

- [268] V. Iyer and R. M. Wald, "Some properties of the Noether charge and a proposal for dynamical black hole entropy," *Phys. Rev. D* 50 (Jul, 1994) 846–864. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.50.846.
- [269] L. Blanchet, "Gravitational radiation from post-Newtonian sources and inspiralling compact binaries," Living Rev. Rel. 9 (2006) 4.
- [270] G. d'Ambrosi, S. Satish Kumar, and J. W. van Holten, "Covariant hamiltonian spin dynamics in curved space-time," *Phys. Lett. B* 743 (2015) 478–483, arXiv:1501.04879 [gr-qc].
- [271] J. W. van Holten, "Spinning bodies in General Relativity," Int. J. Geom. Meth. Mod. Phys. 13 no. 08, (2016) 1640002, arXiv:1504.04290 [gr-qc].
- [272] G. d'Ambrosi, S. Satish Kumar, J. van de Vis, and J. W. van Holten, "Spinning bodies in curved spacetime," Phys. Rev. D 93 no. 4, (2016) 044051, arXiv:1511.05454 [gr-qc].
- [273] L. Cangemi, M. Chiodaroli, H. Johansson, A. Ochirov, P. Pichini, and E. Skvortsov, "Compton Amplitude for Rotating Black Hole from QFT," arXiv:2312.14913 [hep-th].
- [274] Y. F. Bautista, G. Bonelli, C. Iossa, A. Tanzini, and Z. Zhou, "Black hole perturbation theory meets CFT2: Kerr-Compton amplitudes from Nekrasov-Shatashvili functions," *Phys. Rev. D* 109 no. 8, (2024) 084071, arXiv:2312.05965 [hep-th].
- [275] S. De Angelis, R. Gonzo, and P. P. Novichkov, "Spinning waveforms from KMOC at leading order," arXiv:2309.17429 [hep-th].
- [276] A. Brandhuber, G. R. Brown, G. Chen, J. Gowdy, and G. Travaglini, "Resummed spinning waveforms from five-point amplitudes," JHEP 02 (2024) 026, arXiv:2310.04405 [hep-th].
- [277] R. Aoude, K. Haddad, C. Heissenberg, and A. Helset, "Leading-order gravitational radiation to all spin orders," *Phys. Rev. D* 109 no. 3, (2024) 036007, arXiv:2310.05832 [hep-th].
- [278] A. P. Saha, B. Sahoo, and A. Sen, "Proof of the classical soft graviton theorem in D = 4," JHEP 06 (2020) 153, arXiv:1912.06413 [hep-th].
- [279] B. Sahoo and A. Sen, "Classical soft graviton theorem rewritten," JHEP 01 (2022) 077, arXiv:2105.08739 [hep-th].
- [280] A. Buonanno, G. Mogull, R. Patil, and L. Pompili, "Post-Minkowskian Theory Meets the Spinning Effective-One-Body Approach for Bound-Orbit Waveforms," arXiv:2405.19181 [gr-qc].

- [281] T. Damour, "Coalescence of two spinning black holes: an effective one-body approach," *Phys. Rev. D* 64 (2001) 124013, arXiv:gr-qc/0103018.
- [282] T. Damour, P. Jaranowski, and G. Schaefer, "Effective one body approach to the dynamics of two spinning black holes with next-to-leading order spin-orbit coupling," *Phys. Rev. D* 78 (2008) 024009, arXiv:0803.0915 [gr-qc].
- [283] E. Barausse and A. Buonanno, "Extending the effective-one-body Hamiltonian of black-hole binaries to include next-to-next-to-leading spin-orbit couplings," *Phys. Rev. D* 84 (2011) 104027, arXiv:1107.2904 [gr-qc].
- [284] A. Luna, N. Moynihan, D. O'Connell, and A. Ross, "Observables from the Spinning Eikonal," arXiv:2312.09960 [hep-th].
- [285] J. P. Gatica, "The Eikonal Phase and Spinning Observables," arXiv:2312.04680 [hep-th].
- [286] A. J. Hanson and T. Regge, "The Relativistic Spherical Top," Annals Phys. 87 (1974) 498.
- [287] A. Kuntz, F. Serra, and E. Trincherini, "Effective two-body approach to the hierarchical three-body problem," Phys. Rev. D 104 no. 2, (2021) 024016, arXiv:2104.13387 [hep-th].